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This book grew from conference papers and lectures that I gave over a 
number of years. My interest in the subject began in Professor Robert 
H. Ferrell’s diplomatic history seminar at Indiana University. In this proj-
ect, originally I wanted to do a brief study of the negotiations that led to 
the alliance between Brazil and the United States. But the deeper I went, 
the more it became clear that it was the very nature of those relations to 
be continually negotiating their contents, goals, and mutual responsibili-
ties. As in my other studies, I have tried to keep a certain distance from the 
two sides and to tell the story from both Brazilian and American perspec-
tives. To do so was, of course, dependent on having documentation from 
both that shed light on the same events. That was not always possible, but 
it was my goal. This project studying negotiations and the gradual build-
ing of trust was inspired by my continuing studies of the history of the 
Brazilian army.

As the notes on sources show, government records for military and 
diplomatic interactions were impressively rich and detailed. The difficulty 
was that the two countries did not release all the documentation at the 
same time; it came available in dribs and drabs over many years. Some 
American documents from the war era were declassified in the 1970s, 
while Brazilian materials were often opened much later. One of the most 
important documents, President Getúlio Vargas’s diaries, were kept secret 
by the family until their publication in 1995. Their existence changed the 
level of analysis.

Preface
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Throughout my emphasis is on military relations because they were cen-
tral to the bond between the countries. In the 1930s the Brazilian army was 
the principal national institution. From 1939 the danger that the Axis 
would strike across the South Atlantic was very real to American military 
planners. They wanted to get American forces into Brazil to fend off such 
a threat. For the Brazilians allowing foreign troops on their soil was unac-
ceptable. They wanted arms so that they could defend their country them-
selves. The story here is how the Americans eventually negotiated acceptance 
of air and naval bases in Brazil. Ultimately the largest American air base 
outside of the United States was at Natal in Northeast Brazil. Before long 
there would be 16 US bases, including the headquarters of the Navy’s 
Fourth Fleet at Recife. The 16,000 American military personnel stationed 
in Brazil during the war had noticeable effects on Brazilian culture. German 
torpedoes sank Brazilian ships in their coastal waters until Brazil recognized 
that a state of war existed. With an eye to getting weaponry, increased 
international status, and revenge, Brazil sent an infantry division and a 
fighter squadron to fight in Italy under American command. This is the 
only case in the war of a foreign infantry division of an independent sover-
eign nation submitting itself entirely to American command and control.

Today in the United States World War II is ancient history, in Brazil it 
is almost yesterday. It is a focal point much more so than in the United 
States. But that does not mean to say that younger Brazilians know more 
than their American counterparts. I carry the story through the post-war 
years, the deep disappointment with unfulfilled American commitments 
and the turmoil of the 1950s and 1960s which saw Brazil refusing to get 
involved in the Korean conflict and the war in Vietnam. The post-war 
Cold War with the communist powers contributed to the Brazilian mili-
tary taking control of the government from 1964 to 1985. The World War 
impacted greatly Brazil’s process of industrialization, gradually turning it 
into the eighth-ranked economy in the world in 2018. Today the military 
aspects of the relationship are less salient, but still important. It should 
mean something that today there are more Brazilians in South America 
than the total population of the entire continent’s other republics and that 
Portuguese is now the language of the majority of South Americans.

Brazil has consumed my academic career since 1962 when my fellow 
graduate students—George Fodor, Teresinha Souto Ward, and Iêda Dias 
da Silva—convinced me to specialize on their country. I continue to be 
grateful for their timely intervention.

The American Philosophical Society and the Woodrow Wilson 
International Center for Scholars made research in the National Archives 
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possible. The extensive Xerox copies of military intelligence and State 
Department files that I collected were organized and made accessible by 
student research assistants Candace Kattar and Gus Lawlor at the University 
of New Hampshire, who also collected very useful biographical data on 
254 Brazilian general officers. They have my lasting gratitude. And I am 
thankful to the University for numerous research grants that frequently 
allowed me travel to Brazil.

Special thanks to David Mares for including me in the Minerva Grant 
Research Group at the University of California—San Diego (2011–2014) 
which studied “Brazil as an Emerging Power.” The Minerva Grant under-
wrote a month’s research in Brazil in 2013 that included a return to Natal 
and an intensive tour of the Parnamirim air base arranged by my colleague 
Rostand Medeiros. And my gratitude to Jose Henrique de Almeida Braga 
for sending me his new book: Salto Sobre o Lago e a guerra chegou ao Ceara 
which provided insights into the effects that the presence of so many 
Americans had on local culture.

I must acknowledge that the seminar I had the privilege of giving at the 
Instituto de Estudos Estratégicos of the Universidade Federal Fluminense in 
October 2014 gave me the chance to try out ideas on a remarkable group 
of graduate students. I am grateful to Professor Vagner Camilo Alves for 
his invitation and making sometimes complicated arrangements. And my 
thanks to Nicolette Amstutz of Lexington Books for mining the conference 
proceedings of the Brazilian Studies Association.

The help I received from librarians and archivists allowed acquiring 
documents and books beyond number. The staffs of the Diplomatic and 
Modern Military Branches of the National Archives stand out in my mem-
ory. My daughter Katherine’s invitation to be a contributing editor to the 
Handbook of Latin American Studies (Hispanic Division, Library of 
Congress) has kept me abreast of the latest historical research in Brazil. 
The Arquivo Histórico do Itamaraty, the Arquivo Histórico do Exército, the 
Centro de Pesquisa e Documentação de História Contemporânea do Brasil, 
and the Arquivo Nacional contributed to my research more than I can 
possibly detail. My dear deceased friend Colonel Luiz Paulo Macedo de 
Carvalho and his wife Lucia Maria were my teachers, translators, guides, 
and frequently congenial hosts. Over the years Macedo said that we should 
write a book together about the full range of the military relations of our 
two countries. I hope that this one is a step in fulfilling his idea. Colonel 
Durval Lourenço Pereira arranged a visit to the preparatory school of the 
Academia Militar das Agulhas Negras and graciously shared his research 
on the 1942 German submarine attacks. His research changes how those 
attacks should be interpreted.
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André Gustavo Stumpf has been my sure guide in understanding 
Brazilian politics and much more about his country. David Fleischer’s 
incomparable weekly reports on Brazil keep it real and immediate. Colonel 
Sérgio Paulo Muniz Costa has long been helpful in shaping my under-
standing of the Brazilian army. Also I was aided and encouraged by my 
editor at Palgrave Macmillan Christine Pardue, whose gentle prods kept 
me going. And thanks to Danna Messer for the fine index.

Selecting photos proved complicated due to copyrights, proper resolu-
tion, and bureaucracy. Three individuals and their organizations were 
especially gracious in their assistance: Alexis Quinn of the George 
C. Marshall Foundation Research Library, Lexington, Virginia; Matthew 
Hanson of the Franklin D. Roosevelt Library, Hyde Park, New York; and 
Major Alcemar Ferreira Jr. of the Brazilian Army’s Arquivo Histórico, Rio 
de Janeiro. Mr. Hanson not only provided photos, he identified individu-
als whose names I did not know, and sent along a very helpful document 
related to FDR’s Natal meeting with Vargas.

Some of the text, expanded and in different form, was drawn from pre-
vious publications. Chapter 6 draws on “Brazil and World War II: The 
Forgotten Ally, What did you do in the war, Ze Carioca?” Estudios 
Interdisciplinarios de America Latina y El Caribe (University of Tel Aviv), 
Vol. 6, No.2 (1995), pp. 35–70. And Chap. 8 utilized “The Rise and Fall 
of the Brazilian-American Military Alliance, 1942–1977,” Revista Esboços 
(Florianópolis), Vol. 22, No. 34 (July 2016), pp. 13–60.

Among the most valuable things an author can have are friends, col-
leagues, and relatives who read and critique with pencil in hand. My compa-
dre Michael Conniff started with the proposal and gave me insightful 
commentary throughout the writing of the book. Sonny Davis, and my 
brother Bernard McCann, attacked my punctuation with impressive zeal 
and made wise comments on the text. Darlene Sadlier saved me from mak-
ing some factual errors. Francisco Ferraz and Sidney Munhoz bought a 
Brazilian perspective with their useful critiques. But above all, I thank my 
dear wife Diane Marie, who read and re-read draft after draft making the 
text more understandable. And she read the entire text aloud as we checked 
the proofs. She gave up our usual canoe excursions on the Lamprey through-
out many fair weather days, as well as ski trips in New Hampshire’s White 
Mountains, so I could disappear into my study. Her constant encourage-
ment, good nature, tolerance, patience, and love made this book a reality.

A thousand thanks to all.

Durham, NH, USA� Frank D. McCann
Tiradentes Day, April 21, 2018



Fig. 1  Map of Brazil, circa 1940s. From The Brazilian-American Alliance, 
1937–1945 by Frank D.  McCann, Jr. (Copyright © 1973, renewed 2001 by 
Princeton University Press. Reprinted by permission)
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CHAPTER 1

A Relationship of Unbalanced Giants

Brazil and the United States are the two giants of the Western Hemisphere 
in territory, population, natural resources, and industrial plant. They have 
never engaged each other in war, their governments have had relatively 
few disputes of the sort that fill the pages of diplomatic and military histo-
ries, and they have adjusted their relations to new regional and world 
conditions many times since José Silvestre Rebello presented his creden-
tials to President James Monroe in May 1824 as the first representative of 
the independent Empire of Brazil. Though their relations have been 
peaceful for 194 years, and give every sign of remaining so, there has been 
a thread of tension running throughout the fabric of their relations.1

The sources of this tension have been political, economic, and cultural, 
and they are also related to the differences between the identities and sys-
tems of the two countries. Though Brazil and the United States have 
many similarities, they are profoundly different from one another.

Similarities and Differences

First let us look at the similarities. They are both huge political entities, 
with their land borders measured in thousands of kilometers (miles), their 
long seacoasts supporting old seafaring traditions, and they both experi-
enced a long struggle to occupy, control, and develop vast interior spaces. 
They both have deep traces of their colonial experiences in their national 
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characters. Both reflect predominately European traditions that overran 
native cultures and land claims, but both display cultural traits influenced 
by native values and practices. Both used extensive slave labor and had 
their cultures significantly marked by African influences from their large 
African-descended populations. Both absorbed European and Asian immi-
grants. And their respective military institutions have played major roles in 
their own systems, though in very different ways. The Brazilian military 
stance is constitutionally defensive, although its military has intervened in 
politics to the extreme of taking control of the national government. The 
Americans have used their military to intervene in neighboring countries 
and international wars while avoiding direct interference in US national 
politics. Both countries share the common feature of having superficial 
knowledge and understanding of the other’s society. Brazil is seen from 
the United States through a Caribbean and Spanish-American haze, while 
for Brazilians the United States has a mythical Hollywood and TV image. 
Both see themselves as unique expressions of humanity. To make matters 
more complicated for American understanding, Brazilian governments 
and intellectuals, aside from some on the left, have not thought of their 
country as part of Latin America (which was a French cultural construct) 
until recently, but rather as a continental-size chunk of South America.2

Their differences are perhaps more salient. Brazil was born at the end 
of the medieval era and the beginning of the Renaissance in the Catholic 
heritage, while the United States grew from a colonial experience on the 
East Coast of North America related to the Protestant Reformation. The 
Portuguese monarchy kept Brazil closed to foreigners and foreign trade 
from 1580 to 1808, while the Americans had a lively international mari-
time trade from early on. Their intellectual ancestry produced different 
attitudes toward law; in the United States, whatever is not outlawed is 
legal, while in Brazil to be legal, a thing must be specified in law. This in 
turn has produced different attitudes toward government, Americans 
assume that they are free to act and so tend to ignore government and to 
resent its interference in their daily lives, while Brazilians seek permission, 
recognition, and support from the government. Or perhaps better put 
from the ever-present bureaucracy. Americans created impersonal, impar-
tial mechanisms, such as the graduated court system, before which they 
seek to resolve their differences; Brazil has a similar appearing system of 
courts, but on a more personal level, Brazilians seek to settle problems via 
the intercession of friends, relatives, and patrons. The panelinha, an infor-
mal grouping of individuals who share common interests and personal 
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ties, has “a significantly pervasive role in the brokering, clientelistic nature 
of the Brazilian political-governmental system.” Such groups are difficult 
to identify and study, but they are one of the unseen linkages “between 
various interests, organizations, and agencies” that maintain networks of 
influence throughout Brazil. Access to such networks is obtained by what 
the Brazilians call pistolão or the exercise of influence. The networks can 
be positive or negative, but their functioning can undermine the rule of 
law. Regulations and laws may or may not catch hold and endure (pegam 
ou não pegam), but they will likely be struggled against via what is known 
as the jeito or jeitinho, the overcoming or getting around annoying or 
inconvenient obstacles. Panelinha and jeito “serve as means for reconcil-
ing the modern and the traditional – certainly a continuing need for citi-
zens of changing but not yet transformed Brazil.”3 Via the jeitinho, as 
Roberto DaMatta observed, “we do what we want and avoid open conflict 
with the law.”4

An extreme example of a jeito could be Brazilian Chief of Staff Pedro 
Aurélio Góes Monteiro’s reaction to US Navy Secretary Frank Knox’s 
request in 1943 to discuss cooperation and to be briefed on Brazil’s war 
plans. In fact there were no war plans on which to brief the Americans, so 
Góes did a jeito by quickly gathering his staff officers for an all-night ses-
sion in which they created ostensible war plans. The next day the general 
was able to expound on Brazilian plans as if they had existed for months 
or years.

The landholding patterns and their attendant social-economic and 
labor systems that grew out of these respective histories were also dissimi-
lar. The Brazilian Land Law of 1850 reinforced the tendency toward large 
landholdings with slave or peon labor, while the American Homestead Act 
of 1862 increased the number of small family farms. Witness too the 
importance that the American Congress gave to education with the pas-
sage in 1862 of the Morrill Act that set aside public lands in each state for 
the support of public universities. That Act gave rise to the great state 
universities that have contributed so much to the development of the 
American economy and society. In Brazil the public universities were not 
established until the 1930s; the lack of public education for the masses 
acted as a drag on development. In 1940 Brazil’s white people were 47% 
illiterate, Negros were 79%, and Pardos (mixed) were 71%,5 while the 
American white population was 4% illiterate and the black 20%. The 
United States, in the decades after the Civil War, adopted racial segrega-
tion as a lamentable response to the abolition of slavery, while Brazil hid 
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its racial prejudice behind a seemingly more tolerant miscegenation. After 
slavery was outlawed in 1888, the Brazilian elite gradually embraced the 
convenient idea that the country enjoyed a racial democracy, which made 
good press copy but was far from the truth. The two countries had been 
intimately joined by the African slave trade. Though it was illegal for US 
citizens and vessels to participate in the slave trade, they and American 
capital engaged enthusiastically in the dastardly traffic between Africa and 
Brazil.6

The two countries are continental in size, in 1940 Brazil had a popula-
tion of about 41,114,000, while the United States had 132,164,569, but 
then much of Brazil’s territory was beyond the reach of the central gov-
ernment. In 1940, Brazil was still the land of coffee, it dominated world 
production. The American economy was heavily industrialized and moved 
by extensive coast-to-coast and regional railway networks which also 
linked population centers all across the land. With the exception of Minas 
Gerais, Brazil’s population was concentrated along its long coast just as it 
had been in the colonial era. And with the exception of the rail line from 
Rio and São Paulo to Rio Grande do Sul, the republic’s railroads ran from 
ports a relatively few miles into the hinterland to carry out regional prod-
ucts for export. The interior areas were tied together by mule train trails, 
rather than roads, which were few and far between. Even the “highway” 
from Rio de Janeiro to São Paulo was gravel in 1940. As historian Joel 
Wolfe observed, “It was not until Brazilians began to manufacture auto-
mobiles in the 1950s that they built the first major roads into the 
interior.”7

Another major difference between Brazil and the United States as the 
world skidded toward war was that the former was a dictatorship, while 
the latter was an elected representative democracy. Getúlio Vargas had 
come to power via a revolution in 1930 that toppled an oligarchy led by 
the elite of the state of São Paulo. He was the governor of the state of Rio 
Grande do Sul bordering Uruguay and Argentina. His military allies were 
reformist officers committed to making the army a force for change and 
bringing Brazil into the modern world.8 Franklin D. Roosevelt came to 
the presidency in early 1933 in a type of electoral revolution that brought 
Democrats to power after a decade of Republican rule had plunged the 
country into the greatest Depression in history. In attempting to recon-
struct their economies, the two chief executives felt a unity of purpose and 
a spirit of comradery. In 1934 Vargas had been elected president by the 
constituent assembly turned national congress after writing a new 
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constitution. Economic difficulties and political disagreements stymied 
plans for rearmament and industrialization. By 1937 it was clear that Brazil 
could not pay on its national debt or on bonds sold abroad and also arm 
itself. The army was alarmed by its evident weakness in being unable to 
defend against persistent corrosive regionalism and rising international 
tensions. Brazilian politics entered into crisis as the 1938 presidential elec-
tions neared. Minister of War General Eurico Dutra was convinced that an 
explosion was about to occur. Laws were not working, he declared, and 
that only the armed forces were “capable of saving Brazil from the catas-
trophe ready to erupt.” It was necessary to act, “even outside the law,” he 
asserted, “in defense of the corrupted law and institutions.” The Chamber 
of Deputies would be purged of its reactionary, weak, and incapable mem-
bers; in fact it would be closed. Dutra insisted that “the constituted 
authorities should be maintained. The movement will carry with it the 
President of the Republic, whose authority will be reinforced.”9 To end 
the stalemate, Vargas with General Dutra and Army Chief of Staff Pedro 
de Góes Monteiro toppled the constitutional government in the name of 
the higher good of the security of the Pátria. Vargas made a pledge, or 
compromisso, that he would equip and arm the armed forces so that they 
could carry out their assigned duty, in return they would provide the mus-
cle for a regime of force and national development. The regime was styled 
the Estado Novo (New State) to mark its break with the past. This would 
be the government that the United States would have to work with in 
creating a framework for hemisphere defense.10 Roosevelt viewed the 
Brazilian situation with a certain tolerant benevolence. He had long had a 
fascination with Brazil. As a youth, during a trip to Paris, he had seen the 
exiled Emperor Pedro II in a park. And, of course, he was stirred by the 
adventure of his cousin, Theodore, journeying the River of Doubt with 
Brazilian Colonel Cândido Rondon in 1914. That venture had embla-
zoned the Roosevelt name on the river in the Western Amazon. He would 
have known that his cousin considered the “last frontier” to be in Brazil.11 
He visited Rio de Janeiro briefly in 1936.

The dissimilar national psychologies of the two countries affected what 
they expected from their relationship. The Brazilians frequently envisaged 
more from the United States than its political system allowed the govern-
ment to give. In the twentieth century, Brazilian leaders thought that the 
bonds of “friendship” between the two governments gave them claims on 
the United States. They did not appreciate that friendships between lead-
ers, while extremely useful in furthering relations, did not transfer to 
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friendship at the societal level; that personal friendship did not convert 
into national favors. As a result, at times Brazilian leaders were disap-
pointed when their expectations were not fulfilled by their American 
counterparts. For their part the Americans, caught up in their fears of the 
Axis, minimized Brazilian national pride and worries about foreign 
encroachment on their territory. They expected Brazilians to trust them, 
ignoring that US history in Latin America recommended that the Brazilians 
should be wary.

It is not surprising that tension arises between two huge dynamic coun-
tries linked by many different kinds of interactions. Some of the sources of 
tension are cultural, while others are related to the imbalance between the 
two economies. The form of Brazil’s government—which has ranged 
from monarchy to oligarchic presidency to dictatorship to elected con-
gress and presidency—has been less important than other factors as a 
source of tension. Certainly in the post-World War II period, there has 
been tension regardless of the type of national leadership. Developmentalist, 
left-leaning administrations, right-wing military regimes, and civilian-
centrist governments have all had their share of problems with the United 
States and vice versa.

Some problems could have been avoided if Brazilian and American 
leaders had better understanding of the other’s society, language, cul-
ture, and political system. But, given the lack of such understanding, it is 
not surprising that Brazilians would feel uneasy facing the highly orga-
nized, economically and militarily strong United States. American impa-
tience, ethnocentrism, and self-righteousness make Washington take 
positions on such matters as basing troops, atomic energy, and Amazonian 
development that strike Brazilians as potential threats to their national 
sovereignty.

Brazilian and American expectations of each other came into play at 
such moments. In the post-war era, Brazilians quite rightly recalled their 
role in World War II, which at certain points in that conflict was very 
important. Indeed, Brazil was a factor in the pre-war tension between the 
United States and Nazi Germany, because one of the elements of conten-
tion in the 1930s was over the Brazilian market and access to Brazil’s raw 
materials. During the war the American air and naval bases in the Northeast 
of Brazil played major roles in destroying Axis submarines in the South 
Atlantic and in the Allied victories in Egypt and North Africa. The supply 
of natural resources and foodstuffs was of basic importance, as was the 
denial of those things to the Axis. The Brazilian Expeditionary Force 
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[Força Expedicionária Brasileira, commonly referred to as FEB] in the 
Italian campaign was important to both countries, but for different rea-
sons; to the Americans it embodied a guarantee of Brazilian commitment 
to the Allied cause; to the Brazilians it was a blood sacrifice that would 
bind them to their American allies in a special, deep friendship that would 
bring future benefits.

Brazilians and Americans viewed American wartime assistance differ-
ently as well. The building of the steel mill at Volta Redonda in the state 
of Rio de Janeiro was for the Americans a short-term, immediate measure, 
a bargaining chip that helped keep Brazil out of the German camp, but 
Brazilians viewed it and the later economic advisory mission led by Morris 
Cooke, that recommended long-term support of Brazilian development, 
as the beginning of continued American assistance. Such aid would not be 
given to Brazil’s rival, Argentina. Oswaldo Aranha, who as foreign minis-
ter kept Brazil on a steady pro-American course, expressed the relationship 
as one in which Brazil would support the United States on the world scene 
in return for United States’ support of Brazilian hegemony in South 
America. Stated so neatly, it seemed, from the perspective of Rio de 
Janeiro, to be a fait accompli, but in the Department of State, such think-
ing was met with caution and the desire to avoid becoming “entangled in 
the subtle web of Mr. Aranha’s balance of power politics.”12

Brazilian leaders were understandably drawn to the point of view of 
Americans such as Morris Cooke, who believed that the colonial-era econ-
omy was coming to an end and that Brazil would attain industrial maturity 
through hydro-electric energy, air transport, and light metals. Cooke was 
committed to the idea that great things could be “accomplished for Brazil 
and ultimately for the United States in the free passage of our technology 
as an essential element in the industrialization of Brazil.”13 At the time 
Brazilian leaders were not aware that Cooke’s report was received with 
skepticism in the State Department, where one official commented that it 
contained “captivating excursions into fantasy,” and that Cooke seemed to 
be infected with the enthusiasm about Brazil’s natural resources and future 
that prompted “so many otherwise normal American visitors to Imaginative 
thinking.”14 Those Americans with direct experience, who had actually 
been in Brazil, especially those who spoke Portuguese, often saw things 
differently than those who lacked such experience.

Brazilians and Americans came out of the war with different expecta-
tions of each other. 1945–1946 was a time of great historical change for 
the world and for the two republics. The American leadership was no 
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longer the same one that took the United States into the war; it had a 
vague or no memory of a special Brazilian role. The events of the war had 
eliminated recollection of the difficult days of 1939–1942. In contrast, the 
Brazilian post-war leadership was composed of many of the same men who 
had led Brazil during the conflict, with the notable exceptions of Getúlio 
Vargas and Oswaldo Aranha. The replacement of elites in the United 
States was more rapid and continuous in the two decades after the war 
than it was in Brazil.

When you look at what was available to read about the war, you notice 
that the Brazilian role fades from view. Secretary of State Cordell Hull’s 
and Under Secretary of State Sumner Welles’s memoirs and historians 
William Langer and Everett Gleason’s 1952 and 1953 books on the start 
of the war gave Brazil its due, but there was no comprehensive study of the 
Brazilian involvement until Princeton University Press published The 
Brazilian-American Alliance, 1937–1945 in 1973. And that book did not 
appear in Portuguese until 1995. Even major studies of the war make no 
reference to Brazil. The vast majority of Americans today know nothing of 
Brazil’s contributions to Allied victory. Indeed, Americans still confuse 
Brazil and Argentina and think that Brazil tended to support the Axis and 
after the war offered sanctuary to fleeing Nazis. Witness the book and film 
The Boys from Brazil, which dealt with a plot to recreate the German 
Reich, which was actually set in Paraguay!15 Americans are still surprised to 
learn that Brazil fought alongside the Allies. As a result the constant post-
war Brazilian references to the wartime alliance had no popular reverbera-
tions in the United States.

Brazil and the United States were military allies from 1942 to 1977. 
The alliance was an important element in Brazil’s modernization and the 
development of its armed forces. As an historical note, when Brazil gained 
independence from Portugal in 1822, Brazilian Emperor Pedro I sent an 
envoy to Washington with instructions to negotiate an alliance with the 
northern republic. The Americans believed that “a Treaty of alliance 
offensive and defensive to repel any invasion of the Brazilian Territories by 
the forces of Portugal” was not likely to be necessary and so declined, but 
concurred in the “expediency of permanently uniting our two Nations in 
the ties of Friendship, Peace and Commerce” and that the United States 
was disposed to conclude a treaty to that effect.16 So business was to be the 
basis of the relationship. However, there were crucial exceptions to the 
tendency of the American government to hold the Brazilians at arm’s 
length. For example, in 1893, President Grover Cleveland violated 
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neutrality laws by allowing a private businessman, with Brazilian interests, 
to raise a 12-ship flotilla, armed with the era’s most feared naval gun and 
electrical torpedoes, crewed and commanded by Americans, and steamed 
for Rio to suppress rebels against the then new Brazilian republic.17 The 
Brazilian government was so pleased that it commemorated July 4 as a 
holiday. The relationship over the next decades has been labeled “an 
unwritten alliance.”18 In 1917 the Brazilian army sent a group of officers 
to train at the US coast artillery school, as well as a mission to study the 
organization of American war plants and arsenals, Brazilian officers served 
on American warships in World War I, and Brazil welcomed a large 
American Naval Mission in 1922.19 During the Great War, Brazil was 
largely distracted by its own problems. The army was concluding its sup-
pression of a serious peasant rebellion in the Contestado region of Santa 
Catarina and Paraná and attempting to modernize itself and its relation-
ship to society. The war in Europe seemed far away, even though Brazil 
became a rather inactive belligerent. Some of the army’s younger officers 
were frustrated with missing a chance to fight, which provoked a few of 
them to volunteer for service in the French army.20 The gap between the 
United States and Brazil perhaps was symbolized by the flag that the orga-
nizers of the victory parade in New York gave to the Brazilian delegation. 
It was the flag of the Brazilian Empire that had been overthrown in 1889.

Between the World Wars

After World War I, seeking to modernize their army, the Brazilians turned 
to France for an advisory mission. They considered inviting the Americans 
to learn from the United States’ massive mobilization, but thought that 
they were culturally closer to the French and political and banking inter-
ests in São Paulo backed the choice of France.21 By the 1930s the Brazilian 
General Staff was somewhat disenchanted with the French and piecemeal 
began seeking American assistance for specialized training in coastal artil-
lery, medical care, and aviation. American aircraft and weapons producers 
were more interested in accommodating Brazilians at their plants than 
were American military officials in training them in their schools and 
bases.22 The idea of a military alliance was not on the official agenda of 
either country. Indeed in 1933–1938, Brazil, which could not afford to 
buy arms in the United States (also made difficult by neutrality laws), 
turned to Germany, where it could use “compensation trade” to acquire 
weapons. This was not an ideologically based decision, but a practical 
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economic one. The Brazilian army chief of staff warned “…we are dis-
armed, even our rifles are in a sad state.”23 This interlude of doing business 
with the Nazi regime caused undue suspicion in the United States and 
resulted in the labeling of some Brazilian leaders involved as Germanophiles.

At the very time these purchases were being negotiated, Brazilian army 
intelligence officers were saying that the “ambitions and demands of 
Germany, Italy, and Japan” were a “latent danger for Brazil.” They also 
recommended “greater closeness with the United States of America, our 
principal support in case of war.” These officers saw the United States as 
Brazil’s best customer, but noted that “we buy relatively little from them.” 
They understood that unless Brazil developed its military power, it could 
not liberate itself from “North American dependence,” which they 
thought it could do “without prejudicing an even greater closeness with 
the great confederation of the north.”24

As the world slid toward another great war, Brazilian army leaders 
believed that they had to depend on their own wits and resources and that 
they should use the crises that lay ahead to obtain the greatest advantage 
for Brazil. When considering the looming war clouds, Brazilian military 
and presidential papers continually pointed to the United States as the 
logical partner.

World War II Alliance with the United States

In January 1937, such thinking naturally led President Getúlio Vargas to 
offer discussion of all forms of military and naval cooperation, including 
an American naval base in a Brazilian port to be used in case of aggression 
against the United States. At the time Washington was not prepared to 
act. Less than two years later, it would be the Roosevelt administration 
that would be desperate to obtain bases in Brazil.

The popular perception of World War II in Brazil has a curious poison-
ous undercurrent suggesting that the United States had somehow drawn 
Brazil into the conflict against the better judgment of Brazilian leaders. At 
its extreme this undercurrent alleges unbelievably that US Navy subma-
rines sank Brazilian ships to provoke the country to enter the war.25 This 
tale had its origins in the efforts of Nazi agents to undermine the credibil-
ity of Brazil’s war effort. It was believed by some at the time and has been 
passed on down to the present. Some of the literature on the Brazilian 
Expeditionary Force carries a warily suspicious tone that Brazilians, espe-
cially the FEB troops, had been exploited by the United States. Some 
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commentary suggests that the United States pressured Brazil to enter the 
war. The documentary evidence leaves little doubt as to what actually hap-
pened. However, some of these false undercurrents are fixed in a portion 
of the popular Brazilian imagination.26

Even some noted Brazilian historians have carelessly misread events. 
For example, Boris Fausto, historian at the Universidade de São Paulo, 
asserted: “By the end of 1941, without waiting for authorization from the 
Brazilian government, American troops had set up bases in the Northeast”27 
[emphasis added]. This book shows the absolute falsehood of that state-
ment. Alternate facts and unresolved doubts must not be allowed to infect 
history. Keeping analyses firmly based on archival records lessens the space 
available for fake stories.

The FEB in the Italian campaign was the culmination of a long and 
complex process of negotiations and confidence building from 1938 to 
1944 that created the alliance between Brazil and the United States. My 
intent is to study the nature of Brazilian-American military relations, the 
negotiations that created the alliance, and the often divergent objectives of 
the two nations. From 1938 onward, American leaders had been worried 
about Brazil’s vulnerability to German attack, especially against its north-
eastern bulge. They feared that if the Axis could secure part of the north-
east its forces could launch an air attack on the crucial Panama Canal. 
Moreover, the United States needed air and naval bases to confront the 
Axis submarines that were threatening the passage of Allied shipping 
through the South Atlantic and to fly aircraft, equipment, and supplies 
across to Africa and then onto the Middle East, Russia, South Asia, and 
the Far East. Their solution was to obtain permission to build air and naval 
bases in Brazil’s northeast, eliminate Axis-owned airlines from Brazilian 
skies, build up Brazilian military capabilities, and station American troops 
in the region to assure its safety. In 1940, to prepare the critical airfields 
before an actual emergency occurred, the US Army made an agreement 
with Pan American Airways to make arrangements with Brazilian authori-
ties and to do the construction via its subsidiary Panair do Brasil. As a 
result when the need arose in 1942, the necessary airfields were available 
to handle the increasingly heavier military traffic from Miami through 
Brazil to Africa and beyond. In retrospect the army was pleased with its 
wisdom because without “the foresighted planning that preceded the 
1940 contract with Pan American, the entire course of the war might have 
been changed.”28
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The history of World War II has tended to focus on the battlefields, but 
victories could not be won without munitions, equipment, food, and all 
manner of other supplies. And without transport by air and sea, such cru-
cial things could not reach their destinations. In the vast logistical network 
created by the United States, the Northeast of Brazil was the “indispens-
able link.”29 When the North Atlantic air route closed down in the winter 
months, “the Brazilian route handled virtually all air traffic to Europe and 
Africa, a large part of the planes and emergency supplies for India and 
China, and some of the lend-lease materials for the Soviet Union.” This 
traffic included thousands of supply planes and some 2500 combat planes 
flying to overseas stations. In 1943, the vitally significant Brazilian airway 
would be “the air funnel to the battlefields of the world.”30

Until the attack on Pearl Harbor, the Brazilians did not share American 
strategic worries about the Axis. For them the struggles in Europe and 
Asia were far away and they believed that the more likely immediate threat 
to Brazil was from Argentina in the south. Some Brazilian leaders thought 
that as in World War I they could avoid large-scale involvement. But above 
all they wanted to control defense of their own national territory. 
Moreover, they were uncertain that the United States could or would 
come to their aid if Brazil were attacked. In reality their armed forces were 
weak, and they had insufficient industrial capability to produce their own 
weapons. Where the two national perspectives and objectives deviated, 
there were tensions, suspicions, and misunderstandings ruling the day. 
American military and naval intelligence reports and analyses richly docu-
mented the issues involved, but, as would be expected, they were colored 
by an American perspective that was impatient with Brazilian worries 
about sovereignty. The documents were classified secret and unavailable to 
historians for decades after the war. They and the Brazilian archives for the 
period have been gradually opened to researchers, and some documents 
have even found their way into print. Thus, it is now possible to have a 
more balanced account of what took place.
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the American navy had sunk the Brazilian ships from students at the 
Universidade Federal de Roraima in August 1998. A study of how the 
story was maintained for so many years would be useful.

27.	 Partly because of the paucity of extensive research on Brazil in World War 
II, inaccuracies have crept into the historical literature. See Boris Fausto, A 
Concise History of Brazil (Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press, 
1999), p. 228.

28.	 I added the emphasis. Julius H. Amberg (Special Asst. to the Secretary of 
War) to Hugh Fulton (Chief Counsel, Truman Committee, US Senate), 
August 13, 1943, OPD 580.82 Brazil (3-30-42), RG165, NARA. There 
was a congressional investigation into the army’s dealings with Pan 
American Airways. On the air line’s “Airport Development Program,” see 
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CHAPTER 2

Pre-war Fears and Explorations

Brazilian Military Prior to Outbreak of War

The 1920s had seen the Brazilian army torn by the rebellion of hundreds 
of junior officers that fed political unrest. Then the disputed 1930 presi-
dential election ended in a well-organized uprising that has been called a 
“revolution.”1 The army generals lost control of key commands and all of 
the states save the capital of Rio de Janeiro. The new government styled 
itself revolutionary and launched an extensive political reform. This pro-
voked a three-month civil war between the state of São Paulo (1932) and 
the federal government, which the state lost. As a result the national mili-
tary was split in a variety of ways and was badly in need of restructuring 
and reform.2 By 1934–1935 the Brazilian army was in the midst of reor-
ganizing itself. Admittedly much of the reorganization never got beyond 
the planning stage. However, the army did create an intelligence service 
and made a careful study of Brazil’s military situation, including possible 
threats to national security. That threat analysis indicated that Brazilian 
authorities were measuring the dangers that were accumulating on the 
world scene and were carefully considering how best to protect their 
country. Brazilian leaders believed that they could only depend on their 
own wits and resources and that they should try to obtain the greatest 
advantage for Brazil from whatever crises that might appear. But, when 
considering a possible world war and the problem of equipping and pre-
paring its armed forces, the Brazilian military and presidential papers 
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repeatedly pointed to the United States as the logical source of military 
supply.3 However, in the 1930s the political realities of international 
finance and trade, and restrictive American laws on arms sales, made it 
impossible to buy weapons from the United States and facilitated Brazilian 
purchases from Germany.4

While historians have been aware of the problem of military supplies 
through the focus of the American-German competition over Brazil, a less 
known aspect was related to the Chaco War between Paraguay and 
Bolivia’s (1932–1935) and Peru and Colombia’s struggle for control of 
Leticia in the Western Amazon (1932–1933). Indeed those wars on 
Brazil’s borders contributed to the decision to reorganize the army in 
1934. President Getúlio Vargas was particularly troubled about Paraguay 
and how the Chaco conflict could affect relations with Argentina. Likewise 
the army general staff was “very alarmed.” The war appeared to be grow-
ing more complicated. Vargas wrote to his new ambassador in Washington, 
his old friend, Oswaldo Aranha, that Paraguay would not know what to do 
with its 70,000 strong, victorious army after the war. It would not have 
jobs for the returning soldiers and so Vargas foresaw that the general com-
manding “a discontented army” would likely overthrow the civilian gov-
ernment. He was afraid that Paraguay could “create problems on our 
frontier in Mato Grosso, provoking an incident that would bring Argentina 
into the conflict.” Argentina had been “openly supporting Paraguay, pro-
viding all manner of supplies, concentrating troops on the border of 
Bolivia” even seizing some Bolivian border posts and “advocating the 
reabsorption of Bolivia, [which had been] part of the [colonial] viceroyalty 
of the Prata.” The Argentine minister of war, General Manuel A. Rodríguez, 
was notably loud in calling for such action. Argentina had made loans to 
keep Paraguay fighting. Brazilian military attachés were not allowed to 
visit the war zone and were treated with “visible suspicion.” “Our policy,” 
Vargas wrote, “has been cordial friendship with Argentina and abstention 
of interference in the Chaco question.” Maintaining that policy, “we must 
take military precautions,” in order to avoid future problems.

However, he lamented, “We lack almost everything.” He wanted to 
know what the Americans thought about all this “and to what point will 
they accompany us?” Brazil did not have funds and “two things we need at 
the moment: some units for coastal defense; one or two cruisers, subma-
rines and one or two gunboats on the Paraguay River.” Ambassador Aranha 
replied that President Franklin Roosevelt asked that they do nothing about 
the Brazilian fleet without consulting him because he had “decided to do 
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everything he could so that everything could be built [in the United States] 
on the best and cheapest terms.” Aranha cautioned that they had to keep 
this secret between them, that the slightest leak could compromise their 
efforts to secure American arms. “The truth … Getúlio, is that these people 
are convinced that in case of war we will be with them.” However, they were 
“alarmed with our lack of interest in this post since the time of Domicio da 
Gama (1911–18), and the Americans did not understand how Brazil could 
twice renew the French military mission’s contract and not keep the 
American naval mission ( which was then in doubt).” He feared they would 
turn to Argentina. “I tell you,” Aranha affirmed, “that everything is possible 
to obtain, but it will all have to be done with discretion, with secrecy.”5 
Aranha warned that Argentina was trying to undermine Brazil’s friendly 
relations with the United States and that “we must preserve our position so 
that in any eventuality we can count on this country.”6

At that time Brazil lacked gold reserves and hard currencies to finance 
its international trade, so in June 1935, the government signed an infor-
mal compensation trade agreement with Germany that using complicated 
exchange mechanisms allowed Brazil to swap its natural or agricultural 
products for German manufactures. Washington protested vigorously to 
this closed arrangement that detached Brazilian-German trade from the 
wider international system based upon gold and convertible currencies. 
Because of the close linkage between obtaining arms and Brazil’s foreign 
trade, the army’s general staff paid close attention to trade policies.

Vargas committed himself to arming and equipping the military and 
building a national steel factory in return for military backing for extend-
ing his presidency with dictatorial powers that would eliminate politics. 
The execution of this arrangement proceeded in the hesitant, indirect way 
in which Getúlio usually maneuvered. He flashed mixed, even contradic-
tory signals. But rather than being devious, his lack of clarity likely reflected 
his indecision and caution. He had made an agreement, or compromisso, 
with Generals Dutra and Góes Monteiro to establish a dictatorship that 
would arm Brazil.7 In his diary Vargas commented on June 15, 1936, that 
the only way to make the necessary arms purchases would be “a great 
reduction in payment of the foreign debt” which could not be done under 
“the political regime that we are following.” So defense policy produced 
the dictatorship called the Estado Novo.8

The debates within the army regarding trade and arms policies gave the 
officer corps the appearance of grouping into pro-American (later Allied) 
and pro-German (later Axis) camps. The European crisis produced deeply 
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conflicted and complicated responses in the Brazilian officer corps. 
Certainly, there was admiration for Germany’s post-World War I recon-
struction of its armed forces and its military industries. Furthermore there 
was growing acceptance of the idea that in facing the uncertainties ahead, 
Brazilian national security demanded a strong, efficient, centralized 
government committed to defense. It was easy for contemporary American 
observers to see nefarious Axis influences in the statements and attitudes 
of Generals Eurico Dutra (minister of war) and Pedro A. de Góes Monteiro 
(army chief of staff), but historians should look more deeply and not 
merely accept what seems obvious.9 It has been common for historians to 
present the government of Getúlio Vargas as wavering between Nazi 
Germany and the United States. It often looked that way to newspaper 
reporters and hence later historians who saw Dutra and Góes Monteiro 
having “sympathy for Germany.”10 However when Dutra was asked 
directly by a New York Times reporter “Can it be said that the sentiment 
of the Army is pro-German and anti-American?”, he replied: “Not at all. 
The Army is intent on perfecting its professional efficiency, and is solely 
pro-Brazilian. [And] for help along this line it has looked to the United 
States rather than to Germany.”11 The idea of being pro-Brazilian was 
often difficult for Americans to understand.

In 1938, listening to the advice of its generals, the government of 
Getúlio Vargas contracted with Germany’s Krupp and Zeiss companies for 
a massive purchase of artillery pieces and appropriate sights and other 
optics.12 That $ (US) 55,000,000 package raised suspicions in Washington, 
but should have been balanced against President Vargas’s friendly relation-
ship with Franklin Roosevelt and the Brazilian leader’s unsolicited offer 
after their cordial meeting in Rio de Janeiro in late 1936 to discuss full 
military and naval cooperation, including building a naval base in Brazil 
for American use in the event of a war of aggression against the United 
States. Vargas observed that such an attack on the United States “would 
necessarily” involve “the vital interests of Brazil.”13 The American army’s 
intelligence files oozed doubts and distrust; staff officers knew nothing of 
Vargas’s offer of a naval base and tended to view many Brazilian officers as 
Nazi sympathizers. Some were, but most merely had a professional admi-
ration for the discipline and efficiency of the German army.14 Unfortunately, 
Roosevelt’s government did not take up the offer, and the Brazilian lead-
ership turned to their own problems and solutions. Less than two years 
after Getúlio’s remarkable offer, the Americans would be urgently pursu-
ing that very cooperation (Fig. 2.1).

  F. D. MCCANN



  23

American Fears and Brazilian Neutrality

It is important to recall that the war began suddenly in September 1939 
with the German invasion of Poland and that the conquest of the 
Netherlands and Belgium and shocking retreat of the British across the 
Channel from Dunkirk in early June and the defeat of France in mid-June 
1940 caused panic in Washington. It was not at all evident that Britain 
could hold off the Germans, who launched massive air attacks on the 
island kingdom. Eventually, the Germans gave up their invasion plans, but 
that was not immediately clear. Meanwhile, Italy attacked British colonies 
in East Africa and Japan took over French Indo-China. On September 27, 
the three aggressors signed a ten-year military and economic pact, form-
ing the Axis alliance. Their forces swept into Romania and the Balkans and 
plunged into Greece. Uncertainty was the order of the day. On December 
29, 1940, President Roosevelt held a radio “fireside chat” with his coun-
trymen stressing the Axis threat and calling for an immense production 

Fig. 2.1  Roosevelt and Vargas on FDR’s arrival in Rio de Janeiro, 1936. The 
president’s oldest son James is the naval officer in the front looking at his father. 
(Courtesy of the FDR Library, Hyde Park, NY. NARA)
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effort that would make the United States “the great arsenal of democ-
racy.” Brave inspiring words, but everything remained to be done. What if 
the French surrendered their fleet to the Germans and they mounted an 
attack from Dakar, in West Africa, on Northeast Brazil? The distance was 
a mere 1400 miles and only 8 hours by air. American planners worried that 
if the Germans could get control of Northeast Brazil, they would separate 
the United States from South America’s natural resources.15 An even 
worse fear was that if they got a toehold on the “hump” of Brazil they 
could step by step move on the Panama Canal cutting that lifeline.

Today, understanding German weaknesses, that scenario of a German 
attack on the Panama Canal appears like a fantasy, but at the time it looked 
all too possible. Military planners in Washington were unsure of Axis capa-
bilities and so had to think in worst case scenarios. In fact at the White 
House conference of American and British staff officers with President 
Roosevelt and Prime Minister Winston Churchill on December 23, 1941, 
the two leaders “thought it was important to keep a flying route open 
across Africa, referring to the Brazilian situation and the threat from 
Dakar.” FDR emphasized “the dangers of Brazil”; while Churchill wor-
ried about a German move into North Africa and a seizure of Dakar, he 
imagined the possibility of “an expedition against Dakar” to head off such 
an event.16

The nightmare of a German seizure of either Dakar or Natal disturbed 
the sleep of American military leaders for several years. From the early 
1930s, Germany and the United States had competed for Brazilian trade 
and the American military had courted the Brazilian army energetically. 
Military planners hoped that the United States would trade arms to Brazil 
for permission to station a defense force in the northeast. From 1939 
through 1942, American military planning emphasized the exposed nature 
of the Brazilian bulge and the War Department’s desire to garrison it with 
American troops. In January 1939, according to War Department ana-
lysts, Brazil’s coastal cities were

“almost completely defenseless …against even small naval raiding expedi-
tions. Brazil is helpless in the face of any kind of powerful enemy. … If we 
are ever embroiled over the Monroe Doctrine the chance is about 95 per 
cent it will be on account of undefended Brazil. … Twenty-five hundred 
miles of undefended coast line … which means all a hostile force would have 
to do would be to enter, drop anchor and take charge.”
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There was no anti-aircraft defense in Brazil, even for Rio and São Paulo. 
Clearly amazed, the analyst lamented “No equipment whatever. With 
planes on a regular schedule to Europe, need I say more?”17

That comment might be a bit overdramatic, but Brazil was militarily 
weak. In February 1939, officers at the Army War College, responded to 
an unusual secret request for a “Special Strategic Study of Brazil” setting 
out necessary American actions to assist “in the maintenance of its inde-
pendence and integrity in the face of internal or external operations, 
undertaken, fostered or assisted by non-American countries.” The officers 
involved were sensitive to Brazilian sovereignty concerns, insisting on “the 
immediate evacuation of Brazilian territory as soon as the desired results 
have been obtained.”18 Immediately upon the outbreak of war, the 
Brazilian government proclaimed its neutrality. Minister of War Dutra 
warned Brazilian officers to avoid any sign of partiality in their public 
actions and statements.19

The American army and navy had different interpretations of the situa-
tion in the South Atlantic. The army saw the situation as perilous, while 
the US Navy was content with its relationship with the Brazilians and was 
not anxious to help the army establish itself in Brazil. Clearly, any transat-
lantic invasion would be by sea and air. When the army’s War Plans 
Division proposed broadening the quest of bases for joint army and navy 
use, the navy objected. It already had secured Brazilian permission to use 
the northeastern harbors and did not see the urgency that the army did. 
During World War I, some Brazilian officers had served aboard American 
warships, and American officers were teaching at Brazilian naval institu-
tions by the end of that war. And beginning in 1922, the American navy 
had a sizeable and well-regarded mission in Brazil. Its officers had good 
rapport with Brazilian naval leaders, and overall the navy had better rela-
tions with the Brazilians than did the American army.20

Brazil worried American officialdom because the threat of German and 
Italian commercial, political, and military penetration was very real. Brazil 
had a German and Italian immigrant and descendant population estimated at 
1,519,000 located mostly in the southern states of São Paulo, Paraná, Santa 
Catarina, and Rio Grande do Sul. The long history of friendly Brazilian-
American relations and trade dating from the late eighteenth century was 
positive and reassuring, but the German and Italian emphasis on preserving 
contact with and the loyalty of the immigrant communities was troubling. 
Army planners feared that German and Italian communities might rebel 
against the government. The Americans naturally wanted to counter German 
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and Italian propaganda and influence.21 And, of course, the Vargas govern-
ment was very worried about the many unassimilated German communities 
in the southern states. In 1940 there were 581,807 German speakers in Rio 
Grande do Sul, Santa Catarina, and Paraná according to the census.22 The 
Nazi Party in Brazil was the largest in the world outside Germany with 2900 
members in 17 states. The government was less concerned with the Italians 
who were more Brazilianized. The government moved army units to key 
locations in the south, closed German language newspapers and schools and 
made clear to the German ambassador that the Nazi Party was not allowed 
to establish itself in German-speaking communities. Vargas had outlawed all 
political parties, and when the German ambassador aggressively argued that 
the Nazi Party should be allowed, he was declared persona non grata.23 
Minister of War Dutra commented that the foreign immigrants had made it 
possible to fill vast uncultivated and undeveloped spaces with viable commu-
nities, but government neglect had allowed them to become “true enclaves 
focused internally, socially organized with habits, customs, and traditions of 
their distant motherlands.” The army saw such communities as “worse than 
a foreign military occupation.” It would not be possible, Dutra said, to rap-
idly nationalize them, but with patience and persistence this “problema seris-
simo” would be eliminated.24

The government was also convinced that the Germans had a large num-
ber of secret agents operating “a well-organized espionage system” in the 
country.25 German propaganda aimed at keeping Germans resident in 
Brazil “as an alien bloc owing allegiance to the mother country.” Moreover 
the government feared that Germany, and maybe Japan, had “long-range 
designs on Brazil” and such fears had been “considerably accentuated since 
the Munich Conference” (Sept. 29, 1938). The American army War Plans 
Division’s (WPD) intelligence chief reported that officials of the German 
embassy in Rio and consuls in various cities “have become extremely arro-
gant since the recent events in Czechoslovakia.” The Germans were con-
ducting “an active program of inviting prominent Brazilian professional 
men to visit Germany, accompanied by their wives, all expenses paid. These 
invitations are being more frequently accepted.” German short-wave 
broadcasting stations were “extremely active in transmitting to Brazil in 
Portuguese. The musical programs are exceptionally fine and the reception 
superior to that of any other broadcasting country.” The news programs 
gave “pro-Fascist and anti-American interpretations to all possible news.” 
The intelligence chief worried that the result of these activities would even-
tually be “an effective nucleus of pro-fascist Brazilians.”26
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Instead of seeing the failed May 1938 coup attempt by the fascistic 
Integralista party as a positive sign of government strength, American 
analysts aware of German and Italian backing of the Integralistas worried 
that it could happen again.27 The Vargas regime was after all a dictatorship 
held in place by the military. Pro-Fascist and pro-Nazi forces might stir up 
enough internal dissent to topple the government, or if they could secure 
control of part of the country, Germany and Italy could send reinforce-
ments as they had been doing in Spain since 1936. In fact as early as June 
1938, the Integralistas had a plan for another revolt in the southern states 
according to a report by German ambassador Ritter.28 If a Fascist regime 
could be established in Brazil, the vital interests of the United States would 
be shaken “and the Panama Canal menaced.” Such events would affect the 
stability of neighboring Uruguay and Argentina that also had large 
German and Italian populations and endanger the security of the 
hemisphere.29

Chiefs of Staff George Marshall and Góes Monteiro 
Exchange Visits

In 1939, the Roosevelt government was so preoccupied with Brazil that it 
sent its newly designated army chief of staff, General George C. Marshall, 
to Rio de Janeiro on the USS Nashville to assess the Brazilian army first-
hand and to begin negotiations. It was the first time in history that an 
American chief of staff or designate had made a foreign journey in that 
capacity. To be exact Marshall had been selected but did not succeed 
General Malin Craig as chief until September 1, 1939.30 The idea of an 
exchange of visits between the chiefs of staff of the armies of Brazil and the 
United States came from Oswaldo Aranha, who after serving as ambassa-
dor in Washington from 1934 to 1938 had become foreign minister. In 
February 1939 during a visit to Washington, he met with army generals. 
He was the constant driving force behind close relations with the United 
States. Germany had invited Brazil’s chief of staff to visit and to participate 
in Wehrmacht maneuvers, and he had made worrisomely favorable  
comments about the German army. Aranha correctly thought that the 
exchange of visits would forestall a Góes Monteiro trip to Europe. Years 
later Marshall recalled that “in order to suppress these intimacies, I was 
sent to Brazil on a goodwill tour.”31 Marshall would have been well pre-
pared by his attendance from mid-1938 at meetings of the Standing 
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Liaison Committee, under the chairmanship of Under Secretary of State 
Sumner Welles, which dealt mainly with Latin American military matters, 
specifically the defense of Brazil.32 Beyond assuming that he had learned 
something about Brazil, it is not clear how meticulous his preparation had 
been. The American military attaché had sent a detailed explanation about 
the relative balance of power within the Brazilian army. One would sup-
pose that the minister of war was more powerful than the chief of staff, but 
the reality was, according to the attaché, that “the Chief of Staff controls 
more important elements of the Army leaving to the Minister of War  
control of administrative matters…. As matters now stand, the Minister of 
War is decidedly overshadowed by the Chief of Staff in actual power and 
political influence”33 (Fig. 2.2).

Considering that it took at least 14 days each way by ship, such a trip 
was a major commitment of time and effort. Marshall’s reception on the 

Fig. 2.2  Marshall’s arrival in Brazil. (Courtesy of the George C.  Marshall 
Foundation Research Library, Lexington, Virginia)
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streets of Rio de Janeiro, Porto Alegre, and Belo Horizonte was startlingly 
effusive. The popular reception at the dock in Rio and along Avenida Rio 
Branco was “extremely warm and the spontaneous applause from the 
crowds surprised even the Brazilian officers” assigned to meet the general 
and his party. In Belo Horizonte some 12,000 school children and thou-
sands of adults lined Avenida Afonso Pena, clapping and cheering as 
Marshall thrilled them by getting out of the car and walking a mile or so 
waving to the crowds. Even Brazilian officials were surprised at the emo-
tionally demonstrative reception. General Francisco Pinto, Vargas’s aide, 
remarked “Our people are generally… somewhat indifferent to foreign 
State visits, and I was surprised and delighted with the size of the crowds 
and their applause as the procession drove down the Avenida Rio 
Branco.”34 And Marshall observed that it was carrying hospitality too far 
to have a Brazilian colonel and a major assigned to him as “aides.” He 
thought that the calls on officials and receptions were “pretentiously 
arranged,” perhaps especially Chief of Staff General Góes Monteiro’s serv-
ing champagne to those welcoming Marshall at the war ministry. Even so 
he carefully noted Brazilian procedures so that his army could reciprocate 
similarly when General Góes arrived in the United States. He wrote to 
General Malin Craig that “they are doing this in great style.”35

On June 7 Marshall conferred with Generals Dutra and Góes Monteiro 
giving a “long and clear exposition of the matters that brought him to 
Brazil and asking for their cooperation in case of war.” He assured them 
that if Brazil were attacked, the United States Navy and Army Air Force 
would come to its assistance. To prepare a joint defense, Washington 
wanted to have access to a port, where it could concentrate its ships, and 
bases in the northeast where it would set up deposits of munitions, arms, 
oil, and gas to facilitate operations. General Góes countered that in the 
event of war Brazil’s principal worry would be to defend the south against 
invasion from Argentina and against subversion among the numerous 
German, Italian, and Japanese immigrant communities in the southern 
states.36

One of the difficulties that American officers had in discussing defense 
matters with their Brazilian counterparts was knowing the exact size of the 
Brazilian army. It was not necessarily that the numbers were secret, but 
because for years the authorized strength had been set for one year at a 
time and the authorized strength was usually higher than the actual 
strength. In 1936, for the first time the authorized numbers were set for 
three years (1936, 1937, and 1938) at 4800 regular officers, 1100 tempo-
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rary officers, and 74,000 soldiers. The problem was that while the actual 
officer number was correct, the enlisted strength was estimated to be at 
20% lower than that authorized. The actual number of soldiers was about 
60,000.37 The question of army strength was made more difficult because 
funds to carry out the army Reorganization Plan of 1934 were nearly non-
existent. The army command dealt with the lack of funds by reducing the 
numbers recruited. Officers protested and held mysterious secret meet-
ings, while the minister of war responded with public statements that the 
reductions were merely rumors and that the “efficiency of our land forces” 
was being maintained.38 The resulting discontent in the officer corps was 
one of the causes of the rise of Integralista and Communist agitation 
among officers and sergeants and a factor in the Moscow-sponsored upris-
ing in November 1935.39

Another difficulty that foreign observers had was evaluating the quality 
of the troops. However, the reality for Brazilian officers was all too clear 
and was reason for embarrassment, because most recruits were painfully 
uneducated. They were, a Brazilian officer admitted, “ignorant of our 
past, unaware of our present … indifferent to the future” lacking elemen-
tary “civil and moral education,” and with only a vague understanding of 
good and bad.40 General Dutra complained that 60% of potential recruits 
were illiterate and nearly 50% were physically unqualified.41 Because illit-
eracy was so common, basic training necessarily included instruction in 
reading, writing, and arithmetic, and troops who were deficient at the end 
of their service period were kept another six months. The “cancer of illit-
eracy,” as officers called it, was a serious limitation on military capability.

Marshall’s tour of southeastern and southern Brazil was a public rela-
tions success and gave him the opportunity to visit army units. Aside from 
“a devilish number of speeches a day,” he thought the reception “remark-
able, with a steadily increasing enthusiasm.” The elaborateness of the 
receptions made a deep impression on him. In Porto Alegre, Rio Grande 
do Sul, en route from the airport, there was a “Guard of Honor, Cavalry 
escort surrounding my car, motorcycle police. Main street bordered by 
thousands of school children in uniform, 50 or 75,000 people crowded in 
the rear of children, confetti and paper, like Broadway, for a half mile of 
blocks, four or five bands.” Dinners with state officials, balls, “guards in 
plume, jackboots … guests grouped to receive me, Governor as escort, 
national anthems, a dais at which to sit. It sounds like a joke or a bit of 
stage business, but it was all in deadly earnest in their desire to do the gra-
cious thing.” His own warmth appealed to Brazilians; in Porto Alegre he 
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delighted them by sending a considerable amount of candy to an orphan-
age and in Belo Horizonte, as mentioned, walking the line of march to 
better greet the crowds charmed the mineiros. Thinking ahead to Góes’s 
return visit, he was worried because “what they have done personally we 
cannot duplicate.”42 It is notable that Marshall was not favorably impressed 
by the officers of the small US Army Military Mission that had been advis-
ing on Brazil’s coastal defenses, they did not present a sufficiently alert and 
smart appearance to suit him. The general asserted that he wanted “to 
have only the highest type of officer in Brazil.”43 Marshall himself had 
selected Major Matthew B. Ridgway for this assignment because of his 
previous experience in Latin America; he was then assigned to the Fourth 
Army staff in San Francisco. The Head of the Army Air Corps General 
Henry H. Arnold had recommended his former Assistant Chief of Staff 
Colonel James E. Chaney. Marshall sent Ridgway and Chaney north on a 
Pan American plane to have a look at the area from Belém to Recife. Góes 
returned with Marshall to the United States on the USS Nashville to con-
tinue their talks.44 While en route, Ridgway wrote a memo for Marshall 
declaring that the objective of US policy “should be the maintenance in 
Brazil of a government determined and able to both preserve its territorial 
integrity and to cooperate fully with the United States in Hemisphere 
Defense.” He commented further that “The supply of arms and muni-
tions is the critical first step. If, withheld, Brazil will inevitably turn to 
Europe. If furnished, the remaining steps will be relatively easy of 
accomplishment.”45

Góes wrote to President Vargas that he feared that Marshall suffered “a 
real deception” on seeing Brazil’s military weakness, because he had 
thought the Brazilian forces were stronger, and so now had a low opinion 
of “our military potential.” Góes Monteiro showed a lack of understand-
ing of American military thinking when he told Vargas that he feared that 
if Brazil did not agree to an alliance, the Americans would turn to 
Argentina, where it had a military aviation mission. Of course, Argentina 
could not defend Northeast Brazil. But, even so, Góes Monteiro was 
hopeful that they could find solutions beneficial to Brazil and that “approx-
imation” with the United States would solve “our capital problems.”46

Marshall did not leave any comment indicating the low opinion that 
Góes feared. At the time the American army itself was not in prime condi-
tion. By the mid-1930s, the army “had reached a low point in both num-
bers and readiness for combat … [because of] congressional thrift and 
anti-war sentiment.” Back in 1932 it had somewhat less than 120,000 
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active-duty enlisted men and was 17th in size in the world. By the time 
Marshall went to Brazil, the US Army had about 175,000 soldiers, still 
considerably under the 280,000 authorized in the National Defense Act 
of 1920. Army appropriations were “grossly inadequate even to halt the 
normal deterioration of attrition and obsolescence, much less to develop 
and buy modern weapons to match those being acquired by America’s 
potential enemies.” The needs of the “absurdly small and ill-equipped” air 
force were especially cause for deep worry.47

Góes and Dutra likewise knew that their army was not in proper condi-
tion. They had committed themselves to overthrow the government based 
on the Constitution of 1934 in November 1937, because it did not satisfy 
defense needs.48 In his general staff report for 1937, Góes Monteiro had 
charged that the 1934 law specifying that army reorganization was to be 
completed within three years had not been fulfilled. Simply put, the army 
was “useless for the field of battle.” The images that he sketched were 
extremely discouraging. The army was, he said, “fragile, more fictitious 
than real,” its big units were “dismantled … incapable of being mobilized 
in reasonable time and employed in any situation.” The general staff ’s 
worries about Brazil’s military weaknesses, he wrote, had intensified with 
the news that Chile was renewing its army’s equipment and that Argentina 
was improving its armament, expanding its weapons industry, and gener-
ally developing its military capabilities. In the United States, President 
Roosevelt was calling for the “prompt and intensive equipping of its armed 
forces.” The nations of the globe were preparing for war. “The violence in 
Abyssinia, China, and Spain were,” the general declared, “true practice 
wars to test the means of destruction and protection” in rehearsal for a 
great and decisive struggle. Neither pacifist illusions nor Brazil’s turn-of-
the-century Krupp artillery would be able to protect the country. On 
Brazil’s very borders, the “ex-belligerents of the Chaco, despite the inter-
minable peace conference in Buenos Aires, had returned to the path of 
complete rearmament, in expectation of another appeal to arms.” Góes 
warned that “the moment, in which we are living, imposes a radical trans-
formation of [our] military organism … [because] we remain paralyzed, 
about a decade behind.” They had the responsibility to restore Brazil’s 
armed forces in order to “redeem us from the previous inertia and to free 
us from the depressing situation in which we are entombed.” These cir-
cumstances motivated Góes and Dutra “to solicit insistently from the 
President of the Republic all the measures required for the reform of our 
[army’s] structure.” And most basically the army needed arms to carry  
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out its defense mission.49 So knowing how weak they were; they were 
ready to listen to Marshall’s proposals.

The army units that Marshall saw looked respectable. In the 1920s, in 
a massive construction program, the army had established 61 new posts or 
barracks (quartéis), many in the southern states. They were attractive and 
so well built that many are still in use. They made a good impression as did 
the parading troops that were likely carefully selected.

Arriving in the United States, Góes was fascinated by the country’s 
power and organization. Marshall pulled out all the stops to insure that 
the Brazilian general really saw the United States. Marshall commented 
that “no officer in our Army has ever had the same opportunity to see our 
country as did [Góes] Monteiro….” And Marshall made sure that Góes 
understood that even though the American army was small, it was disci-
plined, skilled, and preparing itself for war. The Brazilian general was 
impressed with the physique, intelligence, technical skill, and high state of 
discipline of the American army and was so taken with the country’s 
potential power that he remarked to Marshall that the United States 
“could lick the world.” At San Francisco, Góes could not avoid being 
excited when he had an aerial view of “the Fleet with its 100 or more ves-
sels steaming into the Golden Gate.”50 And at West Point watching the 
Corps of Cadets on parade, Góes was “reduced to tears.” And he enjoyed 
playing history buff touring the battlefield of Gettysburg and observing an 
air show at Langley Field with Marshall. Of course, he had the opportu-
nity to see the Brazilian Pavilion at the World’s Fair in New York. Perhaps 
the highpoint was having Secretary of State Cordell Hull, Secretary of the 
Army George Woodring, and Marshall take him to the White House to 
meet President Roosevelt. Throughout the tour he was hosted by the 
leading generals of the US Army.51

Marshall evaluated the tour saying “General Monteiro carried himself 
very well, considering the limitations on language and the lack of a dash-
ing appearance. He really made a splendid impression, however, better 
than I anticipated … he was given a really remarkable reception.” He cor-
rectly thought that the general had been impressed with the American 
army. Marshall mused that “I think he had in mind that we were rather 
careless people in a military way, and he found in these concentrated gar-
risons that quite the opposite was the case.”52

During their voyage on the USS Nashville, Marshall “grew worried 
about his [Góes’s] condition, with relation to a strenuous trip, travel and 
altitude.” He “inveigled Monteiro into a physical exam, by first having the 
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doctor come up and examine me.” It turned out that that his heart was “a 
little flabby, and a cardiogram had indicated a bad valve.” Góes had assured 
him that he was up to the journey, but Marshall had his doubts and 
arranged things so he could have adequate rest and added a doctor to the 
party. Marshall appeared to have developed a fondness for Góes beyond 
what was necessary for military protocol.53

In their conversations Góes Monteiro stressed that Brazil needed help 
from the United States in protecting its maritime communications along 
its exposed 4650-mile coastline, especially in keeping the sea lanes open to 
the northeastern region. In exchange Brazil would offer use of air bases at 
Natal and on Fernando de Noronha Island.54 As early as 1936, Góes 
Monteiro had stated that, in the event of a world conflict, Brazil would 
not be able to stay neutral and that its only source of arms would be the 
United States.55 On his return to Brazil, Góes was exuberant about the 
“liberty, order and discipline” in the northern republic.56 Even so American 
military intelligence maintained a highly guarded attitude toward General 
Góes. Late in life, he declared that “I was never a Nazista or a Fascista, as 
many people thought. I was only an admirer, as a soldier, of the German 
army…. I never admired Hitler; I admired, yes, the German Generals.”57

Marshall did not speak Portuguese so all of his conversations and 
speeches had to be interpreted. There were few American officers who 
spoke Portuguese, but one, Lt. Col. Lehman W. Miller, had served in the 
US Military Mission to Brazil and had developed considerable fluency. He 
was at Marshall’s side throughout the time in Brazil and later was with 
Góes Monteiro in the States. Marshall thought that Miller’s role had been 
of “the highest importance to the success of the mission” and his advice 
and guidance during Góes Monteiro’s “tour of the United States was 
directly responsible for a large measure of the success of the visit.” He was 
the exception to Marshall’s low opinion of the military mission in Brazil. 
Marshall was not one to give out unmerited praise, and he emphasized his 
regard in a letter to Ambassador Caffery observing that Miller, “while self-
effacing and modest to a remarkable degree, played a leading role in this 
affair. He made a profound impression everywhere he went… I mention 
this because he is a man of great value to us in connection with Brazil. … 
He seems to have Monteiro’s confidence to a remarkable degree.” He was 
so impressed that he rearranged Miller’s posting and sent him to the War 
College in September 1939 with the idea that his next assignment would 
be Brazil.58
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Góes promised Marshall that his army would create new coast artillery 
and anti-aircraft units and would station an army division in the northeast, 
but he repeated again and again that everything would depend on arms 
from the United States. He provided a list of military equipment that his 
army considered urgent and indispensable. He stressed that the prices and 
terms of payment had to match those offered by Germany and other 
countries. The Vargas government wanted to exchange raw materials, 
such as manganese, for the desired items. The Brazilian government 
wanted to know, “with absolute certainty,” that the American Congress 
would revoke the neutrality law and that there would be no “future obsta-
cles to our possible acquisitions in the United States.”59 Fearful of war and 
increasingly isolationist, the Congress had passed Neutrality Acts in 1935, 
1936, and 1937. These laws were intended to deal with the unsettled 
world scene produced by the Italian invasion of Ethiopia, the Spanish Civil 
War, and the Japanese invasion of China, but they made difficult any 
agreements to arm Brazil.

Marshall wrote to him on October 5 explaining the supply constraints 
and legal limitations that they were working within. The army could sell 
“to a friendly government any materiel which is surplus and no longer 
needed for military purposes.” Such sale to Brazil would be at nominal 
prices. However such materiel was “limited in quantity and quality, because 
of our deficiencies in war materiel.” He referred to a list of available sur-
plus that Colonel Miller had sent to Góes, which included 6-inch mobile 
guns that could be used in coastal defense. They would require some 
modernization with new carriages that could be made in commercial fac-
tories. The “principal deficiency” Marshall lamented was ammunition, “of 
which we have a shortage.” If munitions could not be made in Brazil, he 
suggested that Brazil procure them from “private manufacturers in the 
United States.”

At that time the law did not allow the sale of “new equipment manu-
factured in our government arsenals.” He was hopeful that a bill to autho-
rize such sales would pass when the Congress re-convened in January, but 
realistically that might not solve the problem “because our government 
arsenals have insufficient capacity to meet our requirements in the present 
emergency.” As a result the American government was giving priority to 
purchasing equipment and arms from commercial firms. He suggested 
that they do the same in Brazil. This must have pained Góes because Brazil 
did not have sufficient industrial capability. Marshall reinforced Colonel 
Miller’s suggestion that Góes send a qualified officer to the States to select 
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surplus equipment when it came available and to “place orders with com-
mercial firms after obtaining plans from our War Department.” Marshall 
was pleased “that your government has tentatively approved certain mea-
sures for the increased effectiveness of our military cooperation” and that 
the Brazilian army was considering “establishment of air bases in north-
eastern Brazil” and offered to provide information on technical require-
ments. To improve cooperation, the US Military Mission was to be 
strengthened, some Brazilian officers were to be sent for training, and 
Washington was to send technicians to orient Brazilian war industries. 
Regarding Góes’s worry about the neutrality laws, Marshall was reassuring 
that whatever the Congress did, “it should not create obstacles to your 
procurements in the United States, as the neutrality legislation is directed 
toward belligerent nations.” He promised Góes that he would return to 
the idea of exchanging manganese for arms as soon as “our requirements 
and funds” have been determined.

He concluded saying that his army was going to send a flight of seven 
“Flying Fortress” B-17s, under the command of Major General Delos C. 
Emmons, to participate in the 50th anniversary of the establishment of the 
Republic (November 15). He assured his “good friend, of my desire to 
cooperate to the full extent of my authority in all measures which will 
better prepare your country for its own defense, and that of the American 
continent.”60

Góes had returned to Brazil with the basis of an agreement for military 
cooperation, but nearly three years passed before it was signed, mostly 
because the Americans were unable to provide arms. The exchange of 
chief of staff visits showed American concern for Brazilian security and 
helped focus the American public on hemispheric defense.61 One point of 
divergence was that the Americans wanted to include the defense of Brazil 
within a broader framework of hemispheric defense, which the Brazilians 
thought would diminish their role by mixing it with their neighbors, espe-
cially Argentina. The Brazilian military would “go all the way” with the 
United States, Minister Aranha told Ambassador Caffery, “but does not 
want to get tied up with any other country or countries.” The army 
“would not approve a scheme for continental defense.”62 Brazil did not 
want the bilateral relationship situated within the continental and  
multilateral context. Brazilian military leaders judged that their country’s 
size and location gave it a “privileged position that ought to rate it special 
help by Washington.”63 Yet it seemed that the United States authorities 
were conditioning the furnishing of military equipment on the possibility 
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of Brazil participating in the collective defense of the hemisphere. The 
clash of viewpoints contributed an unnecessary roadblock to the defense 
of Northeast Brazil.

An odd result of Góes’s journey is that a serious misunderstanding 
crept into Brazilian historiography. Various authors claim that he went to 
Germany before the war. It had been publicized that he had been invited 
to visit Italy, Germany, England, France, and Portugal. In later years many 
scholars assumed that he had gone.64 The reality was that he had decided 
against the European trip before going to the United States. The very day 
Marshall arrived in Brazil on May 25; Ambassador Caffery reported that 
there were renewed efforts being made to have Góes travel to Europe after 
the visit to the United States. However, on June 6, Caffery reported that 
Góes told him that afternoon that he had decided not to visit Germany 
and the others and that he would return to Brazil in the Flying Fortress as 
Washington had offered.65 The documents concerning his plans have been 
available since the early 1960s, so there is no reason to perpetuate the 
myth. Moreover it should have been obvious to all that he stayed so long 
in the United States that the outbreak of war made such a trip impossible. 
But even more oddly, Foreign Minister Aranha did not seem to know of 
Góes’s decision not to go to Europe. On August 18 he wrote to Vargas 
that turning down the invitations was difficult and could provoke “resent-
ments, doubts or reserves.” The government had to accept them, but they 
required the “maximum prudence … [so as not to give] the smallest signal 
of [Brazil’s] sympathies….” Within the “restricted liberty that we have 
and must preserve,” decisions must be made according to Brazilian inter-
ests and sovereignty.66 No matter, within two weeks Germany invaded 
Poland.

Neutrality and Cooperation

Prior to the exchange of visits, the Brazilian General Staff had discussed 
how to facilitate negotiations so that they supported national interests. 
They had already ordered and paid for extensive armaments from Germany, 
which had yet to be shipped, and they wanted to insure that arrangements 
with the United States would not interfere with receiving those weapons 
and would not violate Brazil’s declared neutrality.67 Minister of War Dutra 
advised Vargas that they should seek economic advantage from “a mutual 
and intensified commercial cooperation with the United States, but with-
out military commitments.” They should follow a policy of solidarity and 
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peace with their South American neighbors while preserving “the most 
formal neutrality” regarding the European war. However, if Vargas decided 
to approve military cooperation with the United States as suggested by 
Chief of Staff Góes Monteiro, Dutra recommended that discussions with 
the Americans be based on three “essential conditions”:

	(1)	 “Complete maintenance of our territorial and military sovereignty 
in any armed forces actions or cooperation;”

	(2)	 “Complete freedom of action in our diplomatic relations and com-
mercial and cultural exchange with all the world’s powers, permit-
ting us, without subterfuges or allegations, the most cordial 
relations with the European countries;” [i.e., Germany and Italy]

	(3)	 “Maximum discretion in the negotiations, so as not to provoke 
distrust and animosity among the other South American nations.” 
[i.e., Argentina]68

Vargas responded that Brazil should keep out of any conflict in Europe 
or Asia that did not affect national interests. But that they should examine 
the cooperation that the United States was offering as it pertained to 
military preparation and defense against Brazil being attacked or threat-
ened. As this cooperation was defensive, it was necessary, Vargas thought, 
to carry it so as not to affect relations with other countries.69

Dutra passed Vargas’s decision on to Góes Monteiro emphasizing that 
“Brazil should remain permanently out of any extra-continental conflict….” 
And he thought that they should not share their defense studies and opera-
tions plans with the Americans, as the US military attaché had requested. 
Considering that Brazil’s traditional policy was non-aggression and that 
their plans were “exclusively” defensive, Dutra did not think that their plan-
ning had anything to do with cooperation with the United States.70

Military relations got off to a shaky start because American neutrality 
laws prevented the United States from selling weapons prior to the out-
break of the war and because its own forces were so badly armed that 
Washington had little extra to give Brazil.71 The Brazilians did not yet feel 
threatened, and they were unwilling to allow American forces into their 
country. The two sides did agree to set up a binational military commis-
sion to continue negotiations.

Marshall was able to offer training and had invited Dutra to send some 
officers to US army schools. However, it took a year before 14 officers 
departed for the United States. It was clear to the chief of the small US 
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Military Mission that experience in the United States would be an effective 
way to combat the antipathy toward Americans exhibited by some officers 
who had trained in Europe. He went so far as to urge that selected Brazilian 
officers serve a year or more in the American army.72 Instruction for such 
Brazilians at Forts Benning, Sill, and Monroe was offered in Portuguese.73

May 1940 was a crucial month. On May 13, during a visit to Belo 
Horizonte, Vargas gave a speech strongly reaffirming Brazilian neutrality, 
while warning that extremist elements of any sort would not be allowed to 
flourish, and asserting that “if we should have to take any initiative, we 
shall not do so alone but in accord with the rest of the American nations. 
‘Like cautious Ulysses’ they should avoid the ‘lure of the Sirens which 
roam our seas so that our thoughts may be free to concentrate not only on 
Brazilian interests, but on the destinies of Brazil….’”74 That same day 
Góes Monteiro had a conversation with US Chargé d’Affaires William 
C. Burdett, in which he reported that 8 of the 28 anti-aircraft batteries 
that they had ordered from Germany had arrived. Góes described the 
deliveries as a challenge to the Allies that showed the Germans were con-
fident in their ability to supply arms. He affirmed that when the time came 
Brazil would cooperate fully with the United States and the other American 
Republics, but that Brazil was unarmed and had no weapons industries, it 
only had plenty of manpower. He was worried about the advances in avia-
tion and uneasy about the course of the war seemingly believing that the 
Germans had a good chance of defeating the Allies. He believed that there 
was a real need for the closest cooperation between Brazil and the United 
States because both were confronted by a real and imminent danger.75

In that bleak month of May with German forces storming toward Paris 
and defeated British troops desperately fleeing across the Channel to home, 
the nightmare of Germany gaining control of, or destroying the French 
and British fleets, sent Washington into a planning frenzy.76 Army planners 
were studying situations that would be addressed in the various Rainbow 
Plans. In April and early May, one of the student officer groups of the Army 
War College class of 1939–1940 was laboring over “War Plan Purple” that 
addressed a supposed combined rebellion and Axis invasion of Brazil. The 
Army War College in Washington, D.C., was a rung on the ladder to higher 
command in World War II. The student officers at the War College learned 
how to conduct war operations by planning theoretical maneuvers and 
carefully studying historical campaigns. The War College stressed groom-
ing officers for general war staff service and higher command. There were 
no class rankings, and work was done in committees.77
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The Brazilian study assumed a civil war in which Brazilian federal and 
rebel forces were fighting along an east-west line through São Paulo. It 
posited that Germany and Italy had created bases in the Cape Verde and 
Canary Islands off Africa and were reinforcing the rebels with men and 
munitions. Argentina had aligned itself with the rebels. The planning 
aimed at keeping the friendly government of “Loyalist Brazil” functioning 
and defeating the combined German, rebel, and Argentine forces. The 
dual focus was to secure Rio de Janeiro and Natal. They gave a lot of 
attention to estimating how rapidly the United States and the Axis could 
move troops into Brazil and the respective efficiency of the opposing 
fleets. Of four committees studying the Brazilian problem, only one had 
decided to send an American expeditionary force. Perhaps this reflected a 
tendency to avoid a direct South American involvement? Quite reasonably 
the officers were troubled by the difficulties caused by Brazil’s rough ter-
rain, lack of roads and railroads, and the organization of the crucial 
American fleet. One critic wondered what would be the American public’s 
reaction to displacing so much army and naval power to the South 
Atlantic.78 Worse, on May 24, the British Admiralty passed on reports that 
Germany had loaded 6,000 troops on merchant ships that might be en 
route to attack Brazil. As a precaution President Roosevelt ordered the 
army and navy to work up a plan over the weekend of May 25–27 to send 
100,000 troops to defend Brazil. Labeled “Pot of Gold,” the operation 
could not be carried out because the army had no units ready, the Army 
Air Corps did not have sufficient air transports, the airfields in Brazil were 
inadequate, and the necessary naval support would have to be detached 
from the Pacific fleet, which the navy opposed. And, of course, the 
Brazilians would not welcome thousands of American troops. What hap-
pened to the German troop ships, that the British warned about, is 
unknown.79

On June 4, 1940, Vargas met with his ministers of foreign affairs, jus-
tice, army, and navy and the two services’ chiefs of staff to discuss the 
international situation and what Brazil should do in the likelihood that the 
United States entered the war on the Allied side. They decided that Brazil 
should continue to arm itself and to maintain its neutrality, although in 
favor of the United States. They would keep their commitment to enter 
the war only in case of aggression against an American country.80 Dutra’s 
notes on that meeting indicated that they would cooperate with the 
United States militarily, but they did not decide what to do if the Americans 
entered the war without first being attacked.81 Dutra assured the new 
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American military attaché, Lt. Col. Lehman W. Miller, who had just com-
pleted the War College course mentioned above, that Brazil would col-
laborate with the United States, but emphasized that Brazil needed arms, 
and thereafter he sent Ambassador Jefferson Caffery a listing of their 
needs. In reality there was continuing doubt and perhaps fear, among 
Brazil’s military, that the United States could not actually deliver the nec-
essary arms. A deeply troubled Foreign Minister Aranha commented to 
Caffery that “You hold conversations with us and the Germans give us 
arms.”82 Well, not exactly. The Germans were, according to the Brazilian 
ambassador in Berlin, anxious “to end the war quickly,” and they were 
encouraging Brazilian neutrality by offering to increase their purchases of 
commodities in Brazil when the war ended. German companies were 
accepting orders at discount prices for goods to be delivered in September. 
At that point the Germans were optimistic that they would win.83

On June 11, Vargas, perhaps unintentionally, raised worries in 
Washington by giving a speech that contained language that was inter-
preted ambiguously. Newspapers in the United States regarded his remarks 
as Fascist, while those in Germany praised them as courageous.84 The 
speech, which he entitled “On the Threshold of a New Era,” was given on 
Navy Day on the fleet’s flagship Minas Gerais at a luncheon for admirals 
and generals. On board ship Vargas had shown General Góes Monteiro a 
copy of the speech, and Góes had cautioned that some of the terms and 
phrases might be interpreted as approving the German invasion of France, 
which was then underway. But Getúlio read the text without changes.85 
He did not yet know that FDR had the night before condemned 
Mussolini’s declaration of war on crumbling France and retreating Great 
Britain as a dagger plunged into the back of a neighbor.86 Vargas’s focus 
was Brazil, but it certainly referred generally to the world situation; the 
speech caused considerable consternation. Recalling that the day com-
memorated the 1865 naval victory of Riachuelo in the Paraguayan war, he 
was certain that all Brazilians would do their duty in this historic moment 
when all of humanity was confronting “grave repercussions” resulting 
from the “rapid and violent change of values.”

We march toward a future unlike that which we knew in economic, social, 
or political organization, and we sense that the old systems and outdated 
formulas are entering into decline. …. It is not the end of civilization, but 
the tumultuous and fruitful beginning of a new era. The vigorous peoples … 
need to follow the course of their aspirations, instead of contemplating that 
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which collapses and falls into ruin. We must therefore understand our time 
and remove the debris of dead ideas and ideals. … The State ought to 
assume the obligation of organizing the productive forces to give to the 
people all that is necessary for their aggrandizement as a collective. …

We are creating industries, enabling the exploitation of raw materials, in 
order to export them transformed into industrial products. To accelerate the 
pace of these achievements, some sacrifice of commodities is necessary, [as 
is] the manly disposition to save in order to build a strong nation. In the 
period we are going through, only peoples hardened in the struggle and 
strengthened by sacrifice will be able to face storms and overcome them.

Political order now cannot be made in the shadow of vague humanitarian 
rhetoric intended to annul borders and create a fraternal and united interna-
tional society without peculiarities or friction, enjoying peace as a natural 
good and not as a conquest of every day. Instead of a panorama of balanced 
and fair distribution of the goods of the Earth, we witnessed the exacerba-
tion of nationalism, the strong Nations imposing themselves by organizing 
based on sentiments of the Fatherland and sustaining themselves convinced 
of their own superiority. The epoch of improvident liberalisms, of sterile 
demagogies, useless individualism and sowers of disorder is past. Political 
democracy replaces economic democracy, in which power, emanates directly 
from the people and instituted to defend their interest, [and it] organizes 
work, source of national aggrandizement and not means and roadway to 
private fortunes. There is no more room for regimes founded on privileges 
and distinctions; there are, only, those incorporating the entire nation 
[based] on duty and offering, equally, social justice and opportunities in the 
struggle for life.

Happily in Brazil we have established a regime which is adequate for our 
necessities without imitating or affiliating ourselves with any of the current 
doctrines and existing ideologies. It is a regime of Brazilian order and peace, 
in accord with the nature and tradition of our people, capable of rapidly 
boosting the general progress and guaranteeing the security of all.87

Reading the speech today, one wonders what the fuss was all about. 
Likely it was the timing of it. The British had just retreated across the 
Channel, the Netherlands and Belgium were conquered, and France was 
on the edge of falling under the Nazi boot. It was a very nervous time. 
Phrases like “vigorous peoples,” “dead ideas and sterile ideals,” “old sys-
tems” caught attention and maybe paralyzed thought.

Vargas noted in his diary that “the Germans praised it, the English 
attacked, the Americans were alarmed. Internally they accuse me of being 
a Germanophile.” He ended his diary entry for June 12 saying that the 
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conversations “between the chief of the American Military Mission and 
our military and the foreign minister about our war materiel [have] 
started.”88 The next day the Brazilian newspapers carried a note that 
Vargas had written to clarify his meaning. He emphasized the maintenance 
of a foreign policy of solidarity in the defense of the American continent 
and neutrality in regard to European conflicts while declaring that his 
speech of June 11 was intended to alert the nation that the changes in the 
world required strengthening the Brazilian state economically and militar-
ily.89 It is possible, as historian Gerson Moura argued, that Vargas intended 
his remarks to put more pressure on Washington to support Brazilian 
industrialization and to speed up arms delivery, but the president’s scant 
comments left room for doubt.90

Vargas Sought Not to Alienate Germany

Behind the scenes a perplexing drama unfolded. On June 20 Vargas met 
with German Ambassador Kurt M.  Prüfer, who brought cables from 
Berlin proposing that Germany immediately order a “great quantity of 
cotton and coffee for delivery after the war,” which he hoped would end 
soon. Prüfer reported that Vargas suggested that they should arrange a 
trade agreement before the war ended. Likely he thought that his bargain-
ing position would be weaker once the fighting ended. Moreover, the 
ambassador said that Vargas had “emphasized of his own accord his full 
intention to maintain neutrality and his personal sympathy for the authori-
tarian states, referring at the same time to the speech he made on June 11. 
He openly expressed his aversion to England and the democratic system.” 
It is strange that Prüfer’s comments were at odds with what Vargas wrote 
in his diary about their meeting. Prüfer said Vargas had requested the 
meeting, while Vargas twice wrote that Prüfer had asked for it. The refer-
ence to the June 11 speech matched German interpretations of it but 
disagreed with Vargas’s diary comments. And their dating of the meeting 
differed by a day. Was Prüfer accurate in his account or was he telling 
Berlin what he knew would be pleasing?91

Vargas’s conversations with the German ambassador have been inter-
preted frequently to show that he was playing both sides, and, as a noted 
Brazilian historian expressed it, “the expectation, at the time, was that 
Brazil would be on the side of the Axis countries.”92 The official German 
view in June 1940 was that Vargas, “despite protestations of friendship,” 
was rejecting “North American policy… in anticipation of England’s 
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defeat and the resulting weakening of Roosevelt, and the orientation of 
Brazilian policy toward trade with Germany and Europe.”93 Germany held 
out a promise to buy large amounts of Brazilian products “immediately 
after the war ends” and to deliver on the steel works, as long as there was 
“no substantial change … in the present state of Brazil’s neutrality.”94 
Certainly, Vargas’s public position was that, for Brazil and the Americas, 
the European war was “something very distant and beyond the interests of 
the continent.”95

However, Getúlio’s long time “homem de confiança,” [confidant] Paulo 
Germano Hasslocher, wrote from his diplomatic post in Washington that 
the speech had the advantage of focusing world attention on Brazil in this 
moment of great crisis. He thought that the two men who would decide 
the outcome of the war were FDR and Hitler; all others would play sec-
ondary roles. He recalled a saying of Talleyrand that in “international poli-
tics, when you are not the strongest, you ought to be with the strongest.” 
The United States, he asserted, was stronger than Germany. “This country 
can do all that Germany has done and is doing, and much more.” Modern 
war would be decided in favor of the country with the greater industrial 
capacity to give its armies the greatest and most efficient armament. “I am 
absolutely certain that it [the United States] is the most powerful in the 
world and invincible on the day that it steps into the arena of battle. … I 
think that from the wisdom and knowledge of things we ought to place 
ourselves at the side of the United States. Not as humble vassals, but as 
cooperators and collaborators in a task of common interest … that is more 
in line with our character and development.”96

The day after Hasslocher wrote that advice, FDR signed a joint resolu-
tion of Congress authorizing the Secretaries of War and Navy to assist the 
governments of the American Republics to enlarge and enhance their mili-
tary and naval establishments.97

Curiously, on June 22, Chief of Staff Góes Monteiro gave a decidedly 
“Pan-Americanista” speech that seemingly was intended “to correct the 
unfortunate impression caused by Vargas’s speech of June 11.” The occa-
sion was the farewell luncheon at Rio’s Jockey Club in honor of General 
Allen Kimberley, chief of the American Military Mission, returning home 
after two years in Brazil. Commentators and most historians seemed to 
have ignored that Góes asked that Kimberley carry the message to the 
American government and people of “our sentiments of brotherly conti-
nental confidence … which are permanent factors in the foreign policy of 
Brazil.” He pleaded that the United States immediately implement a secu-
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rity program, assisting the Latin American peoples to cooperate in collec-
tive defense. He observed that it was “the duty, now, of the members of 
this [Pan American] brotherhood … to contribute … [to] making it effec-
tive and efficient.”98 Hardly the sentiments one would expect from an 
officer American intelligence continued to regard as dubious. However, 
Góes was extremely worried, somber, pacing back and forth in his office. 
He commented to General Leitão de Carvalho that he feared that it would 
be all over by September “with a complete victory by the Axis forces.”99 
Góes talked too much and revealed his thoughts too openly, making him 
hard to evaluate. Appearances and realities mixed in curious fashion in 
Brazil in the first half of 1940. In his annual report to Vargas, Minister 
Dutra commented that after the exchange of visits of the chiefs of staff, “a 
tacit alliance is on the way of being established objectively for the armed 
cooperation of the two countries, in case of war with a European power or 
in the south of the continent.”100 Whatever motivation Vargas may have 
had in giving the puzzling June 11 speech, it contributed to the Roosevelt’s 
decision to act.
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CHAPTER 3

Search for Mutual Benefits

Armaments Key to Brazilian Cooperation

In 1940, American officers did not have a high regard for the Brazilian 
military, indeed, for any Latin American military. They vastly preferred to 
send their own forces to defend Brazil, but in truth did not have troops 
trained and armed for such a mission, nor did they have the transports to 
get them to Brazil. The Brazilians regarded the idea of accepting American 
defenders as a threat to national sovereignty, something their self-esteem 
would not allow. American intelligence estimates misread the caution of 
Brazilian generals as a pro-German attitude. In early June 1940, Góes 
Monteiro reminded Military Mission Chief Colonel Miller that they had 
been talking for a year about military cooperation and after all that conver-
sation, not a gun, not a round of ammunition had reached Brazil.1 As 
crisis-laden 1940 dragged on into August, the two sides stumbled about 
looking for a mutually satisfactory solution to their defense dilemma.

The War Department announced that a meeting in Washington of the 
chiefs of staff of the armies of the American Republics would be held in 
October, and to prepare for that meeting, Dutra wrote a memo for Vargas 
outlining his thoughts on the position Brazil should assume. He first sug-
gested that someone other than General Góes be sent so that the decision-
making process could be slowed down, but, failing that, the government’s 
instructions should be carefully defined to maintain Brazil’s neutrality. He 
referred to Col. Miller’s promise that Brazil would receive its desired 
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armaments during a projected period of six months to three years. Such 
timing was too vague for the Brazilians. And Dutra wanted to be sure that 
they would not give up their rights to the arms purchased from the Reich. 
He told Vargas that it seemed as if the United States could only provide 
old armament unsuitable for their defense plans.2

In July, Ambassador Caffery had stated the case bluntly, Washington 
had to provide credits to allow the Brazilians to buy arms or they would 
negotiate with the Germans. Brazil simply had to have arms. Moreover, 
Caffery told Secretary of State Cordell Hull that Krupp was ready to com-
mit to building a steel mill in Brazil after the war, and to avoid that pos-
sibility, Vargas wanted to obtain financing from the Export-Import Bank 
to purchase steel mill equipment and technical assistance in the United 
States. So Brazilian defense and industrial development were intimately 
linked to the danger of “Brazil’s falling altogether into the German orbit.” 
It was time, the ambassador wrote, for Washington to decide.3

General Góes Monteiro commented to an American diplomat that he 
was “sorry that the United States did not realize that it had failed to con-
vince Brazil that it had a definite program and contrasted ‘vague’ American 
policy with German ‘action’.” Góes was “realistic,” and the diplomat con-
cluded that if Washington offered “something concrete and [could] con-
vince him that we are ready for action, he would be willing to play on our 
side. I think we may take it for certain that unless we do so convince him, 
he will play on the German team.”4

It was probably not that simple. Góes understood the dangers his coun-
try faced. He also understood that, of necessity, the southern end of the 
defense zone of the United States in the Atlantic was anchored on Cape 
São Roque (the closest point in Brazil to Africa) and the island of Fernando 
de Noronha (223 miles offshore). The United States would need air and 
naval bases on the Brazilian coast. And Góes supposed that there would be 
three ways that the United States could obtain such bases: (1) by agree-
ment; (2) by fomenting a civil war as it had done in Panama in 1903; or 
(3) by open military conquest. Obviously, he preferred the first option. 
The Brazilian General Staff believed that making an agreement was “the 
only way, in the current circumstances … [for Brazil] without abdicating 
its sovereignty, to exploit prudently the contradictions and oscillations 
between the opposing blocks to become sufficiently strong without 
broader commitments.”5 Besides as early as July 1940, the Brazilian 
General Staff thought that it would be “singularly difficult [for Brazil] to 
guarantee the inviolability of its territory.”6
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Fortunately, President Roosevelt decided to provide the wherewithal 
for the steel mill thereby setting Brazil on the long path to becoming an 
industrial giant and rising power by the end of the twentieth century. The 
Brazilian ambassador requested permission to sign the agreement on the 
steel mill before the presidential elections for fear that they could upset 
their plans.7 Meanwhile, in July 1940 the foreign ministers of the American 
Republics met in Havana to assess what their countries should do regard-
ing the deepening European crisis. The Vargas government was somewhat 
miffed that its request to host the meeting had been overridden, but it 
emphasized that “our Pan-Americanism has not changed [just] because 
things in Europe have changed.” The conference authorized the tempo-
rary Pan American administration of European colonies in the Caribbean 
and northern South America to prevent their falling to the Germans, and 
it asserted in a Reciprocal Assistance Declaration that any attempt against 
the sovereignty or political independence of any American Republic would 
be considered aggression against all. The declaration contained provisions 
for the signatory countries to enter into mutual defense agreements, which 
became an objective in United States relations with Brazil.8 On June 1 the 
importance of preventing European colonies from falling into German 
hands was illustrated by the arrival of the French aircraft carrier Bearn 
seeking safety at Martinique when France gave up the fight against the 
Nazi invasion. It was carrying 106 American-made pursuit planes, while 
an accompanying ship had on board a quarter billion of France’s gold 
reserve which was being rushed to the United States for safe-keeping. In 
this case the American and British navies threw a protective blockade 
around Martinique.9

In mid-August 1940, the War Department was revising its color-coded 
war plans (known as the Rainbow Plans) and requested “strategic” surveys 
of the major cities of Brazil to prepare, among other things, the military 
government aspects of LILAC, the plan for Brazil. During the coming 
months, the military attaché’s office in Rio de Janeiro and the War Plans 
Division in Washington wrote detailed surveys of Natal, Pará (Belém), 
Recife, Rio de Janeiro, Southern Brazil, and Mato Grosso/Amazon.10 
Such preparations were extremely sensitive because if implemented, the 
United States would be occupying key parts of Brazilian territory. And 
perhaps out of frustration at the slowness and back and forth of decision-
making, then Lt. Colonel Lehman W.  Miller, who had recently been 
appointed head of the American military mission, confessed to General 
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Góes Monteiro that until the day of his writing nothing had been resolved 
in the United States to insure that attacks against Brazil could be repelled.11

Miller’s openness seemingly enhanced Brazilian confidence in him. 
Reportedly army leaders were “delighted” with him and confident that he 
would develop a more satisfactory mission. Apparently, they had grown 
resentful of his predecessor General Kimberley’s attitudes. They resented 
that two years before some members of the mission had been appointed 
despite Brazilian opposition and, in fact, in the face of warnings from the 
embassy. They had confidence in Colonel Miller and convinced that he 
would “restore and increase the prestige of the Mission.” They were also 
favorably impressed by Major Thomas D. White and his men in the air 
mission.12 The War Department now realized that it had been a mistake to 
send unwanted personnel to Brazil and was “more than anxious to correct 
it.”13 On September 23, Ambassador Caffery notified the State Department 
that, in the event of aggression, the Rio government had decided to place 
all Brazilian resources on the side of the United States. But he regretted 
that a collection of American press commentaries attacking Vargas and 
military authorities had exasperated them. Vargas commented that he was 
not allowing his press to attack FDR or the United States.14

The Brazilian ambassador to Berlin gave Vargas his view of what was tak-
ing place. Calling the then six-week old war between Germany and Britain 
one of extermination, he thought it was becoming a stalemate because the 
British could bomb Germany only at night and therefore its attacks were 
imprecise, and although Germany could strike from the air day and night, it 
could not dream of landing on the island. “To prevent the United States 
from entering the war, something always feared, Germany had signed with 
Italy and Japan the Treaty of Triple Alliance.” That treaty, he said, could 
only irritate the “norteamericanos.” It wasn’t so much “a treaty of alliance 
as it was a threat.” The German press was “carrying on a daily campaign,” 
he reported, “seeking to show (to whom it was not clear) that South 
America needed Europe more than the United States and emphasized 
besides that the States and Great Britain only wanted to make us vassals, 
while Germany only aspired to carry on pacific commerce with us.” The 
press was saying that the hoped for entry of Spain into the war would deci-
sively influence the opinion of the Spanish-speaking countries.15

Behind the scenes in Washington and New York, the army was taking 
secret steps that would affect the course of the war and the nature of 
Brazil’s involvement in the conflict. In June 1940 the Military Appropriation 
Act allowed the president to approve secret projects without providing a 
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public accounting of expenditures. Thereupon the War Department nego-
tiated a contract with the Pan American Airports Corporation, a subsidiary 
of Pan American Airways (PAA), to carry out the Airport Development 
Program (ADP) to develop air bases and routes from the United States, 
through Latin America over to Africa and on farther east.16 And, of course, 
the Brazilian bases would be central to the whole structure. Chief of Staff 
Marshall stressed the importance of this agreement in a memo to Secretary 
of War Henry Stimson saying that “the immediate conclusion of the PAA 
contract is now more essential to our national defense than any other sin-
gle matter.”17 President Roosevelt approved the allocation of $12,000,000 
from the Emergency Fund that the Congress had voted back in June.

Getting permission to have bases was only the beginning. They had to 
be built before they could be used. And the Brazilians would not permit 
the American military to build bases while Brazil was neutral. But Pan Am 
could improve its landing facilities ostensibly for its own use. The airline 
was then shifting from flying seaplanes to land-based craft. To minimize 
Brazilian objections, PAA decided to have its Brazilian subsidiary Panair do 
Brasil carry out the project. The head of Panair, Cauby C. Araújo, who 
was to carry on the negotiations with the Brazilian government and orga-
nize the work, was instructed to say that the airfields and associated facili-
ties were solely for the use of Panair do Brasil and PAA. He was given 
latitude in how much detail he would reveal to Brazilian leaders. He and 
airline officials were cautious lest the project’s close connection with the 
United States government be seen as disguised imperialism and harm PAA. 
The war would not last forever, and the company had to protect its future.18

On January 18, 1941, Araújo met with Vargas at the president’s sum-
mer residence in Petrópolis and explained the program, including the role 
of the United States government. After giving it some thought, he gave 
his approval but commented that he would have to wait on issuing a 
decree authorizing construction because of some difficulties in the army. 
General Francisco José Pinto, the president’s military aide who was pres-
ent throughout the conversation, noted that “nazista” sentiment was then 
strong in the army and so they had to proceed slowly. Curiously Getúlio 
made no mention of any of this in his diary. At that time he was maneuver-
ing to check the army’s influence somewhat by creating a ministry of aero-
nautics, under a civilian, rather than an aviation officer. The new ministry 
would oversee both civilian and military aviation. Work on the airfields 
could begin, but Araújo would have to submit a formal application to 
obtain a decree.19
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The Vargas government was dictatorial, but it used bureaucratic pro-
cedures. Pressure groups inside and outside the government influenced 
its decree-laws. If no opposition appeared and if the desired law did not 
conflict with the regime’s definition of national interest, the parties 
involved literally could write their own decree, but when, as in this 
instance, formidable groups such as nationalistic military officers, rival 
airlines, and foreign governments were involved, progress was slow and 
cautious, with commissions and bureaus submitting studies and position 
papers.

The new aviation ministry was a problem for Cauby Araújo because the 
men who staffed it were under the influence of Lufthansa, the German 
airline. He backdated the Airport Development Project (ADP) application 
to January 20, the day Getúlio signed the decree creating the ministry.20 
Doing so allowed him to send it to the National Security Council by way 
of the Ministry of Transportation and Public Works, which supervised 
aviation until the new air ministry was running. General Pinto, secretary-
general of the Security Council, protectively oversaw the process. This 
tactic successfully prevented successful opposition. Araújo took on the task 
of getting the land for the airfields. The Department of Civil Aviation 
(DAC) or the army owned the sites at Belém, Camoçim, Fortaleza, and 
Recife; the subsidiary of Air France Cia. Aêropostal Brasileira owned the 
airfields at Natal, Maceió, and Salvador. Araújo purchased Aêropostal out-
right and negotiated agreements with the DAC and the army. In a few 
cases, he purchased other properties, or the government confiscated them 
and gave them over to Panair. This was being done without the formal 
authorizing decree, six months slipped by, and then Araújo himself wrote 
up the draft document. Even getting the full ministry to approve the 
decree was tense and required Foreign Minister Aranha to make a firm 
stand in favor of it. The decree was published in the Diário Oficial on July 
26, 1941 giving it the force of law.21 Likely the cabinet did not know that 
if its decision had been negative, the United States would have had “to 
occupy Northeast Brazil by force of arms” to protect the airfields in con-
struction.22 And it may well be that the decision was made easier by the 
arrival on July 23 of the first shipment of war materiel from the United 
States.23

The decree required that Panair present plans and cost estimates for 
the Brazilian government’s approval, and upon completion it was to turn 
the fields over to the ownership of the government, which in turn would 
lease them to Panair for 20 years. This, of course, hid the role of the 
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American army, but it was also practical because the Brazilian government 
did not have experience in managing modern airfields. In the first half of 
1941, the War Department was pressuring Pan American to speed the 
ADP. German forces were hurtling through North Africa, and Natal was 
the key link in the supply route from the United States to the endangered 
British forces. Because of Brazil’s neutrality, the ADP had to appear to be 
a strictly civilian commercial endeavor. Delay, however, was the hallmark 
of the project. The lack of qualified field engineers, poor communications 
in the northeast, differences in Brazilian and American notions of speed 
and scale of construction added to the language problem, slowed the pro-
gram. It took five months from the initial survey simply to clear the ground 
for one of the runways at the Natal-Parnamirim (Little River) field. It was 
September before the first heavy equipment—bulldozers, graders, trucks—
arrived with their operators from the United States. There was consider-
able local graft and profiteering in the sale of land and supplying services 
and building materials. There were some incidents of agitation and sabo-
tage and constant fear of a surprise German commando or air attack. Army 
intelligence warned that German “landings are possible throughout prac-
tically the whole coast line of the Natal region.”24 Throughout 1941 the 
American authorities worked to convince the Brazilians to allow stationing 
Marine guards at Natal and the other base sites. Brazilian military com-
manders in the northeast were steadfastly opposed to any American troops 
being allowed in. However, after the Japanese attack on Pearl Harbor on 
December 7, Vargas consented to Roosevelt’s request to allow uniformed 
Marines to be located at Belém, Natal, and Recife. The first three Marine 
companies arrived with their arms crated and secured in storage. They 
were the opening wedge, and in the following months, air corps and navy 
personnel increased in number. Even so sabotage was a reality. In February 
1942, sugar in the gas tanks of a B-17 caused it to crash on takeoff killing 
its crew of nine. Despite such dangers Brazilian cooperation with the ADP 
was, according to General Marshall, “of inestimable value for the increase 
of our air forces in Europe and the North of Africa.”25

By September 15, 1941, Britain had survived the German air offensive, 
in the process shooting down 1,733 German aircraft, thereby insuring 
that there would be no invasion of the island kingdom. It was a fitting 
moment for Vargas to clarify further the Brazilian government’s position. 
On September 21, he met with the armed services ministers, the foreign 
minister, and Chief of Staff Góes Monteiro to discuss the situation and to 
consider what Góes should say while in the United States. It was clear that 
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Brazil could not remain on the margin of world events and that its national 
security was of “supreme importance.” The war had caught the Brazilians 
unprepared, and they had to overcome the “tyranny of [war] materiel” by 
freeing themselves from dependence on foreign suppliers and produce “in 
our own country the arms that one day we will need to defend our sover-
eignty.” They had to industrialize, because they believed that industrial 
states would win out over agrarian ones.26 Truly, Brazil did not have 
enough arms to defend itself. In November 1940 it had 114,336 Mauser 
rifles (1908 vintage) and 464 artillery pieces of various calibers, 300 
81 mm mortars, and 24 light tanks.27 So Brazil’s military collaboration 
with the United States assumed the greater objective of industrialization 
beyond the immediate defense against the Axis.

But the “collaboration” was moving too slowly for both sides. Military 
Mission Chief Colonel Miller wrote to Góes, on September 19, complain-
ing that until that day “nothing concrete had been resolved.” His govern-
ment, he declared, “was favorable” to providing arms to Brazil, but that 
Brazil had not taken steps necessary to mount a defense. Góes replied 
heatedly that “the blame was neither ours, nor [that of] the Brazilian gov-
ernment,” that they had done all that the Americans had asked. They were 
dependent on the United States for arms as Góes had been repeatedly 
saying. Vargas regarded Miller’s statements as “rather impertinent” and 
discussed with his army and navy ministers and General Góes how to 
respond. This Miller-Góes exchange set a tone of recrimination and mis-
understanding that put the efforts toward collaboration and cooperation 
at risk.28

Roosevelt apparently cautioned American generals that Vargas needed 
to be sure of his ground before agreeing to their plans. And the Brazilian 
generals had to be convinced that they were not ceding national territory 
to foreign occupation. Without modern arms the Brazilian army was just 
too weak to risk cohabitation with American forces. For the Brazilian gen-
erals, the negotiations with the Americans were full of “inferences, possi-
bilities, and digressions” from which they could not measure the 
consequences of an agreement with the United States. Dutra warned 
Vargas that “Brazil’s fundamental problem” was that it had to arm itself so 
that it did not become an “American Mongolia” subject to a bold assault 
by a stronger nation.29 They could not accept a “pseudo-solution of vague 
promises, put off in time, imprecise in quantity and quality and subordi-
nated to priorities that, for certain, are to our disadvantage.” Dutra 
thought that they had to do what they could to secure the arms purchased 

  F. D. MCCANN



  67

from the Reich, perhaps getting the Americans to help free the arms ship-
ments from the grips of the British blockade. “Either the Americans 
should provide the promised arms or they should help us get them from 
Germany.”30 If neither of these things could be done, Dutra did not see 
how an agreement would be possible, despite recognizing that General 
Marshall was “our sincere friend” and that the two countries had enjoyed 
“a long existence of uninterrupted harmony.”31

While the negotiations were proceeding with Brazil, Roosevelt’s team 
was building its defensive system in the North Atlantic. In September 
1940, the Americans negotiated a “destroyers-for-bases” deal with the 
United Kingdom that transferred 50 old destroyers to the British navy in 
exchange for bases leased for 99 years in Newfoundland, Bermuda, 
Trinidad, British Guiana, Jamaica, Antigua, St. Lucia, and the Bahamas. 
The agreement not only tied the United States and Great Britain in the 
crucial alliance against the Axis but also marked the beginning of the end 
of the British Empire in the Western Hemisphere.32 In late December 
Roosevelt set up the Office of Production Management to coordinate 
defense industries and to speed aid “short of war” to Britain and other 
endangered nations. In a “fireside” radio chat, he emphasized the Axis 
threat to the United States and called for a national effort to make the 
country “the great arsenal of democracy.” By mid-March 1941, German 
and Italian submarines had sunk more than two million tons of Allied 
shipping. The Lend-Lease Act passed that month was emblematic of 
American anxiety. It allowed any country whose defense the president 
deemed vital to defense of the United States to obtain arms, equipment, 
and supplies by sale, transfer, exchange, or lease. It also squarely placed the 
United States on the allied side for total victory over the Axis.33 In April, 
agreement with Denmark permitted the United States to extend its defen-
sive shield in the North Atlantic to Greenland, followed in July by the 
stationing of troops in Iceland to prevent its occupation by Germany. But 
those moves did not ease Washington’s fears about Axis threats to South 
America. In fact, as two noted scholars of the era observed: “Washington 
military authorities rated defense of the Western Hemisphere second in 
importance only to defense of the United States itself.”34

The American strategy was to build a defensive system of bases with 
three key points in Nova Scotia and Newfoundland in the north, in 
Trinidad off Venezuela, and in Northeast Brazil in the South Atlantic. The 
objective was to have forces in place to fend off a sudden German thrust, 
which planners conceived might come as a coordinated north and south 
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pincer attack. American military planners believed that it was “within the 
capabilities of the Axis powers to establish small forces in Northeast Brazil 
before effective armed resistance could be interposed by United States 
forces.” The problem was that in early June 1941 the American 
“Government had no naval craft, surface, sub-surface or air, within 1,000 
miles of the tip of Brazil and the nearest Army force was nearly twice that 
distance.” And the line of communications to that area was “almost wholly 
sea-borne.” A realistic military analysis showed that “a small force in initial 
occupation will compel a major effort to expel it.” To be obliged to redi-
rect American forces to expel an even small force from the northeast was 
“highly undesirable,” and such a risk “should not be accepted.” Chief of 
Staff Marshall and his navy counterpart, Admiral Harold R. Stack, believed 
“That risk exists today. It will continue so long as we fail to provide the 
security forces essential for that area.” There was in their view “the distinct 
possibility of a lodgment by

small German forces in Northeast Brazil which would require a very strong 
effort on our part to dislodge. Once our security forces are there, that pos-
sibility will be eliminated. It will then require a strong German effort to 
dislodge us, and the probability of such an effort being made will be rela-
tively small.”

Marshall envisioned a protective army force of all combat arms totaling 
about 9,300 troops and 43 aircraft. The army and navy had the forces 
available with sufficient shipping to move them from the Atlantic seaboard 
on 20 days’ notice. He favored having President Roosevelt directly ask 
President Vargas to allow entry of American forces.

The real hazard, however, which probably should not be mentioned to 
President Vargas, lies not in the danger of an unsupported attack by German 
forces. The greatest peril in this situation lies in the possibility of a sudden 
seizure of airfields and ports in Northeast Brazil by forces already in the 
country and acting in collusion with small German forces. The latter, arriv-
ing by air and perhaps by sea, would so time their movement as to arrive at 
these points immediately after their seizure. They would at once take over 
and organize these points for defense.35
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“One More Good-Will Mission and Brazil Will 
Declare War on the U.S.A.”36

While the military negotiations went forward, the United States con-
ducted a grand-scale campaign to win the hearts and minds of the Brazilian 
people. The war period, as Darlene Sadlier observed, “was one of the few 
times in U.S. history when culture’s importance in domestic and world 
affairs was recognized and discussed alongside issues of finance and com-
merce.”37 In August 1940 President Roosevelt appointed Nelson 
A. Rockefeller as coordinator in the Office of the Coordinator of Inter-
American Affairs (OCIAA). The new agency’s mission was to use modern 
public relations techniques and mass communications to polish the image 
of the United States throughout Latin America, but particularly in Brazil. 
It also worked to expand the Latin image among North Americans via 
programs in schools and universities. It emphasized the idea that the peo-
ples of the Western Hemisphere were all Americans. As one OCIAA-
sponsored high school text expressed it: “A citizen of Brazil is just as much 
an American as is a citizen of the United States.”38

The OCIAA used multiple approaches. It had important Brazilian 
books, such as Euclides da Cunha’s Os Sertões, Gilberto Freyre’s Casa-
Grande e Senzala, and Jorge Amado’s Terras do Sem Fim translated into 
English and published in the United States.39 It commissioned movies in 
Hollywood and elsewhere that depicted friendly relations among the 
American Republics. Singer Carmen Miranda, imported by Broadway, 
became the “Brazilian bombshell” whose comedic film roles dazzled 
Americans but earned her ridicule by Brazilians. Rockefeller used his par-
tial ownership of RKO studios to send Orson Welles to make a film about 
Brazil, which turned out to be too genuine for the studio chiefs and for 
President Vargas, who “disliked the image of a poor and black Brazil that 
Welles was creating in It’s All True.”40 Welles’s graphic scenes of Brazil’s 
poor black and mulatto people resulted in his funding being cut.41 Walt 
Disney headed down to Rio too and created a symbol for Brazil in the 
cartoon parrot, Zé Carioca, who introduced Donald Duck to his home-
land and to samba. Unfortunately the film Saludos Amigos (1942) pre-
sented a whitewashed image, even the highly Africanized city of Salvador 
da Bahia appeared to have no dark-skinned inhabitants. He was immedi-
ately captivated by the rhythm of Ari Barroso’s Aquarela do Brasil, which 
was fast becoming an unofficial national anthem, and incorporated it into 
later film scores.42
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Rockefeller cleverly arranged to have American corporations freed from 
taxes on the cost of advertising in Latin America as long as they were 
cooperating with the OCIAA. During the war tax-exempt American cor-
porate advertising became an effective tool. “By selectively directing this 
advertising toward newspapers and radio stations that accepted “guid-
ance” from his office, [Rockefeller] was effectively able to control the 
images …projected about America during World War II.” By the war’s 
end, more than 75% of world news reaching Latin America passed through 
the OCIAA.43 More broadly, the American military “relied far more heav-
ily on Disney for their military training-film program than on any other 
Hollywood studio….”44 Brazilian security officials regarded some of the 
Hollywood people, such as Douglas Fairbanks Jr., as agents propagating a 
message of eventual German defeat, which of course they were.45

In October 1941, FDR removed Latin America from the purview of 
William Donovan’s Office of Strategic Services (OSS) and entrusted the 
tasks related to conquering the hearts of Latin America to Nelson 
Rockefeller’s program.46 James Reston observed in The New York Times in 
1941 that the purpose of the OCIAA was to convince Latin America to 
close ranks against the German threat and that the Good Neighbor Policy 
was not a temporary expedient but a sincere and permanent change of 
attitude.47

The sudden and breathtaking courtship was not entirely flattering—
Brazilians were aware that the Americans were also pursuing their Spanish-
speaking neighbors. They believed that they should receive special 
attention because of Brazil’s size and importance and the old friendship 
with the United States. However, aside from knowledgeable diplomats, 
the two peoples hardly knew each other. Until 1940 there was no history 
of the United States available in Portuguese. The common conception of 
the United States among Brazilians came from the very popular Hollywood 
films, while Americans were not sure if the capital of Brazil was Buenos 
Aires or Rio de Janeiro. Portuguese was rarely taught in American schools, 
and educated Brazilians were more likely to speak French than English. 
The results would have been more profound if more Brazilians had been 
sent north to experience the land of Uncle Sam. The State Department 
was unenthusiastic about proposals to organize a program to promote 
Brazil in the United States. The coordinator’s office was more successful 
countering Axis propaganda and explaining shortages caused by restricted 
shipping. But some Axis propaganda had a persistent life as the rumors 
about American responsibility for the submarine attacks in 1942 showed 
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[see Chap. 1, Note 25]. The OCIAA propaganda did contribute to pre-
paring the Brazilian public for coming events. Public opinion in Brazil 
often raced ahead of Vargas government policy. In August 1942 it would 
be the Brazilian people who would demand war against the Axis.48

Inaction and Distrust

The militaries of the two countries were slow to reach a common view of 
the war and its dangers. The initial American posture was defensive seek-
ing to protect the hemisphere from feared German attacks. American mili-
tary planners saw the Northeast of Brazil as a likely potential target for a 
German thrust from Africa. Because the Brazilian armed forces did not 
have the strength to fend off such an attack, the Americans thought that 
they should send their own troops to the northeast. It did not help matters 
that the American press portrayed Generals Dutra and Góes Monteiro as 
leading the hypothetical Nazi faction in the Brazilian army. General Amaro 
Soares Bittencourt, who had been sent to Washington to negotiate arms 
purchases, observed that such press commentary made a “profound 
impression” on Washington officials, particularly because Dutra and Góes 
publicly did not challenge or deny such rumors. The wide lack of confi-
dence in official circles, he suspected, was contributing to the delay in 
shipping arms.49 Once the arms question had been resolved, General 
Amaro was to become the head of the Brazilian military commission in the 
United States and the main channel for military communications between 
the two countries. General Marshall was very clear that the army would 
help Brazil get modern arms, but that there was little that could be done 
in the immediate future. He did promise General Amaro that Brazil’s 
requests would be given preference over those of the other Latin American 
Republics. The United States was not yet on a war footing and did not 
then have sufficient arms and equipment for its own forces.

Indeed, some of the Brazilian requests were greater than the amounts 
available to American forces, and some were larger than the combined total 
of American and British requirements. American staff officers reshaped the 
Brazilian lists to more realistic quantities. At least now the Americans knew 
what the Brazilians thought that they wanted, and the Brazilians knew 
what the United States could provide. How it was to be paid for was 
another matter of concern. In March 1941 the State Department arranged 
with the Export-Import Bank for a $12,000,000 credit for Brazil, even 
while it hoped to delay a decision until the Lend-Lease Act, which would 
cover the Brazilian arms, was passed and signed on March 11.50

  SEARCH FOR MUTUAL BENEFITS 



72 

Dutra privately lamented the American lack of confidence and the 
unspoken fear in Washington that the Brazilians might use resources 
obtained from the United States “in a direction opposed to American 
objectives.” The war minister offered to resign if Vargas thought it would 
elevate American confidence. He defended himself by saying that his opin-
ions had nothing to do with “nazistas or fascistas, or any other similar 
doctrines,” that his only objective was “to raise the level of the army’s effi-
ciency and give it the means to carry out its mission,” and that he did not 
favor either side in the current war, that he was fully absorbed in solving 
Brazilian problems. He was concerned, as he knew Vargas was, to prevent 
“any foreign country trying, under any circumstances to occupy, even 
briefly, points or zones of the National Territory, whose security is always 
ours to maintain.”51 Vargas declined to remove Dutra. The more prob-
lems that the Americans faced in providing the necessary arms, the more 
Brazilian faith in American intentions diminished.

The Americans were organizing their industries for war production and 
arms that were available either went to struggling Britain or to their own 
expanding forces. Brazil was, however, a continuing concern as demon-
strated at the Army War College in early 1940 where one of the four staff 
groups in the class of 1940 “developed War Plan PURPLE that envisioned 
operations in Brazil against a coalition of Germany and Italy.” Col. Lehman 
W. Miller was one of that group and was soon assigned as military attaché 
in Rio de Janeiro. That select class of 99 officers was the last before the 
college closed before the war and two-thirds of the officers made general 
by 1946 and 13 of them commanded divisions during the war. They were 
the “cream of the crop” of the army’s officer corps.52 The war in Europe, 
which started as the war college session began, captivated the officers’ 
attentions, and as the classes ended in May 1940, President Roosevelt 
federalized the National Guard signaling that the crisis had deepened.

Newly named military attaché, Colonel Lehman W. Miller, had been in 
Washington during the conversations with General Amaro, working 
closely with Colonel Matthew Ridgway. Amaro had given them a good 
sense of the Brazilian hesitancy regarding stationing American troops in 
Northeast Brazil. Before returning to Rio, Miller wrote a sensible analysis 
of the Brazilian situation. The majority of Brazilians were, he said, “pro-
American, pro-British, and anti-Axis,” but they were also very nationalis-
tic, protective of their sovereignty, and resistant to any infringement of it. 
The Brazilians wished to contribute actively to hemisphere defense, not 
merely to be bystanders. He advised that the United States should supply 
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what arms it could and should assist in the development of a Brazilian 
arms industry. The preparation of air and naval bases in the northeast 
should go forward “with the understanding that such bases are Brazilian 
and will be defended by Brazilian forces….” He warned against attempt-
ing to lease bases or sending American forces to Brazil prior to the 
Brazilians realizing that an attack was imminent.53 This was good advice, 
but it did not resolve the American army’s paramount worry, namely, that 
the Brazilians might not call for help in time to resist an Axis attack.

In May 1941, Miller returned in Rio as chief of the American Military 
Mission and had been promoted to brigadier general to facilitate his rela-
tions with senior Brazilian officers and to give more prestige to his work. 
An indication of Brazil’s importance to the American army at that time 
was that the only other countries that had such military missions were the 
Soviet Union and Iran. In 1939, Colonel Miller had traveled with Generals 
Marshall and Góes Monteiro and had impressed Marshall with the skillful 
way he dealt with the Brazilians. Góes apparently liked him and had 
requested that he be made chief. Miller was then a distinguished officer. 
He graduated from West Point in the famous 1915 class that the stars fell 
upon ranking ninth well ahead of Eisenhower and Bradley. He went to 
Brazil in 1934 as a member of the four-man mission on coastal defense. 
He returned to the States in 1938, only to be selected to accompany 
Marshall back to Brazil, where he acted as interpreter for Marshall’s tour. 
In September 1939 he was one of the 99 officers to attend the Army War 
College in the last class prior to American entry into the war.54

The successes of Field Marshal Erwin Rommel’s panzers in North 
Africa kept American eyes on the vulnerable South Atlantic and, what they 
called, “the Brazilian bulge.” The Brazilians had announced their inten-
tion to hold combined arms training maneuvers in the northeast in August 
and September. The thinking in Washington was that even a token 
American presence in the northeast would discourage a German attack. 
From that line of thought, there developed the idea of participating in the 
Brazilian maneuvers. Marshall suggested to General Miller that if the 
Brazilians could be persuaded to agree, he could send “three or four 
squadrons” of the air force and some ground units that the Brazilian army 
lacked—anti-aircraft, signal, combat engineers, and medical troops—to 
participate under Brazilian command. “We would have no combatant 
ground troops,” he cautioned, “other than antiaircraft.” He noted that 
the principal difficulty would be to find shipping to carry troops to and 
from Brazil. He directed General Miller to sound out Brazilian army offi-
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cials, but cautioned him that the idea might not be practical, that FDR had 
not approved it, and that he was being “purely tentative.”55 But Miller was 
anything but tentative.

The situation again seemed dire. German officials and Vichy French 
Admiral Jean-Francois Darlan negotiated an agreement that appeared to 
give the Nazi regime a free hand in North Africa.56 The German occupa-
tion of Dakar seemed to be about to happen. Hurried staff meetings in 
Washington resulted in Colonel Ridgway being sent to Rio to arrange 
immediate Brazilian-American staff planning and agreement to the dis-
patch of American forces at the soonest possible moment.57 He and 
Ambassador Caffery met with Foreign Minister Aranha, who told them 
that President Vargas would not likely agree to receive American troops in 
Brazil, unless Roosevelt directly requested that he do so. Why FDR did 
not make that request is still unknown. Roosevelt was then thinking of 
occupying the Azores, even though army planners favored sending troops 
to Brazil.

On May 22, Sumner Welles made a remarkable statement about the 
relations between the two countries, namely, “that there is no government 
anywhere with which this Government

regards itself as being on more intimate terms of trust and confidence than 
with the Government of Brazil. As Aranha knows, I have made it a practice 
ever since I have occupied this office to communicate to the Government of 
Brazil all information which this Government received which I have believed 
would be of value to the Brazilian Government. … you should state to 
Aranha that in our considered judgment the German Government and its 
allies can never achieve victory so long as they do not obtain mastery of the 
seas, and particularly of the Atlantic. The United States will never permit the 
passage of the control of the seas, and particularly the Atlantic, into the 
hands of powers which are clearly bent solely on world conquest and world 
domination …. That is a fundamental principle in our present policy.”

He then gave substance to this declaration of “trust and confidence” by 
sharing a piece of extremely sensitive secret information. Roosevelt had 
“personally authorized” him to inform President Vargas that “a very con-
siderable portion of the United States fleet is now travelling under secret 
orders from the Pacific to the Atlantic and that this portion of the fleet will 
be in the Atlantic by June 8.” The developments of the past weeks affect-
ing the Atlantic had provoked this movement, and those vessels would be 
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used to “safeguard the interests of the United States and its American 
neighbors.” Ambassador Caffery met with Vargas on May 28 and told him 
to tell Roosevelt that “Brazil will honor its obligations contracted at 
Panama and Habana. In other words you can count on us.”58

In Rio de Janeiro another exchange moved the military relationship in 
a less intimate direction. General Miller met with Chief of Staff Góes 
Monteiro on May 30, 1941. At first, the meeting seemed to go well, but 
then Miller undiplomatically said things that upset Góes, who afterward 
wrote a detailed memo for Dutra about their discussion. Maybe once it 
was on paper it seemed worse? Certainly by the time Vargas read it, bad 
feelings were bubbling. Brazilian army historians have described it as a 
“grave incident” caused by Miller’s “unfriendliness.”59 Góes noted that 
Miller was clearly “uncomfortable” reminding the chief of staff that he 
was “a personal friend and very particularly a sincere friend of Brazil….” 
He said he was disturbed by unspecified “grave worries” and mentioned 
that General Marshall and the American government had doubts about 
Brazil’s willingness to cooperate effectively with the United States and 
were especially troubled by recent “indications and rumors.” Góes pressed 
him to explain, and Miller said that “certain statements by Brazilian 
General Staff officers regarding the need for immediate delivery of war 
materiel were interpreted in Washington as a sign that cooperation 
between the two in case the war reached their shores was no longer work-
able.” Góes affirmed that their cooperation necessarily would be propor-
tional to the arms that they had for their troops. Miller pointed to the 
“reserve  – and even a certain coldness and indifference  – noted in the 
Brazilian military toward a greater tightening of the links needed for even-
tual cooperation” which he attributed to the Brazilian army not wanting 
to upset the German army. Góes replied that his government and the 
armed forces were oriented by the “real interests” and “preponderant sen-
timents of the country” and that they were never concerned about the 
feelings of any other army. Brazil would not flee its duties of solidarity and 
giving aid to its Sister Nations, but that “it had no reason to offend other 
peoples aggressively.” Miller continued by referring to persistent intelli-
gence reports that “a great part of the officers of the Brazilian army sym-
pathized with the German army and with Nazism,” and he alluded to the 
influence of German agents and seeming tolerance for Nazi organizations 
active in the country.60 Góes, at least in this memo, seemed to keep cool, 
rejoining that Brazilians were much more against the Reich than for it. 
Convictions of members of the armed forces, he insisted, “were solely 

  SEARCH FOR MUTUAL BENEFITS 



76 

those of deep-rooted patriotism, with a clear national consciousness 
against the imperialist intentions of any foreign elements that come to 
threaten us.” He regarded such negative propaganda as “ridiculous and 
vile” attempts to cause confusion and to cast the regime set up in 1937 in 
a bad light abroad and to make the Brazilian army appear different than it 
actually was. He denied that there were adherents of Nazism or any other 
ideology in the army. He admitted that his fellow officers “greatly admired 
the strategy, tactics, operations, organization and efficiency of the German 
army,” but he was certain that American military leaders shared such pro-
fessional admiration. Brazil lamented “the catastrophe that was bloodying 
Europe, [and] did not have a special predilection for any of the belliger-
ents”; it intended to remain “impeccably neutral” but at the same time 
committed to guaranteeing the common security of the Americas. The 
Brazilian army would fulfill its duty, and “the dominant and stubborn 
sentiment among us is to react against any type of domination or slavery.” 
Changing the subject, Miller, who Góes described as “visibly embar-
rassed,” turned to less exasperating topics. Why Miller had risked alienat-
ing an officer who he had cultivated for a number of years is not clear. The 
immediate consequence was that Góes imposed some distance on their 
relationship by telling Miller that, henceforth, he should transmit in writ-
ing any future requests or suggestions from the American General Staff.61

Finally, turning to American participation in the projected maneuvers 
in the northeast, Miller again pushed his luck by asserting that some of the 
officers slated to lead the maneuvers were notoriously against cooperation 
and approximation with the United States and were sympathetic toward 
Nazism. Góes responded that the mere fact that Miller, a foreign officer, 
could say something so “unacceptable” to the Brazilian army’s chief of 
staff proved that “the members of the North American army were treated 
as if they belonged to our own ranks, with all consideration, esteem and 
confidence.”62 Góes likely thought that it would be helpful to have other 
American officers involved in the discussions because he suggested that 
the American General Staff secretly send some staff officers to Brazil to 
work on implementing their agreement. He expressed surprise that 
Washington had not done so yet.

Miller was uneasy about the overall situation and expressed his worry 
about the apparent calm with which Brazilian officials were appraising the 
frightening world scene. He believed that the entrance of the United 
States into the conflict was inevitable and that there would be a lengthy 
war. Góes assured him that for a long time the Brazilian General Staff had 
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considered the situation as extremely dangerous (perigosíssima) with 
increasing and enduring complications. He assured Miller that he would 
discuss American participation in the maneuvers with Dutra and the new 
minister of aeronautics and that they would respond. He observed that the 
idea behind the northeastern maneuvers in part had been to ease American 
worries about the “density of our forces in that region.”63

At that point the Brazilian Armed Forces numerically appeared respect-
able if compared to other non-Axis forces around the world. The army 
had 92,000 organized in five divisions commanded by 6500 officers. US 
Army intelligence rated the training to be “fair,” and it regarded the train-
ing of the 192,000 unorganized reserves to be “poor.” The latter was 
composed of those who had completed their obligatory year of military 
service and on paper appeared as a reserve. But there was no system of 
active reserve units and so the military value of such reservists was doubt-
ful. The Navy had 17,000 personnel on its vessels which were put to sea 
infrequently. The small air force had been created in 1941 by a forced 
marriage between Army and Navy pilots and crews and had 4722 mem-
bers in 8 squadrons. All together they lacked modern arms and equip-
ment, a secure supply of gasoline, and ammunition.64

Góes regarded his exchange with Miller as a troubling and “important 
conversation” and reminded Dutra that both the British and German mili-
tary attachés had visited him recently asking pointed questions about the 
projected maneuvers. The German Attaché General Gunther Niedenfuhr 
had told him that Berlin had informed him that the United States was 
planning to send 40,000 soldiers and 1,200 aircraft to participate. Góes 
told both officers that such reports were exaggerated and that the maneu-
vers were simply routine annual affairs.65

Minister Dutra sent Góes Monteiro’s extensive memo to President 
Vargas. In his cover letter, Dutra wrote that before the president took 
any action, he wanted to give his views on the “complex and intercon-
nected problems” related to this grave and important conversation. 
Dutra wanted Vargas to know that he fully agreed with Góes’s firmness 
in rebutting General Miller’s “objections, doubts, suspicions… about 
the attitude of Brazil and our effective cooperation with the USA in 
defense of the Hemisphere.” Miller’s alluding to high-ranking Americans 
expressing doubts because of imprecise rumors of unknown origin struck 
Dutra as “imprudent, discourteous and capable of causing us to have 
misgivings about the sincerity of the proposals of those who distrust us 
without reason.” It was not reasonable, he said, to have to take time 
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from important tasks to address repeated suspicions and fantasies. Dutra 
believed that confidence could not be forced; it had to be earned by 
mutual understanding.

He made a series of observations on the topics that Miller had raised. 
The first comment was on a joint aerial survey of the northeast. There 
were neither detailed maps nor aerial photos of the region because the 
Brazilian army’s geographic service had been concentrating on mapping 
the south, which it saw as the likely battlefield in the event of an Argentine 
attack.66 The Brazilians had appropriate technicians but needed aircraft 
and up-to-date cameras; however, the Americans wanted to do the work 
themselves, which was unacceptable.67 The second topic was American 
participation in the projected maneuvers, an idea that Dutra saw as break-
ing Brazil’s careful neutrality. He did not see sufficient reason for such a 
demonstration of force, “which he thought would have negative effects at 
home and abroad.” However, thirdly, he thought it is fully acceptable and 
useful to have US staff officers come secretly to Brazil. Being there they 
would see the Brazilian army’s problems and necessities and could result 
in the “true and desired climate of mutual confidence.” As for the fourth 
topic of the supposed Brazilian “calm and indifference” to the powers’ war 
preparations, he said that such an interpretation of the attitude of their 
armed forces was “positively mistaken.” Rather the Brazilian military was 
closely following the “shocking events” and analyzing what they meant for 
Brazil. But officers avoided discussion outside their professional military 
circle so as not to stir up useless agitation in the press. “There is no lack of 
interest, no indifference. On the contrary there is a very sensible collective 
anxiety to obtain the arms and equipment of every type that we lack.” 
Then expressing his deep frustration with the Americans, he told Vargas 
that they seemed merely “to want to secure positions and bases leaving us 
standing by watching foreigners defend our land. … They want, under the 
appearance of alliance, domination. We ask for arms for our troops and 
they offer [their] troops to substitute ours. …They propose to defend our 
land [instead of providing arms to us].” Then he said what he really felt: 
“Such alliances and accords are more appropriate for the African colonies 
or Asiatic possessions, intolerant and intolerable for agreements negoti-
ated between free countries, which mutually join in a common struggle.” 
He was feeling that it would only be by their own efforts, with their own 
people and their own materiels, that they would resolve the “fundamental 
problems of our sovereignty and hold off any threats to our national integ-
rity.” They could not count on foreign help. They had a professionally 
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prepared officer corps and large numbers of reserves. Unfortunately, their 
arms were minimal. “We are united: we have discipline and much love for 
our country…. On these bases we can, we should and we want to realize 
our defense and cooperate with our brothers of all of America in the col-
lective security of the Hemisphere.”

He asked that Vargas raise the army’s troop levels, approve acquisition 
of 100 million bullets for the infantry and have all artillery rounds be fab-
ricated in Brazil, and authorize the call-up of reserve officers and the pur-
chase of Brazilian-made steel helmets, equipment, and uniforms. Dutra 
closed by saying that to reach their objective they had “to convince the 
men of the government and the American people that Brazil wants and 
can cooperate in the defense of the Hemisphere,” but that “great and 
strong Republic” should facilitate acquisition of armament. “With equal 
sincerity we have to convince them that Brazil cannot and does not want 
to be relegated in hemispheric questions to the level of a mere geographic 
expression where only foreign, though friendly, flags come to secure pos-
session of the land and the defense and sovereignty of our country and of 
our people.” Their watchwords, Dutra concluded, should be “compre-
hension and confidence.” The next day Vargas replied that he agreed. 
“The Brazilian government,” he wrote, “intends to cooperate with the 
Government of the United States in case the circumstances require it in 
conformity with the agreements already discussed and accepted.” It must 
be clear, he said, that adopting such a position, “the Brazilian Government 
does not ever abdicate its free determination and autonomy, principally 
regarding the problems and activities, directly or indirectly related to our 
sovereignty, the guarding of our territory and the defense of national 
interests.”68

The same day that he discussed the memo with Dutra, Vargas met with 
German Ambassador Kurt Prüfer and asked if he were to accept Roosevelt’s 
oft repeated invitation to visit Washington would the Reich consider it 
opportune for him to offer to act as a mediator between the two govern-
ments. He emphasized that this was only a vague idea that he wanted to 
explore before taking any action. Foreign Minister Joachim von Ribbentrop 
replied asking Vargas not to take such a step, because “Germany did not 
have the slightest reason to request any initiative whatever with respect to 
proposals for mediation.” Ribbentrop was content to leave such moves 
“to the other side, which would doubtless become convinced quite inde-
pendently, sooner or later, of the hopelessness of continuing the war 
against Germany which it had provoked.”69 Because Vargas left no com-
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ments about any of this, it is not known if the mediation idea was related 
to his exchange with Dutra. It is interesting that the day before he had 
noted in his diary that the first delivery of arms under the US Lend-Lease 
program had arrived. “Our expenditures will go up. It is becoming neces-
sary to speed up [obtaining] war materiel and increasing military effec-
tives.” And before that, on May 29, he had explained to the Japanese 
ambassador that if any American country were attacked, Brazil would 
stand with it.70

But obviously, General Marshall’s inquiry about possible American par-
ticipation in the projected Brazilian maneuvers had stirred deep anxieties. 
Brazilian officers knew that their army was weak and practically disarmed, 
and they did not know whether or not they could trust the Americans. It 
is possible that they were concerned that putting Brazilian and American 
troops side by side would result in embarrassing comparisons. It was good 
that they were unaware of how extreme were some of the ideas floating 
about in the American General Staff. When a chief of staff is mulling over 
ideas, his staff can let their imaginations take flight. In mid-June 1941, in 
a memo for General Marshall, one of his intelligence officers warned that 
“Brazil is utterly incapable of defending this area and may even shift its 
support to Germany should England fall. It is already wavering…. It is 
therefore imperative that U.S.  Forces become firmly established in the 
vital area before we are too deeply involved in war.” He laid out three pos-
sible lines of action for gaining access: (1) by diplomacy, including “con-
sideration … [of] outright purchase of vital concessions”; (2) by subsidizing 
the existing regime including paying the Brazilian armed forces for con-
cessions; and finally (3) by “Political pressure accompanied by force.” If 
the second course succeeded, “we should quietly proceed to organize 
Brazil in such a way that it would serve our military and economic inter-
ests for years to come.” And more bluntly, he recommended that “If the 
existing regime will not agree to these arrangements a coup might be 
arranged which could be synchronized with direct political pressure and 
the intervention of armed forces.” If the situation reached such an 
extremity, he advised arranging “matters so that a part of the Brazilian 
people will welcome our arrival.” Carefully prepared and convincing pro-
paganda should present such action as being “in the interest of the self-
preservation of the United States and the other American Republics.”71

In June 1941 anxiety in the War Plans Division over getting troops into 
Brazil continued to boil up. On the 19th Secretary of War Stimson drafted 
a letter to Roosevelt saying that “recent news from North Africa makes it 
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very clear that we must act immediately to save the situation in Brazil.” 
Instead of sending it, he talked it over with General Marshall, and they 
decided to go immediately to the White House to see the president. The 
conversation was at the president’s bedside. Given the urgency, Roosevelt 
said he would direct the State Department to find a way to get troops into 
Brazil as soon as possible. He thought that the best way would be to per-
suade Brazil to agree to a limited lease of an air base near Natal. Marshall 
was not optimistic because he knew that State was deeply opposed to the 
idea of leasing bases in Latin America. Moreover at that moment the 
American army did not have the equipment or ammunition to supply an 
expeditionary force and at the same time leave anything to defend the 
United States proper.72 American military planners must have been very 
gloomy indeed.

Sumner Welles telegraphed Ambassador Caffery that the situation was 
changing rapidly and a German attack on the Western Hemisphere was 
becoming “more imminent.” The president and the service chiefs judged 
“the most vulnerable points … are Iceland and Natal.” If Vichy gave over 
control of Dakar to Germany, it was “probable that Germany would then 
undertake its classic pincer strategy by attempting to occupy Iceland and 
Natal, the objective being, of course through the use of air forces based 
upon those regions to cut off Great Britain from the supplies now reach-
ing her across the North Atlantic and from the South Atlantic.” He wanted 
Caffery’s advice on how best to approach President Vargas about using 
the “pretext of maneuvers” to get troops into the northeast.73

Caffery replied the next afternoon saying that he had talked with 
Foreign Minister Aranha, who said it “would be a mistake to ask President 
Vargas to permit the sending of United States troops to northern Brazil, 
especially in view of the failure of the United States to supply arms for the 
Brazilian army.” The ambassador agreed with Aranha and observed that 
“Vargas has been leaning more and more in our direction during the past 
few months. He is definitely on our side but certainly the moment has not 
yet arrived when he could agree to this proposal and get away with it.” 
Caffery asked Aranha if it would help if Washington invited Brazilian 
forces to join in the defense of some American possessions, but that sug-
gestion seemed to go nowhere.74

While these discussions were going on, the unforeseen had happened; 
the Germans invaded the Soviet Union on June 22. Even so the Americans 
continued focusing on securing the North and South Atlantic. Gradually 
army planners estimated that for the next one to three months, the 
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Germans would be so involved in the Soviet Union that they could not 
invade Great Britain, prevent American troops from landing in Iceland, or 
maintain their “pressure on West Africa, Dakar and South America.” This 
seemingly providential occurrence provided time to substitute the British 
forces in Iceland, strengthen the navy in the Atlantic, and get American 
forces into Brazil.75 The German campaign in Russia provided breathing 
space that gradually eliminated the danger of Axis aggression across the 
South Atlantic. Even so the army still wanted to dispatch a security force 
to Northeast Brazil as quickly as possible.76 Sending troops to secure 
Iceland was then in the works. War Plans Division head General Leonard 
Gerow was sufficiently concerned about Brazil that he hoped to get the 
army’s units preparing for transport to Iceland redirected as expeditionary 
forces to Brazil instead.77

Joint Planning Amidst Uncertainty

While the foregoing had been happening, a joint planning group of 
Brazilian and American officers had spent a month in the northeast devel-
oping a defense plan that included locating major air bases and supply 
centers at Natal, Recife, and Belém. In the plan, the Brazilians were to 
provide ground troops to garrison those cities, and it recommended cre-
ation of a permanent joint board to study and implement the construction 
of the bases and other aspects of the plan.78 This exercise in joint planning 
convinced the American officers that their Brazilian colleagues did not 
have a realistic notion of how much time it would take to build, staff, and 
organize such bases. They assumed that Brazil would encounter difficul-
ties similar to those the United States faced in mobilizing and expanding 
its forces. They believed that “the period from now until the end of 1942 
may well be the critical stage” and that though the proposed plan was 
excellent, it did “not provide adequate protection during this critical 
period.” And although Góes Monteiro implied that instead of creating 
new units, as the plan recommended, it would be more efficient to transfer 
existing units to the northeast, in which case “the shortages of materiel” 
would have to be filled by purchases in the armament market or by loans 
of equipment from the United States Army.79

The seemingly satisfactory trend toward greater cooperation was bal-
anced by a dose of reality from Ambassador Caffery who reminded 
Washington “that the Brazilians had very little interest in hemisphere 
defense as such: for the most part, they are doing what we ask them to do 
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because we ask them to do it. I would like to make that clear. At the same 
time, they are very apprehensive over what looks to them like penetration; 
they are apprehensive of our sending troops to Natal before they are actu-
ally needed there.”

He was hearing that some Brazilian officers were calling the American 
emphasis on the air defense of the Natal region an “aviation scam.” He 
repeated that “they are sorely disappointed that after so many years of so 
much talk and so many promises we have done nothing for them in the 
way of air materiels and only what our War Department calls a ‘token ship-
ment’ for the Brazilian military. Their lack of confidence in us is growing 
daily.”80

In August 1941 the two armies were still discussing joint training 
maneuvers in the northeast that the planners in the War Department 
hoped could be used as a pretext to establish the presence of American 
troops. As the documents discussed above indicate forcefully, General 
Góes Monteiro and Minister of War Dutra saw the proposal as a ruse, and 
they told Vargas that if he agreed to it they would resign, but the president 
would have none of it. Keep negotiating, he told the generals, “we need 
to have the Americans furnish the promised materiel, so we can defend 
ourselves, but we cannot agree to foreign occupation.”81 From the meet-
ings of the mixed military commission and his conversations in the United 
States, it was clear to Góes Monteiro that the Americans wanted to build 
navy and air bases and garrison them with their own troops. Vargas com-
mented in his diary that “In summary: the Americans want to drag us into 
war in Europe under the pretext of defense of America.”82

The Brazilians would not go to war until it was clear that their national 
interests were at stake. They understood that the Americans wanted to 
station troops in north and Northeast Brazil, but they were not willing to 
let foreign troops, even friendly ones, into national territory. On the eve 
of Pearl Harbor, the American army headquarters was in the final stages of 
completing an operations plan for a Northeast Brazil theater and had des-
ignated two divisions to prepare for a Brazilian expedition. Some officers 
had visited Brazil in the summer of 1941 to see the region firsthand.83 
Likely it startles Brazilians today to learn that long before Pearl Harbor 
their country was the object of American war planning. Rainbow war plan 
LILAC (Purple), which had Northeast Brazil as its focus, proposed an 
initial ground force of 19,000 to be concentrated at the Belém, Natal, and 
Recife air bases. However, given the shortage of shipping and the more 
urgent needs in other theaters, it is unlikely that troops could have been 
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sent until late in 1942. But the foregoing pages should make clear that 
Brazil had been cooperating with the United States since January of 1941.

It is not surprising that officers on both sides had some difficulty under-
standing the thinking of the other. Vargas kept the two sides talking while 
trying to explain Góes’s and Dutra’s attitudes to General Lehman Miller.84 
General Miller’s “negotiating” became so insistent that Góes had him 
declared persona non grata in November. What exactly happened to force 
Miller’s recall is not clear, but it certainly sidelined an upwardly mobile 
officer, he would eventually be assigned to training combat engineers. The 
Brazilian situation was mostly static until the Japanese attacked Pearl 
Harbor and the Philippines on December 7. The next day, after conferring 
with his ministry, Vargas telegraphed FDR assuring him of Brazil’s solidar-
ity, but still he wanted to keep Brazil out of the war. Germany and Italy’s 
declarations of war on the United States on December 11 did not change 
his mind. General Dutra sought to resign because of the persistent nega-
tive rumors that he was pro-German, but Vargas refused, reaffirming his 
confidence in him.85 A few days later, on December 21, Foreign Minister 
Aranha told Vargas that the American government would not provide 
military equipment because it did not have confidence in various people in 
the government. The president replied that he had no reason to distrust 
his aides and that the “facilities that we have given the Americans do not 
allow such lack of confidence”; moreover he would not replace his gener-
als because of “foreign demands.” Aranha said that he agreed with his 
attitude, “but the truth is that they don’t trust them.”86

The Northeast Became Even More 
Strategically Important

The Americans were soon fighting a war on a world scale, and the Brazilians 
were focused on keeping foreign troops from entering their country. 
However Japanese victories in the Pacific cut the air routes from North 
America to the South Pacific, and as winter weather effectively ended air 
travel in the North Atlantic, the only air route from the United States to 
Europe, the Middle East, and South Asia was via the South Atlantic. The 
importance of Northeast Brazil grew by the day. The situation in the Far 
East was deteriorating rapidly, and in the week before Christmas 1941, the 
Army Air Corps was ordered to move 80 heavy bombers to the Philippines 
in an operation called “Project X.”87 From October to early December 
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1941, the army’s War Plans Division had revised its operational plans for 
Brazil based on the assumption that the Germans would soon make a 
thrust in the South Atlantic. This planning under Rainbow 5 called for the 
deployment of more than 64,000 air and ground troops who would be 
concentrated around Belém, Natal, and Recife.88 WPD planners con-
cluded that the “occupation of Natal by American forces in considerable 
strength affords the only reasonable assurance that we can maintain com-
munications in the South Atlantic and a base from which long-range air-
planes can fly to Africa and thence to the Middle East and the Far East.”89 
General Marshall thought that the three main air bases in Brazil should 
each be protected by a 1,200-man infantry battalion, supported by seven 
or eight combat aircraft.90 The general staff feared that “Germany’s failure 
to achieve full success in Russia may strongly influence her to invade Spain, 
Portugal and French North and West Africa for the purpose of restoring 
the balance.”91

With this perspective in mind, it is understandable why the US Army 
was so worried about the security of Northeast Brazil. Even so Marshall 
and the general staff did not want to make any move into the Brazilian 
bulge without the Vargas government’s consent and cooperation. Under 
Secretary of State Sumner Welles over optimistically assured Marshall that 
he thought that within the next ten days the Brazilians would agree. The 
War Plans Division conceded that they could afford to wait the ten days, 
“…but no longer. Every week adds to the

peril and difficulty of sea-borne troop movements in that area. Axis subma-
rines in numbers are now reported between Natal and the African coast. 
Known Axis capabilities, possible Brazilian internal reactions, and unpre-
dictable surprise moves, combine to create a growing peril. We now fight 
facing westward. The southeast lies open.”92

It is interesting that all this planning and discussion was running far 
ahead of American capabilities. By the end of June 1941, the army had 
1,455,565 personnel, but as of October 1, the general staff rated only one 
division, five anti-aircraft regiments, and two artillery brigades as combat 
ready. The Army Air Corps then had only two bomber squadrons and 
three pursuit groups ready. Moreover, congressional restrictions on the 
use of draftees and reserve personnel and the shortage of shipping pre-
vented large-scale overseas deployments. Interest in Brazil likely had been 
intensified by the Selective Service Act’s ban on sending draftees outside 

  SEARCH FOR MUTUAL BENEFITS 



86 

the Western Hemisphere. And it should be remembered that before the 
Pearl Harbor attack the American public was full of doubts about the war. 
When the Selective Service Act was extended for 18 months on August 
12, 1941, it passed the House of Representatives by the extremely slim 
majority of one vote (203 to 202)!93 The army’s strategic October esti-
mate admitted that “our present forces are barely sufficient to defend our 
military bases and outlying possessions. If the Axis Powers were in a posi-
tion to attempt a major military operation against the Western Hemisphere, 
our current military forces would be wholly inadequate.”94 Until its armed 
forces were ready for a transatlantic offensive, the United States could only 
conduct “preliminary operations” that would strengthen the defense of 
the Western Hemisphere, and important among such operations was safe-
guarding the bases in Northeastern Brazil.95

One of the positive effects of the Japanese attack was the seemingly 
increased willingness of the Brazilians to cooperate. The two governments 
agreed to form a Joint Military Board for the Northeast on December 17, 
1941.96 The US Army selected Colonel Lucius D. Clay of the engineers 
and Colonel Robert C. Candee of the Air Corps to be its representatives. 
Clay had a lot of recent experience upgrading hundreds of civilian airports 
in the United States. The two were to be the General Headquarters’ 
“advance agents in Brazil” with the idea that they would eventually serve 
there. After meeting with their Brazilian counterparts, Clay and Candee 
recommended spending $2,700,000 to improve the airway that the Air 
Corps Ferrying Command was to use. Urgently, they called for small 
groups of US Army mechanics and communications specialists to be sta-
tioned at each airfield and that emergency shipments of machine guns and 
ammunition be sent to allow transient air crews and Brazilian troops to 
defend the fields and planes from any locally organized fifth-column 
attacks.97 The army’s foresight in enlisting PAA/Panair to construct and 
improve the airfields in Brazil was indeed wise.

On December 31, 1941, Vargas gave an address to the leaders of the 
armed forces in which he recalled a century of esteem and collaboration 
with the “noble American nation” and declared that when it was attacked 
there was no doubt as to Brazil’s attitude of solidarity with the United 
States. Until that moment, he said, “we could have discordant opinions 
about the reasons for the conflict, [and] make personal forecasts as to its 
consequences.” Brazil was not in the war, even indirectly, and the nation 
would maintain exemplar neutrality, but Vargas observed that “nations 
like individuals must face [their] Destiny…. We made the decision that 
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corresponds to our historical determinism.” He assured the officers that 
he was convinced that the “materiel elements which we still lack will be 
delivered in opportune time” for Brazil to fulfill its responsibilities guard-
ing the hemisphere.98
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General Kenner F.  Hertford by Richard D.  McKinzie, June 17, 1974, 
Truman Presidential Library, Independence, Mo. For the building of 
American air bases, see McCann, The Brazilian-American Alliance, 
221–239.

98.	 Getúlio Vargas, A Nova Política do Brasil (Rio de Janeiro: José Olympio, 
1943), Vol. 9, pp. 187–190. He presented an optimistic face to his military 
and reminded the United States that he was still waiting for arms. Simmons, 
Rio, January 2, 1942, #6172, 832.00/1454, RG59, NARA. Dramatically 
Vargas told the officers “I shall be with you, ready to fight, to win, to die.”
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CHAPTER 4

Brazil’s Options Narrow

Inter-American Conference at Rio de Janeiro 
(January 1942)

A month after the Japanese attack on Pearl Harbor, the American people 
were deeply distressed and fearful, and Washington was anxious to expand 
the number of its allies against the Axis and to have the American Republics 
present a unified front. The previous Inter-American conferences in Lima 
(December 1938), Panama (October 1939), and Havana (July 1940) had 
set a tone of cooperation in the unfolding world crisis. The deep suspi-
cions with which Latin Americans viewed the United States, because of 
American interventions in previous decades, had been ameliorated, but 
not fully eliminated, by Roosevelt’s 1933 renunciation of intervention and 
the launching of the Good Neighbor Policy. Truly, Latin American leaders 
tended to have private reservations and doubts about the reality of 
Roosevelt’s pledge, but it was convenient to act publicly as if it were true.1 
Moreover Americans, despite Good Neighbor rhetoric, tended “to regard 
the portion of the New World that lay to their south as their sphere of 
influence, a sphere whose economic potential to the degree that it bene-
fited foreigners must benefit primarily the citizens of the United States.”2

With the Axis threat now looming, the American Republics gathered in 
Rio de Janeiro to find a common response to the Japanese attack and 
German-Italian declarations of war. Nine republics in Central America and 
the Caribbean had declared war on Japan already. It could be argued that 
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the Good Neighbor Policy was paying dividends. However that may be, 
President Vargas was probably realistic when he commented in his diary 
that such declarations were likely more due to American pressure than to 
spontaneous decisions.3 Mexico, Colombia, and Venezuela called for a 
resolution that would make the breaking of relations with the Axis manda-
tory, but Argentina and Chile were opposed. Chile was understandably 
fearful that its long, undefended coastline would be open to Japanese 
assault, especially because the American navy had been seriously mutilated 
by the Pearl Harbor attack. When Washington promised that its fleet 
would protect the Chilean coast, Foreign Minister Gabriel Rossetti insen-
sitively retorted, “What fleet? The one sunk in Pearl Harbor?” Meanwhile, 
the Japanese embassy in Santiago was promising that there would be no 
attack if Chile stayed neutral.4

Chile’s relationship with Germany was complicated. German offi-
cers had worked to modernize the Chilean army since 1884, for several 
years a German officer served as chief of the general staff, and Chilean 
units on parade looked very much like the German army. However, the 
Prussianization was less substantive than “a matter of style.” But it was so 
persistent that honor guard units were still wearing spiked Prussian-style 
helmets in 2017! Moreover, strong German influence played an important 
role in upgrading and modernizing Chilean education.5

Being contrary the Argentines reinforced the negative image that 
Secretary of State Hull had of them. The Brazilians and Americans expended 
much effort during the conference to bring the Argentines into the Allied 
fold. If Germany won the war, Argentine leaders believed that they would 
gain “the Golden Market for Argentina’s traditional exports … [as well as] 
capital, manufacturers, and branch-plant technology.” That “if” would not 
materialize, but for a time American planners even considered invading 
Argentina to remove the supposed “Nazi Menace.”6 Many Argentines 
thought of the war as a distant European conflict and did not want to 
embrace American-led Western Hemisphere solidarity. Reportedly, their 
delegates at Rio showered Peruvian and Paraguayan delegates with atten-
tion and money, trying to convince them to assume an extreme neutralist 
stance. Germany, according to the FBI, had spread money around in Buenos 
Aires.7 And, like Chile, Argentina’s military connections with Germany had 
age and depth.8 It is possible, as some have argued, that Argentina acted as 
it did to resist US dominance of the Western Hemisphere; local [Nazi] Party 
pressure was insignificant.9 Whatever the reasons, Argentine refusal strained 
relations with Washington for many years.
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Throughout the conference, Foreign Minister Aranha and President 
Vargas acted as mediators to bring the Argentines around and to restrain 
the Americans from alienating them completely. They did not want 
Argentina to become so isolated that it might react militarily against Brazil. 
The Brazilians were not only in the American camp, they were leading the 
other republics toward a complete break with the Axis. Days before, on 
New Year’s Eve, Vargas had addressed a dinner of military leaders in which 
he said that the decision to stand with the United States had been clear 
from the moment of the Japanese attack. Brazil did not need international 
congresses to show it where its responsibilities lay. He called for unity 
against rumor mongers and against propaganda from suspicious and self-
interested sources. He added a reminder to the Americans that he trusted 
that the arms they needed “will be delivered in opportune time.” He 
affirmed that if attacked, a united, cohesive Brazil would fight and the 
Pátria would not succumb.10

Rio Conference, January 1942
In the heat and humidity of the Brazilian summer, the Vargas govern-
ment was pleased to be hosting the Third Consultative Conference of 
the Foreign Ministers of the American Republics to decide on a com-
mon course of action. The conference would set Brazil firmly on the 
path against the Axis, although at times Washington was uncertain of 
the Brazilian commitment. Sumner Welles and Aranha had become good 
friends during the latter’s years as ambassador in Washington, and holding 
the conference in Rio meant that Aranha would be chairman.11

The Americans had some difficulty understanding what was happening 
in Brazil. It is now possible to see a bit behind the scenes. On Friday, 
January 9, Vargas worked on his speech for the conference and showed the 
draft to Oswaldo Aranha who wanted to make sure that his own address 
reflected that of the president.12 Negotiations to secure Northeast Brazil 
and to provide arms for the Brazilian forces were stalled, but beyond the 
foreign ministers’ speechmaking, Vargas and Under Secretary of State 
Sumner Welles held historic conversations. Secretary Hull did not think he 
himself should be away from Washington, and Roosevelt probably was 
more comfortable with Sumner Welles leading the American delegation.13 
Two days before Welles disembarked from his Pan American seaplane at 
Rio’s Santos Dumont Airport, Vargas met with the National Security 
Council in a very unusual session on Saturday afternoon, to discuss the 
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international situation, defense needs, and the coming conference. He 
could not have been clearer when he told its members that “Brazil must 
stand or fall with the United States” and that anyone in the government 
who disagreed was “at liberty to resign his position.” They agreed unani-
mously. Generals Dutra and Góes Monteiro, who reportedly had believed 
in the early months of the war that Germany would prevail, commented 
that Vargas’s stance was “the only correct policy for Brazil to follow.” 
However, they lamented that the country had little ability to defend itself. 
Unfortunately, the Army’s repeated attempts to obtain weaponry from the 
United States had thus far resulted in “nothing but token shipments despite 
the promises of the American government.” They mentioned as an exam-
ple that the few small tanks that had been sent had arrived “without arma-
ment” and so were “practically useless.” Both men had recently told Axis 
representatives, as well as those of Argentina and Chile, that Brazil would 
be standing with the United States. Vargas assured the National Security 
Council members that the armed forces would not have to worry about 
subversive activities, even of the uprisings of German or Italian sympathiz-
ers, because “the Brazilian people were 100% in agreement with his policy” 
and they would take care of any Axis-instigated uprisings (Fig. 4.1).14

Under Secretary Welles arrived in Rio on Monday, January 12, and that 
very night, he and Ambassador Caffery met with Vargas in Guanabara 
Palace. Welles gave him a letter from FDR repeating his invitation to visit 
Washington so he could repay “the warm welcome that you and the 
Brazilian people gave me when I visited your beautiful capital in 1936.” 
He observed that “no country has done more to bring … [a growing 
inter-American solidarity] about than Brazil, and no person has given it 
wiser leadership than yourself.”

Praising Getúlio’s “magnificent cooperation … generous attitude and 
assistance with regard to … the ferry service to Africa and the naval and air 
patrols from your ports and airfields …,” he offered his appreciation “from 
the bottom of my heart….” Then he turned to what Getúlio wanted to 
know most of all, saying that

I did not fail to catch the import of the reference in your speech of December 
31 to the delivery of ‘the material elements which we still lack.’ Despite new 
demands for equipment of an urgent character necessitated by the aggression 
of the Japanese, I assure you that before long we shall be able to supply you 
with the equipment for which you have been waiting. … existing productive 
capacity is being doubled in order that this country can fulfill its role as the 
‘arsenal of democracy’.
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The meeting of Foreign Ministers shortly to convene in Rio under your 
friendly auspices is the most important inter-American meeting that has ever 
convened in the New World. The security of the Western Hemisphere, the 
future welfare of all of us, may well depend upon its outcome.15

Vargas, however, remained “apprehensive.” It seemed to him that “the 
Americans want to pull us into the war, without this being useful, neither 
for us, nor for them.” After Welles and Caffery left, he worked on his 
speech for the conference.16

On Tuesday, January 14, Argentine Foreign Minister Enrique Ruiz 
Guiñazú appealed to Vargas not to break relations with the Axis. He 
replied that as conference host, Brazil’s “attitude had to be conciliatory 
and could not put itself in such an extreme position of opposition,” and 
urged him to talk with Welles.17 The American undersecretary wrote a 
fuller report that had Vargas telling Guiñazú that Brazil completely sup-

Fig. 4.1  Guanabara Palace: President’s residence. (Photo courtesy of 
author)
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ported the United States and “considers it indispensable that a joint dec-
laration by all the American Republics for an immediate severance of 
relations with the Axis powers be adopted by the Conference.” Further, 
he had sent a courier to Buenos Aires with a message saying the same to 
the acting president of Argentina, Ramón Castillo, and that he was using 
Brazil’s considerable influence with Chile to obtain its adherence. Welles 
likely got those details from Aranha. Clearly Vargas’s diary entry was more 
restrained. He could have been affected by his conversations the day 
before regarding the once again requests from Dutra and Góes to resign.18 
The army leaders were opposed to breaking relations because they lacked 
armament and were losing faith in American promises to provide it.

Welles was convinced that if it had not been for the “strong and helpful 
position taken by President Vargas and by Aranha four of the other South 
American Republics would probably have drifted in the direction of 
Argentina.”19 Welles had a very low opinion of Foreign Minister Guiñazú, 
who the year before he had heard praise Mussolini and Spanish dictator 
Francisco Franco, and so it is not surprising that he regarded him as “one 
of the stupidest men ever to hold office in Argentina’s proud history.”20

In the long telegram to Roosevelt, Welles reported that the ambassa-
dors of Germany, Italy, and Japan had sent threatening letters to Vargas 
warning that if Brazil broke diplomatic relations, it would mean war with 
the Axis. Vargas and Aranha were anxious that this threat be kept quiet for 
the present. Vargas told Welles that his responsibility for taking Brazil into 
war was very great and that his efforts during the past 18 months to obtain 
arms from the United States had not been successful, but that he depended 
on FDR to understand his “crucial difficulties.” Brazil, the president said, 
unlike a small Central American country, could not be satisfied and feel 
protected by the stationing of American soldiers on its territory. Rather it 
had “the right to be regarded by the United States as a friend and ally and 
as entitled to be furnished under the Lend-Lease Act with planes, tanks, 
and coast artillery sufficient to enable the Brazilian Army to defend at least 
in part those regions of northeastern Brazil whose defense was as vitally 
necessary for the United States as for Brazil ….” Welles and General 
Marshall had agreed not to raise the possibility of stationing American 
troops in the northeast, which was a dead letter until the Brazilian army 
received at least “a minimum of materiel requested by President Vargas.”21

The problem was not so much a question of American will, but of short-
ages and building the manufacturing infrastructure to produce the massive 
quantities of arms, equipment, and ammunition. That took time. General 
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Marshall admitted that “shortages make it practically impossible to find any-
thing for immediate or even reasonably prompt delivery.”22 While watching 
a horse-jumping exhibition, Welles asked Vargas for a private meeting, which 
they set for the next Monday evening during the festive reception for the 
conference delegates at Guanabara Palace, the president’s residence.23

There was a cultural difference in the way Americans and Brazilians 
viewed the proper style for holding an international conference. The 
Americans wanted to keep focused on the tasks at hand, while the Brazilians 
wanted to mix in some levity. The Brazilians knew that some quiet busi-
ness could be done in social settings, so they wanted to have some recep-
tions complete with formal dress. Caffery telegraphed the State Department 
that “he was doing his best, but that, it was next to impossible to keep the 
Brazilians and especially Aranha from entertaining.” When the Chilean 
ambassador announced that he wanted to hold a reception in honor of his 
foreign minister, Caffery envisioned the possibility of 20 such affairs. He 
invited his Latin American colleagues to a meeting at his residence and 
persuaded them to agree that they would not give any “conference par-
ties.” Wistfully, he told State that, “it is extremely difficult to prevent the 
Brazilians from adding more parties to their list.”24

Meanwhile, the day after the conversation with Welles in Petrópolis, 
Vargas returned to Rio for a round of golf at the Itanhangá Club in the 
Barra da Tijuca. After the round Argentine Minister Guiñazú came by to 
propose a conciliatory formula to support the United States. Aranha, who 
was there, argued against the idea, but Vargas thought it worth examining 
and pressed the Argentine to speak with Welles.25

The next morning Vargas and Aranha discussed the probable conse-
quences of breaking relations with the Axis. The president also learned that 
Góes Monteiro and Dutra were still talking about resigning. On January 
15, as the Inter-American Conference was opening in the Tiradentes Palace 
in downtown Rio, Vargas and Dutra were in Guanabara Palace discussing 
the generals’ wish to resign. A decision to break relations, as the Americans 
wanted, would take them to war, which, Dutra insisted, the army opposed 
because it was not ready. He emphasized that without the arms that the 
Americans had been promising, but not delivering, the armed forces could 
not adequately defend Brazilian territory, especially if Argentina main-
tained relations with the Axis. That night General Góes came by the palace, 
and after outlining the recent developments, Vargas convinced him that his 
and Dutra’s resignations would be most inconvenient. Góes agreed and 
said he would persuade Dutra to stay.26
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On the early evening of January 19, the crucial “long and frank” con-
versation between Vargas and Welles took place in the president’s favorite 
escape on top of the hill (morro) at the far end of the palace grounds, 
which was cool and very private. Vargas must have regarded this meeting 
as very important because he wrote one of the longest entries in his diaries 
about it. He said that circumstances had given Brazil the role of arbitrator 
between the United States and Argentina and Chile who did not want to 
break relations with the Axis. He did not want to take advantage of that 
role, observing that he could not risk his country without some security 
guarantees, principally the delivery of war materiel. The day before, Welles 
had telegraphed FDR asking permission to promise in his name that if 
Vargas gave him a list of the minimum war materiel needed, Roosevelt 
would guarantee that it would be made available at “the first possible 
moment.” Welles had gently reminded Roosevelt that “like all armies, the 
Brazilian High Command is not inclined to be enthusiastic about getting 
into war if they have none of the basic elements for defense.”27 He admit-
ted that General Marshall had expressed doubt about Brazil and that the 
chief of staff worried it was “not safe to give Brazil arms that they may use 
against us.” But Welles rejected that idea and warned that “[an Axis-
inspired] revolution in Brazil might have fatal repercussions … If we felt it 
necessary to move by force into Northeast Brazil, the effort might be far 
greater than we care to envisage.”28

Roosevelt wrote his response by hand and sent it to Lawrence Duggan, 
a key Department of State adviser on political relations. He could not 
reach Welles or any of his staff by telephone, so he called Ambassador 
Caffery in Rio, who was to meet with Welles and Vargas shortly. FDR said 
“Tell President Vargas I wholly understand and appreciate the needs and 
can assure him flow of material will start at once. …there are shortages in 
a few items which I do not trust to putting on the wire … I want to get 
away as soon as possible from token shipments and increase them to a 
minimum of Brazilian requirements very quickly. Tell him I am made very 
happy by his splendid policy and give him my very warm regards.” A list 
of immediate shipments was to follow in a separate coded message.29

Vargas and Welles talked more about the necessity of attracting 
Argentina. Welles expressed his dismay with and distrust of Argentina. He 
said that Japan had given money to certain Chilean political figures, 
including Foreign Minister Juan Bautista Rossetti. Vargas kept emphasiz-
ing that “he needed the delivery of the armaments that the American 
government was delaying.” Welles gave him absolute guarantees and told 
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him that he had sent Roosevelt an urgent cable and expected a rapid 
response. The under secretary, likely feeling the importance of the 
moment, then went a step further by placing a telephone call to the White 
House. Roosevelt assured Welles that 65 light tanks and 2000 other mili-
tary vehicles would be sent immediately. Vargas was worried about 
Argentina’s attitude and the need to attract it to their side. Welles was 
irritated with Buenos Aires and said that if the Argentines did not join in 
breaking with the Axis, the United States would cut them off. He con-
fided that he was betting his position as under secretary on achieving the 
break in relations. Vargas rejoined that Welles could “count on Brazil, but 
that with this decision, I was staking my life, because I would not survive 
if it turned out to be a disaster for my pátria.”30

After that conversation they attended a lively reception in the 
Guanabara Palace, complete with music. In the midst of the festivity, 
Argentine Foreign Minister Guiñazú drew Vargas into a conversation, in 
which the president told him that Argentine-Brazilian friendship was an 
integral part of his government’s program, and reminded him that he had 
grown up on the frontier and believed that it was natural for the two 
peoples to understand and respect each other. “When there had been 
distrust or touchiness, it was the fault of the governments not the peo-
ple.” The reception was still on when Vargas ducked out to make these 
comments in his diary; he wrote that he could hear the lively music drift-
ing up from downstairs.31

Setting aside any distrust he may have had about Chilean Minister Juan 
Bautista Rossetti, Welles did his best to win him over. In a four-hour con-
versation, Rossetti swore that he expected to receive instructions from 
Santiago at any moment to vote in favor of breaking relations. As an 
inducement to his government, Welles recommended that Chile receive 
Lend-Lease arms.32 In reality, Rossetti probably was determined not to 
break with the Axis. His Radical Party could not afford to antagonize the 
German-Chilean community for fear of losing its support in the 1942 
presidential election. And he had more personal reasons. He commented 
that “if I return to Chile… after having broken relations with the Axis, 
they may hang me in the Plaza de Armas”33 (Fig. 4.2).

In his office at the Itamaraty, on January 21, Aranha came up with a 
new formula to gain the Argentine and Chilean votes favoring a break in 
relations. The motion would be to recommend breaking relations, thus 
leaving it to each republic to put the recommendation into effect. 
Argentina and Chile could vote for it knowing that they would not actu-
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ally break relations. Vargas approved the idea as a way to appear to main-
tain unity, and that very day Welles and Guiñazú agreed to the maneuver. 
However, the next day a word came that President Ramon Castillo had 
forbidden Guiñazú to vote in favor of any formula that involved breaking 
with the Axis. The unity that the Americans and Brazilians wanted seemed 
to be slipping beyond reach. To create time for more negotiations, the 
vote was delayed and the conference focused on bringing peace to the 
Peruvian-Ecuadorian border conflict in Amazonia. The fighting had lasted 
from July 5 to 31, 1941, and an armistice had been signed in October; 
what was negotiated at Rio was a protocol setting forth the procedure by 
which a diplomatic settlement would be reached.34

Fig. 4.2  Itamaraty 
Palace: Brazil’s foreign 
ministry. (Photo 
courtesy of author)
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The Americans also had their own problem with the formula. Secretary 
Hull was livid when he learned of it, which was heightened by late-night 
radio news that spoke of an Argentine victory at the Rio Conference. 
According to Adolf Berle, who was with the Secretary of State on January 
24, Hull called Welles at the Copacabana Palace Hotel and had a half-hour 
“violent” conversation. It was midnight in Washington and 2:00 a.m. in 
Rio, and Welles was just getting into bed after a very long day. The secretary 
furiously accused Welles of getting “us into a fine mess … I never gave you 
‘carty blanchy’ (sic) to act for us!” He told Welles to tell the conference the 
next day that he had not been authorized to vote for the compromise and 
to switch his vote against it. Hull thought that Argentina should be regarded 
as an “outlaw.” Furthermore, he thought Welles was being “ingenuous – 
not a single government would carry out its commitments.”

Welles reminded him that he had Roosevelt’s specific approval to act as 
he did. Hull denied it, so Welles insisted that they get the president on the 
line for a three-way exchange. Fortunately, the president was in the White 
House. Roosevelt listened to the raging diplomats then said, “I’m sorry 
Cordell, but in this case I am going to take the judgment of the man on 
the spot. Sumner, I approve what you have done. I authorize you to fol-
low the lines you have recommended.” Hull supposedly never forgave 
either of them. Caffery weighed in with a telegram to Hull saying that 
“General feeling here is far better… to secure… adhesion of Argentina and 
Chile to this formula [i.e. to recommend a break] than to a more ideal 
formula [i.e. to insist on a break] without them.” They were so delighted 
at having FDR’s backing, that Welles and Caffery “really tied one on that 
night,” which left Welles with some difficulty functioning the next morn-
ing. Nevertheless, he was able to cable FDR his thanks assuring him that 
“We have achieved … a result which is the safest for the interests of our 
own country.”35 Hull felt humiliated and worn down and was, according 
to Adolf Berle, “nervously and spiritually torn to pieces”; he took to his 
bed for a week.36 The breach between the two diplomats festered like a 
wound that refused to heal.

On Sunday, January 25, Dutra sent Vargas comments on the war materiel 
that Welles had said was being sent. It was not what they had requested and 
would be of little use (pouco adianta). He then went by the palace to give 
Vargas a letter and one from General Góes, both saying that the military had 
not been sufficiently heard regarding the consequences of breaking relations 
and that “Brazil is not prepared for war.” That night Aranha also sent a let-
ter dealing with the American pressure on Brazil to break immediately and 
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Roosevelt’s appeal to Vargas to do so. The president noted in his diary that 
“Oswaldo proposed ending the conference by declaring Brazil’s relations 
with the Axis broken. I did not respond. I can’t act precipitously. … There 
is still the matter of Argentina’s position, which will probably [cause it to 
become] a foco of reaction against the North Americans and a center of 
intrigues. I think that I am going to have an unpleasant night.”37

The next day, Aranha and Vargas had a long conversation about the 
international situation and the necessity of announcing the break with the 
Axis at the closing ceremony. Vargas, in a display of caution, called a cabi-
net meeting for that last day of the conference to make a final decision just 
before the closing at 5 p.m. He noted in his diary that “there are doubts 
about the attitude of the minister of war. Only there are no doubts that we 
are traversing a grave moment concerning the fate of Brazil.” To head off 
an inopportune move by Dutra to resign before the cabinet meeting, 
Vargas had his son-in-law Amaral Peixoto arrange to have the war minis-
ter, Góes, and Aranha gather at his house. The two generals were feeling 
some resentment toward Aranha, and Vargas wanted to smooth things 
over before the cabinet met. They then went to the executive offices in the 
Catete Palace for the meeting at 3:30 p.m. (Fig. 4.3).

Vargas summarized the situation stressing the appeal that the American 
government had made, the advantages of responding and the disadvan-
tages of any delay, and the consequences that could come from a negative 
attitude. He had each minister state his views. When it was Dutra’s turn, 
he read a very long prepared statement that justified his hesitations by 
repeatedly emphasizing “our lack of military preparation for war.” He also 
read a brief letter from Góes Monteiro saying that the armed forces were 
not adequately equipped “to defend our territory.”38 He blamed the 
Americans for not providing arms and feared that they would not do so 
but ended by expressing his “solidarity with me.” Vargas praised the min-
ister’s “frankness and loyalty” and authorized Aranha to declare the rup-
ture of relations at the closing session of the conference, asserting that he 
took the responsibility on his own shoulders. Concluding the foregoing in 
his diary, Vargas admitted feeling “a certain sadness” because “many of 
those who applaud this decision … are adversaries of the regime that I 
founded, and I begin to doubt that I can consolidate it to pass the govern-
ment tranquilly to my substitute.”39

Aranha’s speech was full of allusions to Pan Americanism and how 
Brazil’s solidarity with America was “historic and traditional.” “The deci-
sions of [all of] America always obligate Brazil and, even more, the aggres-
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sions against America.”40 The passage of time had not just increased the 
self-confidence of Brazilians in themselves, but also their awareness of soli-
darity with their American brothers. “Today at 1800 hours, by order of 
the president of the republic, Brazil’s ambassadors in Berlin and Tokyo, 
and Chargé d’affaires in Rome communicated to those governments that 
in virtue of the recommendations [of this conference]… Brazil broke dip-
lomatic and commercial relations….” “For the first time … the structure 
of Pan-Americanism has been put to the test, a whole continent declares 
itself united for a common action, in defense of a common ideal, that is all 
of America. We fulfill our duty as Americans … [and] assume the respon-
sibilities that fulfill our universal destinies.”41

Fig. 4.3  Catete Palace 
President’s Offices, 
where the cabinet met. 
In the second Vargas 
government in the 
1950s, the president 
lived here. (Photo 
courtesy of the author)
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Getúlio listened to the conclusion of the conference on the radio and 
thought that the speeches were “well applauded” but in general were full 
of “the same wordy, obsolete, and phony liberal rhetoric.”42 At 8 p.m. 
Roosevelt cabled Vargas saying that the peoples of the Americas were in 
his debt for his clear-sighted leadership. “Continental solidarity … has 
been greatly strengthened. [It was] a magnificent triumph over those who 
have endeavored to sow disunity among them …. That triumph has been 
sealed by the prompt and forthright decision of your Government and of 
the other American Governments …. Your personal friendship in these 
critical times is a source of constant inspiration to me.”43

The next day Welles and Caffery had lunch with the president, when 
they talked frankly about the risks Brazil was running and the need for war 
materiels and industrial products for its defense and security. Welles made 
the most formal promises that he would take care of that. He was very 
upset with Argentina and disposed to not only deny it any aid but to take 
economic and financial measures against it. Vargas kept a discrete silence 
to Welles’ threats. To add more drama to the day, when the Argentines’ 
plane took off from Santos Dumont airfield, it crashed into Guanabara 
Bay. Vargas observed that “happily everyone was saved.”44

Welles returned to Washington with fresh lists of what the Brazilian 
military wanted. All the American Republics, save Argentina and Chile, 
followed the Rio conference’s recommendation to break relations with the 
Axis. Even so, tension and uncertainty continued between Rio de Janeiro 
and Washington.45

While the diplomats had been meeting in Rio, American Colonels 
Lucius D. Clay and Robert C. Candee had surveyed the northeast to get 
a clearer idea of the region and in the process gained a sounder under-
standing of the complex Brazilian situation:

We left Washington with the impression that the War Department regarded 
Northeast Brazil as a highly strategic area where hostile military operations 
might develop at any moment and – where it was therefore imperative to 
have U.S. troops – air and ground-as soon as possible. We find in Rio much 
“solidarity,” Good Neighborliness, and a willingness to concede the impor-
tance of the defense of N.E. Brazil, but practically no inclination to do any-
thing concrete in the matter. The Brazilians agree that the area should be 
defended and say that they will seek our air units, or even ground forces, 
when attack becomes imminent. In the meantime, they will gladly permit 
the conversion of commercial fields into military airports and the installation 
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of other facilities and improvements by us while they furnish the ground 
protection. The Ambassador agrees that we should have troops in NE Brazil 
but believes that these must be limited to air units for the present. Mr. 
Sumner Welles regards Brazilians as among our best friends but holds that 
the War Department has put a considerable strain on their friendship by 
blocking the delivery of certain military equipment which we have promised 
to furnish Brazil.46

Returning from their journey, the colonels concluded that they could 
do no more until the two governments reached a broader understanding 
and returned to Washington with little to show for their efforts. The Joint 
Military Board could not do more, because the Brazilian members believed 
that the board’s task was limited to “supervising a construction program 
that would not involve or imply participation of United States Army 
ground forces in the defense of the Brazilian bulge.” Informally, the 
Brazilian chairman of the board advised Colonel Clay that joint defense 
was a dead issue until the two governments had a formal agreement set-
ting out the responsibilities of each side.47

Military Attaché Miller also recommended that the two governments 
reach an agreement “which will satisfactorily solve this question of partici-
pation of the armed forces in the defense of Northeast Brazil.”48 Miller 
was increasingly fearful about the Brazilian attitude regarding defense of 
the northeast. He had to make an effort not to show that he was losing his 
patience in conversations with officials, such as air chief Brigadeiro 
Eduardo Gomes. In an exchange on January 28, Gomes insisted that 
“Brazilian forces must be allowed to provide the initial defense of Brazilian 
territory.” They would call for American help only if they were unable to 
hold off an enemy attack. Miller lamented that “if the view of Brigadeiro 
Eduardo Gomes prevails, our ground and air forces will arrive in Brazil too 
late for effective assistance, if they arrive at all.” He had been forceful with 
Gomes, saying that with the break in relations, Brazil would eventually be 
in the war and “we will be Allies. … I cannot understand why some of the 
Brazilian Military authorities are so opposed to permitting any American 
soldiers or aviators to come to Brazil to help defend your territory.” 
Gomes replied, “It is because we wish to be the first to defend Brazilian 
territory. As long as we live we shall defend it and ask you to give us the 
necessary equipment.” Miller: “Does that mean that you insist on defend-
ing alone Northeast Brazil when the attack comes and that only after dis-
covering that you are unable to meet the attack alone you will call upon us 

  BRAZIL’S OPTIONS NARROW 



114 

for help?” Gomes: “Yes, we wish to be the first to defend Brazil and if we 
find that we need help we will ask you for that assistance.” Miller: “Then 
it will be too late. We are as far from Brazil as is Europe. Help cannot be 
sent in a few hours of time.” Gomes: “All you need to do is to put in a few 
more landing fields between the United States and Brazil and that will 
permit help to be sent very quickly.” Miller explained that “help consists 
of more than individual airplanes, and that ships cannot be held in waiting 
for the dispatch of the other means of assistance that are always necessary.” 
Gomes said that he did not believe an attack against Brazil was imminent. 
Miller: “How do you know?” Gomes: “We will be glad to have you use 
your Navy, including Navy aviation to assist us at any time.” Miller: “How 
many ships do we have in the South Atlantic at the present time? Our 
Navy does not yet have the means to act effectively both in the Atlantic 
and Pacific. The attack may come before you expect it. I lie awake nights 
worrying about the danger of an attack against Brazil, and I am not willing 
to assume the responsibility of military cooperation in the defense of Brazil 
under the conditions which now exist. It seems to me that you people are 
motivated either by distrust of the United States’ intentions or by false 
pride.” Gomes: “It isn’t distrust of the United States. If it were we would 
not be willing to have your Navy operating from Northeast Brazil ports. 
Your navy could take Northeast Brazil if it desired.” Miller opined that 
“Brazil should welcome the assistance of all possible Allies if she is really 
apprehensive of the danger confronting her.” Gomes said that he thought 
that Northeast Brazil only needed the protection of three squadrons of 
pursuit planes against bombing raids and that “if the airplanes are fur-
nished to the Brazilian Air Force it can provide the necessary personnel.” 
A clearly frustrated Miller wrote to Ambassador Caffery that “All attempts 
at a favorable solution directly between the representatives of the armed 
forces have been of little avail.” He concluded by urgently recommending 
that the two governments, by diplomatic channels, reach “some general 
agreement … which will satisfactorily solve this question of participation 
of the armed forces in the defense of Northeast Brazil which is so vital for 
the defense of this hemisphere and the United States.”49

Miller’s agitation to get American troops into Brazil deeply offended 
the great Brazilian ally of the United States, Oswaldo Aranha. Reportedly 
he was “sore as hell!” He was quoted as saying “That’s always the way 
whenever you let the military do it. They have no understanding of the 
human factors that enter into any political situation.” He remarked that 
“Brazil has graciously agreed to the construction of landing fields and 
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other military air preparations at Recife and Natal. However … all this did 
not satisfy General Miller. He wants Brazil to agree to a further intensifica-
tion of American military presence on Brazilian territory.” Aranha fumed 
that this was something “he will resist even if he has to go and carry a gun 
himself.” Dramatically, he threatened, “Much as I love the United States 
… I would be the first to shoot an American soldier who dared to land on 
Brazilian territory against the wishes of this government.”50

The question of sending American military to Brazil hinged on 
Washington fulfilling the promises to supply arms and equipment made to 
Góes Monteiro during his visits to the states. The request to send marines 
to guard the new base at Natal was the “storm center” of a persistent clash 
of nationalisms. Miller’s position, which they had to have the American 
army guarding Northeast Brazil, was based on distrust of the leaders of the 
Brazilian army. By early January 1942, Brazilian staff officers were think-
ing that they had made a mistake in the initial negotiations by going as far 
as they had, which had left them open for further demands. Letting the 
Americans send troops into Brazil would wound “national pride” and per-
haps reveal that “even the President’s unique grasp on the country would 
not be strong enough to withstand public indignation.” Such a turn of 
events “would create an excellent opportunity for the Nazis and the 
Integralistas to exploit the situation, using as their motto the already exist-
ing slogan ‘Brazil for the Brazilians.’” The Brazilian General Staff opined 
“that the arbitrary occupation of Brazilian soil by the United States land 
forces would have serious reaction in the other South American countries 
and would endanger the entire ‘Good Neighbor’ policy.” General Góes 
Monteiro met with various generals to say that he was ready to step aside, 
if anyone of them was “willing to turn Natal over to the United States 
Marines.” They all refused. Even General Ary Pires, assistant chief of staff, 
who was “an out-and-out anti-Nazi, has been particularly contrary to the 
United States Army demand.”51 It was clear that while the Rio Conference 
had been successful, there was much to be done to pump life into the 
relationship of the two republics.

In early March alarming rumors were adding to the worries and frustra-
tions. Supposedly Berlin had sent orders that the Vargas government 
should be overthrown. Who was to do that was unclear. Meanwhile Axis 
submarines had sunk four Brazilian ships and a fifth was several days over-
due. Observers thought that the sinkings were meant to serve notice that 
if the other Latin American Republics followed Brazil’s lead, they would 
receive similar punishment.52 Fifth column activities had grown bolder, 
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and intensified Axis propaganda was emphasizing the inability of the 
United States to provide military equipment or adequate shipping. There 
was a fantastic story that Japan had secretly organized a military force 
composed of Japanese immigrants in Brazil that was ready to attack São 
Paulo. Painting a dire picture of the situation in Brazil, the American 
army’s intelligence chief, Brigadier General Raymond E. Lee, warned that 
the political stability of the Vargas regime depended to a large extent upon 
the support of the United States. “Without our strong support, the pres-
ent government may fall.”53 Clearly fear was unsettling and spreading 
though both governments. The acting chief of the Latin American Section 
of US Army intelligence warned that there were an “excessive number” of 
Americans in Brazil “investigating or reporting or arranging for bases, 
factories, railroads, espionage, propaganda or motion pictures. There are 
too many Americans on official missions without knowledge of the lan-
guage, custom, and character of the people.”54

Evidently General Miller had decided that there should be one less 
American on the scene. After returning from a trip to Washington at the 
end of the previous October, he told Góes Monteiro that he had tried to 
resign as attaché, but that Marshall had refused. He intended to keep 
seeking relief.55 In the midst of the rumor-filled atmosphere after the Rio 
Conference, Marshall relented and ordered Miller back to Washington. 
Publicly it looked as if he was being relieved against his will. A defender 
wrote to General Marshall: “the only individuals … in the Armed Forces 
of Brazil who have anything against General Miller are ultra-nationalists 
… or well-known pro-totalitarian generals and high police officials as well 
as members of the Integralista movement ….” The writer, Paul Vanorden 
Shaw, had been born in Brazil to a missionary and academic family, had a 
PhD in political science from Columbia University, and taught at the 
Universidade de São Paulo (1934–1940). He followed developments in 
Brazilian foreign relations closely, and from his correspondence, it appears 
that he was quite knowledgeable. He observed that Americans who 
bucked “the appeasement policy of the State Department and of the 
American Embassy here in Rio” have been “pushed out.” He asserted 
that “the policy which Washington has followed and is following with 
respect to Brazil is suicidal from the point of view of military cooperation 
which is the only thing that counts now.” He noted that “General Miller 
speaks almost perfect Portuguese, a fact which is extremely rare among 
Americans who have lived here even a longer time than he.… His inter-
pretation of Brazil is the only safe one on which to proceed at the moment 
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and that any other is dangerous if not suicidal.” Shaw was convinced that 
his departure was “a great loss,” and the circumstances surrounding his 
return were “symptomatic of an underlying situation which is fraught 
with grave dangers to the defense plans of the Americas….” He con-
cluded affirming that Miller was “a symbol of a great Cause in real dan-
ger.”56 There is no indication in the Army files that Marshall ever saw this 
letter. But it is useful as an indication of the great tension surrounding 
relations with Brazil at that time.

The difference between Brazilian and American attitudes can be 
ascribed to their relative proximity to the war itself. By the end of January 
1942, Axis submarines in the North Atlantic had sunk 31 ships totaling 
nearly 200,000 tons. The great sea lanes along the coast of the United 
States had a constant procession of unarmed tankers carrying oil from 
Venezuela and Mexico that underpinned the war economy. If Germany 
had concentrated on submarine assaults, it could have potentially crip-
pled the Allied war effort. The American Army Air Corps had no training 
in anti-submarine operations, and the Navy did not have the proper air-
craft to carry them out. It looked as if the submarines were destroying 
the Allied supply lines. In February another 71 ships went to the bot-
tom, showing, to Winston Churchill’s mind, that the Navy’s protection 
was “hopelessly inadequate.” Thankfully Hitler refused to accept the 
advice of his admirals that the Atlantic was crucial; instead he was fixated 
on defense of the North Atlantic, believing that “Norway is the zone of 
destiny in this war.”57

In North Africa Rommel’s troops pushed the British back near Tobruk 
in Libya, while through January in the Philippines, MacArthur was iso-
lated on Corregidor. To these discouraging losses was added the surrender 
of Singapore to the Japanese by British, Indian, and Australian forces on 
Sunday February 15. The Brazilians must have wondered about the wis-
dom of their decisions. Caffery commented that “our friends here are 
becoming increasingly critical of our side in the struggle: they criticize us 
for too much and too loud talking and for inefficiency in our efforts. I may 
add that a lot of them are becoming thoroughly frightened.”58

Within days after the Rio Conference ended, Finance Minister Artur de 
Sousa Costa went to Washington to set the relationship on a more benefi-
cial footing. His goal was to broaden the Lend-Lease agreement from 
military equipment to include construction costs of the Volta Redonda 
steel mill, rails, and rolling stock for the Central do Brasil rail line, financ-
ing for strategic materials production, and agreements for American pur-
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chases. The delivery of arms and equipment was “very urgent,” Vargas 
emphasized, and would confirm “if it is worthwhile or not to be the friend 
of the United States.”59 Getúlio’s concern at this point was shown by his 
minute attention to the details of the negotiations in the constant stream 
of communications with Sousa Costa. His telegrams listed the numbers of 
combat cars, artillery pieces, and munitions which he labeled as “urgent 
necessities.” He worried about the prices of coal and oil because Brazil was 
totally dependent on imports from the United States. The new Lend-
Lease accord covered all purchases to the level of $200 million. Of key 
importance for the future, the Volta Redonda steel mill was included in 
the Lend-Lease agreement. Along with the support for collection of natu-
ral rubber in the Amazon and for various industries, the United States 
committed itself to fund and to provide advice to Brazilian industry and to 
purchase its products. In effect, it was partnering in the economic devel-
opment of Brazil.60

In the midst of these negotiations, Vargas sent word about disquieting 
activities on the Argentine frontier. There were reports of police forces 
being substituted by Argentine army units apparently equipped for action, 
placement of new radio stations, the appearance on the Uruguay River of 
armed speed boats, and the hasty construction of roads and landing fields, 
with engineers making maps and building bridges and storage facilities in 
Posadas, Misiones. Disquieting too were reports of German agents dis-
guised as Protestant missionaries in German colonies in Southern Brazil.61

Worries About Argentina

Was Argentina preparing to attack? Such reports from the frontier were 
certainly disturbing, but it all looked different from Buenos Aires. The 
Brazilian Naval Attaché Augusto do Amaral Peixoto clarified the situation. 
The same kind of threatening rumor about a Brazilian buildup on the 
frontier was then current in Argentina. He attributed the coincidence of 
stories of military concentrations on both sides along their common bor-
der to those “most interested in a clash, the Nazis.” He went further say-
ing that this was not a good time for Argentina to go to war. It was 
completely isolated, without supplies for a military campaign,

agitated internally by a policy that divided the nation in two big groups 
absorbed by economic problems, it was not believable that Argentine leaders 
could think of a struggle which in the ultimate analysis would be a war against 
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the continent! As extremely Nazi as the government pretends to be, it can 
do little more than stay neutral in the hope of a German victory so it can 
assume the classic attitude of stabbing us in the back.

He advised Ambassador José de Paula Rodrigues Alves that “our duty 
is to try, as much as possible, to unmask the Nazi intrigues, avoiding ‘mis-
understandings’, but at the same time, staying alert as long as the present 
Executive Power is dragging the Argentine nation toward the sad situation 
of isolation on the South American continent. As for movements of the 
Argentine fleet, they are limited to an inefficient patrolling without an 
organized plan that seems aimed at satisfying public opinion.” He went on 
to say that the great majority of Argentines favored a policy of aiding the 
United States and that the Buenos Aires newspapers did not hide their 
displeasure with the “frank sympathies of the president for the Axis.” The 
government’s declaration of a “state of siege” silencing the press and end-
ing the legislative session allowed it to resist the pressures produced by the 
Rio Conference.

President Castillo distorted the facts, Amaral Peixoto asserted, and 
made it appear as if he was defending national sovereignty by not “submit-
ting to ‘North American impositions.’” He commented that FDR and 
Churchill had been cheered when they appeared in newsreels so that 
recently the censors were editing them out. He believed that Argentina’s 
neutral status would make Buenos Aires the center of Nazi espionage in 
South America. At the moment Argentines regarded Brazil’s attitude with 
admiration, but he feared that mood could evolve into “resentment and 
envy.” He warned that the “Fifth Column campaign, is not small, and 
enjoys, as we know, official support, [and] continues to develop its web of 
intrigues.”62 Brazilian alarm about Argentina continued as its military 
took control and allowed Colonel Juan Perón to rise to power.

Axis Submarine Attacks Brought the War to Brazil

In the days after the Rio Conference, the Axis threats became very real as 
German submarines began sinking Brazilian ships. On February 16, the 
first victim was the Buarque out of Belém do Pará with a cargo of 
Amazonian products. In February and March 1942, submarine attacks 
sent three more Brazilian steamers to the bottom. On March 9, the last of 
these, the Cairú, which was camouflaged and without lights, was torpe-
doed at night without warning by a submarine later identified as U-94. In 
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the first two instances, the crews and passengers were allowed to disem-
bark in lifeboats before their vessels were sunk. But the Cairú was taken 
by surprise, which would become the usual German practice.63

Events unfolded rapidly, and on Saturday, February 28, Roosevelt, for 
the first time, “with great earnestness” asked Vargas to allow into Brazil 
about 1000 unarmed officers and soldiers to supervise the American aircraft 
that would be en route to Africa. Vargas had lunch at Dutra’s house with 
the minister and Góes and afterward that afternoon back at Catete Palace 
signed the decree legalizing the Air Base of Natal.64 Thus, the Americans 
finally had the official approval, at least to conduct their ferrying operations 
through Brazil. It was also necessary to engage in some direct military 
diplomacy. Brigadier General Robert Olds, chief of the ferrying command, 
flew to Brazil to cultivate Brigadeiro Eduardo Gomes, air commander of 
the northeast. He invited Gomes to the United States and promised 30 
bombers and 30 fighters. Before his return to Brazil, Gomes inspected six 
B-25s and six P-40s at Bolling Field in Southeast Washington that were 
preparing to fly to Natal. In effect the way was clear to create the South 
Atlantic Wing of the Air Transport Command later in May (Fig. 4.4).65

Washington confronted Brazilian anxiety about the lack of arms by 
signing a Lend-Lease agreement, on March 3, 1942, for the eventual 
delivery of $200,000,000 worth of military equipment, which doubled 
the amount agreed to in 1941. At the same time, the army arranged to 
ship to Brazil before the year’s end 100 medium tanks, over 200 light 
tanks, 50 combat aircraft, and a large number of anti-aircraft and anti-tank 
guns. Washington hoped that this would alleviate Brazilian concerns.66 
Four days later, Vargas triumphantly informed Ambassador Caffery that 
he could tell FDR that he approved his request for “the coming of techni-
cians to care for the aircraft en route to Africa.” Note that his use of techni-
cians rather than soldiers was deliberate because the Brazilian Army still 
did not want to see American troops on Brazilian soil. The next day the 
German U-boat 155 sank the Brazilian-flagged SS Arabutan off Cape 
Hatteras, North Carolina.67

Despite ever closer ties, officers of the two armies continued to be sus-
picious of each other’s motives. The new Lend-Lease agreement cleared 
some of the distrust. Shortly after Brazil decided to permit arrival of 
American “technicians,” Vargas agreed to “a wide-reaching program for 
Northeast Brazil” that involved sending 800 more maintenance person-
nel, new construction, and, most importantly, unrestricted flight privileges 
for army aircraft. The Brazilian chiefs of staff and Foreign Minister Aranha 
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drafted a defense agreement to be proposed to Washington.68 While this 
was a positive development, Aranha was so bothered by the questionable 
activities of the federal district’s (Rio) chief of police, Army Captain Filinto 
Müller, a notorious pro-German, that he was again threatening to resign.69 
Throughout February and March, Rio was alive with rumors of conspira-
cies. It was in this tense ambience that Vargas received word that the 
Brazilian steamer Cairú had been torpedoed. He immediately closed 
down all shipping to the United States until Brazilian vessels could be 
armed and protected by convoys. He directed Ambassador Carlos Martins, 
“in my name” to ask the American government to guarantee the safety of 
“our merchant ships traveling between Brazil and the USA.” It was neces-
sary, he thought, that steamers be immediately convoyed and armed with 
artillery and provided with armed guards by the Americans. He wanted 
the ambassador to keep him meticulously informed about the govern-
ment’s response.70

Fig. 4.4  The Springboard to Victory: Miami to Natal to Africa and points east. 
(Source: Charles Hendricks, “Building the Atlantic Bases” in Barry W. Fowle, ed. 
Builders and Fighters: U.S. Army Engineers in World War II (Fort Belvoir, Va.: 
Office of History, US Army Corps of Engineers, 1992), p. 36)
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The embargo kept in port cargoes that were vital to the American war 
effort while depriving Brazil of American petroleum and coal. The prob-
lem was resolved in a most unorthodox manner by a private agreement 
between Vargas and Admiral Jonas Ingram, commander of US naval oper-
ations in the South Atlantic. In return for Ingram’s promise to assume 
responsibility for the protection of Brazilian shipping, the president agreed 
to lift the embargo. Calling Ingram his “Sea Lord,” he asked him to be his 
secret naval adviser. Vargas went even further by opening Brazil’s ports, 
repair facilities, and airfields to the American navy and ordered Brazilian 
naval and air forces to operate according to Ingram’s advice. For his part, 
Ingram promised to hasten delivery of naval equipment and to train 
Brazilian personnel.71 The US Navy did not evoke the concerns about 
sovereignty that the American army did, and, thanks to Ingram, it now 
had direct access to Vargas. Ingram’s experience with Latin Americans 
dated from his participation in the 1914 capture of Vera Cruz for which 
he had received the Congressional Medal of Honor.72

In early April 1942, Minister Aranha told Ambassador Caffery that 
after the recent Japanese successes in the Pacific, some younger Brazilian 
army officers were talking against the policy of close military relations with 
the Americans. Specifically, a dozen army captains recently had engaged in 
“ugly talk about our alleged intentions of occupying the Natal Region.”73 
Such reports were worrisomely plentiful.

Vargas had been unsuccessful in convincing General Miller of the sin-
cerity of his two top generals. Miller had so irritated General Góes that 
Vargas had little choice but to request his replacement. As mentioned 
above, Miller had grown so disenchanted that he too had asked to be 
relieved. Returning to Washington, Miller served on the general staff ’s 
Operation Plans Division for a few months, where his years of experience 
with Brazilians gave him credibility. When Góes wrote to Marshall on 
April 22, 1942, the chief of staff ’s aide requested that Miller comment on 
the letter. Indeed, he wrote a brutally frank analysis saying that he had 
known Góes for eight years and that he “cannot be trusted by us.” He said 
that Góes was “only pretending a sincere desire to cooperate with the 
United States, because Brazil at the present time, is almost entirely depen-
dent economically upon the United States, and because General Góes still 
hopes to get as much equipment as possible from us for his army.”74

Another general staff officer and former air attaché in Brazil, Thomas 
White, commented that if Góes’s letter was “sincere,” it was “based on a 
great lack of understanding of [the] problems at stake.” White did not 
know if
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General Góes is himself is pro-Axis. He is surrounded by pro-Axis officers 
and is controlled by the ruling military clique. He reflects the opinion of one 
of the most selfish classes in the world – the Brazilian armed forces. He does 
not reflect the opinion of the average Brazilian who is wholeheartedly in 
support of the United States and is willing to do what is needed…. 
Unquestionably, even if given material the armed forces of Brazil would not 
use it effectively. This is particularly true of aviation material. Brazil could do 
a great deal now without further equipment. Pro-Axis or anti-American ele-
ments still hold many key positions in both Army and Air Force. The Chief 
of Police (Filinto Müller) is an excellent example.75

These American officers had little patience for the apparently cautious 
ways of the Brazilian authorities in dealing with Axis espionage and sym-
pathizers. General Miller was bothered, perhaps puzzled, by Góes’s view 
that “Brazil’s possibilities are limited and of small account in the present 
war.” Miller believed that Brazil “could be of considerable account, if 
Brazilian army leaders desired.” Deeply troubled, Miller asked whether 
the war material that was to be provided would be “used for or against us 
by an army under General Góes?”76

Such suspicion and distrust was slow to dissipate, and the atmosphere 
of frustration continued on both sides. In Washington the mix of irritation 
and fear produced some fanciful talk of forming a secret “jungle” force 
made up of Portuguese-speaking “American woodsmen” to take control 
of Northeast Brazil. Apparently to quash such ideas, the then assistant 
chief of staff, Major General Dwight Eisenhower, wrote to Sumner Welles 
saying that “every practical step is being taken to safeguard our interests. 
The policy has been established that all security and defensive measures 
affecting Brazilian territory must be taken in harmony with the Brazilian 
government. Any clandestine approach involving so many people would 
soon be detected and would be fatal to our objectives in this important 
area.”77

Army Dissatisfaction with Ambassador Caffery

At the same time, the American army general staff was frustrated with 
Ambassador Caffery, who is accused of being uncooperative, particularly 
in intelligence matters. Caffery held to the tradition that the ambassador 
was in charge of all United States affairs in Brazil and that all embassy 
personnel, including the military attachés, were subordinate to him. The 
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FBI was running a counter-espionage operation in Brazil that was report-
ing to the ambassador and not sharing information with the military atta-
ché. Caffery had been unhappy with the former attachés, Colonel Edwin 
L. Sibert and General Miller, because he regarded them as “exceedingly 
uncooperative and had done nothing but spoil relations between himself 
and the Brazilian Government.” Caffery opposed a War Department pro-
posal to establish a “U.S. Military Observation System throughout 
Brazil.”78

Army officials had been complaining about Caffery since at least 
November 1941. One of Marshall’s staff thought that the situation was 
“dangerous” and that there should be “a show down understanding with 
the State Dept. otherwise further rapid decline in our Military Intelligence 
in all Brazil will occur and doubtless [in] our whole relations in this critical 
area.” He noted at the bottom of a handwritten letter that [Colonel Henry 
A.] “Barton and I feel that the situation requires the Chief’s direct inter-
vention soon.”79

General Miller, who was no fan of Caffery, wrote to Marshall that “the 
best solution for our present unsatisfactory military problem in Brazil 
would be the replacement of the American Ambassador there. As a war-
time ambassador, Mr. Caffery is a failure.” However, admitting that such 
a solution was “impracticable of accomplishment at the present moment,” 
he recommended that a well-qualified general officer be made “coordina-
tor of all United States military, air, and naval (land) activities in north and 
northeast Brazil.” He recognized that Caffery, the State Department, and 
the Brazilian government would have to give their consent. Perhaps 
accepting that Caffery had too much support from both presidents to be 
further contested, Miller admitted that “it is a mistake to expect, however, 
that any officer could perform these duties entirely independently of our 
ambassador in Brazil.” He recommended that “the problem of collection 
of military information in Brazil be discussed by our G-2 Division [intel-
ligence] with the State Department in an attempt to obtain a satisfactory 
solution.”80

Miller likely had crossed one of Marshall’s invisible lines. The chief kept 
a black book in which he recorded positive and negative comments on the 
many officers he met over the years. He was responsible for Miller’s assign-
ment to Rio and for his brigadier star. It is not clear what caused Miller’s 
next assignment away from the general staff, but a good guess is that his 
negative attitude regarding Góes Monteiro and Ambassador Caffery did 
not get high marks in Marshall’s black book. On July 2, 1942, Miller took 
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command of the army’s Engineer Replacement Training Center at Fort 
Belvoir, Virginia.81 He had ranked nineth in his West Point class of 1915. 
While his classmates, such as Eisenhower and Bradley, took on consider-
ably more prestigious assignments, Miller was relegated to training mis-
sions. The need for engineer officers and men was extremely critical, but 
the Belvoir assignment was the start of a downward trend. After a year and 
a half at Belvoir, he was sent to command Camp Sutton, North Carolina, 
where he oversaw training of engineers and POWs from Rommel’s African 
Corps; then in November 1944, he was deputy commander of Camp 
Claiborne, Louisiana, a major basic training facility, where the 82nd and 
101st airborne divisions had been organized, and at war’s end he was 
attached to the office of the chief of engineers. It was a sad fall from 
grace.82

The State Department position, as expressed by Under Secretary 
Welles, was that Caffery was “a singularly successful ambassador.” Welles 
passed along to FDR Vargas’s comment that he had complete confidence 
in Caffery and that “the United States had never had an ambassador in 
Brazil who had shown greater tact or more knowledge of how to deal with 
Brazilian officials and with the Brazilian people.” Vargas added his praise 
in a letter to Roosevelt saying “this illustrious diplomat practices diplo-
macy as it ought to be practiced: with the sole preoccupation of uniting, 
deepening, increasing the friendship of the people in whose midst he lives 
for the people whose government he represents.”83 The foregoing contro-
versies highlight that armies and governments are never wholly cohesive 
or without guile and that disagreements and clashes of viewpoints are part 
of any policy-making process, particularly in wartime.

Lack of Confidence in Brazilian Arms

The tensions and fears of the spring of 1942 have today [2018] largely 
receded from collective memory. But, in April and May 1942, the harsh 
reality, according to US Army analysts, was that 

Germany and Italy have conducted extensive counter blockade measures by 
surface raiders, submarines and aviation. The surprise attack of the Japanese 
and their early successes, have to a certain extent nullified the superior 
American fleet. If the French surrender their fleet or if England should fall 
and the British fleet should be eliminated, the situation would become 
grave. The Axis would secure the means for aggressive action to the west, 
particularly against South America, in a movement by water.84
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American Army planners did not believe that the Brazilian or other 
Latin American armies could hold off an Axis attack, because those armies 
were “neither organized, trained nor equipped to meet first-class troops in 
battle.” They firmly believed that only United States troops were “capable 
of defending the Western Hemisphere….” They admitted that the ability 
of the Axis to launch such feared operations beyond Eurasia and Africa 
would depend upon their construction of a merchant marine and navy. 
However, if their nightmare of an Axis advance into West Africa occurred, 
they were convinced that “control of the Natal area would become vital to 
the U.S. if it is to remain a first-class power.”85

The Brazilian attitude at that point was captured by Admiral Jonas 
H. Ingram, commanding US naval forces in the South Atlantic from his 
base in Recife, when he wrote that “They are afraid of our army. They are 
definitely not ready to receive a U.S. Army garrison.” He concluded his 
report by emphasizing

that Brazil is now the greatest Latin Nation in the World, with unlimited 
resources and that the future of this great country, in a measure, lies with us. 
[He urged that] it is the personal touch down here that will attain results…. 
For the United States to reap the benefits of her [Brazil’s] expansion and 
development, a staunch friendship, based on mutual confidence, must be 
cultivated and maintained…. It’s a great mistake to try and sell the United 
States in South America. More progress will be made by cultivating friend-
ship and developing mutual respect and confidence.

And he cautioned that the Brazilians’ “inferiority complex” should not 
be “spot-lighted.” He also pointed out that their attitude toward Britain 
had nothing to do with dislike of democracy but was caused by “the arro-
gant attitude of British officials toward Brazil and the stoppage of war 
materials purchased from Germany.”86 It is noteworthy that Ingram’s 
approach had been successful in securing the trust of the Brazilian govern-
ment for the US Navy, while the army’s style had produced a stalemate. 
Washington’s confidence in the stability of the Brazilian situation was not 
improved by reported whisperings in Rio de Janeiro that new German 
victories on the Russian front might lead the army to overthrow Vargas 
and set up a military government.87
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Political-Military Accord, May 1942
After his conversations with Sumner Welles during the Rio Conference, 
Vargas had sent his finance minister Sousa Costa to Washington to give 
substance to the American promises. He had found that there was a lot of 
goodwill, but the Americans were struggling to arm the British and 
Russians, as well as their own expanding forces, and had little to give at the 
moment. Indeed, four anti-aircraft guns that were shipped south had been 
taken from the defenses of New York City. As mentioned above, the Lend-
Lease funding for Brazil had been doubled, and the US Army pledged to 
provide by the end of the year medium tanks  and  light tanks, combat 
planes, as well as numerous anti-aircraft and anti-tank artillery. The 
demand for ammunition, supplies, and aircraft from the fighting fronts 
required steadily more air traffic via Natal. Brigadier General Robert Olds, 
commander of the ferrying operations, told Roosevelt that he needed 
some 750 additional men for the bases at Belém, Natal, and Recife, plus 
housing for them, more gasoline storage, and, most importantly, blanket 
clearance for flights through Brazil. Secretary of War Stimson asked FDR 
to send a personal request to Vargas, commenting: “I cannot tell you how 
important I think this Natal danger is. With the redoubled necessity of 
planes in Burma and China; with the French fleet moving in the 
Mediterranean; with subs in the Caribbean, we can’t allow Brazil, who is 
not at war, to hold up our life line across Africa.” Welles pressed Ambassador 
Caffery to impress on President Vargas that “we must cooperate, one with 
another, to the fullest extent possible in order to attain the defeat of the 
totalitarian nations. It has not been easy to convince our Army that tanks 
should be taken from our own troops which are still insufficiently supplied 
to send to Brazil.” He noted that Roosevelt had decided to increase the 
arms going to Brazil “because of considerations broader than the purely 
military which demand today the closest working relationship between the 
two Governments.”

After representatives of the two countries signed the new Lend-Lease 
agreement on March 3, Vargas readily agreed to unrestricted flights and to 
the other American requests. Meanwhile, in Rio de Janeiro, Góes Monteiro 
brushed off the draft of an agreement on joint operations that he had 
brought back from his 1939 trip to the United States and an agreement 
from October 1941 on the northeast and met with the naval and air chiefs 
of staff to formulate a proposal for a broad joint political-military accord.
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Foreign Minister Aranha handed the draft proposal to Caffery who 
forwarded it to the State Department. The objective was to have agree-
ment on how to “regulate their cooperation in military and economic 
matters for common defense.” It consisted of 22 articles covering details 
of the new relationship. The first article called for the creation of two 
mixed commissions in Washington and Rio de Janeiro “to execute the 
agreement and to make recommendations to their governments.” The 
second importantly specified that Brazilian troops would be used on 
Brazilian territory, while the third said that US forces would be requested 
if there was “an attack on Brazil or imminent threat” of such an attack. If 
that threat came from the Axis, article 15 required that the Americans 
“immediately assist” Brazil. Overall the provisions indicated a shift in 
Brazilian strategic thinking because the north, northeast, and Rio de 
Janeiro were to be considered zones of “prime importance,” and Brazilian 
forces were to be concentrated in those zones. The Brazilians committed 
to the intensification and expansion of agriculture, manufacturing, and 
mining to furnish the United States with raw materials, but the United 
States would provide technical and financial assistance in organizing pro-
duction. A bit of caution appeared in article nine that limited American 
garrisoning of air and naval bases “only at request of Brazil as reinforce-
ments and under Brazilian Military authorities.” Upon request Brazil 
would permit stationing of “technicians and experts” to assist US forces in 
transit or engaging in operations. Other articles dealt with army and naval 
command arrangements and allowed the United States to build installa-
tions and to organize services for its personnel; also they dealt with convoy 
arrangements and pilot training and required the United States to “imme-
diately facilitate” shipment of war material “already requested and other 
materials needed to expand its forces and develop military industries and 
improve transportation.” Finally, in an obvious nod to long-standing sus-
picions of Argentina, article 16 specified that “in case of other aggression 
vs. Brazil, the U.S. would guarantee sea lanes and aerial supremacy and 
would supply war material for land forces in new theaters of operations.”

Beyond these negotiations, throughout Brazil the next days were 
marked by an awkward nervous tension. According to British sources, 
there were food shortages in the Amazonian state of Pará, which were 
locally blamed on laborers being sent into the jungle to collect rubber.88 
The apparent indifference of authorities to the sudden increase in the cost 
of living aggravated the chronic sense of grievance in the Amazonian states 
against the Rio government. Integralistas exploited the local resentment 
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and stirred up grumbling among soldiers in the army garrison in Pará. 
Rumors were rife of an Axis attack and of a responding US occupation. 
The handful of US Marines and air transport staff were inadequate to 
protect the Belém airfield and fuel tanks. Islands at the mouth of the 
Amazon provided good hiding places for Axis submarines and raiders and 
were then “very inadequately patrolled.” The Brazilians lacked enough 
planes to carry on effective patrolling. From further south at Salvador da 
Bahia, the British consul reported that the situation was “peculiar.” He 
said that public opinion was pro-ally, but that the attitude of the authori-
ties “was generally held to be sympathetic to enemy. The reason probably 
is that their first motive is their personal advantage.” Summarizing the 
reports of other consuls, the British Ambassador opined: “There was gen-
erally much evidence to show that men in important positions were under 
persuasion of enemy propaganda and were doubtful of chances of allied 
victory. German propaganda had been so thorough in the past in civil and 
military departments that officials were careful not to cause annoyance in 
certain circles so as to be able to readjust their positions rapidly with each 
turn of the tide.”

In the week after Caffery telegraphed the draft proposal to Washington, 
Aranha several times asked if he had received any reply. The War and Navy 
Departments had been urgently studying the Brazilian proposal. On 
March 20 Welles received their written assessments and had a meeting in 
his office with Army, Navy, and State officials. The Army offered an 
article-by-article critique, with which the Navy concurred, while offering 
only its own general comments. The Army staff thought that articles 3 
and 15 conflicted; in the event of an attack, should the United States act 
or wait for a Brazilian request for aid? How much control the Brazilians 
would have appeared to be an underlying question. The articles regarding 
convoys were already covered by the Navy’s agreement with Brazil. The 
assistant chief of staff of the Army, Lt. General Dwight D. Eisenhower, 
thought that they should “strike while the iron is hot, even though the 
advantages to be gained for the present may be more political than mili-
tary.” He thought that negotiating via written exchanges would likely 
cause difficulties and delays and so suggested a conference in Rio to facili-
tate matters.

The Navy thought that Brazil was asking a great deal and offering very 
little. “There was no acceptance of our forces in Brazil and the U.S. was 
asked among other things to guarantee lines of communication and aerial 
supremacy, even in an inter-continental campaign. Most important, the 
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U.S. was asked to furnish [the] war material then requested and all neces-
sary to development of war industries and transportation in probable 
zones of operations.” This included supporting a possible campaign 
against neighboring Argentina. The Navy recommended that agreements 
for military and naval collaboration should be approached in three stages:

	1.	 Discuss the proposed political-military agreement.
	2.	 Elaborate a Brazilian-American combined basic war plan.
	3.	 Develop military cooperation to make the plan effective.

The agreement should contain definite political commitments to guide 
the combined military commissions in their formulation of war plans. The 
commitments should not deal with the details of military operations, but 
should make definite and specific political agreements. Welles thought 
that Aranha and Caffery should guide the discussions in Rio. Two Army 
officers would be sent to Rio, while the chief of the naval mission could 
represent the Navy. He said that once the bases of cooperation were agreed 
upon, the “ultimate objective was the creation of a Brazilian-American 
military, naval and air commission to sit in Brazil to implement the agree-
ment and for the functioning in Washington of a joint staff, similar to that 
then functioning between the United States and Great Britain.” The “sat-
isfactory conclusion” of the discussions in Rio was, he said, “of basic 
importance.” The Navy and War Departments thought that because the 
agreements were to be “political-military,” the foreign minister and 
ambassador should conduct the negotiations with the officers acting as 
advisers. They thought that the officers should not discuss policies but 
only military matters. The chief of naval operations had sent Welles a letter 
to that effect. Welles thought it was a question of emphasis and that the 
ambassador and American officers should have sufficient latitude to decide 
how far the agreements would go on the purely technical side.

The Army sent Colonel Robert L. Walsh, chief of the air intelligence 
staff, and Colonel Henry A. Barber Jr., Ridgway’s successor as Marshall’s 
principal Latin American planner, to Rio de Janeiro. They were both West 
Point graduates and veterans of the First World War; Walsh had served on 
the Mexican border and been air attaché in Paris and Madrid, while Barber 
had been military attaché in Havana for two years before moving to the 
general staff. Their experiences with Latin cultures would be useful. Their 
instructions emphasized that the “primary result” of the discussions 
should be the creation of Joint Defense Commissions in Washington and 
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Rio for the purpose of preparing staff plans for the joint defense of 
Northeast Brazil. They were cautioned that final agreement should not in 
any way “jeopardize the operations and functions of present Air Corps 
ferrying activities” and, notably, the discussions “should not involve the 
question of the stationing at present of large forces of American troops in 
Northeast Brazil.” This was a major change in the Army policy aimed at 
getting American forces into Brazil and shows that all along its intent had 
been defensive and not nefarious as some Brazilians feared.

At a meeting on April 15 of Aranha, Caffery, and the Brazilian chiefs of 
staff, the latter agreed to accept, with only minor word changes, much to 
the surprise of the Americans, the text that the two colonels had brought 
from Washington. Colonel Barber confessed that he had been “entranced” 
when the Brazilian side accepted the draft. He had expected that the 
Brazilians would want to insure that they would command American 
troops in the northeast. His equanimity did not last.

Five days later, to the discomfort of the American side, the Navy 
Department telegraphed that they should not conclude negotiations until 
“specific understandings” were reached concerning several articles. They 
had been getting ready to sign, and Ambassador Caffery responded that to 
reopen discussions would have “a disastrous (repeat disastrous) effect” on 
the Brazilian government. Colonel Barber was puzzled; he told Caffery 
that the whole thing had been thrashed out before they left and that the 
Navy had agreed completely with the draft. Aranha expected that they 
would sign the agreement that very day at noon. Caffery was at a loss as to 
how he could explain things to Aranha. He was afraid that if he conveyed 
the Navy’s objections officially, Aranha would not go ahead with any 
defense agreements. He thought that the Brazilians might agree orally to 
the Navy’s changes, but if asked to alter the written agreement, they would 
accuse the Americans of having negotiated in “bad faith.” At several points 
during the negotiations, the Brazilians had wanted the Americans to be 
more specific. Caffery had remarked that “all this depends on mutual good 
faith doesn’t it?” And Aranha had replied “yes,” and they had not insisted. 
He asserted that the Brazilians understood the overall situation and inter-
preted the various articles in the same way as the Navy and would not like 
rehashing them. Welles broke the stalemate by convincing the Navy that it 
was unnecessary to change wording because the Brazilians understood the 
matter in the same way as the Navy. What had happened was that the naval 
staff had used the “wrong draft” of the agreement to make its analysis. It 
seems almost comical, but it was very serious for those involved.
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Caffery had several uncomfortable days, “resorting to expedients day 
by day,” avoiding Aranha so that he would not have to explain why the 
signing was being postponed. Aranha was puzzled as to why the Americans 
were delaying. Finally on May 4, Caffery summoned the courage to 
explain what had happened and assured the foreign minister that the Navy 
had dropped its objections. Even so getting the agreement signed was 
slow. Secretary Hull prodded Caffery to get moving with the message that 
the War and Navy Departments were anxious to get the two commissions 
set up and so “urgently desired” the signing to take place. Signatures were 
finally set down on May 27, and attention turned to organizing the two 
commissions.

Then the Unexpected Happened

Of course very likely the major reason for the delay in signing the docu-
ment was that on May 1, Vargas suffered a serious automobile accident 
that left him with a fractured leg, dislocated hip, an injured hand, and a 
broken jaw. Confined to bed and unable to speak, his condition sparked a 
political crisis. Government business that required his attention halted. 
Pro-Axis agitators whispered that he could no longer govern the country. 
If his government collapsed, it would undo much that had been accom-
plished.89 The defense agreement with the United States had been signed, 
but the Brazilian army was seemingly doing little to fulfill its commit-
ments. In many ways Vargas was the government. Sadly for historians, 
after the accident he gave up keeping the diary that he had maintained 
since 1930.90 He did not leave his official residence in Guanabara Palace 
again until September 1. After the accident the new Office of Strategic 
Services (OSS) surmised that Vargas was “no longer useful even to gamble 
with. The only thing that counts today is the Army, the majority of which 
has democratic sympathies.” The OSS assessment warned that there 
existed “a strong minority, profoundly Nazi and Fascist, which can from 
one moment to the next change the course of events” but that it was “dif-
ficult to localize this minority” because its members officially spoke in 
favor of the United States while secretly being “very fond of Hitler and 
Mussolini….” It was frustrating that “the ‘Fifth Column’ presently is 
working to convince the people of Brazil that an alliance with the United 
States has only hurt Brazil.”91
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CHAPTER 5

Decision to Fight

Brazil and the United States Became Allies

It is rather surprising that in spite of the atmosphere of suspicion the two 
armies and their governments had been able to craft a political-military 
agreement that would in effect create an alliance between the United 
States and Brazil. The agreement produced joint military commissions, 
one in Washington and the other in Rio de Janeiro, and outlined the poli-
cies that would govern their work. The Washington commission was to 
prepare a defense plan for Northeast Brazil and make recommendations 
appropriate to the changing situation of the war. The Rio commission was 
to work with the American army and naval missions to improve the com-
bat readiness of the Brazilian forces.1

On the American side, this outcome was the result of General Marshall’s 
calm and patience in dealing with the Brazilians and his willingness to lis-
ten to the advice of the State Department. He believed that the War 
Department had “made real sacrifices in many directions to satisfy Brazilian 
requirements in military equipment….” He reminded Sumner Welles that 
he had “relieved officers at the request of our Ambassador – officers of 
superior qualifications” (likely he had Miller and White in mind). And that 
he had “changed the assignments of officers in the War Department con-
cerned with the Brazilian situation because they had become so convinced 
that our failure to secure the necessary precautionary measures would 
result in a disaster in that region [and] that their feelings were too intense 
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to facilitate negotiations.” He deplored that it was “increasingly apparent 
that the Brazilians are not seriously cooperating with us to secure that vital 
area, sea and land, against Axis aggression.” He asked Welles to instruct 
Caffery to press the Brazilian Air Ministry again on the “urgent necessity” 
of carrying out “the immediate detailed and effective reconnaissance of 
the Amazon area” and on extending air patrols off the Brazilian coast.2 
Marshall then wrote to Góes Monteiro praising the negotiations that had 
given rise to the “political-military agreement.” Even though he lamented 
“the lost opportunities for close cooperation in the past,” he observed that 
it was “futile to dwell on such incidents.” He was certain that Góes agreed 
“that this is a time for action with all eyes on the future,” and he was hope-
ful “that the continuation of present measures by Brazil will result in the 
speedy elimination” of the Axis threat to ships and aircraft and to the 
Panama Canal. He assured Góes that “I have clearly in mind your needs 
and shall see that, in return for the cooperation which you have offered on 
your part, that we on our part give you the material assistance you request 
as far as our capacities will permit” [emphasis added]. He included the 
caveat that he was sure that Góes understood that he had to meet “the 
minimum requirements of our own forces as well as of other forces in 
actual combat with Germany and Japan, and of course Italy.”3

Brazil’s significance in Marshall’s mind was indicated by his replace-
ment for General Miller. The new attaché would be his aide and long-time 
friend, Claude M. Adams, whom he called “Flap.”4 Adams had been his 
executive officer when Marshall commanded the fifth Brigade of the third 
Division at historic Vancouver Barracks in Washington state in 1938; they 
became great friends and fishing buddies.5 They were close enough to play 
practical jokes on one another. Marshall’s wife Katherine was close to 
Adams’s wife Ruth so it was a friendship between the two couples. While 
going through the Command and General Staff course at Ft. Leavenworth 
(1939–1940), Adams suffered a heart attack but was able to complete the 
course. Marshall brought him to the general staff as an all-purpose sort of 
aide. So now he had his man in Rio whom he trusted implicitly.

Axis agents were actively broadcasting with clandestine radio transmit-
ters the movements of ships in and out of Guanabara Bay, and the Federal 
District Chief of Police Filinto Müller did nothing to stop them. It was 
mid-July before Vargas had recuperated enough to replace him with a 
trustworthy officer. It was worrisome that Müller then joined the immedi-
ate staff of Minister of War Dutra. After German submarines sank three 
more Brazilian ships off Trinidad on July 26 and 28, 1942, Dutra told 
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Ambassador Caffery that he was as pro-American as Aranha, but com-
plained that the foreign minister wanted to go to war even though Brazil 
was absolutely unready. Dutra did not think that the United States could 
prepare Brazil for a combat role; therefore Brazil should limit its coopera-
tion to measures short of war.6 The documents did not reveal why Dutra 
thought that way, he certainly was not displaying great confidence in his 
army.

Brazil’s air force had become active in hunting and attacking German 
submarines so it was already in the fight though the nation was officially 
neutral, but between August 15 and 19, the sinking of six ships off the 
Brazilian coast took the republic into the war. Notably the army wanted to 
revenge the deaths of the 16 officers and 125 men of its Seventh Artillery 
Group on the passenger ship Baependy (sunk on August 15). The sinking 
of the Baependy raised questions that went unaddressed, about the com-
petence of army leaders who did not take adequate precautions against the 
known submarine threat. They may have thought that peaceful coastal 
traffic would not be attacked. It may puzzle readers that the Brazilian 
Navy did not provide an armed escort. The two services were not accus-
tomed to cooperating, and the navy did not yet have an anti-submarine 
capability. A Brazilian officer of that era, Nelson Werneck Sodré, in his 
memoir, condemned the ineptitude of Dutra and Góes for allowing such 
an obviously dangerous troop movement and the insensitivity of the army 
bureaucracy in indemnifying the survivors with a mere month’s pay, whose 
payment was delayed. Unfortunately Sodré fertilized the Nazi-created 
rumors of American responsibility for the sinkings by saying that there was 
no proof that the submarines were German.7

Operation Brazil and Lone Wolf U-507 1942
Of course there was proof, Sodré was either ignoring it or perhaps he did 
not want to believe it. Both Germany and Italy had submarines operating 
in the South Atlantic. On June 2, 1942, the Brazilian press reported that 
Brazilian air crews flying B-25s had sunk two Italian subs. Radio Berlin 
warned that retaliation would be swift. Authorities in Natal ordered a 
blackout to make night attacks more difficult. Marines at the Natal Air 
Base dug trenches and set up machine guns. Fear gripped the people of 
Natal because of the radio threats. The German government saw Brazilian 
cooperation with the American forces as the end of Brazilian neutrality 
and believed that when Brazil was ready it would formally enter the war. 
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Likewise German officials seemed offended that a military nonentity of 
mixed race would dare take defensive measures against Axis vessels. The 
commander of the German Navy, Grand Admiral Erich Raeder, on June 
15, 1942, met with Hitler, who approved a massive submarine attack on 
Brazilian ports and coastal shipping, called “Operation Brazil.” Thereafter 
a number of subs, variously reported as eight to ten, left French ports for 
the South Atlantic (Fig. 5.1).8

The Brazilian fleet was all but obsolete and had no experience or 
appropriate vessels to combat submarines. The great 305 mm guns on 
its two 1910 battleships were useless against subs. The ports without 
anti-submarine nets were defenseless. Submarines could stealthily enter 
the great bays at Rio de Janeiro and Salvador da Bahia to sink vessels 
anchored there, and at Recife the area protected by the seawall was so 

Fig. 5.1  General Gustavo Cordeiro de Faria explaining Natal’s harbor defenses 
to Roosevelt, Vargas, and Admiral Ingram. (Courtesy of the Franklin D. Roosevelt 
Library, Hyde Park, NY, NARA)
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small that many ships were anchored outside it. They made easy prey. 
The German submarines would encounter a Brazilian fleet “incapable of 
efficiently reacting to a surprise attack.” The hard truth was that “the 
extreme fragility of Brazilian naval defense was similar to that in the 
Army and in the recently created Air Force.” Brazil was paying the price 
for successive governments’ inability to pull the country out of its deep 
underdevelopment.9

The reader should recall that Brazil of 1942 was totally dependent on 
the sea for transport among its coastal cities north of Rio de Janeiro. 
Vitória, Salvador, Maceió, Recife, Natal, Fortaleza, São Luis, and Belém 
were basically islands separated one from the others by vast stretches of 
land. Brazilians, at the time, described the country as an archipelago. 
There were no long-distance connecting railroads or all-weather high-
ways. Indeed in 1942–1943, “there were eighty miles of paved road in 
that vast country outside of the cities.”10 Rudimentary aviation was avail-
able only to a small portion of the elite. The first regular flight between 
Rio de Janeiro and São Paulo began in August 1936 with two 17-passenger 
German-made Junkers. That same year construction began on Brazil’s 
first civilian airport, Rio’s Santos Dumont, which would be completed 
only in 1947!11 Significantly it was built on landfill in Guanabara Bay 
partly to accommodate the seaplanes of international airlines. Everything 
moved by water, which meant that the Brazilian economy could be shat-
tered by submarines.12 The consequences of such an attack for the politi-
cal situation could only be bad. Vargas was slowly recovering from his 
May automobile accident and would be in no condition to hold things 
together. Moreover, despite the political-military accord signed with the 
United States in May, the Brazilian high command was not hurrying to 
implement it.

Providentially, Hitler had approved “Operation Brazil” with the stipu-
lation that before it was launched there should be a review of the diplo-
matic situation. That brought the plan to the foreign ministry and the 
desk of former ambassador to Brazil, Karl Ritter, the same who had been 
declared “persona non grata” and expelled by Oswaldo Aranha. Ritter was 
responsible for liaison between the foreign ministry and the military. Such 
a submarine offensive against still officially neutral Brazil would mean 
expanding the war. Ritter argued that pushing Brazil into the conflict 
could have negative consequences for interactions with Chile and 
Argentina, who still had diplomatic and commercial relations with the 
Axis. Besides he thought that Italy and Japan ought to be consulted before 
such an attack. From an operational point of view, an attack was complicated 
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by the great distance from Europe and the submarine’s vulnerability dur-
ing the 26 days en route. The submarines would have to surface regularly 
to recharge their batteries and so would be vulnerable to attack. It was 
true that because Brazil was neutral, its cities would be lit up at night mak-
ing it easier to see targets in silhouette, and Brazilian coastal shipping 
would likely still be brightly lit. It should be noted that submarine attacks 
on ports had some recent precedence. In February 1942, a German sub-
marine attacked a refinery on Aruba and a Japanese sub fired on a refinery 
at Santa Barbara, California.13

There is some confusion regarding when “Operation Brazil” was can-
celled and when and who ordered the attacks in August. Colonel Durval 
Lourenço Pereira carefully reconstructed the dating and origins of the 
various orders and contra-orders showing that Admirals Donitz and 
Raeder in their defense testimonies during the Nuremberg trials and 
American historians were inaccurate about timing and responsibility.14 
The startling reality is that, instead of a wolf pack of submarines, there was 
only one submarine, U-507, commanded by Lieutenant Commander 
Harro Schacht, whose attack procedures were strikingly inhuman.15

U-507 was one of the original vessels designated for the campaign 
against Brazil. When the foreign ministry, that is, Karl Ritter, objected to 
“Operation Brazil,” it was cancelled and the submarine commanders were 
told to destroy their orders. They were given other missions in the Atlantic. 
On August 7 Lieutenant Commander Schacht requested by radio to 
“freely maneuver” along the Brazilian coast. Jürgen Rower, a distinguished 
German historian, was puzzled by U-507’s mission, but suspected that it 
might have been motivated by the naval command’s desire for retaliation 
for Brazil’s participation in allied anti-submarine operations. He thought 
that it contradicted Hitler’s cancelation of “Operation Brazil” and that it 
was a “foolish mistake.”16 It was a mistake that had frightful consequences 
for the passengers and crews of defenseless Brazilian coastal transports.

On the afternoon of July 4, 1942, Schacht’s U-507 and a companion 
vessel U-130 headed into the open ocean from the port of Lorient on the 
coast of Brittany. Their destination was a stretch of ocean between the tiny 
Brazilian islets of São Pedro and São Paulo and the islands of Fernando de 
Noronha. The islets are 590 miles from Brazil’s northeastern shore. Their 
mission was to patrol one of the quadrants by which the German navy 
divided the vast ocean.17 The outward voyage was uneventful except for an 
encounter with a sonar-equipped destroyer, which detected the U-507 
and launched four depth charges. The charges missed the submarine but 
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caused some slight damage that produced a constant loud pinging sound 
that Schacht feared could be detected at a distance.

After passing the Azores, Schacht was ordered by radio to operate 
jointly with U-130 commanded by Captain Ernst Kals and the Italian sub 
Pietro Calvi, but that very day a British destroyer sank the Calvi. On the 
afternoon of July 23, the two German subs were given their patrol quad-
rants being told that traffic crossed those quadrants in scattered fashion in 
a northeasterly direction and vice versa. They were patrolling a stretch of 
the Atlantic narrows between Dakar and Brazil, focused on convoys and 
single vessels coming from Trinidad and Georgetown. Their orders took 
the two subs in autonomous directions. Brazil itself was beyond their area. 
So how did U-507 end up in Brazilian waters?

Schacht’s U-507 was now on its own and seeing no targets, the crew 
practiced submerging and firing the deck gun. Isolated from his colleagues 
deployed across the South Atlantic, Schacht was the only commander who 
did not have any “victories.” His earlier companion Kals had sunk two 
ships, but in more than a month since leaving Lorient, U-507 had not 
fired a single torpedo. For ten days he did not see any ships at all, which 
led him to think that maritime traffic had been diverted westward toward 
the Brazilian coast.18 The boredom and tedium must have been corrosive 
on the crew’s morale. On the surface the heat of the equatorial zone, the 
glare of the sunlight reflecting off the sea would have been physically 
draining, and while submerged the stink of the diesel engines and the sul-
furic acidy smell from the electric batteries mixed with the odors of the 
unwashed crew wearing the same uniforms for weeks must have been 
extremely distasteful. There was only one toilet available for the 56 crew 
men. On August 3 the sub was 90 nautical miles from the coast of Ceará 
when it turned back toward the open ocean. Reaching a point northeast 
of the islets São Pedro and São Paulo, Schacht made a decision that “would 
bring unexpected consequences for the Axis war effort.”19

Late on the night of August 7, he asked permission from the Submarine 
Command to operate freely on the Brazilian coast. Some 15 hours later, 
he received the go-ahead from Submarine Command: “Change course 
and head for Pernambuco.” This exchange of radio messages shows that 
historians have been wrong for decades attributing the attacks on Brazilian 
coastal shipping to the considered planning of the German navy or to 
orders from Hitler. In reality, it was the decision of a lone sub commander 
seeking victims. It coincided with the presence of a convoy (AS-4) at 
Recife ready to head to Africa carrying critically important Sherman tanks 
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for British forces,20 and German naval leaders hoped that U-507 could do 
some damage to it and subsequent convoys. In an analysis related to 
“Operation Brazil,” German naval planners had given Pernambuco con-
siderable importance for the security of Allied convoys. On August 14, a 
radio message to Schacht emphasized Recife as a resupply and gathering 
point for convoys and ships from Florida via Georgetown to Natal, St. 
Helena Island, and Cape Town.21 Schacht had other ideas. He considered 
heading toward Rio de Janeiro, however, was dissuaded by his declining 
fuel supply. The meaning of Submarine Command’s repeated instructions 
to Schacht was that he was to attack the allied convoys heading toward 
Cape Town and not Brazilian coastal shipping. On his own he did the 
opposite. Did Schacht’s disobedience allow Convoy AS-4 to escape 
unscathed? If so perhaps he contributed to the German defeat at El 
Alamein? He apparently believed that the reason he had not encountered 
ships during the previous days was that the Allies had shifted their routes 
further to the west along the Brazilian coast. He had the idea that oil tank-
ers were coming into the Atlantic through the Strait of Magellan and up 
the South American coast to a crossing point to Freetown in Africa. He 
shied away from Pernambuco, which perhaps he thought was too heavily 
protected. Admiral Ingram had chosen Recife for his headquarters because 
he believed that Recife’s closeness to Cape São Roque, the nearest location 
to Africa and thus “most strategic point in South America,” made it the 
best port for his operations.22

August 1942 Disaster on the Coast of Sergipe 
and Bahia

Schacht took up station off the coast of Bahia and its great port of São 
Salvador.23 There he ran less chance of discovery before he could strike. If 
U-507 was detected, it could plunge into the deep waters off Bahia. The 
captain was not a coward, but he was cautious. He was one of the German 
Navy’s 2% of submarine commanders responsible for 30% of sinkings dur-
ing the war. It is notable that of the 870 U-boats sent after Allied shipping, 
fully 550 did not sink or damage a single ship. Of a total of 2450 Allied 
merchantmen sent to the bottom, 800 were sunk by only 30 commanders. 
Harro Schacht was among that number and was one of Germany’s most 
intrepid and daring submariners.24 It is not clear whether he thought he 
was disobeying orders, perhaps he considered a radio message of July 5 
authorizing attack without warning “against all Brazilian merchant ships, 

  F. D. MCCANN



  151

including disarmed and recognized as Brazilian” as sufficient sanction. Of 
course, the July 5 message did not give permission to attack vessels in 
Brazilian waters. The German Submarine Command never gave an order 
to attack Brazilian coastal shipping. Recall that Hitler had expressly vetoed 
“Operation Brazil.” At the Nuremberg trials, Grand Admiral Erich Raeder, 
commander of the German Navy, testified that his submarines had attacked 
Brazilian ships because they lacked clear identification as neutral and that 
Germany had advised all South American countries to illuminate their ves-
sels so that they could be recognized at night. However, Brazil had not 
been so advised, even though Raeder’s testimony implied that it had.25 
Schacht did not long survive these events and left no explanations of his 
conduct, but all the evidence points to his action as violating orders by 
sinking seven ships in Brazilian coastal waters. The leading scholar of the 
submarine attacks, Durval Lourenço Pereira, reached the firm condemn-
ing conclusion: “The massacre in the waters of the northeastern litoral 
happened thanks to the initiative and the personal decision of Lieutenant 
Commander Harro Schacht” (Fig. 5.2).26

Since February 1942 Brazil had lost 12 ships to Axis submarines, but 
they had all been off the East Coast of the United States or in the Caribbean 
and adjacent waters.27 Somehow such losses could be accepted as costs of 
doing business traversing known war zones. Being attacked while traveling 
from one state to another via “our territorial waters” would elicit very dif-
ferent emotions. Meanwhile the South Atlantic took on increasing impor-
tance in the summer of 1942 because the Germans successfully shut down 
British convoys using the Arctic above Scandinavia to reach the Russian 
port of Archangel. The losses were so heavy that the Arctic route had to 
be discontinued. FDR and Churchill were determined to keep the Soviet 
Union fighting. The best alternative route was to convoy from the United 
States via the South Atlantic, around Africa through the Indian Ocean to 
Iran and thence overland to Soviet territory. An idea of the importance of 
the route can be seen in the 47,874 aircraft that were shipped disassem-
bled to Russia via the “Persian Corridor.” The route was some 10,000 
nautical miles longer than the Arctic one, but there was no other choice. 
This meant that Brazil and the bases there increased in significance. Brazil 
was literally the keystone in the edifice of the logistical war. And the war 
was not going well for the Allies. On January 2, 1942, Manila fell to the 
Japanese, who also swept over the Netherlands East Indies, then in the 
next month, the British surrendered Singapore, losing 130,000 troops 
taken captive. The Doolittle Raid on Tokyo on April 18 was predictive of 
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the future and boosted Allied morale, but did little to change the immedi-
ate dark trend. In Egypt, on June 21, Rommel’s supposedly weakened 
Africa corps surprised the British by seizing Tobruk in a relatively brief 
combat, losing another 6,000 soldiers to the Nazi forces, along with all 
their armament. Loss of the Suez Canal loomed as an alarming possibility. 
The Germans would get to 70 miles from Alexandria before being stopped 
at El Alamein on June 29. Without doubt the war could be won or lost in 
the South Atlantic. Armies cannot fight without weapons and all sorts of 
supplies and so safe routes for shipping were crucial to obtain victory. That 
is why the Axis was sending submarines into the South Atlantic and why 
the Allies had to destroy them.

Ironically Schacht’s impatience and decision to head to Brazil caused 
him to miss the S.S. Seatrain Texas which was carrying 250 Sherman tanks 
steaming for Cape Town and, via the Red Sea, for Port Suez. At Cape 

Fig. 5.2  This grid map was the type the German navy used to track the location 
of its vessels. The dark box shows the area assigned to U-507 and the light gray to 
U-130. The dark lines show U-507’s route to and along the Brazilian coast. (Map 
was prepared by Col. Durval Lourenço Pereira for his Operação Brasil: O ataque 
alemão que mudou o curso da Segunda Guerra Mundial (São Paulo: Editora 
Contexto, 2015), p. 198. Reproduced by permission of Col. Durval.)
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Town the British gave it the code name “Treasure Ship.” The US Merchant 
Marine history concluded that “These Sherman tanks, the first Allied 
tanks which matched the German Mark IV Panzer in firepower, were a 
decisive factor at the battle of El Alamein which began on October 23, 
1942, and resulted in an Allied victory.”28 Of course, the intense air cover 
that Army Air Corps planes gave to the British Eighth Army played an 
extremely important role, and they would not have been there without 
Brazilian cooperation and the Parnamirim base at Natal.29

Leaving his assigned quadrant caused U-507 to miss the important 
cargo targets. Schacht’s next action would cause war between Brazil and 
Germany. He was heading south away from Recife and toward Salvador da 
Bahia. Submarine Command’s instructions allowed attacking without 
warning all merchant vessels cruising with their lights out. He was aware 
that Brazilian coastal ships carried both cargo and passengers. Strictly 
speaking passenger vessels were not on the list of approved targets, but he 
could have been frustrated after 40 days at sea and still carrying his com-
pliment of 22 torpedoes. He was moving southeast and would encounter 
the passenger steamer Baependy on a north-northeast heading. The con-
frontation of these two vessels had a certain irony to it. They had the same 
birthplace, at the Blohm & Voss shipyard in Hamburg. The Baependy had 
been launched 40 years before and had fallen into Brazilian hands during 
World War I. U-507 was laid down in 1939. The Brazilian vessel had its 
running lights on, but its flag and name were in the dark. As Schacht 
maneuvered into attack position, he saw a light on the horizon, likely 
another ship. If he acted quickly, he could get two victims. He launched 
two torpedoes each with an explosive mixture equal to 280 kilos of TNT.

It was 1825 hours and the unwary Baependy was 1500 meters away 
[1600.4 yards]. On board the Brazilians had just finished dinner and were 
gathering to celebrate a crew member’s birthday. Soldiers, most of whom 
were Cariocas, were on the rear deck playing their pandeiros, drumming 
on cans, and singing sambas. This happy scene was undisturbed as both 
torpedoes missed their mark and continued on in the darkness. Schacht 
had miscalculated the speed of the Baependy. He raced ahead and came 
back at a better angle before launching two more torpedoes at 1912 hours. 
In his diary he noted “two shots to prevent any possibility of radio trans-
mission by the steamer.”30 An SOS from the ship could reveal the subma-
rine’s presence. Even if the captain of the Baependy could have seen the 
torpedoes, at their 40 knot speed, he could not have avoided them. The 
two torpedoes hit the Baependy about 30 seconds apart.
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The 320 passengers were stunned, some frozen in absolute fear, others 
screaming and trying to reach the deck. Captain Lauro Mourinho dos Reis 
of the Seventh Artillery Group recalled that glass and wood fragments flew 
in every direction cutting and killing indiscriminately. The second torpedo 
had hit the engine room; the lights went out, leaving everyone to struggle 
for a way out in the dark. Up on deck flames shot into the night. It had 
happened so rapidly that, despite frenzied efforts, only one of the lifeboats 
could be let down. Finally on deck Captain Lauro understood that he had 
to jump overboard to avoid getting sucked under by the sinking ship. A 
machinist saw the ship’s captain covered in blood on the bridge sounding 
the ship’s whistle repeatedly as it went under. Those who could not swim 
thrashed about uselessly, while others held on to floating pieces of wreck-
age. It had been four minutes from impact to the ship going down prow 
first. For the 28 survivors in the lone lifeboat, it would be a long dramatic 
night of terror before they reached land.31

Schacht knew he had hit a passenger vessel but did nothing to help the 
survivors. Instead he attacked the second ship, the Araraquara, a rela-
tively new, luxury vessel. He noted that it had its running lights on and 
was “brilliantly illuminated” but it lacked any mark of neutrality. Two 
hours after sinking the Baependy, the U-507’s torpedo exploded amidship 
plunging the Araraquara into darkness. It listed and broke in half and 
within five minutes it and its 131 passengers were gone. Four crewmen 
clung to wreckage, one hallucinated and threw himself into the sea, and 
the others lived to tell the tale.32

On August 16 at 0210 in the morning, on the north coast of Bahia, the 
third victim was the Anibal Benevolo, with 154 passengers and crew on 
board. Asleep, they had no time to panic; the vessel went down in 45 sec-
onds. Only four crewmen managed to save themselves. U-507 continued 
toward Salvador. So far it was very successful from a coldly martial point 
of view. The three ships had not been able to sound an SOS; the German 
submarine was advancing on Salvador undetected. One of the reasons 
Schacht chose this region is that the depth of the sea plunges from 40 
meters north of the city to 1000 meters at the bay’s mouth. If discovered, 
he could easily dive to the sub’s maximum depth of 230 meters. Unhappily 
for Schacht nothing seemed to be afloat in the great bay, except a small 
sailboat that he did not regard as worth his bother.33 Before dawn on the 
17th, he went back to deep water, where at 0841 he spied a steamer going 
north. It was the Itagíba, carrying the rest of the army’s Seventh Artillery 
Group among other passengers. At a distance of 1000 meters, the torpedo 
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hit the ship in the middle. Its passengers managed to get off in lifeboats, 
although two of the boats were hit or dragged under by the sinking ship. 
Ten minutes had elapsed.34

In an act of temporary mercy, Schacht chose not to sink the yacht 
Aragipe which came to rescue the people in the crowded lifeboats. Likely 
he simply did not want to surface to use his deck gun, so as not to reveal 
his position. The Aragipe was able to crowd on 150 terrified survivors; the 
remainders were picked up by two of the lifeboats. Meanwhile in Salvador 
an alarm had been sounded and vessels were held in port. One ship, the 
Arará, unaware of the warning, had gone amidst the floating wreckage to 
pick up 18 survivors. Observing through his periscope from 200 meters 
away, he waited until all were onboard before firing the torpedo. Raising 
the periscope again to survey the scene, he could only see one lifeboat 
with five “non-whites” in it.35

Later in the afternoon, Schacht saw a passenger ship coming his way. It 
was painted gray and did not have a flag or other marks of neutrality. He 
fired and the torpedo hit its mark but it did not explode. The unnamed ves-
sel was moving too fast for U-507 to catch it before it reached safety in the 
port. He noted in his log: “It is not possible to stop it with artillery during 
the day, considering the nearness of the port and the aerial danger.”36

It was now clear to the Brazilian and American authorities that subma-
rines were operating in Bahian waters. From Recife the destroyer USS 
Somers and cruiser USS Humboldt steamed south, and seaplanes from VP-
83 squadron flew out on patrol. Meanwhile Schacht, on August 18, had 
taken U-507 out to sea to make repairs on a mechanical problem in a 
launch tube. The seaplane PBY Catalina 83P6 found it exposed on the 
surface and attacked with machine guns and depth charges. U-507 dived 
rapidly. The pilot, Lt. John M.  Lacey, USN, thought he had sunk it 
because an oil slick and air bubbles appeared on the surface. But all the 
attack had done was cause a leak in an oil tank. Schacht steered his boat 
south toward Ilhéus in search for more targets.37 But the only vessel 
encountered was a small coastal sailing boat, on August 19, that his crew 
boarded but not understanding Portuguese learned nothing useful. The 
Jacyra was carrying a disassembled truck, cases of empty bottles, and 
cacao. The mestiço crew were sent toward shore and the Germans blew up 
the vessel. Why they took the trouble to destroy such a harmless craft is a 
mystery. The smell of fuel oil alerted them to the leak in the tank and the 
need for repairs. The next day U-507 returned to the entrance to the Bay 
of All Saints where he found the lighthouses were shut down, but oddly 
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Salvador was still lit up brightly. On the 22nd Schacht encountered the 
Swedish ship Hammarem without lights and launched a torpedo, but 
missed. A second one hit its mark but did not explode. As dawn broke he 
surfaced and fired the 105 mm gun on the rear deck hitting the bridge. 
The crew abandoned the burning ship, while Schacht maneuvered to fire 
his last torpedo from the stern tube. Turning north he set course for 
France.38 He left behind a Brazil lusting for revenge.

Businesses with German names were sacked. Police rounded up 
Germans. What some called Brazil’s “Pearl Harbor” provoked clamorous 
street demonstrations throughout the country. The streets of Fortaleza, 
Ceará, filled with people breaking into stores owned by real or supposed 
Germans and Italians and setting them afire. The police could not control 
the mob.39 In Vitória, Espírito Santo, on the 17th the authorities could 
not quell the rioters, who wrecked some 25 buildings, but took all Axis 
nationals into custody, while in Belém do Pará, news of the sinkings 
resulted in mobs destroying some 20 stores, offices, and houses of alleged 
Axis nationals and sympathizers. In Manaus there were loud anti-Axis 
demonstrations that saw numerous Axis nationals being beaten and 
injured. In Natal there was destruction of Axis property and “genuine 
enthusiasm against enemy for the first time….” São Paulo saw large groups 
of students shouting for war and a huge number in the plaza in front of 
the Cathedral clamoring for action. The US Consulate in Porto Alegre 
reported that there was a systematic smashing of shops belonging to sup-
posed Axis sympathizers. “All around the Consulate at this minute stores 
are being demolished.” The material damage was already great.40 The out-
raged Brazilian people demanded a response.

Inadvertently, U-507 would contribute to the eventual Allied victory by 
its unauthorized attack on Brazilian shipping. After pulling Brazil into the 
war, Schacht returned to his home base at Lorient in France. Unlike a previ-
ous voyage this time there were no medals and the reception was not warm. 
U-507 retuned to sea in late November and cruised back to Brazil, where it 
patrolled off of Ceará and Rio Grande do Norte. In conducting attacks 
Schacht changed his procedure to take prisoner the fated ship’s captain to 
obtain precise information about cargoes and navigation routes. By New 
Year’s 1943, he had three British merchant marine captains on board the 
U-507. In a twist of fortune, on January 13, 1943, a USN Catalina PBY, 
flying out of the base at Fortaleza, spotted the submarine and dropped four 
depth charges totaling 884 kilos of TNT making direct hits.

U-507’s voyages of death were ended thanks to the Brazilian-American 
alliance.41
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Brazil Goes to War, August 1942
The government in Rio was stunned. For a couple of days, Vargas, who was 
“far from well: he attempted to walk too soon and developed water on the 
knee; was in severe pain during the cabinet meetings …,”42 seemed uncer-
tain of what to do. Foreign Minister Aranha recalled that time as “the worst 
days” as he drafted a note of protest to be sent via Portugal to Berlin, basi-
cally saying that the German attacks created a state of war and that Brazil 
was accepting the challenge. He seemed ready to declare war, according to 
General Dutra and Ambassador Caffery. Góes proposed that instead of 
declaring war they should make use of reprisals. Vargas initially was inclined 
to agree, thinking that reprisals could include confiscating German busi-
nesses and interned German ships. At least on August 16, he was not think-
ing of declaring war on Germany. Góes and Dutra suggested decreeing a 
“state of war” (akin to martial law) in the 6th and 7th Military Regions, 
which would legally increase government control of the threatened coast. 
They thought to follow that with a partial mobilization without making 
any communication with the Reich.43 The cabinet held inconclusive meet-
ings arguing about the wording of a note to be sent to Berlin.

While this internal debate went on, Aranha showed Consul General 
John F. Simmons parts of alternative drafts of the war note and explained 
the cabinet’s discussions. This was an example of the closeness between 
the foreign minister and the embassy. Vargas ultimately opted for Aranha’s 
formula, recognizing “the state of war which, in an inhuman and brutal 
manner, has been forced upon us by the German Reich.” Aranha explained 
to Caffery that “recognition of the existence of a state of war … was more 
in line with Brazilian tradition.” That is what had been done the last time 
Brazil had gone into a foreign war—against Paraguay in May 1865! Aranha 
had built his arguments slowly until he had 12 of them. Dutra reminded 
the cabinet that Brazil was practically defenseless. He conceded that they 
had received some very good material from the United States; “but, so 
very little of it ….” Aranha admitted to Caffery that “I don’t like Dutra 
personally, but I cannot criticize his attitude.”44 The other ministers wor-
ried about shortages of coal, gasoline, and other fuels. Brazil was certainly 
not prepared for war. Even so, meeting at 3 p.m. on August 22, the cabi-
net voted unanimously for war.45

Three days later Admiral Jonas Ingram advised the Navy Department 
that Brazil’s naval minister had directed the senior officer in the northeast 
to report to him for duty.
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The Brazilian navy was to be under the command of the American 
admiral. Joined by the Brazilian army’s senior officer in the northeast, they 
agreed tentatively that naval forces had the paramount responsibility for 
defending the region. They agreed that Ingram would take full responsi-
bility for offshore and coastal operations and that the Brazilian army would 
assume security measures ashore. In any contingency Brazilian and 
American forces would cooperate fully. The air forces would also operate 
under the admiral’s joint operations plans. The Americans were much 
encouraged by the Brazilian attitude, which exceeded their most optimis-
tic expectations.46

The Brazilian armed forces were willing to operate under American 
control, but curiously, not under Brazilian joint command. At a cabinet 
meeting in Guanabara Palace on August 29, Dutra proposed that the 
three services place themselves under a single commander to improve 
coordination. The ministers agreed except for the naval and air force min-
isters, who energetically opposed the idea. To end the argument, Vargas 
said he would gather the chiefs of staff of the services “to study the ques-
tion.” At that point the ministers had yet to authorize the mobilization of 
the army.47 They did manage to approve a decree, issued on August 31, 
putting Brazil on a war footing internally by establishing a “state of war” 
in all of Brazil. That step limited rights and increased executive power by 
suspending several articles of the Estado Novo constitution. It might 
strike the reader as a mere formality, after all this was a dictatorship, but 
showed Brazilian respect for the idea of law.48 Brazilian ships heading for 
the United States now steamed in well-guarded convoys, even so sinkings 
continued. In a few months, Brazil had lost 75% of its commercial fleet. 
Looking back years later, Dutra stubbornly commented “that nothing jus-
tified the haste with which we broke relations with the Axis countries.”49

As Brazil’s Independence Day, September 7, drew closer, Rio took on 
the cautious appearance of a city under threat of attack. The spotlights 
illuminating the Statue of Christ on Corcovado Mountain were darkened, 
as were the lights on Urca and Sugar Loaf at the entrance to the great bay. 
The light of the clock tower of Mesbla department store went off as did all 
advertising signs on mountains and upper floors of tall buildings. On 
September 6 the beaches of Leme, Copacabana, Ipanema, and Leblon had 
their first total blackout.50
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The Idea of a Brazilian Expeditionary Force

Given the indecision and uncertainty of the previous years, it is notable 
that now opinion in the Brazilian military shifted toward an active combat 
role abroad. The idea first took shape in informal discussions among 
Brazilian officers, who were infuriated and deeply frustrated by the sinking 
of the Baependy, which had killed 250 soldiers and 7 officers.51 Their help-
lessness in the face of the German submarine onslaught clearly illustrated 
Brazil’s military and naval weakness. Although in August the cabinet had 
recognized that there existed a state of war with Germany and Italy, it was 
not immediately clear what role in the war Brazil would claim for itself. 
Minister of War Dutra’s proclamation to the army declared that Brazil was 
experiencing “moments of intense gravity” and condemned the sinking as 
“a monstrous and criminal act” asserting that the army stood unified to 
defend the country, but oddly it never mentioned Germany or the Axis.52

The situation was becoming clearer, but American officials continued 
to worry about pro-Axis Brazilian officers. A few of the officers on Dutra’s 
ministerial staff were vocally pro-German. In the army itself, there may 
well have been a difference of opinion between junior and field-grade offi-
cers. US Army intelligence reported that lieutenants and captains in civil-
ian dress were seen leading marchers in anti-Axis street demonstrations. 
Supposedly such junior officers were dissatisfied with “the regime of the 
two generals” (Dutra and Góes) who reportedly had stronger backing 
among majors and lieutenant colonels.53 One wonders if such junior offi-
cers had been among the cadets at the Realengo Military School in October 
1940, who booed and jeered when Hitler appeared on screen during a 
showing of German army war films depicting the Spanish Civil War and 
the invasions of Poland and Czechoslovakia. One of the cadets later 
recalled that while the films were well made and that the cadets were at 
first curious and a bit perplexed, when they realized that the films were war 
propaganda, a “deafening booing, and vigorous foot stamping” broke 
out.54 The US military attaché emphasized that there was “only a small 
proportion of officers in the Brazilian Army who are pro-Nazi, but they 
are in key positions where their influence is great.” Furthermore they 
appeared to be protected by Dutra and Góes.55

Recent graduates of the army’s Command and General Staff School in 
Rio were enthusiastic about getting into the fight. The majority of officers 
in the class of 1942 had been part of the Tenente movement of the 1920s.56 
On October 31, at the Staff School’s graduation ceremonies, in the pres-
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ence of Dutra and Góes, the class spokesman, Colonel Newton Estillac 
Leal, gave an energetic speech in which he called Hitler a pig and a swine 
and demanded adherence to the Atlantic Charter57 and full cooperation 
with the United Nations. He labeled Nazism-Fascism-Integralism a 
“sinister trinity.”58 Furthermore, he asserted that Brazil should take an 
active part in the war and form an expeditionary force. Leal was one of the 
Tenentes and apparently had convinced a number of them to support the 
Allied cause. Military Attaché Claude Adams noted happily that the speech 
was the first time that “any Army group [had] defied the Politicos by 
openly declaring solidarity and friendship with the United States….” The 
newspapers responded favorably, which meant that the censors (DIP) had 
given approval.59 Dutra appeared friendlier to the American embassy, but 
the military attaché noted that the minister had not yet mentioned the 
army taking an active part in the fighting. Correct or not, the military 
attaché believed that Góes was “an obstructionist to active measures 
against the Axis.” The pro-Allied officers had three objectives: (1) the 
formation of an expeditionary force to fight alongside the allies; (2) the 
removal of Axis sympathizers and those who were lukewarm toward the 
Allied cause from responsible positions in the government, particularly 
Dutra and Góes; (3) they would accomplish the foregoing by “quiet pres-
sure on President Vargas, in whom they have confidence….”60

Meanwhile, army officers talked about attacking Vichy France’s colony 
Guiana, on Brazil’s northern border, or even Dakar in French West Africa. 
Brazil had neither the shipping nor the armament, or, indeed, trained 
troops to mount such independent operations so such actions would be 
dependent on American approval and support. Washington feared that an 
assault on French Guiana would upset its delicate negotiations seeking to 
separate the French forces in North Africa from Axis-tolerant Vichy. In 
December 1942, with the Allied invasion of North Africa underway, the 
Brazilian General Staff discussed sending troops there. To test public reac-
tion, Minister of War Dutra inspired newspaper articles favoring an expe-
ditionary force to Africa. The Correio da Manhã (Rio de Janeiro) declared 
that street demonstrations were not enough, Brazil should be doing “what 
our North American allies are doing.” Góes Monteiro wrote a letter to 
Dutra recommending the preparation of a fighting force to go overseas 
and went so far as to offer to be its commander. Somewhat dismissively US 
Attaché Adams commented that “Góes realizes that something of this 
nature is in the wind and as usual [he] wants to claim credit for the idea.”61
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Foreign Minister Aranha gave a speech arguing that Brazil should take 
a more active role in the war.62 Aranha reportedly had allied himself with 
the tenente group, which spoke ever more loudly for committing troops. 
It is interesting that the tenente officers were saying openly that following 
the war Brazil would return to a democratic form of government.63 In his 
Diário Carioca (Rio de Janeiro) column, José Eduardo de Macedo Soares 
highlighted the dissatisfaction with Brazil’s seemingly passive stance; he 
asserted that the armed forces were able and willing to fight and were only 
awaiting orders. Then, on December 31, President Vargas spoke at a lun-
cheon of officers saying that it was impossible to tell how the war would 
develop but that the nation should not limit itself to supplying raw materi-
als or to being a way station for foreign troops en route to the battlefields 
of Africa. Instead, Vargas declared, Brazil should prepare to intervene out-
side the hemisphere with large numbers of well-trained and well-equipped 
troops. He cautioned the officers to stay united and reminded them that 
they embodied “national honor and the very future of the Pátria.”64

On Christmas Eve, Franklin Roosevelt had sent Vargas a message say-
ing that during the coming year “the statesmen of our two countries, 
continuing their traditional collaboration, will draw the blueprint for the 
new and lasting peace.”65

Minister Dutra was often accused of being dubious of alliance with the 
Americans and of being slow to prepare his army for combat, yet in the 
first week of January 1943, he advised Vargas that the American necessity 
of confronting the Japanese would likely compel the United States to send 
more forces to the Pacific. Because the need for troops in Africa and 
Europe would continue to be great, he thought that Washington would 
want Brazilian troops. They had to prepare. He thought that their combat 
force should be an expeditionary army of two corps, one of which should 
be motorized, plus a supporting armored division. Such a force would 
require 4,700 officers and 140,450 soldiers. They would need an addi-
tional number to keep order in Brazil. He lamented that they did not have 
the equipment for such a force. Mobilization would be difficult, he noted, 
because many would flee from being drafted. “Unhappily, we will have to 
admonish harshly the educated part of the population, whose sons – the 
most capable and competent – are the desired element to sustain armies in 
this ultra-civilized century so steeped in science and mechanics.” He  
complained that the army was handicapped by so many officers being 
assigned to non-military functions. And he reminded Vargas that “not 
every theater of operations would be appropriate for our congenitally 
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weak and physically debilitated soldiers.” He suggested that they send 
officers to Europe to observe how their forces would be used.66 Not 
exactly the most confident endorsement of the abilities of Brazil’s soldiers. 
It is puzzling why Dutra did not use his considerable power to launch a 
vigorous training program and to persuade Vargas to mobilize more 
troops.

Natal Conference: Roosevelt 
and Vargas, January 1943

Vargas would soon be preparing for a “secret” conference at Natal with 
Roosevelt who would be flying back from the Casablanca Conference.67 
Initially Roosevelt was thinking of meeting Vargas “in some central loca-
tion like Trinidad.”68 Roosevelt likely realized that because he would have 
to pass through Brazil, it would be more diplomatic to meet at Natal.

Foreign Minister Aranha wrote a long letter to Vargas analyzing 
Brazilian foreign policy and making a careful examination of the Brazilian-
American alliance. His basic point was that the United States would be the 
leader of the post-war world and Brazil should be at its side; not to do so 
would be a fateful error. Pan Americanism could not succeed without 
Brazil. Aranha believed that Brazil and the United States were “cosmic 
and universal” nations, whose futures could only be continental and 
worldwide. He knew that Brazil was still “a weak country economically 
and militarily,” but he was confident that natural growth and a flood of 
immigration and investments after the war would give it the population 
and capital to be “inevitably one of the great economic and political pow-
ers of the world”—as it was already second in the Western Hemisphere. 
He believed that Brazilians would gain economically by subjecting them-
selves to the war economy.69 Aranha was aware, as he told Dutra, that 
complete cooperation with the United States could be risky, but weak 
Brazil was at the mercy of stronger nations and that without a powerful 
ally “the future of Brazil will be everyone’s, except the Brazilians.”70

Aranha said that he did not think it was necessary at that moment to 
send Brazilian forces to Africa or Europe, even as he encouraged army 
leaders to think that they should, but he conceded that the course of the 
war might make it in Brazil’s interest to do so later. He urged Vargas to 
ask Roosevelt about future allied operations and plans for European occu-
pation and reconstruction so that they could plan better. The bi-national 
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military commissions in Rio de Janeiro and Washington already managed 
their military relations; however, Aranha thought that the two govern-
ments should have intimate contact and a continuous flow of ideas at the 
ministerial level. Brazil, he said, should not await events, but prepare mili-
tarily as if it were to enter combat immediately. Such preparation, he 
argued, whether Brazil fought or not, would give it more weight at the 
peace table. In addition to participating in planning for the United 
Nations, he wanted Brazil to secure a seat on the supreme military coun-
cils. Aranha’s memoranda for Vargas prior to the presidential conference 
at Natal, complete with its 11 war objectives, in effect laid out what 
became goals of Brazilian foreign policy for the next decades.71

Aranha’s objectives for Brazil’s participation in the war were as 
follows:

	 1.	 An improved position in world politics;
	 2.	 Consolidation of its preeminence in South America;
	 3.	 A more confident and intimate solidarity with the United States;
	 4.	 Greater influence over Portugal and its possessions;
	 5.	 Development of maritime power;
	 6.	 Development of air power;
	 7.	 Development of heavy industries;
	 8.	 Creation of war industries;
	 9.	 Creation of industries—agricultural, extractive, and light min-

eral—which would be complementary to those of the United 
States and necessary for world reconstruction;

	10.	 Extension of Brazil’s railways and highways for economic and stra-
tegic purposes;

	11.	 Exploration for essential combustible fuels.

He hoped that these “hurried and general lines” would better prepare 
Vargas to deal with Roosevelt.

Vargas and Roosevelt had met in Rio de Janeiro in 1936 when Roosevelt 
was en route to Buenos Aires for an Inter-American Conference; they got 
on well and spoke in French with each other. In the intervening years, 
Vargas had enriched FDR’s stamp collection with numerous examples 
from Brazil. The fact that Getúlio’s son had returned from his studies at 
John’s Hopkins, and almost immediately had contracted polio and was 
then slowly dying in São Paulo, must have deepened their bond. Because 
Getúlio was still limping slightly from his injuries in the auto crash the 
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previous May, Roosevelt gave him his cane. In their Natal conversations, 
Roosevelt told him that he would like to have him at his side during the 
peace conference. He described the progress of the war, some hopes and 
plans for the post-war, and some of his ideas for the future of French 
African colonies. He was especially concerned about Dakar, which he 
thought should be made a trusteeship under three commissioners, an 
American, a Brazilian, and a third from another American Republic. In a 
general way, they talked about “the future of Brazil’s industrial develop-
ment.” FDR was intent that Brazil formally join the United Nations, 
which Vargas readily agreed to arrange. That gave Vargas the opportunity 
“to say again that we need equipment from you for our military, naval and 
air force.” Vargas emphasized that the Americans could depend upon the 
Brazilian military’s “integral cooperation with no restrictions.” He added 
“everything the United States judges necessary and useful as cooperation 
from Brazil we shall continue to give” (Fig. 5.3).72

They talked and joked throughout their inspections of the huge 
Parnamirim Air Base that was the keystone of the allied transatlantic sup-
ply line and was then “one of the finest [airfields] in the world.”73 Indeed, 
an officer with wide experience throughout the Air Transport Command 
observed that “Natal, Brazil, was a comfortable, almost luxurious post. I 
enjoyed my quarters, found the officers’ mess splendid, and the officers’ 
club delightful.”74 Their joint press statement asserted that “Brazil and the 
United States seek to make the Atlantic Ocean safe for all.”75

A negative aspect of the conference was that the American officials at 
Natal knew what was happening but the local Brazilians did not. One can 
only imagine what people in Natal thought when they saw a car bearing 
the two presidents followed by one with American guards, but no 
Brazilians. The Brazilian regional army commander resented not being 
forewarned and was alarmed that American troops were “blockading our 
President.” After all, he complained, “Natal is a city garrisoned and policed 
by troops of the Army, Navy, and Air Force of Brazil, and is not yet an 
occupied city.” Despite the considerable American presence, Vargas 
appeared comfortable; he commented to Ambassador Caffery that he had 
arrived the night before Roosevelt’s arrival because “The host should 
await the visitor” (Fig. 5.4).76

The Natal Conference was a key, perhaps the emblematic, event in the 
wartime relations between the two countries. It was kept secret until it 
happened. The Rio de Janeiro newspaper A Manhã captured the general 
press reaction saying that Natal was the “high point of our alliance with 
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the United States and shows the absolute solidarity which unites us.” A 
columnist in another Rio paper, A Noite, prodded the military and the 
government with the comment that if Brazil already had its forces in com-
bat there would have been a Brazilian delegate at Casablanca.77

At Natal, the two presidents discussed possible military roles for Brazil. 
FDR said that the American military preferred that instead of sending 
troops to North Africa, Vargas should arrange with Salazar to replace 
Portuguese forces on the islands of the Azores and Madeira. Vargas said he 
was willing to send troops to the Portuguese islands, but stressed that he 
would not be able to do so “unless you furnish adequate equipment for 
them… we need equipment from you for our military, naval, and air 

Fig. 5.3  Vargas and his American allies aboard the USS Humboldt. (Courtesy of 
the Franklin D.  Roosevelt Library, Hyde Park, NY.  NARA.  Bottom from left: 
Harry Hopkins, Vargas, FDR, Jefferson Caffery. Standing from left: Rear Admiral 
Ross McIntire, Major General Robert L.  Walsh, Admiral Jonas Ingram, Rear 
Admiral Augustin T. Beauregard)
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force.”78 Apparently Roosevelt agreed because when he returned to 
Washington, the War Department dropped its opposition to a Brazilian 
combat role and “supported the employment of Brazilian troops aboard.”79 
The American generals, particularly Eisenhower, had been reluctant to 
crowd the battlefields with allies of dubious preparation. Also the United 
States was then struggling to produce enough arms for itself, the United 
Kingdom, and for Russia. Brazil was not the only one waiting for arms.

It should be recalled that when the war began in 1939 the United 
States Army was the 17th in size among the world’s armies. It had 174,000 
men in the regular army and a like number in the reserves. Its regiments 
and battalions were understrength and undertrained. Its weaponry was 
left over from the first great war. Its officer corps was old, the average 
captains were in their late 30s and early 40s, and they were unprepared to 
command troops in combat. The general officers who would lead armies 
in Africa, Europe, and the Far East were still majors and lieutenant colo-
nels. The country’s war-related industries were few. The extensive training 

Fig. 5.4  Vargas, Roosevelt, and Caffery Natal conversations on the USS 
Humboldt. (Courtesy of the Franklin D.  Roosevelt Library, Hyde Park, 
NY. NARA)
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maneuvers held in Louisiana and East Texas in 1940 and 1941 reshaped 
the officer corps, the army’s tactics, and weapons. Brazil faced many of the 
same problems, but, though it increased its army from 60,000 to 90,000, 
it held no mammoth training exercises to test the command abilities of its 
officers and had no industrial base to manufacture the required weapons. 
It did, however, hold limited exercises at its Saican training grounds in Rio 
Grande do Sul that organized the troops into an infantry division, which 
was a step away from the French pattern it had followed through the 
1920s and 1930s.80

By early December, Góes had become seriously ill and had taken leave 
of his duties. A strange set of events showed the impatience of some mem-
bers of the Brazilian elite about Brazil’s war role. There were reports that 
Foreign Minister Aranha and Francisco Assis Chateaubriand, owner of the 
Diários Associados newspapers, were promoting the creation of a “Latin 
American Volunteer Legion” for overseas service. Chateaubriand, if not 
Aranha, was convinced that the Estado Novo government would avoid 
direct involvement in the fighting. “We [have been] transformed into a 
pile of cowardly frogs,” he complained. He was convinced that he could 
raise 6000 volunteers from Brazil, Uruguay, Argentina, and Paraguay to 
fight on the Allied side. He told the new military attaché, General Claude 
Adams, that he had a million dollars for initial financing, but needed a 
guarantee from the United States that it would arm and maintain such 
troops. He had gone so far as to sound out Colonel Osvaldo Cordeiro de 
Farias about his interest in commanding such a force. Taking the idea to 
Dutra, for whom he had little regard, the minister threw cold water on the 
plan, saying that he would order the arrest of any army officer who joined 
“this Falange that the Diários Associados wants to create.” He told him to 
talk to Getúlio.

Chateaubriand met Vargas, at the end of February 1943, at the Palácio 
Rio Negro, the summer residence in Petrópolis. Vargas showed him copies 
of telegrams and American documents indicating that he had been follow-
ing his conversations about a volunteer legion. Without telling him about 
his discussions with Roosevelt at Natal regarding Brazil’s war role, he let 
him read a Dutra memo proposing an expeditionary force. Chatô, as he 
was nicknamed, must have realized that, although he was king of the 
Brazilian press, his sources within the secretive military were limited.

The Natal Conference marked a shift in United States policy toward 
Brazil. Officials in Washington began considering the post-war situation. 
If another American Republic joined the fighting, it would, they thought, 
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strengthen the United States position as leader and spokesman for the 
Western Hemisphere after the war.

Seemingly on cue, the Brazilian army shuffled its regional commanders 
in what American intelligence observers labeled “the most widespread 
shake-up in the Brazilian High Command since the outbreak of the war.” 
General João Batista Mascarenhas de Morais, who had been commanding 
the 7th Military Region at Recife, was transferred to the more prestigious 
post of the 2nd Military Region in São Paulo. The Americans had rated 
him as “an average officer” but pro-democratic.81 It is worth noting that 
there was no unity of command among Brazilian forces in the northeast. 
The army, navy, and air force headquarters operated independently of each 
other, and there was never a joint regional or theater commander. 
Combined operations training was not held. Instead a lot of energy was 
expended on inter-service negotiations.82

An incident shows the looseness of the army’s command structure. 
Mascarenhas expressed his interest in taking a group of his officers to visit 
the North African front, an idea General Robert L. Walsh, commander of 
the newly established US Army Forces South Atlantic (USAFSA), 
endorsed. Significantly, Mascarenhas had not requested approval from his 
superiors in Rio de Janeiro. Walsh commented that since Brazil’s entry 
into the war, “there has been a constantly increasing interest by Brazilian 
commanders” regarding the part Brazil would play. They “are reacting 
very definitely and favorably toward our war effort and it is becoming 
more and more apparent to them that they must participate directly in 
combat operations across the seas, in conjunction with Allied combat 
units.” In order to give Brazilian officers an “unvarnished” idea of the 
realities of combat operations, “the time is ripe,” Walsh recommended, for 
sending a small number of their officers to North Africa.83 At that time, 
the thinking in the Brazilian army was that troops from the northeast 
would be sent to Africa.

Dutra himself was angling for a visit to Eisenhower’s headquarters in 
North Africa, and Marshall was responding with delay. He was alarmed 
that too many foreign delegations wanted to engage in war tourism drain-
ing Eisenhower’s valuable time. He radioed Adams in Rio, “Delay is due 
to necessity of making arrangements convenient to Eisenhower. He is 
swamped with a fierce battle, with other preparations, with visitors from 
China, England, the United States, and elsewhere. We have to protect him 
and you must do your part. General Gomez, [sic] representing Brazil, has 
just been in Africa, so your references to loss of goodwill do not impress 
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me. A similar Mexican party is just leaving for Africa and every official in 
Africa is head over heels in work, accommodations limited, planes over-
taxed, etc.”84

Leaving Rio out of “the picture,” as General Mascarenhas asked General 
Walsh to do, could have created problems. A serious weakness in the 
Brazilian army was the strong tendency toward top-down control, with a 
countervailing tendency for local commanders to act independently when-
ever possible. And with Góes Monteiro’s illness, Minister of War Dutra 
was firmly in charge. So much so that American intelligence officers now 
called the army a “one man show.” Dutra would “not allow any subordi-
nate to make any important decision without his approval.” For Brazil-US 
military cooperation to work, everything had to be handled directly with 
him. He enjoyed Vargas’s full confidence so that it was foolhardy to try to 
go around him. This centralization not only slowed decision-making, it 
was troubling because Dutra was “surrounded by some staff officers who 
are unfriendly to the United States and who act as obstructionists.” Dutra 
himself did not excite American enthusiasm, but he had to be treated with 
caution. “Although he is retiring” [that is reserved], the intelligence 
report stated, “and not brilliant, he is very determined.”85

It is ironic that Americans tended to distrust Dutra as being pro-German, 
because he had since becoming minister worked to keep non-Brazilian 
influences out of the army. He certainly admired the German army, but he 
was a Brazilian patriot. He and likely many other high-ranking officers were 
deeply concerned that Brazil could break apart, and to preserve national 
unity, it was necessary to keep out foreign influences. Such officers believed 
that ultimately it was only the army that held Brazil together. And so the 
army’s ranks, especially the officer corps, could not tolerate, even minimally, 
any “exotic tendency.” Since December 1937 the Vargas government had 
suppressed German language schools, clubs, and Nazi Party activities in 
German immigrant communities.86 True, Dutra did not focus on Nazism or 
Germany as threats, but he imposed a kind of racial, religious, and intel-
lectual purity on the officer ranks that appeared uncompromising. He 
wanted the army to be as completely Brazilian as possible. Immigrants, even 
Brazilian-born sons of immigrants, were not accepted into the military 
school, neither were Negroes, Jews, nor Muslims. While this discrimination 
reflected broader attitudes in society and certainly in the Estado Novo 
regime, Dutra played a key and personal role in imposing the exclusions. 
Showing his penchant for control, he went so far as to have doubtful cases 
in military school admissions sent to his office for decision.87
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After the successful landings in North Africa in November 1942, the 
War Department had considered using Brazilian troops in that theater. 
The State Department wanted to send a Brazilian battalion to the region, 
but, after studying the matter, the army was reluctant because it feared 
that if the Brazilians went, other Latin American countries would want to 
go too; moreover “none could be sent before they [were] … supplied, 
reequipped, and properly trained.”88 Which other Latin American 
Republics the army planners had in mind is not clear, nor explained in the 
archival files. As a result of the Natal Conference, the American Army 
reconsidered and thereafter supported employing Brazilian troops in 
combat.

At Natal, Roosevelt had encouraged the idea of Brazil committing 
troops, telling Vargas that he wanted him with him at the peace table. If 
Brazil sent its soldiers to fight, it could legitimately claim a larger role in 
post-war restructuring of the world. After the first war, in which it was an 
ally but without a combat role, it played a minor part at the peace confer-
ence, and although active in the League of Nations, it had resigned in 
frustration at not obtaining a permanent council seat in 1926. In addition 
to international reasons, Vargas likely thought that distracting the military 
with a foreign campaign would give him some political space in which to 
develop a populist base with which to preserve the gains of the freshly 
labeled Estado Nacional. The dictatorship’s opponents quickly regarded a 
combat role as guarantee that the regime would not outlast the war. They 
asserted that Brazilians could not fight against tyranny overseas and return 
to live under it at home. Although tyranny was likely too strong a term to 
describe the Estado Novo, it certainly was not a democratic government.

Foreign Minister Oswaldo Aranha saw the war and an expeditionary 
force as a way to expand Brazil’s historic cooperation with the United 
States into “a true alliance of destinies.” That policy of cooperation had 
been, Aranha noted, “a source of security” for Brazil, that by giving the 
United States assurance of Brazil’s support in international questions, 
Brazil could “count on them in [South] American ones.” The FEB would, 
in his view, convince the Americans that Brazil was committed to an alli-
ance “materially, morally, and militarily.” The alliance was his strategy for 
gaining United States assistance in Brazilian industrialization, which he 
saw as “the first defense against external and internal danger.” He argued 
that the FEB was the start of a wider collaboration, involving Brazil’s total 
military reorganization. Moreover, he did not believe that they could 
restrict themselves solely to an expeditionary force if they wanted to insure 
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American involvement in other Brazilian military matters, such as develop-
ment of the navy and air force, and defense of Southern Brazil. Looking 
ahead, he believed that Brazil would have to keep its forces mobilized for 
some time after the peace to help maintain the post-war order. In a cabinet 
meeting, he asserted that they should work to convince the Americans that 
“having chosen the road to follow and our companions for the journey we 
will not change our course or hesitate in our steps.”89

For some Brazilian officers, especially the military school graduates of 
the class of 1917, committing troops would vindicate their not having 
fought in World War I; it would also revenge the deaths of friends and 
colleagues killed in German submarine attacks, and, perhaps more impor-
tantly, it would increase the military’s effective strength and ability to deal 
with various contingencies. Among the latter were the strong United 
States military and naval bases in Northeast Brazil, which the Brazilians 
wanted to insure that the Americans would vacate after the war; the 
German immigrant populations in Southern Brazil, which they wanted to 
be able to control; and, the ever-present fear of Argentina, which was then 
under a military regime. But the army was not about to ship overseas and 
trust that all would be well at home or on the frontiers. Its leaders were 
particularly concerned about Argentina. In July 1943, Minister of War 
Dutra declared that whatever number of troops went abroad, he wanted 
an equivalent force left in Brazil “to guarantee sovereignty and the main-
tenance of order and tranquility here.” Clearly, the home front had to be 
secure, but to achieve that objective, Brazilian leaders would have to pry 
sufficient weapons from the Americans, who then were struggling to arm 
their own troops and those of their Allies already fighting. The Brazilian 
government decided that it would have to send troops to the battlefields.

Washington favored the idea because if the largest Latin American 
country fought with the Allies, it would enhance the image of the United 
States as leader of the hemisphere. The Roosevelt administration also 
hoped that it would make Brazil a pro-American bulwark in South 
America. Secretary of State Cordell Hull saw Brazil as a counterweight to 
Argentina. Both the Brazilians and the Americans adroitly played on the 
other’s worries about Argentina to bolster their policy goals. But, of 
course, the closer Brazil and the United States became, the more nervous 
the Argentines grew.

Some American army leaders were reluctant to accept the Brazilian 
offer of troops. Their willingness to accommodate the Brazilians was in 
direct proportion to what they wanted from them. By the end of 1942, 
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the United States Army had its Brazilian air bases and related supply lines 
through them to North Africa, so why worry about the Brazilians? A 
debate took place in American military and diplomatic circles over the 
merits of accepting or deflecting Brazilian desires. Earlier in 1942, the two 
governments had considered a Brazilian occupation of French and Dutch 
Guiana, and, at Natal (Jan. 1943), Roosevelt suggested to Vargas that 
Brazil replace Portugal’s troops in the Azores and Madeira, so that the 
Portuguese could reinforce their home defenses. Nothing came of that 
idea, but after the Natal Conference, it was not if Brazil would fight, but 
where? In mid-April 1943, the Brazilian military representative in 
Washington, General Estevão Leitão de Carvalho, told Chief of Staff 
George Marshall that Brazil wanted to form a three or four division expe-
ditionary Corps, and, in May, the Joint Chiefs of Staff approved the idea.

It is important to emphasize that the expeditionary force was a Brazilian 
idea, that it resulted from a calculated policy of the Vargas government 
and not from an American policy to draw Brazil directly into the 
fighting.
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CHAPTER 6

The Brazilian Expeditionary Force: 
The Smoking Cobras

As 1942 ended the American forces in North Africa, under General 
Marshall’s deputy, Dwight Eisenhower, had taken Casablanca, Oran, and 
Algiers and were advancing on Tunisia. The French fleet at Toulon had 
been scuttled by its crews to keep the ships out of German hands. The 
British Eighth Army took Tripoli and in the first week of February 
Eisenhower was made commander of all Allied forces in North Africa. In 
a fluctuating struggle, the Americans were first pushed back at the 
Kasserine Pass, but then days later they stopped Rommel’s Afrika Korps. 
In April and early May, American and British armies encircled the 250,000 
Axis troops in Tunisia and took their surrender. They went on to invade 
Sicily, and by August 17 they controlled the island which provided the 
springboard for assaults on the Italian peninsula and Sardinia making the 
Mediterranean safer for Allied shipping. The Brazilians would have to 
move more quickly to get into the fighting.

In mid-April 1943, President Vargas wrote to General Estevão Leitão 
de Carvalho, the army representative on the mixed defense commission in 
Washington, authorizing him to discuss with the War Department the 
formation of a Brazilian Expeditionary Force. Vargas said that such a force 
would consist of a maximum of three infantry divisions, one armored and 
motorized division, plus suitable supporting troops and a fighter squad-
ron. The president estimated that it would take nine to twelve months to 
train these expeditionary troops “if equipment is made available.” Leitão 
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de Carvalho formally presented the letter to General Marshall on April 19. 
Major General James G. Ord, who chaired the Joint Brazil-United States 
Defense Commission, analyzed the situation for the chief of staff. He took 
care to say that he did not believe that the proposal was “motivated by a 
desire to obtain larger quantities of Lend-Lease materiel from the United 
States.” He pointed out that “our own supply and shipping problems 
preclude the immediate formation of any sizeable Brazilian Expeditionary 
Force.” However, the fact that Vargas recognized that at least a year of 
training would be required made “it difficult to refuse at this time to dis-
cuss plans for possible future use of Brazilian troops in extra-continental 
theaters of operations.”1 Marshall was suitably grateful and promised that 
the proposal “would receive careful and prompt consideration.” Leitão de 
Carvalho for his part pressed Ord to begin planning immediately.

General Ord stressed the importance of the Brazilian proposal:

This is a major decision by Brazil to take an active part in the war [and] has 
the appearance of being both realistic and sincere. The significance of this 
step, both from a military as well as a political viewpoint, cannot fail to affect 
profoundly Brazil-United States relations, not only during the war but also 
during the post-war period. Brazil’s position as the dominant South 
American nation and definite stand on the side of the United States cannot 
be overlooked in the consideration of plans for both the conduct of the war 
and the negotiations at the peace table.2 (emphasis added)

By April 1943, the idea of a Brazilian expeditionary corps had the back-
ing of key policy makers of the two countries. At that time North Africa 
was the favored projected zone of employment, but in truth the actual 
zone was secondary in most discussions. The idea was to get the Brazilians 
into combat. Marshall agreed with the proposal and sent it on to the Joint 
Chiefs of Staff, who approved it in principle in the first week of May.3 The 
Americans nodded positively, but were worried that equipping such a 
force would be difficult.

Reorganizing the Brazilian Army for War

In 1943, the Brazilian army did not have standing divisions ready for 
intensified training and transportation, but rather it was organized in static 
geographic regional commands which presided over dispersed regimental-
sized units. These in turn were quartered in barracks that often had scant 
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room to receive additional mobilized troops, and the surrounding grounds 
had little space for training of the sort the American army was then receiv-
ing. Moreover, most of the barracks were in urban areas. And because the 
troops were mainly drafted from the locality, to form a division from one 
region would place a politically unacceptable sacrifice on that region. 
Considerable reorganization was necessary to create division-sized units 
ready to fight abroad.

On May 8, Minister of War Dutra gave the inaugural address on the 
Mutual Broadcasting System’s new hook-up from Brazil to some 227 
radio stations in the United States. In appropriately flowery language, he 
gave a deep historical context to the Brazilian-American alliance saying: 
“We are the allies of the country of Washington, and we wish to contrib-
ute our small but resistant grain of sand to the magnificent monument 
which you are erecting at this moment of the world’s history.” Then he 
quoted the words that José Joaquim de Maia wrote to Thomas Jefferson 
in 1786: “In the present state of affairs, we look, and with reason, only to 
the United States, and we shall follow its example, for nature, making us 
inhabitants of the same continent has bound us together as though we 
were all of one common country.”4

While Dutra was reassuring Americans of Brazil’s sincerity in wishing to 
send troops into combat, General Osvaldo Cordeiro de Farias, interventor 
in the important frontier state of Rio Grande do Sul, gave a speech on May 
1 exhorting the Gaúcho state with its many army posts to make ready for 
active participation in the war. A few days later, he told the American con-
sul in Porto Alegre that it would strengthen the power of the United 
States to speak for the Americas in the post-war conferences if Brazil “shed 
its blood in the struggle.” He confided to the consul that he hoped to be 
relieved of his political duties so he could return to active military service, 
which, of course, is what happened.5

The generals seemed to be accepting the American alliance and the pos-
sibility of combat operations, but at the key army base, Vila Militar in Rio 
de Janeiro, fascistic Integralista propagandists were at work. The reservists 
who had been called to duty included “a fairly large proportion of Green 
Shirts.” A large number of Brazilian officers were “not openly pro-German 
[but] were great admirers of the German Military Organization.” The 
Integralistas cautioned their adherents to keep strict discipline so as to 
gain the confidence of unit officers. They did not use any printed propa-
ganda, everything was oral. They were particularly friendly to reservists. 
They whispered complaints about the very bad food and inadequate 
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accommodations and spread the story that the generals who drew Brazil 
into the war had been “bought by the Americans”; and that money that 
should have been used to feed and house them was going to buy more and 
more officers. Unfortunately regular officers, especially junior and non-
commissioned officers, showed “marked ill-will” toward middle-class 
reservists. These fellows did not help their cause by acting uppity “trying 
to impose their ‘doctoral’ status upon the corporals, the sergeants and 
sometimes even other officers.” In that era, educated men in Brazil were 
often addressed as “doctor” even when they did not hold such a degree.

Integralista officers had instructions “to show every possible sympathy 
towards the reservists in the way of granting leaves easily, conferring 
exemptions and other small ‘acts of comradeship’, which, little by little, 
win over the unmilitary reservists.” Discontent was “specially felt in the 
units of the Villa Militar where the propaganda [had] been more active.” 
As a result a noticeable number of military personnel in Rio de Janeiro, 
according to a well-informed source, made little effort and “still are not 
convinced that we are in this to the finish, wherever that may be, probably 
on the other side of the Atlantic.” The situation was made worse by the 
fact that many “real soldiers” had been sent to units in north and Northeast 
Brazil. This discouraging report ended by listing four Integralista ring-
leaders at Vila Militar.6

General Ord flew down from Washington to make an extensive inspec-
tion of Brazilian units in Rio de Janeiro, Recife, and Natal in June 1943. 
He noted the depth of French influence in the planning and execution of 
tactical operations.7 From his observations he commented that “French 
ideas of defense and counter-stroke, rather than seizing the initiative have 
been impressed on the Brazilian Army.” After observing a number of 
infantry and artillery training operations, he noted that infantry training 
was similar to that used by the French before the war. There were some 
notable problems: the differences between defensive and offensive machine 
gun fire was not always well understood; riflemen were not trained to fire 
at every opportunity; local maneuver by small units was seldom used; in 
the northeast many soldiers dressed in badly worn or torn uniforms; the 
lack of an infantry school was apparent; “they need a more realistic type of 
training”; and the offensive use of tanks and defense against tanks was not 
well understood. At the Belém Air Base, the anti-aircraft units had been 
“trained in the theory [of] firing at airplanes, but have had no training 
[firing at actual] … towed targets.” The mix of artillery pieces was extreme. 
“The artillery weapons are French, German, English, and now United 
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States. Standardization is badly needed.” He concluded with three points: 
“The Air and Ground Forces are so completely separate and independent 
that there is practically no cooperation outside the Belém garrison”; 
“Brazil has a real army, and it should be able to fight well, if given four to 
eight months of modernized training per division”; “the question of the 
durability of the Brazilian soldier under modern air and artillery pounding 
can only be settled by the test of war.”8 Three days after Ord wrote the 
foregoing comments, arrangements were completed to send the first 
group of 57 officers by air to army schools in the United States.9

That there had been a sea change in the opinions of key Brazilian gen-
erals can be exemplified by General Gustavo Cordeiro de Farias, comman-
dant of the Natal garrison. The American consul at Natal, Harold Sims, 
analyzed the change in General Gustavo in the two years that he had 
known him. The general had spent 1939–1940 in Germany as head of the 
Brazilian purchasing commission. He had been responsible for assembling 
the largest arms purchase Brazil had ever made. The Nazis had showered 
him and his family with “meticulous care and attention.” He was pro-
foundly angry with the British as the result of its navy seizing the pur-
chased arms on the Brazilian ship Siqueira Campos in 1940. That seizure 
nearly caused a break in relations with the British. When he arrived at 
Natal in November 1941, “he was notoriously famous among his own 
countrymen as a rabid pro-Nazi, and he himself left no doubt in the mind 
of anyone as to his admiration for Germany.” Some in Natal considered 
him “more German than Brazilian.” After the arrival of the US Naval 
Patrol Squadron in December 1941 and definitely after Brazil broke rela-
tions with Germany at the Rio Conference in January, “the General turned 
off his Nazi enthusiasm and turned on his American enthusiasm.” He 
began referring to Harold Sims as “Nosso [our] Consul” and sharing his 
prized private stock of Scotch with him. Sims thought him to be “a first 
rate soldier” much respected by his troops, but noted that he was “an 
opportunist, intelligent, astute, and possesses an uncanny knowledge of 
the political and economic factors of the present war.” He was “fervently 
anxious that the Brazilian Army participate” in the war. Sims thought that 
he had been most helpful to US military and naval activities at Natal, but 
he cautioned “that his cooperative attitude developed only after the Vargas 
government joined the ranks of the allied nations.” It would be foolhardy 
to think that he was the only Brazilian officer who changed his views in 
such fashion.10
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As the Brazilians began to assemble and send to the United States the 
officers who would command expeditionary force units, the American army 
collected information on exactly who they were, especially what their ideo-
logical leanings were. Among a list of 22 officers then in American service 
schools, some like Lt. Colonels Humberto de Alencar Castello Branco and 
Aurelio de Lyra Tavares were unquestionably pro-ally, while others such 
as Colonel Aguinaldo Caiado de Castro and Lt. Colonel Ivano Gomes 
were considered pro-German. Altogether 13 were rated as pro-American 
or pro-ally, while the rest were pro-German or dubious. Of course, Lt. Col. 
Castello Branco became the force’s operations officer, and Col. Caiado de 
Castro commanded the 1st Infantry Regiment, so what did the Americans 
intend to do with such evaluations?11

By July 1943, Brazilian officers anxious to get into the fight were con-
cerned that the process was moving too slowly. Some disparaged the 
Vargas government’s attitude as lackadaisical. Realizing that they could 
not take untrained troops into combat, they were frustrated that each day 
the army lost in organizing an intensive training schedule could not be 
recovered. They feared that their war would be over before they could get 
into battle against Germany and Italy. Other officers complained that they 
had accepted assignment to the northeast thinking that those units would 
be the first sent to a combat zone, but the decision to keep those divisions 
in Brazil meant that what they laughingly called the “Battle of Recife” 
would be all the action they would see. They predicted that when the war 
ended the Vargas regime would be overthrown. As one officer expressed 
their attitude: “we want democracy in Brazil and we are going to get it.”12

It was very odd, with all this activity, that there was no official public 
announcement that the expeditionary force was being organized until 
August 1943. And that seems to have been provoked when a group of 
university students in Rio de Janeiro wrote President Vargas offering to 
join such a force and the newspapers reported it.13

It is equally odd that with so much to do to prepare his forces, in 
August Minister of War Dutra took time to go to the United States for an 
extensive tour of army facilities. This was the first time he had ever left 
Brazil, so it was probably an expansive experience and it certainly con-
vinced him that his government had been correct to follow Aranha’s 
advice and not his. Perhaps that change of heart was symbolized by his 
decision to take Aranha’s son Oswaldo, a volunteer soldier, along as 
interpreter.14 As Dutra flew north, the one-half of an infantry division’s 
equipment to be used to train the three divisions of the expeditionary 
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corps was en route to Brazil. The 53 officers who would serve as unit 
commanders, division staff, and various support services were then 
undergoing courses at US Army schools and training centers and would 
return to Brazil around October 1. Because many of the American 
interpreters spoke Spanish rather than Portuguese, one wonders how 
efficient the learning was. The mixed commission and the Brazilian 
General Staff had reached an informal agreement that the expeditionary 
force would be under the strategic direction and command of the United 
States Army. The Brazilians made clear that they did not wish to serve 
under British command. The War Department also decided that “if and 
when Brazilian troops are sent overseas,” they would be employed in the 
European-African theaters. Most likely that would mean in the 
Mediterranean area.15 It is interesting that at the highest levels of the 
American military, the expression “if and when” was being used.

Meeting with Marshall on September 2, 1943, Dutra raised the ques-
tion of when and where the force would be sent. They discussed whether 
the first division should go as soon as it was trained, or should they wait 
until all three could go as a full corps? From Marshall’s point of view, it 
would depend on available equipment and shipping. He wanted to see the 
leading division start overseas in February or March. Dutra thought that 
two other factors had to be considered, namely, “Brazil’s desire that the 
force should be more than symbolic; and the psychological effect of the 
sending of a large force so that people would not say, ‘One echelon has 
gone, and that’s the only one.” He added that his government “would 
prefer to wait until the Second and Third Divisions were well along with 
their training.” Holding off until the entire corps could be sent would 
simplify the War Department’s shipping problem. Dutra agreed that such 
a delay was reasonable. Where the force would go, of course, would 
depend on the strategic situation some months hence, but it appeared that 
the Mediterranean would be likely. Marshall assured Dutra that “the place 
where they would be used would be carefully chosen because of the 
importance of the event.” Marshall observed that he had 60 divisions in 
the United States, “some of which had been in training for more than 
three years.” The American army now totaled about 8,000,000. Was he 
subtly telling Dutra that training was a slow process? They also discussed 
Dutra’s desire to get some modern tanks and anti-tank weapons. Marshall 
commented that some of the divisions in the States were being held to 
50% of basic equipment and that they were rearming French divisions in 
Africa, Polish ones in the Near East, and large shipments were going to 
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Russia. He did not say no, but he did not say yes. He ended by telling 
Dutra that “the war must be fought to the bitter end of unconditional 
surrender.”16

In mid-October, there was a key discussion in the American General 
Staff regarding the timing of shipping the Brazilians overseas. Colonel 
Kenner Hertford, who had been following Brazilian matters, closely as 
chief of the Western Hemisphere section of the General Staff’s Operations 
Division (OPD),17 argued that the first Brazilian division would be ready 
for movement in late December 1943 and that the Brazilian government 
would prefer an early date. Brigadier General John E. Hull of the War 
Department’s Operations Division admitted that “the advantage from a 
political standpoint of sending Brazilian troops overseas is self-evident.” 
But General Hull doubted that “the equipment situation will ever permit 
the training of three divisions at one time in Brazil,” and although Dutra 
and Marshall had agreed that the corps should be sent as a unit, “I person-
ally don’t think that it is practicable… furnishing of enough equipment to 
train three divisions in Brazil is, in my opinion, out of the question.” The 
divisions would have to be sent with some interval between them. Staging 
for the Normandy invasion (Operation Overlord) would be consuming all 
available shipping for months ahead. Hull suggested that “unless the 
Brazilians themselves request one of their divisions be sent overseas earlier 
than next May, June, or July we should take no further action at this 
time….” He recommended the “target date of May 15, 1944 for moving 
the first Brazilian division overseas.”18

The question of departure date bedeviled relations between the two 
countries for months. Colonel Hertford asked Military Attaché Adams for 
his opinion concerning the possible Brazilian reaction to the idea of send-
ing a Brazilian division to North Africa for training, to be followed by a 
second one shortly thereafter. The seemingly straightforward question 
produced some confusion and consternation, and maybe a heart attack, in 
the US Embassy. The attaché asked Ambassador Caffery, who took the 
question to Vargas, who liked the idea and accepted it “in principle.” The 
president then wondered if they should not reconsider sending several 
generals to the United States for general staff training. Their departure 
date was approaching. The Operations Division (OPD) in Washington 
had only wanted advice, not action; it wanted “information concerning 
Brazil’s sincerity [regarding] active participation in the war before any 
action was initiated in Washington to obtain specific approval for the 
employment of Brazilian troops.” The question was being asked because 
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the Brazilian Aviation Minister Joaquim P. Salgado Filho had refused “the 
specific proposal to equip and train a fighter squadron of the Brazilian Air 
Force for service overseas.” The tension on the American side likely con-
tributed to Attaché Adams falling ill with “coronary occlusions” which 
required his return to the States.19 The Operations Division hoped there 
would be no change in sending the generals because the training was “an 
essential preliminary to possible joint operations.” OPD’s General Hull 
cautioned that “it should be thoroughly understood that plans for sending 
Brazilian troops overseas will have to be approved by the Combined Chiefs 
of Staff and that problems of shipping and the like are not yet resolved.”20 
The War Department was “unwilling to put the proposition before the 
Chiefs of Staff … until it knows that Brazil actually does want to send 
troops into combat areas and finds acceptable the pattern of operation 
suggested.” Colonel Hertford commented that Generals Eisenhower and 
Clark had said that “they would be glad to have them and could use 
them.” But he worried that the “good atmosphere in the War Department 
… may change, depending upon the progress of the war. For one or 
another reason General Marshall and General Eisenhower may lose inter-
est.” He believed that the Brazilians should make their interest clear. This 
did not mean “that we think Brazil should be persuaded that it should 
send troops” only that it would be well for them to proceed.21 This dia-
logue shows that the Americans were avoiding saying anything that would 
put pressure on the Brazilians. The decision to send troops into combat 
had to be theirs.

Dutra told Ambassador Caffery that he understood that “no definite 
plans can be made without the approval of the Combined Chiefs of Staff” 
but that the Brazilian army was “making all preparations and will be ready 
to send the first division in December.”22 What is strange here is that 
Dutra knew in October that the First Expeditionary Division could not be 
transported in December, and most likely not until May or June 1944. He 
mounted a charade, asking that the Americans not tell “anybody else 
because he did not want the Brazilian Army to know of this change in 
plans.” Assistant Military Attaché Richard Cassidy thought that Dutra 
wanted to wait until December to tell the army that the division was not 
ready to embark.23

There was still the problem of the Brazilian public’s perception of the 
idea of the expeditionary force. The Time magazine reporter in Rio de 
Janeiro, Jane Gray Braga, told the military attaché that American army 
personnel were “more enthusiastic about the Brazilian Expeditionary 
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Force than the Brazilians themselves. Many Brazilians laugh at the idea 
and consider the whole plan as typical Latin American optimism and wish-
ful thinking.” A sarcastic remark making the rounds in Rio de Janeiro 
quipped that if such a force actually reached a war zone, the Brazilians 
would be “used to police occupied territories.” Mrs. Braga observed that 
if that happened, it “would be fatal and offending to their national pride. 
They expect to fight….”24

Rumors were also flying regarding who would command the expedi-
tionaries. Dutra wanted to be corps commander, although “the general 
opinion in Brazil” was that the logical man was General Osvaldo Cordeiro 
de Farias, who was “young, energetic, capable and, unlike his brother 
Gustavo, very pro-American.”25 The army’s intelligence office in Miami 
detailed a colonel to assist and entertain Brazilian officers passing through 
that city. He reported a conversation with General Dutra in which the 
minister had mentioned as possible commanders Generals João 
B. Mascarenhas de Morais, José Pessoa Cavalcanti de Albuquerque, and 
Osvaldo Cordeiro de Farias. Ambassador Carlos Martins in Washington 
opined that “Vargas would select the Commander as late as possible … 
when the force was ready to leave the country.” He thought it unwise “to 
place anyone in command of the largest South American army, on South 
American soil.”26 It is strange that Dutra did not admit that in August 
1943 he had invited Mascarenhas, who was then commanding the 2nd 
Military Region (São Paulo), to command one of the corps’ divisions and 
that he had immediately accepted.27

After all of the bureaucratic and diplomatic infighting, it was disturbing 
that the massing and training of the expeditionary force had not yet begun! 
Indeed, only in late October 1943 was the site of the training grounds 
selected. For a time Resende in the state of Rio de Janeiro, which would 
soon be the site of the new military school, had been under consideration, 
then rejected because its hilly, even mountainous terrain was not consid-
ered suitable for training. Considering that the FEB eventually fought in 
the mountains of Italy, the Resende site, braced by the Mantiqueira moun-
tain peaks of Agulhas Negras, would have been excellent. Another site was 
chosen, also in the state of Rio de Janeiro between the towns of 
Guaratinguetá and Cachoeira, where a US$3,000,000 camp was “to be 
located.” The plans at that moment called for the First Expeditionary 
Division to begin its training on January 1, 1944, devoting 11 weeks to 
basic training, 8 weeks to unit training, and 8 weeks to combined arms 
training. The startled assistant military attaché, who reported on these 
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moves, concluded with the comment: “Because of the highly theoretical 
nature of the Brazilian army’s preparations … There is no certainty that 
there will be no change of minds….”28 In fact, he was correct, shortly 
before December 8, the Guaratinguetá/Cachoeira site was cancelled in 
favor of Vila Militar on the outskirts of Rio as the training ground.29

In mid-November Góes Monteiro, who had returned from sick leave, 
had a significant falling out with Dutra over the expeditionary force. The 
animosity was so bad that Vargas had to decide between his two generals. 
Dutra apparently won because Góes was packed off to a decorative posting 
in Montevideo. His successor as chief of staff was an odd choice, General 
Maurício José Cardoso, who when he commanded the 2nd Military 
Region (São Paulo) had been evaluated by American observers as “pro-
democratic but not an able soldier” and rather “inept,” allowing himself 
to get manipulated into situations “which were not helpful to the Allied 
cause.” Cardoso was near retirement age and so socially active that he was 
called “General Banquete.” He may have gotten the post because “he 
would do what Dutra wanted him to do.”30

Renewed doubts were building in the minds of the military attaché’s 
staff. The office reported that the names of the first division staff had been 
announced, even though the commander’s name had not. The usual 
Brazilian practice was for a unit commander to be appointed first and for 
him to select his staff. The Americans were also bothered by the choice of 
Colonel Aguinaldo Caiado de Castro to be commander of the 1st Infantry 
Regiment at Vila Militar, which would be part of the expeditionary force. 
Recently high-ranking officers had been referring to the force as the 
Brazilian Expeditionary Corps or simply as the Corps and had taken to call-
ing Dutra “Corps Commander.” To avoid prophesying “the eventual size 
of the proposed force,” the military attaché continued to refer to it as the 
Brazilian Expeditionary Force.31 The more familiar with the Brazilian army 
that the American observers became the more skepticism crept into their 
reports. In selecting officers for the force, little attention was being paid to 
replacing them quickly in the units that were losing them. For example, 14 
officers were suddenly transferred from the 10th Infantry Regiment “com-
pletely disorganizing” it. As a result one reserve lieutenant was command-
ing two companies and the work of the regiment’s executive officer had 
been added to his duties as a battalion commander. The military observer 
in Belo Horizonte commented that “the Brazilian army is not based on 
sound organizational principles, judged by U.S. standards. The command 
and staff of a Brazilian battalion consisted of but two officers.” Perhaps 
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worse, the field-grade officers “do too much direct commanding, and so 
do not leave enough function of command to the initiative of their junior 
officers.” As a result “team spirit and initiative [was] lacking among the 
junior officers, who for the most part are officers of the Reserve, some of 
whom are serving in the Army with little enthusiasm.”32

In mid-December Secretary of War Henry Stimson announced to the 
press that the United States and Brazil were preparing a Brazilian 
Expeditionary Force for overseas duty. The same press report mentioned 
that Generals Mascarenhas de Morais and Ord were then in North Africa 
and southern Italy touring the battlefields.33 It seems that back in August 
after accepting the offer of a division command, Mascarenhas learned 
from Dutra that Vargas had chosen him to lead the first division. He was 
60 years old and would be faced with terrible tensions and stress in Italy. 
He had taken advantage of Dutra’s trip to the United States to have sur-
gery for an unexplained ailment. The units assigned to the division had 
never worked or trained together and were under strength. The hurried 
call-up of raw recruits to fill the ranks was rather sloppy. Mascarenhas 
admitted in his memoirs that the selection process was not rigorous. The 
ill health of a large percentage of the rural poor who bore the weight of 
the recruitment resulted in numerous rejections.34 Reportedly the army 
wanted men who were 5 foot, 9 inches or taller, which the assistant 
American military attaché unkindly observed was “to show the world what 
big husky people the Brazilians are.”35 The army’s medical examinations 
of recruits and army personnel assigned to the expeditionary units left 
much to be desired and showed that Brazil’s health standards and quality 
of care were low. The second set of examinations in Rio de Janeiro discov-
ered that a large number of regular soldiers in such units were medically 
unfit. Poor teeth were a particular problem.36 In fact, there is reason to 
suspect that some medical reports were not scrutinized.37 By February 
1945 it was clear to American officers that Brazil could not supply any 
more healthy replacements. The medical examinations had eliminated 
12,000 men out of a pool of 18,000. Equally troubling was the discovery 
that some of the replacements “had had very little training prior to their 
movement to Rio de Janeiro for shipment overseas.” This failure had been 
discovered too late to postpone their departure.38

From his tour of the Italian battlefields in December 1943, Mascarenhas 
realized that the typical Brazilian uniforms and boots would never do for 
the cold and rugged conditions in Italy, but he could not get Dutra’s team 
to secure proper gear. Eventually the troops would be clothed from 
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American stocks in Italy. The reality of what they were about to face must 
have been made clear by the horrific American losses at Anzio which were 
nearly equal to the total that the Brazilians were assembling. The appoint-
ment of Mascarenhas as division commander was only made official on 
December 28, 1943, shortly before his return from Italy.39 His headquar-
ters was set up in the Tijuca district of Rio de Janeiro, miles from Vila 
Militar and even further from where the division units gathered near 
Valença and Tres Rios a couple of hours drive from the capital. Mascarenhas 
decided that he and his staff would remain in Rio de Janeiro. Reportedly 
he quipped that he preferred “the ‘softie’ life of Rio to the hard life of the 
training camp.” However, Generals Zenobio da Costa, commander of the 
division’s infantry, and Osvaldo Cordeiro de Farias, the artillery com-
mander, moved to the training camp.40

In reality under such conditions it was an “impossibility to instruct and 
train” an infantry division. It was a victory of sorts just to gather all of the 
division’s units in the Rio area. Emphasis was placed on physical condition-
ing so that the troops would be fit enough to march the 30 kilometers 
from the center of Rio de Janeiro to Vila Militar at the end of March 1944. 
That display and a second parade through the city in May were partly to 
show the public that the expeditionary force really existed. The fifth col-
umn spread insistent rumors that the division would never embark.41

What the Brazilians did not know was that British Prime Minister Winston 
Churchill was refusing his approval. He thought it “would be a serious error 
to permit more than a token force or a brigade to be sent overseas from 
Brazil….” Under Secretary of State Edward R. Stettinius made an extended 
trip to London to confer with the British. On April 15, he “impressed on 
Churchill” that the embarkation of the expeditionary force was important 
for Brazil’s domestic politics and for projecting the republic’s prestige as an 
ally. Perhaps grudgingly Churchill withdrew his objections. From the docu-
mentation it is not clear why he had opposed the Brazilian role.42

Organization and Commitment 
of the Expeditionary Force

There was some difference of opinion between the Brazilians and 
Americans over which troops should be used to form the expeditionary 
force. The American military, and the Joint Brazil-United States Defense 
Commission, which had been set up to coordinate military relations, 
thought it logical to use the units in the northeast, but the Brazilians 
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looked at the 15,000 American personnel at bases in that region and 
thought differently. Minister Dutra wanted to build three regional train-
ing camps to prepare three divisions simultaneously, thereby creating valu-
able facilities for the post-war era. But the United States could not provide 
the weapons and equipment necessary to outfit three camps, that is to say, 
50% of the equipment for three divisions. Moreover, because neither 
Brazil nor the United States had enough ships to carry even one full divi-
sion all at once, the Pentagon came up with the idea of providing 50% of 
a division’s equipment for training, which would be left behind for the 
training of each successive division. They would all be armed and equipped 
in the theater of operations.

Just before he visited the United States in August 1943, Minister of 
War Dutra, who wanted to command the planned corps, sounded out 
various generals as to their interest in leading one of the divisions. General 
João Batista Mascarenhas de Morais, who had commanded the northeast-
ern military region (the 7th) from June 1940 to January 1943, responded 
immediately, while the others hesitated. Eventually two other division 
commanders were designated and preparations begun, but the plans were 
not carried out, and the force was fixed at one division.43

Without already formed divisions and without barracks to receive 
mobilized troops and a recruitment system that largely kept recruits near 
their home areas to form a division from one region would place a politi-
cally undesirable cost on that region. So the unwillingness to use north-
eastern units was related to more than worry about the American 
presence.

To form the expeditionary division, units were called in from across the 
map of Brazil. On the negative side, this meant that these units were not 
accustomed to working together. On the positive side, planners argued 
that since the army had been trained and organized on a French model 
since 1919, it would be easier to shift to an American model if the division 
was composed of units which had no previous joint experience. Adaptation 
would be faster.

Oddly, instead of using the coming combat experience to enhance the 
professionalization of a maximum number of regular junior officers, the 
army called up a considerable number of reserve officers, many of whom 
were professional men in civilian life. Of the 870 infantry line officers in 
the force, at least 302 were reservists. Fortunately for historians, a group 
of them produced one of the most useful books on the expeditionary 
force.44 It is not clear whether the call-up of reserve officers was a political 
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decision or a purely administrative one. But it does seem that there were 
not enough junior officers to staff the expeditionary force. Later, in Italy, 
referring to the shortage of military school graduates and to the profes-
sional deficiencies of the reserve officers, Mascarenhas requested, as late as 
April 1945, to commission 60 infantry sergeants to serve as platoon 
leaders.45

There was also considerable difficulty filling the ranks of the designated 
units. Lacking military police units, the army took in policemen from São 
Paulo’s Força Pública, it created signal units with men from electric and 
telephone companies, and it organized a nursing detachment by public 
recruitment of interested women.46 The fact that draftees were being sent 
overseas persuaded many to escape service, but, since the draft was imposed 
in 1916, the army always had large numbers who evaded duty. For exam-
ple, in the 7th Military Region in Northeast Brazil, while Mascarenhas was 
commander, the 1941 call-up of 7898 men had an evasion rate of 48.9%, 
and of those who did present themselves, fully 41% were medically unfit. 
Indeed, this was an improvement, the previous year the evasion rate had 
been 68%! Among the 3434 volunteers in that region, 2201 or 64% were 
found fit for service. These figures were fairly typical of the national expe-
rience. The rejection rate for medical and health reasons was high for both 
draftees and active-duty troops. In forming one of the later echelons, 
18,000 soldiers in regular units were examined to obtain 6000 men. In 
the case of the fourth echelon, the 10,000 active-duty soldiers examined 
netted only 4500 physically fit for embarkation. I have discussed elsewhere 
in more detail the recruitment and medical examinations; suffice to say 
here that it was the nation’s poor health that stalled the mobilization. 
Medical officers complained that unit commanders were not cooperative 
about treatment of venereal diseases. Two days before the fourth echelon 
embarked, a final physical examination discovered 150 with acute stage 
venereal disease. On the eve of embarkation, the fourth echelon was short 
500 men because of prior failed health examinations. A majority of the last 
minute rejections were mostly due to defective dental conditions. In 
January 1945, General Ralph Wooten observed that the Brazilian army 
was “near the bottom of the barrel” in finding combat personnel and that 
it was “a mistake to expect any additional assistance from Brazil in this 
respect.”47 It should be noted that sons of President Vargas and Foreign 
Minister Aranha served in the expeditionary force. Lutero Vargas went as 
a medical doctor and Oswaldo Gudolle Aranha as an interpreter and driver 
with the division’s artillery.
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The training of the force functioned on multiple levels. Brazilian offi-
cers had been sent to the United States for courses since 1938, mostly in 
coast artillery and aviation. Indeed, in early 1941, well before Pearl 
Harbor, Brazil was sending groups of officers for training in a variety of 
specialties. The pace continued to accelerate to the point where, by the 
end of 1944, somewhat over 1000 Brazilian military personnel had gone 
to the United States. The American army created a special Brazilian course 
at its Command and General Staff School at Fort Leavenworth, Kansas, 
that enrolled 259 officers, the largest contingent of any one foreign nation 
to pass through its classrooms. The school commandant said that the 
Brazilians, who had already completed their own three-year general staff 
course, “knew more than most of his instructors.”48 Leavenworth’s pro-
gram provided a common basis for officers’ approach to conducting war. 
Instruction focused on tactics and operations employing practical exer-
cises and problem solving as the instructional methodology. In the late 
1930s, it had added instruction on corps and army-level operations to 
prepare officers for command and staff duties at the level of division and 
corps. Thirty-three of the thirty-four US Army combat corps commanders 
in World War II were Leavenworth graduates.49 The Brazilians were being 
given what the Americans considered their premier combat command 
instruction.

Finally, in late June 1944, the long awaited American transport ship 
USS General W. A. Mann arrived to transport the first echelon of the divi-
sion abroad. Mascarenhas was enough of a leader to know that he should 
embark with his troops, even though Dutra wanted him to fly. On the 
night of June 30, 1944, in what passed for secrecy in Rio de Janeiro, 5000 
Brazilians soldiers filed on board the huge ship. Vargas and Dutra came to 
wish them well. As the General Mann steamed out of Guanabara Bay 
under Sugar Loaf, only Mascarenhas knew that their destination was 
Naples.50 Now, all they had to do was to fight the German Army (Fig. 
6.1).

Performance of the Expeditionary Force

The troops sent to Italy in five echelons eventually totaled 25,334. In July 
1944, the first echelon arrived in Naples. After some delays with equip-
ment and training, on September 15, the 6th Infantry Regiment and sup-
port troops, under Brigadier General Euclydes Zenobio da Costa, went 
into the line of the Fourth Corps of the US Fifth Army. Army commander, 
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Mark Clark, decided on this partial commitment because he needed to 
beef up the Fourth Corps, which had dwindled to barely the level of a 
reinforced division because of units being detached for the Seventh Army’s 
invasion of southern France in July. The Fifth Army had lost fully seven 
divisions to the French operation, so the Brazilians’ arrival at that moment 
was opportune. The American Fifth and British Eighth Armies were ready-
ing a drive on the German’s Gothic Line, in an attempt to reach the Po 
Valley and Bologna before Christmas. The Fifth Army’s three corps (from 
west to east: US Fourth, US Second, and British Twelfth) were to attack 
with the Second Corps as spearhead and the Fourth immobilizing and 
harassing the Germans before it. Clark thought that this would give the 
Brazilians a relatively smooth introduction to combat (Figs. 6.2 and 6.3).

Fig. 6.1  Lt. General Mark Clark, commander of US Fifth Army, in front seat. In 
the rear, Captain Vernon Walters, interpreter with FEB commander João Batista 
Mascarenhas de Morais. (Courtesy of the Arquivo Histórico do Exército, Rio de 
Janeiro)
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It is interesting to note the different reactions of the Brazilians and the 
Americans to the subsequent action. The Brazilians moved along nicely 
pursuing retreating German units from September 16 to October 30, 
when they suffered a sudden counterattack that they held back for about 
ten hours, until they ran short of ammunition and were forced to fall back. 

Fig. 6.2  Map of Italy showing area north of Firenze where FEB fought. From 
The Brazilian-American Alliance, 1937–1945 by Frank D. McCann, Jr. (Copyright 
© 1973, renewed 2001 by Princeton University Press. Reprinted by permission)
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A steady cold rain had turned into snow, which by itself was an event for 
these tropical men. The German attackers were fresh elite S.S. troopers 
who got between two of the Brazilian companies attempting to encircle 
them. From the American records, we can see that this was perceived as a 
normal combat occurrence, but the accounts published by Brazilian offi-
cers are full of finger-pointing and acrimony. On the scene, Mascarenhas 
blamed and reprimanded the troops for their imagined cowardice, lack of 
caution, and fleeing before “a patrol of demoralized enemy.” Of course, 
he was anxious that they do well, and he was still a bit inexperienced him-
self in the nature of this war. It would have been General Zenobio’s 
responsibility to make sure that there were reserves in position to back up 
the frontline units being attacked. They had done about as well as anyone 
could have under the difficult circumstances. The US 92nd Division which 
replaced them, when they moved over to the Reno Valley, was likewise 
unable to drive the Germans from the ridge line that they held for the next 
five months (Fig. 6.4).51

Fig. 6.3  Generals Willis Crittenberger, C.O. of Fourth Corps, and Zenobio da 
Costa, C.O. of FEB Artillery. (Courtesy of the Arquivo Histórico do Exército, Rio 
de Janeiro)
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The role of the expeditionary force (FEB from here on) was a tactical 
one; the bulk of its combat experience was at the platoon level. The divi-
sion’s combat diary is largely a summary of patrol actions, as was the case 
for the Fifth Army generally in the autumn and winter of 1944–1945. The 
Brazilians recognized this; they did not claim that their role or its impact 
was strategic, although, with age, a few veterans have made that assertion. 
In his memoirs, the division’s chief of staff, Floriano de Lima Brayner, 
observed that at “no time did the FEB engage in strategic level opera-
tions.”52 And after the war, to symbolize the level of the role they had 
played, the army erected a monument to the FEB lieutenants at the 
Academia Militar das Agulhas Negras. Indeed, it is difficult to imagine 
how one division could have played anything but a tactical role in the 
campaign in northern Italy.

This point has been lost sight of by some observers, such as journalist 
William Waack, whose As duas faces da glória: A FEB vista pelos seus aliados 
e inimigos53 seems based on the premise that the Brazilians claimed a 

Fig. 6.4  Map of FEB’s principal area of engagement. From The Brazilian-
American Alliance, 1937–1945 by Frank D.  McCann, Jr. (Copyright © 1973, 
renewed 2001 by Princeton University Press. Reprinted by permission)
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greater importance for the FEB than they actually did. He contrasted 
some German veterans’ lack of knowledge and remembrance of the 
Brazilian force and the criticism of American liaison and inspection reports 
with the “grandiloquence” of Brazilian narratives on the FEB.

The principal German division facing the Brazilians had a large number 
of very young and rather old soldiers and was commanded by officers who 
had served long years and had survived the rigors of the Russian front. 
Some of these men may have been worn out, but most were veterans who 
had immeasurably more combat experience than the Brazilians. Indeed, 
the FEB sailed from Brazil with most of its troops insufficiently trained. 
The officers were startled by the intense training program that the 
Americans insisted upon.

The literature on the FEB makes much of its struggle to take an eleva-
tion called Monte Castello during the winter of 1944–1945. In combat, 
everything is a matter of perspective and scale. The front for an army com-
mander is measured in miles, for a corps commander it is narrowed to a 
mountain ridge, for a division commander the focus is a hill, for a com-
pany commander the objective is part of the slope, for platoon leaders it is 
a matter of certain pillboxes and gun positions, and for the soldier it is the 
few feet and inches ahead of him. Each one experiences a different battle. 
The Italian campaign was brutal because the Allies had to fight continu-
ously uphill to dislodge the Germans from commanding elevations. When 
the FEB reached division strength in November, it took its place with the 
US Fourth Corps in the mountains north of Florence and west of Bologna. 
The Fifth Army’s objective was to break through the German’s so-called 
Gothic Line and descend into the Po Valley to take Bologna. The Fourth 
Corps confronted an imposing mountain ridge known as Mt. Belvedere—
Mt. Torraccia, from which German artillery and mortars could harass traf-
fic on the west-to-east highway #64 that cuts its narrow way through the 
mountains from Pistoia to Bologna. It is difficult to imagine driving 
defenders from such a place. Just beyond the spa town of Poretti Terme, 
the mountains open into a huge basin flanked by low elevations on its 
right and left and blocked by the suddenly rising Belvedere-Torraccia to 
the front. On its left, the ridge is a sheer rock wall that appears smooth 
from a distance, to the right the ridge becomes jagged and broken, with a 
road winding upward around it off in the direction of Montese, a key 
point before descent into the Po Valley. The American 92nd “Black 
Buffalo” Division and later the l0th Mountain Division faced Belvedere. 
The Brazilians were on their eastern flank. The FEB confronted a hill that 
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juts out below Torraccia. From that hill, the Germans could rake the lower 
slopes to the west (left) from well-prepared positions. That hill, which 
German maps labeled simply “101/19,” was what local people called 
Monte Castello. Walking up it today is hardly even tiring, but going up it 
under artillery, machine gun, mortar, and rifle fire would have been miser-
able, very nearly suicidal. Monte Castello held the Brazilians at bay in four 
assaults—November 24, 25, 29, December 12—before falling to them on 
February 21. They spent four out of their nine months of combat under 
its guns. The German defenders admired their stubbornness. After the 
failed December 12 assault in which the Brazilians suffered 145 casualties, 
compared with a German loss of 5 killed and 13 wounded, a German cap-
tain told a captured FEB lieutenant: “Frankly, you Brazilians are either 
crazy or very brave. I never saw anyone advance against machine-guns and 
well-defended positions with such disregard for life …. You are devils.”54 
Though the elevation itself pales beside its neighbors, it became symbolic 
of the FEB’s combat ability and, in a larger sense, of Brazil’s coming of age 
as a country to be taken seriously. The Rio newspaper, A Manhã, editorial-
ized that “The young Brazilians who implanted the Brazilian banner on its 
summit will conquer for Brazil the place that it merits in the world of 
tomorrow” (Fig. 6.5).55

Monte Castello was and is a minor elevation lost amidst some of the 
most rugged terrain in Italy. It does not show up on large-scale maps of 
Italy and one has to search out local hiking maps to find it. It was not 
labeled clearly on American battle maps, and likely the German defenders 
did not even know its name. In fact, in the FEB war diary, the first men-
tion of that name was the day of its capture, February 21. It would be 
surprising if anyone besides the Brazilians remembered the name. Naturally 
they gave more importance to the names of the terrain that they captured 
than did either the defending Germans or the Americans concerned with 
the broader front. The American liaison detachment diarist commented 
that “this feature had been the objective of two previous Brazilian attacks, 
in which they suffered considerable casualties, its capture was a distinct 
loss to the enemy, since it deprived him of his last good observation” 
point. From Monte Castello the Germans had an open field of fire along 
the sheer face of Belvedere that the 10th Mountain Division would be 
climbing to surprise the defenders on top. The FEB’s mission was to 
destroy the German’s ability to fire on the exposed Americans.56

After the war, the Brazilian veterans and the Brazilian army made much 
of Monte Castello. For them the battle had great symbolic importance. 
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Their part in the capture of Belvedere-Castello convinced the Brazilians 
that they were up to the task that they had taken on. The fact is that the 
FEB and the US l0th Mountain Division were effective in the joint opera-
tion which drove the Germans off important elevations that allowed the 
Allied spring offensive to move forward. If either of the two divisions had 
failed, that offensive would have been delayed.57

Relations between the Brazilian troops and the Americans were some-
times tense. It was awkward for the Brazilians to be totally dependent on 
the American forces for training, clothing, arms, equipment, and food. 
The American stress on training, training, and more training, even of 
frontline personnel, bemused the Brazilians. It was a clash between two 
cultures, one that so believed in education that its army’s terminology was 
drawn from the language of the school house58 and the other that left 
most of its people unschooled. The outcome was a successful example of 

Fig. 6.5  Italians cheering victorious FEB troops. (Courtesy of Arquivo Histórico 
do Exército, Rio de Janeiro)
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coalition warfare, which always requires determined effort and under-
standing to blend national styles into a winning combination. But the FEB 
went beyond the standard idea of coalition warfare because of its total 
integration into the American army. It was not a colonial unit, as were the 
British Indian ones, or a Commonwealth military, such as the Canadian, 
New Zealander, or South African, nor a Free “this or that,” such as the 
Polish or French contingents. It was a division from an army of an inde-
pendent, sovereign state that voluntarily placed its men and women under 
United States command. The connection could not have been tighter and 
still have preserved the FEB’s integrity of command and its Brazilian iden-
tity. It never lost either.

The FEB completed all the missions confided to it and compared favor-
ably with the American divisions of the Fourth Corps. Unfortunately, the 
heavy symbolism of Monte Castello has obscured the FEB’s victory at 
Montese on April 16, in which it took the town after a four-day grueling 
battle, suffering 426 casualties.59 In the next days, it fought to a standstill 
the German 148th Division and Fascist Italian Monte Rosa, San Marco, 
and Italia Divisions, which surrendered to General Mascarenhas on April 
29–30. In a matter of days, the Brazilians trapped and took the surrender 
of 2 generals, 800 officers, and 14,700 troops. The 148th was the only 
intact German division to surrender on that front. The Brazilians com-
pleted this feat on their own and with considerable pride waited until the 
surrender was complete and the prisoners under guard before calling the 
American headquarters.60 Although they had little preparation and served 
under foreign command, against a combat-experienced enemy, the 
“Smoking Cobras,” as the FEB was nicknamed, had shown, as one of their 
songs put it, the “fiber of the Brazilian army” and the “grandeza de nossa 
gente” [greatness of our people].61

The origin of the term “Smoking Cobras” is a bit obscure. At the time 
some sources attributed a supposed statement by Hitler to the effect that 
Brazil would send troops when Brazilian snakes started smoking.62 
Probably more accurate was the story that related the old train called 
“Maria fumaça” (Smoky Mary) in Minas Gerais to the image of a slither-
ing snake. That train carried the 11th Regiment from its barracks in the 
quaint colonial town of São João del Rei on its way to Rio de Janeiro. 
With smoke pouring from the engine stack as the train ran on the twisting 
railbed through the mountains, it looked like a gigantic Smoking Cobra. 
Reportedly as the regiment’s departure approached, the soldiers began 
saying “a cobra vai fumar” (the cobra is going to smoke).63 Certainly by 
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the time they arrived in Italy in 1944, the expression had become com-
monplace. And at the request of Rio de Janeiro’s O Globo newspaper, 
Disney made a design of a helmeted pipe Smoking Cobra firing two six-
shooters which the army used in morale-building posters. The final ver-
sion eliminated the helmet and six-shooters (Fig. 6.6).

When the first FEB troops shipped off to Italy, their unit patch was 
simply a green shield embossed with Brasil in white. At some point, 
Liaison Officer Vernon Walters may have made a suggestion to Fifth Army 
commander, Mark Clark, who spoke with Mascarenhas about the need for 
a more distinctive insignia. For his part Mascarenhas said that when 
Minister Dutra visited Italy in September–October, 1944, he saw the vari-
ous American division patches and suggested to Mascarenhas that the FEB 
should have its own. It is not certain if the Disney design was the model, 
but that seems reasonable even though the date of April 3, 1945, does not 
correspond. During the war the Disney studios drew 1,272 such insignias 
for American and allied units.64 Mascarenhas said that Lt. Col. Aguinaldo 
José Senna Campos designed the patch, but historian Cesar Campiani 
attributed it to 3rd Sergeant Ewaldo Meyer, who worked under the colo-
nel on the division’s general staff. Brazilian officers were not accustomed 
to giving credit to enlisted men. In a YouTube interview, Sergeant Meyer 
asserted that Vernon Walters asked him to make the design, which he 
would then show to Mascarenhas. It is possible that Senna Campos made 
improvements on Sgt. Ewaldo’s sketch. Ewaldo said that he drew a helmet 

Fig. 6.6  FEB patch 
with combined colors of 
Brazil and the United 
States
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on the cobra, which, of course, does not appear in the final product. 
Though there were those that thought that a snake was not refined enough 
to symbolize the FEB, it became popular with the troops and remained so 
with the veterans. If Walters played any role, he kept silent about it.65

The Americans sounded out the Brazilians about participating in the 
occupation of Europe, but the Brazilians were not interested.66 On March 
21, Dutra told General Kroner that he did not want expeditionary troops 
to stay for a long period as part of the allied occupation.67 Unhappily, over 
American objections, the Brazilian government also decided to disband 
the FEB upon return to Brazil. The American military had hoped that the 
division would be kept together to form the nucleus for a complete refor-
mation of the Brazilian army. FEB veterans would slowly introduce the 
lessons of the war into the General Staff School and military school cur-
ricula. But the chance to use the FEB experience to project Brazilian influ-
ence on the post-war world order was lost. Those making the rapid 
decisions in 1945 that led to the FEB’s demise could not know how 
quickly the United States would demobilize or how swiftly the alliance 
with the Soviet Union would collapse. Perhaps if Brazil had maintained 
occupation troops in Europe and a standing cadre of combat-hardened 
troops at home, it would have had a different post-war international 
position.

The FEB was incorporated into the American army for 229  days of 
continuous combat, achieving the distinction of trapping and taking the 
surrender of the German 148th Division and remnants of three Italian 
Fascist divisions. This was the only intact German division captured on 
that front. The Brazilians lost 443 dead, 1577 wounded, 9625 sick and 
injured in accidents (Fig. 6.7).68

Of the sick and wounded, 600 were evacuated to Brazil, of these 234 
first went by sea to the United States, where some were hospitalized and 
received intensive care. The most severe periods of combat in December 
1944 and February and April 1945, not surprisingly, generated the most 
casualties that were sent Stateside (84 in December, 75 in February, and 
50 in April). Another 307 were flown back home via the Air Transport 
Command by way of Natal. The heaviest evacuation by air was in April 
1945 when 131 wounded made the journey.69

Many soldiers likely nursed unseen mental wounds from the grueling 
experience. The American surgeon general commenting about his own 
forces said that “practically all men in rifle battalions who were not other-
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wise disabled ultimately became psychiatric casualties,” often this occurred 
following 200 to 240  days in combat.70 Psychologists cautioned that 
“combat skills began to decline after a month of fighting” with many 
“close to a vegetative state” after 45 days. Eisenhower was told by medical 
personnel that “each moment of combat imposes a strain so great that 
men will break down in direct relation to the intensity and duration of 
their exposure.” Indeed, “psychiatric casualties are as inevitable as gunshot 
and shrapnel wounds in warfare.” The American public would not be told 
that the US Army had “hospitalized 929,000 men for ‘neuropsychiatric’ 
reasons in World War II, including as many as one in four admissions dur-
ing the bitter fall of 1944.”71 US Army authorities showed particular con-
cern for the mental state of the Brazilian troops. Some were sent to the 
States for treatment, with accompanying Brazilian medical personnel to 
care for them “but also to protect the position of the U.S.  Army.” In 
December 1944, “forty-nine Brazilian mental cases” arrived at New York.72

Fig. 6.7  German prisoners captured by the FEB. (Photo courtesy of the Arquivo 
Histórico do Exército, Rio de Janeiro)
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Oddly, after all the concern about having a weak military, the govern-
ment sought the immediate return of its troops who were quickly dis-
banded. Despite Minister Dutra’s declaration that his ministry was 
“resolved to use to the maximum the experience of the FEB units,” 
American officers feared that the lessons of combat would be largely lost 
to the post-war army.73 Although the army did not organize combat teams 
of veterans to train large units, as the Americans had hoped, it did send 
veteran captains and lieutenants to staff the new Academia Militar das 
Agulhas Negras and the advanced officer course (ESAO) at Vila Militar to 
give cadets and junior officers the benefit of their war experience.74

What was unexpected was that by the end of March 1944 the Brazilian 
government had already decided to demobilize the force immediately 
upon its return. Dutra said that once the war in Europe ended, he planned 
to discharge or transfer the FEB soldiers to the reserve while keeping a 
number of officers and sergeants on active duty for training purposes. He 
justified the discharge by saying that his army lacked suitable housing for 
such troops. The US Army’s Operations Division expressed dismay at this 
“most unfortunate” idea and protested saying that it believed that demo-
bilization would vitiate much of the benefit to Brazil from the experience 
of the expeditionary force. The American military had hoped that the divi-
sion would be kept together to form the nucleus for a complete reforma-
tion of the Brazilian army. General Ord warned that “This means in effect 
the destruction of the one United States trained major unit in the Brazilian 
Army. ... [Such action would] seriously reduce the effectiveness of the 
Brazilian Army and every effort should be made to persuade the Brazilian 
Government to retain this unit as it is a major contribution to the security 
of the hemisphere.”75 Apparently the real reason for the demobilization 
was that the government feared having a cohesive body of combat veterans 
in the country as it worked its way through ending the Vargas dictator-
ship. But exactly who made this decision is unknown and the documents 
for appropriate research have disappeared.

Brazil’s entry into an intense electoral campaign to replace the Vargas 
government did not help the decision-making process. Anything involving 
American policy took on a heavy emotional character. The question of 
Brazil’s role in the new United Nations was not developing as the govern-
ment expected and since mid-April relations had deteriorated somewhat. 
The end of war decisions by the Brazilian government require further 
research, which is hampered by missing documents, such as the minister of 
war’s annual reports for 1945 and 1946.76
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The First Brazilian Fighter Squadron of 41 pilots was part of the US 
350th Fighter Group based at Pisa. Between October 1944 and mid-
January 1945, they had flown 167 missions and 999 sorties, having lost 
one pilot killed and two missing in action. By the German surrender in 
May, the squadron saw seven more pilots killed and eight taken prisoner. 
Their American commander thought that their results were “just about 
the same as those of an US squadron.”77 A successor commander of the 
fighter group, Colonel Ariel W. Nielson, was even more emphatic, he said 
that the squadron was “the best unit I have under my command!” He 
recommended that it receive a Presidential Unit Citation, but was denied 
because the squadron was not American. Decades later President Ronald 
Reagan approved a renewed request for the citation, making the Brazilian 
unit the second in the world to receive the prestigious award, the other 
one was English.78

The string of air bases that the United States had in Brazil was extremely 
valuable to the allied war effort. Among the Air Transport Command’s 
routes throughout the world, the Brazilian route was the busiest. 
Parnamirim airfield at Natal expanded from a single runway to the largest 
Air Transport Command base in the world. Indeed, by 1943 the Brazil 
route was “the air funnel to the battlefields of the world.”79 All together 
there were 17 bases of various sizes and purposes north of Rio de Janeiro 
and several more in the south. President Roosevelt passed through the 
Natal base twice, going to and from the Casablanca and Teheran confer-
ences in January and November 1943. The South Atlantic ferrying traffic 
was always heaviest in winter, when the North Atlantic route was closed. It 
reached its peak in March 1944, when 1,675 tactical fighters flew east via 
Natal with planes taking off every three minutes.80 In the sea war, accord-
ing to naval historian Samuel E. Morison, Brazil’s entry into the war was 
“an event of great importance in naval history.” Without Brazilian partici-
pation, it would have been impossible to shut the “Atlantic narrows” to 
Axis blockade runners and submarines.81 In April 1944, Roosevelt wrote 
Vargas saying that “History will surely note that the turning point of the 
war in the European theater was coincident with the action of your gov-
ernment in providing bases and facilities which contributed so materially 
to the African campaign.” He expressed the appreciation of the American 
people and government for this “very vital aid … to our common fight 
against the Axis powers.”82 American observers believed that the Brazilian 
military and the people in general were “fully aware” of the opportunities 
that the war had provided. “They are taking every advantage to make their 
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nation self-sufficient and independent of raw materials and supplies from 
other countries. … [with American assistance and training] they will 
emerge from the present war as the leading nation of South America.” 
Brazilians, the Americans were convinced, “are determined to achieve a 
place of potent economic force in the affairs of the Western Hemisphere 
and of the World.”83 On June 13, 1945, FDR’s successor Harry S. Truman 
told his new ambassador to Rio de Janeiro, Adolf Berle, that he wanted “to 
maintain good relations with Brazil even above any other country in Latin 
America.”84

In 1944, the Americans had tried unsuccessfully to negotiate an agree-
ment to keep the chain of bases for ten years after the war’s conclusion. 
President Vargas favored extending the arrangement, but toward the war’s 
end, he had less control of the situation and he was forced from office in 
October 1945 in a coup d’état led by the Góes Monteiro-Dutra duo.85 The 
latter was elected president to succeed him. Then escalating objections “to 
the continued occupation of Brazilian soil by foreign troops” insured that 
the bases would be turned over to Brazilian control by October 1946.86

Brazil took an active part in World War II as a supplier of strategic raw 
materials, as the site of important air and naval bases, as a skillful supporter 
of the United States in Pan American conferences, as a contributor of 
naval units, a combat fighter squadron, and a 25,000 strong infantry divi-
sion. It lost 1,889 soldiers and sailors, 31 merchant vessels, 3 warships, 
and 22 fighter aircraft. It came out of the war with modernized armed 
forces, thanks to its receipt of 70% of all United States Lend-Lease equip-
ment sent to Latin America.

Zé Carioca, Walt Disney’s dapper parrot, who was Hollywood’s car-
toon characterization of Joe Brazilian, taught Donald Duck how to samba 
in the film Saludos Amigos, but the Americans, like Donald, could not 
quite catch the beat. So with the restoration of peace, instead of the war-
time alliance heralding an era of two national destinies bound together for 
mutual benefit, as Foreign Minister Oswaldo Aranha had dreamed, the 
Cold War turned Americans in other directions and left Brazilians with a 
vague sense of having been exploited. Brazil’s rejection of further overseas 
military operations in the Korean and Vietnam wars is partly related to a 
national perception that the United States did not adequately appreciate 
its contribution in World War II.

Even so, the war changed Brazil. The wartime air and naval bases were 
turned into civilian airfields and port facilities, the joint operations set new 
standards for military education and training, and the experiences abroad 
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that the thousands of veterans brought back began a process of modern-
izing the nation’s mentality. The industrialization spurred by the building 
of the Volta Redonda steel mill propelled Brazil during a single generation 
from the age of the bull-cart to that of the internal combustion engine. 
Without the infrastructure, experiences, import-substitution processes, 
and transfer of know-how acquired during the war, it is difficult to imag-
ine how Brazil would be today.87 Its role in World War II has grown in 
importance in the minds of Brazilians, and they resent that American and 
European historians are not as enthusiastic as they are about Brazil’s mul-
tiple contributions to Allied victory. The more extreme see a deliberate 
downplaying of Brazil’s role “to deprive Brazil of the credit it deserves for 
helping to win the war.”88
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CHAPTER 7

Post-World War Disappointment

At the end of the war, relations between the two countries, and especially 
their two military establishments, could not have been closer. Unfortunately, 
American demobilization was so deep and rapid that succeeding American 
governments lost sight of the importance of the relationship. Changes in 
presidents, cabinet officials, and department-level staffs resulted in a loss 
of institutional memory. The documents on the relationship lay undi-
gested in the archives for decades. Brazil’s war role faded under archival dust. 
It is worth noting that the voluminous documents in the American archives 
about the construction of the air bases, the intense military negotiations, 
improvement of ports, and diplomatic relations generally, and particularly 
about the FEB, were still classified “Secret” as late as 1964, others until 
1976.1 The histories of World War II gave priority to relations among the 
Big Three—United States, Britain, and Soviet Union—and only slowly 
turned to the secondary powers. Historians emphasized United States 
combat operations, not how the supply and support networks had been 
created and functioned. Brazil rarely entered the American worldview.

American officials had implied that Brazil would have a privileged posi-
tion after the war. Even before the Brazilian troops reached Italy, the two 
governments signed an agreement that would have allowed the American 
military to have use of air bases at Natal, Recife, and Belém for ten years 
after the war ended. It appeared as if the two countries would remain close 
allies in the post-war period.
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Military Staff Negotiations

On August 1, 1944, the Department of State alerted diplomatic missions 
in Latin America that they were to propose that bilateral staff conversa-
tions lay “the foundations for continued military collaboration between 
[sic] the American Republics in the post-war period.”2 A little later in 
August, Cordell Hull wrote to the chief of the Joint Chiefs of Staff, 
Admiral William D. Leahy, saying that the conversations with Brazil and 
Mexico should be held before they were initiated with any other republic.3 
The objective was to standardize the weaponry, training, and organization 
of the Latin American armed forces so that if there was another attack on 
the hemisphere, there would be a massive defense force ready. Also the 
idea was to prevent European countries from selling arms or placing mili-
tary missions in the region. The difficulty was that the Brazilians were not 
interested in standardization, but in establishing their predominance in 
South America. They wanted to insure that Argentina would never be able 
to attack Brazil successfully so that Brazil and the United States entered 
into these discussions with different objectives. A further problem was 
that Americans were not united in their own estimate of the situation.

On October 10, 1944, the staff conversations were officially begun 
with fanfare presided over by Getúlio Vargas in Rio’s Catete Palace. The 
president commented that what they were doing “for all practical pur-
poses amounted to a military alliance” and recalled that their “highly sat-
isfactory military collaboration” had begun “even before Pearl Harbor.”4 
With this auspicious beginning, the two militaries held detailed staff dis-
cussions about the structures, armaments and equipping, stationing, mis-
sions, and cooperative arrangements with the Brazilian armed forces after 
the war. Similar conversations were to be held with other Latin American 
countries.5 The discussions were conducted between Brazilian and 
American officers without any involvement of civilian diplomats. The 
resulting “papers” or studies were the official views of the Brazilian armed 
forces and had been approved by President Vargas. The American officers 
assumed that the United States wished Brazil to have “a strong and coop-
erative role in the maintenance of hemispherical defense as a component 
of post-war world order, thereby relieving the United States of the mili-
tary burden and political embarrassment of playing this role directly in 
South America.”6 The Americans believed that “Brazil was willing and 
anxious to become a southern partner of the United States in a military 
sense,” that they wanted assistance to become self-sufficient, rather than 
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having “continued help.” The army “program was scaled to cover defense 
of Brazil from attack within or from without South America, in conjunc-
tion with possible United States help.”7

The Brazilian navy hoped for the transfer of some 32 warships that 
included two battleships, two light aircraft carriers, four cruisers, fifteen 
destroyers, and nine submarines, which would “make the Brazilian Navy 
incontestably the strongest naval force in South America….” However, 
Adolf A. Berle, who had succeeded Jefferson Caffery as US ambassador in 
January, doubted that the Brazilian navy could maintain such “compli-
cated and formidable” machinery.8 He argued that “The money and effort 
used in organizing a naval force at this point in Brazilian history would be 
infinitely better spent on putting in an internal transport system, and 
building and maintaining public schools.”9 He may have been correct, but 
apparently he forgot that such policy decisions were for Brazilian leaders 
to make and were not the purview of the American ambassador. The staff 
conversations raised the expectations of the Brazilian navy, which were 
stimulated even higher due to comments that Admiral Jonas Ingram, 
commander of the 4th US Fleet based at Recife, made to reporters in early 
July 1945  in which he said that a number of American ships would be 
ceded to Brazil.10 Ingram’s comments and the promise of ships were 
“unauthorized” but that did not reduce their impact.11 Somewhat frus-
trated, Berle observed that “we have to cope with the results. To throw 
overboard the Naval Conversations now would undoubtedly create a very 
considerable crisis.” He recommended keeping “the program as an ideal, 
propose measures designed to make progress toward realizing it without 
commitments as to time.”12 [Italics added]

The proposal for the army, at least in the American view, emphasized 
instruction and training. It called for the insertion of American instructors 
at every level of training of officers and enlisted specialists. American offi-
cers would be assigned to the “tactical schools, the military academy, and 
officers pre-military schools.” Although the document did not mention 
the French Military Mission’s long attempt to reshape the Brazilian army, 
the considerable American insertion into Brazilian army institutions would 
be more profound than what the French had done. Within two years of 
the proposal’s approval, the Brazilians wanted to receive “sufficient war 
materiel with which to equip … [a] peace-time Army of 180,000 and … a 
reserve sufficient to equip the 26 divisions contemplated in … initial 
mobilization plan.” Ambassador Berle doubted that within the specified 
two years, the army would be ready to receive so much equipment and 

  POST-WORLD WAR DISAPPOINTMENT 



228 

arms. He thought it would involve “an extremely large factor of waste.” 
He asserted that “the Brazilian record for maintenance is not good; and 
there is always a tendency to ask for new equipment as a solution.” 
However, he observed that “the capacity for maintenance is there if it can 
be developed.”13

The staff conversations also proposed the expansion of the Brazilian air 
force from 14,000 officers and men to 25,654 by 1948, with a like increase 
in aircraft from the current 60 fighter bombers to 200 by 1949.14 If 
adopted, Berle believed that “Brazil would have unquestioned air suprem-
acy so that no nation or group of nations in South America could oppose 
her. Technically she would have the continent at her mercy. Given her 
pacific tendencies, this is not of itself a danger.” Indeed, underlying the 
three sets of staff talks was the belief that “Brazil if armed would be a force 
for peace and defense, and not for war and expansion; and on the historical 
and psychological record of Brazil,” Berle concurred that “this assump-
tion seems warranted.”15

The reports resulting from the staff conversations, which had been 
approved at the highest levels of the Brazilian government, were sent to 
Washington with Brazilian expectations soaring, but then nothing hap-
pened. Rio was not even notified of their receipt. Some nine months later 
at the end of December, Colonel José Bina Machado, who had been 
Brazil’s first military attaché in Washington from 1938 to November 1941 
and was considered a friend of the United States, paid an unsettling visit 
to the American embassy. During the previous months, he had been chief 
of Minister of War Dutra’s office and was close to Generals Dutra, Góes 
Monteiro, and other high officers.16 He said he was alarmed at the “recent 
growth of anti-American sentiment in high Brazilian army circles, gravely 
threatening the future of Brazilian–American military cooperation.” He 
declared that Brazilian officers were thinking that the United States “was 
inclined to treat Brazil as a small brother rather than an important nation” 
and doubted American sincerity about “a wholehearted policy of coopera-
tion with Brazil.” The chargé d’affaires quickly reported Bina Machado’s 
comments warning that it was “obvious that immediate action must be 
taken … to produce concrete results pursuant to the staff conversations.” 
If action was not taken, he predicted that it would “prejudice the standing 
of our military personnel in Brazil, and gravely threaten the whole future 
of American-Brazilian military cooperation.”17 In addition it would, he 
emphasized, have “effects far transcending the immediate military neces-
sity.” Secretary of State James F. Byrnes replied that there had been no 
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change in Washington’s policy of “full cooperation with Brazil” and that 
it was “our most earnest desire to keep our relations with Brazil on the 
same intimately friendly basis that has existed traditionally….” He was 
concerned that “certain elements” might be trying to stir up trouble.18

Also of concern was the appearance in Rio of an agent of the British 
company Vickers-Armstrongs with offers to sell to the Brazilian navy at 
scrap prices a large number of fully equipped combat vessels. The agent 
was making the rounds of South American capitals seeking prospective 
buyers. Minister of Navy Jorge Dodsworth Martins told the American 
naval attaché that he was worried that such sales could be the start of an 
arms race. He questioned the status of the staff conversations’ recommen-
dations. Ambassador Berle urged the State Department to act, but he 
seems to have immediately tried to restrain the British, rather than to pres-
sure Washington for the implementation of the staff proposals.

The Brazilians could not understand the American attitude, Truman 
and his team said the right things, but failed to act on the recommenda-
tions.19 What was going on? In 1945 there were two sets of opposing 
attitudes in Washington regarding Brazil’s military status and relationship 
with the United States. From 1938 onward the War and Navy Departments 
had gradually eclipsed the State Department in the realm of foreign policy 
making, particularly in the Americas. Secretary of State Cordell Hull had 
not favored the idea of a special relationship with Brazil, and after President 
Roosevelt’s death on April 12, 1945, Truman’s team had little familiarity 
with Brazilian-American relations and even less sympathy for Brazilian 
ambitions. And that view eventually spread to the army staff. Perhaps 
because so much of what had happened in Brazil was in the shadows, 
Brazilian contributions were not well known, even in the War Department.20

FDR’s death marked the end of a remarkable relationship between the 
American president and Brazil. His passing was mourned publicly by ordi-
nary citizens. From Manaos in the north to Porto Alegre in the south, the 
newspapers reported the shock and profound pain of loss that people on 
the streets expressed. The interventor in Recife commented that 
Roosevelt’s name would be “indelibly linked to Brazil in the fight for free-
dom and justice.” Recife businesses closed and the government shut 
down. The interventor Rui Carneiro in Paraiba observed that Roosevelt 
was gone but that “‘rooseveltismo’ is the eternal unperishable dogma of 
good will among men and nations.”21 President Vargas, at a memorial 
held at the foreign ministry on May 12, declared that it was not a protocol 
ceremony, rather “the demonstration of friendship of the Brazilian nation 
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for a foreign statesman, who was so much a friend as to be considered by 
all of us as a quasi-national name.”22 The impression that he made on 
Brazilians as a reformer was so long lasting that President Fernando 
Cardoso (1995–2003) liked to compare his program to FDR’s, and some 
commentators tagged President Inácio Lula da Silva (2003–2011) as a 
“Roosevelt Brasileiro” in 2010.

American Military Views

The Army General Staff was divided between those with direct experience 
with the Brazilians and those who had more theoretical views on how to 
deal with the American Republics. The two groups of officers saw things 
very differently. Those in Brazil recommended recognizing Brazil’s emer-
gence “as the dominant military power in South America.” Referring to 
“Brazil’s contribution, in the present conflict, to Hemispheric Defense,” 
they advised building “Brazil into a power in the South American conti-
nent comparable to that of the United States in the North American con-
tinent….”23 The problem was that such a policy collided with the fault line 
between the Spanish-American Republics and Portuguese-speaking Brazil, 
and the desire of Washington’s bureaucracies to craft policies that engaged 
all of Latin America. The Joint Chiefs of Staff had approved a statement 
(JSC 629) that provided “for an integration of all Latin American armed 
forces into a hemisphere defense force equipped with United States mate-
rial and organized and trained in accordance with United States stan-
dards.” The War Department’s intelligence section candidly admitted that 
“one of the main purposes” of the integration policy was “to prevent 
European powers from providing arms and military missions to Latin 
American republics.” If Brazil alone were provided with substantial 
American arms and equipment it would be “inevitable that European 
powers” would move into the breach with arms and military missions, 
particularly in Argentina, Chile, and Peru. The G-2 critics asserted that “a 
reversal of the policy would have a disastrous effect upon United States 
relations with Latin America … [and] would lead to a Spanish-speaking 
bloc which would be hostile to both the United States and Brazil.” Pan 
American unity “would be destroyed and Inter-American military coop-
eration disrupted.” The negative evaluation concluded acidly: “The 
friendship of Brazil for the United States … is a recent development and 
there is no assurance of its permanence.”24 On June 9, 1945, the Army 
staff ’s Operations Division (OPD) agreed with the foregoing assessment 
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and recommendation against a pro-Brazil policy. OPD, showing lamen-
table ignorance of reality, reduced Brazil’s wartime contributions to allow-
ing American personnel in Northeast Brazil to construct strategic air bases 
and to participate in the defense of the region. The author’s final line 
caught the mood in Washington by saying: “Assurance of Brazil’s friend-
ship for the United States is no less than that of other Latin American 
countries.”25

How different in tone was OPD’s assessment from that of officials 
more aware of the importance of those very same air bases. In an August 
1943 report to the Senate investigation of the airfield projects, a special 
assistant to the Secretary of War declared that without the Brazilian route 
to Africa, “the entire course of the war might have been changed.” For 
Brazilian aspirations it was most unfortunate that “the entire project has 
from the beginning been treated as a secret one.”26 Obviously, secret proj-
ects are not widely known and can be easily forgotten.

Brazilian leaders in the second half of 1945 were slow to realize that 
their “blood sacrifice” was lost from view in the rivers of blood shed on 
the world’s battlefields. Historians have not been inquisitive as to Brazil’s 
immediate post-war role in world affairs. They have concentrated on the 
fall of Vargas, the successor Eurico Dutra government, and Brazilian activ-
ity in the new United Nations.27 For example, no one has asked why Brazil 
did not participate in the occupation of the defeated Axis countries.

No Occupation Role

While the above was going on in Rio de Janeiro and Washington, a differ-
ent dialogue had taken place in Italy. At some point in February 1945, 
likely after the victory at Monte Castello, General Mark Clark, former 
commander of US Fifth Army, asked General João Batista Mascarenhas de 
Morais about contributing troops to the occupation. Clark would eventu-
ally head the occupation of Austria and apparently had the idea of transfer-
ring the FEB there. It is significant that little is known about this inquiry, 
sources such as the Foreign Relations papers are silent and I have not found 
anything in the military files in the National Archives.

The Brazilian sources tell us more but in shadowy fashion. Without any 
prompting Mascarenhas wrote Minister of War Dutra that he did not favor 
an occupation role because it would necessarily involve Brazilian troops in 
an uncomfortable disciplinary function that could easily turn violent. As 
the least powerful force in that theater of operations under the control of 
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one of the strongest nations, he did not think his troops cut a figure of 
sufficient authority for such a role. He noted that the poor quality of their 
uniforms compared unfavorably with those of the Americans and English, 
and worse, he regarded their discipline and military instruction as defi-
cient. He concluded by writing that “It seems to me [to be] contra-
indicated to employ the Força Expedicionária Brasileira as occupation 
troops in any country of this continent.”28

The FEB’s chief of staff Colonel Floriano de Lima Brayner argued 
against participating in the post-war occupation. He apparently thought 
that Brazil was paying the full cost of the FEB, and so “staying in Italy,” he 
observed bitterly, “would cost incalculable and onerous fortunes of our 
public moneys.” He complained that “The only thing the Americans did 
not charge for was the air we breathed because the banks could not mea-
sure it.”29 Sadly, he was unaware that in early April 1945 the Lend-Lease 
agreement between the two governments was modified to include the cost 
of FEB operations. Decades later he still believed that the Americans did 
not appreciate them.30 General Willis D. Crittenberger, commander of the 
Fourth Corps of the US Fifth Army, met with FEB staff officer (G-3) 
Humberto de Alencar Castello Branco in Milan on May 10, 1945. He 
asked Castello why the Brazilians were in such a hurry to go home. 
Castello replied that Brazil was not represented on the allied council for 
governing Italy and so it should not contribute troops. He said that Brazil 
had no political interest in Europe. Castello and Brayner believed that the 
FEB had completed its mission and there was no reason for it to be part of 
the occupation of Italy or anywhere else.31 But, of course, this was not a 
decision for field officers to make. Exactly who made the decision and why 
is not known. It is possible that the missing 1945 and 1946 Relatórios of 
the Minister of War might shed some light on why Brazil did not partici-
pate in the occupation.32

If the Brazilian army had taken part in the occupation, it likely would 
have given Brazil a louder voice in post-war diplomacy and likely would 
have strengthened its relationship with the United States. Ambassador 
Vasco Leitão da Cunha in his oral history testimony observed that British 
General Harold R. L. G. Alexander, commander of the 15th Group of 
Armies, had said to him: “The Brazilian is a fine soldier. I’m sorry to hear 
they want to go home and not go to Austria.” Leitão da Cunha was in 
Rome at the time and immediately telegraphed the Brazilian foreign min-
istry saying “that the FEB ought to stay.” He argued that the reason for 
the FEB was more political than military, it was a confirmation of our 
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alliance with the United States, “written in blood.” It was to show the 
Allies that Brazil was “anti-Nazi and antifascist.” Apparently in the 
Itamaraty, the diplomats were not looking to expand Brazilian influence 
and prestige; one of them responded: “This is an easy way for them to earn 
gold.” [“Isso é cavação deles para ganhar ouro.”] As if the war-weary veter-
ans were thinking only of lining their pockets! The Ambassador summa-
rized his reaction by saying: “we give up conquered gains.” [“Nós 
abdicamos das vantagens conquistadas.”] “And we did not know how to 
take advantage of what we had done; we got stuck in intrigues, lesser 
things, when we had a natural ally. We strayed out of step with the United 
States.” He concluded by saying that “the Germanophiles [in the War 
Ministry] did not lose their Germanophilia. They fought without enthusi-
asm.” Because of its role in the war, “Brazil stopped being an adolescent 
country and became a serious country.” “We do not know how to take 
advantage of the things that we do well. We ought to celebrate [them], 
but Brazilians don’t know what the pracinhas did.”33 If Brazil had partici-
pated in the occupation, its visibility and, perhaps, status in the post-war 
world would have been different.

Even before World War II ended, the United States negotiated a ten-
year extension of its access to air bases at Belém, Natal, and Recife. 
American policy aimed at excluding all other foreign military influences 
from the Western Hemisphere and to solidify American leadership in mili-
tary matters. Brazil was to be the model for the other American Republics 
of the value of such an arrangement of hemispheric defense. The United 
States which before the war had not been interested in training and sup-
plying Latin American forces now made this the core of its relations with 
the region.34

The Pacific War

When Brazil entered the war in August 1942, it recognized that a state of 
war existed with Germany and Italy, but it did not include Japan. The 
other two Axis powers had sunk Brazilian ships, in effect attacking Brazil. 
Japan had attacked another American Republic, so Brazil broke relations 
with the three, but did not recognize war with Japan because the Empire 
had not attacked it. Brazil’s tradition was to go to war only if attacked. 
There was a large Japanese immigrant population in the country dating 
from 1906, with communities in the southern states and in Pará in the 
Amazon. The government imposed harsh repressive controls on the 
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Japanese. With the end of the war in Europe in early May 1945, all eyes 
turned toward the Pacific. Peace in Europe also meant the end of Brazilian 
participation in the Lend-Lease program. The exact thinking of the Vargas 
government is not clear, but it must have seen advantages to joining the 
fight in the Pacific, especially because Argentina still maintained its 
neutrality.

The Vargas government let it be known that it would respond favorably 
to an American request that it enter the war with Japan. Washington 
demurred saying it would welcome a Brazilian declaration, but it would be 
up to Brazil to act without an invitation. On May 8, Vargas, rejoicing in 
the victory in Europe, told journalists that Brazil was standing with the 
United Nations and that the bases in the north would continue to serve 
the war effort until Japan was defeated. He emphasized that if the United 
Nations needed Brazilian troops in the Pacific, “the country was ready to 
supply them.”35 So he was ready to set aside the tradition of declaring war 
only if attacked. Meanwhile some American troops in Italy were being 
shipped to the Pacific theater.36 And Brazil’s troops would soon be head-
ing home.

At that time the United Nations was being organized in San Francisco. 
Brazil was angling for a seat on the Security Council, but faced resistance 
from the British and the Russians and lack of enthusiasm from the 
Americans.37 The chief Brazilian representative at the conference Pedro 
Leão Veloso met with President Truman to discuss Lend-Lease issues and 
possible Brazilian entry into the war with Japan.38 The Department of 
State opined that “it would be politically advantageous to have Brazil 
declare war on Japan.” The Joint Chiefs of Staff approved “a token partici-
pation of the Brazilian Air Force in the Pacific,” but because of transporta-
tion and retraining difficulties, they could not make use of Brazilian 
ground troops. On June 6, 1945, Brazil announced that “having for some 
time considered the aggression of Japan against the United States of 
America as though it were directed against Brazil itself and desiring to 
cooperate for the final victory of the United Nations…,” it declared that a 
state of war existed with the Empire of Japan.39 President Truman tele-
graphed to Vargas his “deep satisfaction” that Brazil “will be solidly at our 
side until the total defeat of the one remaining Axis aggressor.” He noted 
that the action was “an additional bond in the historic friendship” that had 
its “roots in the beginnings of our respective histories as independent 
nations.”40 However, it may be that the Brazilian declaration and offer of 
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troops were more related to a desire to keep Lend-Lease arms and equip-
ment flowing than to a real desire to see action in the Pacific.

It is worth noting that historians have paid little attention to Brazil’s 
entry into the war against Japan. The many thousands of Japanese immi-
grants in Brazil suffered discrimination and severe repression in the late 
1930s nationalist campaigns and even worse after the 1942 break in rela-
tions. Because of their extreme cultural and physical isolation, most of 
them did not believe that Japan had lost the war.41 Recently, one team of 
Brazilian historians has questioned why Brazil delayed including Japan in 
the recognition of a state of war from 1942 to 1945. Their continuing 
research may provide answers. They noted that even without such action, 
Brazilian authorities treated the resident Japanese as harshly as they did 
the Germans and Italians.42 The intense political agitation that led to the  
ousting of President Vargas at the end of October 1945 likely distracted 
and deflected historians’ attention to other questions such as the forma-
tion of the United Nations.

By the end of December 1945, a significant number of Brazilian offi-
cers had doubts about American sincerity regarding their relationship. 
Such officers thought that the Americans were “inclined to treat Brazil as 
a small brother rather than an important nation pledged to full military 
cooperation.” Secretary of State James F. Byrnes tried to counter such 
feelings by saying that it was the Truman administration’s “most earnest 
desire to keep our relations with Brazil on the same intimately friendly 
basis that has existed traditionally and particularly throughout the 
war….”43

Vargas Overthrow

That goal would be affected by a regime change in Brazil as 1945 pro-
gressed. The military and right-wing civilian opposition became concerned 
about Getúlio’s attempt to mobilize the working class as a political actor. 
As the wartime development projects became a reality, the labor and social 
decrees of the Estado Novo gave Vargas increasing influence over unions 
and the working class. His image as “father of the poor” and friend of 
workers took on more substance. The end of dictatorship and the return 
of elected government meant that the working class would have an unprec-
edented role in Brazilian politics. Getúlio’s apparent acceptance of the 
idea of holding a constitutional convention while he was still in office was 
seen by his opponents as a step toward keeping power. Moreover, support 
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for the idea by the Communist Party of Brazil and the similarity of the 
situation to the Peronist phenomenon in Argentina were enough to drive 
a wedge between Vargas and the military. The army was then searching 
out and watching Communist cells in its ranks. Vargas maneuvered to 
secure the backing of the recently freed left-wing political prisoners and 
their related worker allies. At a meeting of generals on September 28, 
1945, Góes, speaking now as Minister of War, said that Vargas’s re-election 
could not happen, that it would be “inadmissible.”44 The mood in the 
country, at least among the middle and upper classes, as expressed in 
newspaper editorials, was that, as the Diário Carioca (Rio) stated it, “the 
decisive role in this hour of transition falls to the armed forces. … We 
appeal to the armed forces….” Vargas had to go.45

But why did he have to go before the elections scheduled for December 
2? Coups are often related to political instability, yet in 1945 Brazil was 
remarkably stable. It is true that in 123 years of independence, it had had 
4 constitutional regimes that were barely representative and tended toward 
increasing authoritarianism. In the eight previous years under the Estado 
Novo appointed leadership, changes were at the ministerial and state levels 
without social violence. There were few manifestations against the Vargas 
regime in the early 1940s and in the first ten months of 1945. Vargas’s 
economic programs had strong public support. Various features of the 
state direction of the economy appealed to business and consumers alike. 
“Most obviously, anti-foreign measures that placed foreign capital at a 
relative disadvantage were attractive to domestic entrepreneurs hard-
pressed to compete with the superior resources of outside investors.” 
Vargas had shifted politically during the war. Clearly democracy was the 
trend of the moment. He cultivated the emergent working class and 
soothed the conservative landowners of the interior. He created the Labor 
Party (Partido Trabalhista Brasileiro, PTB) and the Social Democratic 
Party (Partido Social Democrata, PSD) imagining a return to elective 
democratic politics in which he would persist as a key figure. “The combi-
nation of economic nationalism, with the state greatly contributing to 
industrialization, and the political maneuvers by Vargas helped sustain his 
popularity among most of the Brazilian population. 1945 witnessed the 
polarization of politics with the working class and Vargas’s side (for him to 
remain in office) and the forces rallying against the dictator.”46

There were no strikes against the government. The cost of living in the 
center south hovered a bit above 1 percent during the Estado Novo. There 
were more rallies in his favor than against him. Growth was steadily upward 
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throughout the dictatorship, even though productive capacity lagged, and 
the industrial plant was deteriorating and tending toward obsolescence.47 
Likely poor maintenance contributed to both. However, public support 
was consistent up to the coup.

What did Vargas have to say about his intentions? He had given up on 
his diary after the accident in 1942, so the only entries into his thinking 
are what he said to others during what became the 1945 crisis. On the 
evening of Friday, September 28, at Getúlio’s request, Ambassador Adolf 
Berle went to Guanabara Palace. The president said he wanted to know 
the thinking of the Truman government “without going through the 
bureaucracy of Foreign Offices.” They talked about the status of the nego-
tiations over the air bases that seemed to be progressing satisfactorily. 
They discussed the multilateral civil air agreements resulting from the 
international civil aviation conference in Chicago in 1944, Brazil’s prefer-
ence for a bilateral accord, and the next aviation conference to be held in 
Montreal.48 As head of the American delegation at Chicago, Berle was an 
expert. They went on to talk about the exchange of Argentine wheat for 
Brazilian-made tires, which Vargas felt placed Brazil at an uncomfortable 
disadvantage. Berle indicated that he would explore the possibility of the 
United States shipping wheat to Brazil. With the question of Argentina in 
the air, they turned to the wisdom of Vargas attending the dedication of 
the international bridge at Uruguaiana, Rio Grande do Sul, on October 
12, now that Perón had ordered the arrest of thousands of Argentines and 
the level of public anger in Argentina was rising. The American press had 
been linking Vargas with Perón in a supposed “league of dictators,” and 
Berle was worried that a meeting at the bridge would give impetus to such 
speculations and might even alienate popular opinion in Brazil, which 
“would probably be misinterpreted in the press of the United States.” 
Berle suggested putting off the visit until after the Rio Conference on 
Continental Peace and Security (held August 15–September 2, 1947). Of 
course, by then Vargas would be out of office.

Then the president asked what Berle thought of the situation in Brazil. 
The ambassador replied that it “would be very closely watched in the 
United States. We had admired as acts of great statesmanship his putting 
Brazil back on the democratic rails….” Referring to Vargas’s speech of 
September 7, 1945 declining to run again, Berle characterized it as “forth-
right, direct and honest,” noting that “we had not taken any stock in his 
enemies who had tortured this speech into the exact opposite of what it 
said.” Talk of coup d’état by Vargas or against him was then being reported.
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They chatted a bit about Communist activity. “The President said 
rather grimly that the Communists knew very well that the masses were 
with him and not with them; that all they wanted was a chance to organize 
and that their real goal was 20 or 30 years ahead.” Vargas asserted that he 
did not intend to be a candidate for two reasons: he had said he would not 
and that he intended to keep his word; the second was that he was tired 
and that he “proposed to leave while he had the affection and applause of 
his people.” He did not want to go out with either their hatred or their 
indifference. “For this reason he was going through with elections and he 
had made that plain.” He said that he would resolve the agitation for a 
Constituinte and that “this was the end of a government and he was put-
ting things in order.”

Berle took that as an opening to ask Vargas to look at a draft of a speech 
he planned to give about the situation. After reading it, Vargas asked one 
question: “whether this meant we were opposed to a Constituinte.” “I 
told him certainly not … Our fear was lest the hotheads would defeat the 
policy he had so wisely and brilliantly worked out during the last year.”

They parted pleasantly. Berle summarized his reaction saying: “I got the 
sense of a tired, sincere man struggling with many forces, no longer anx-
ious for great power, caught to some extent in the shackles of his past.”49

Berle had grasped the nature of the crisis. Vargas had set the date of the 
presidential election for December 2. The opposition party, the União 
Democrática Nacional (UDN), had nominated Air Force Brigadier 
Eduardo Gomes, and the government’s PSD had selected Army Minister 
Eurico Dutra, which many saw as Vargas’s attempt to split the armed 
forces. His good intentions aside, Ambassador Berle precipitated a crisis 
by giving the speech the next day before the Sindicato de Jornalistas 
(Journalists Union). Berle emphasized the interest of the United States in 
Brazil’s re-democratization and confidence in Vargas to see the process 
through. Getúlio had made a solemn promise to hold free elections and 
the United States considered his word as “inviolable.” Raising the 
Constituinte Berle declared that there was no conflict in holding elections 
while taking measures to organize a constituent assembly “in the form the 
people indicate.” The opposition press emphasized selected words to give 
the impression that the ambassador meant the opposite of what he said. As 
a result Vargas was livid and Góes suggested that he have him recalled, 
indeed the foreign ministry protested strongly. British Ambassador Gainer 
called the speech an explicit and flagrant intervention in internal Brazilian 
affairs.50 But there are some peculiar inconsistencies in all this. Some his-
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torians have written—for example, Hilton and Neto—that Vargas read the 
text, while the CPDOC account has Berle reading it to Vargas. Góes 
Monteiro’s comments have Berle reading the text aloud, which Góes said 
Vargas had difficulty understanding. Moreover, Berle and Vargas each said 
the other had requested the meeting.51

On October 10, when Vargas moved the state-level elections, which 
had been scheduled for May, to occur simultaneously with the presidential 
one, the opposition cried foul. They suspected Getúlio’s every move as 
related to a plot to stay in power. The ghost of the coup of 1937 hung 
over everything Vargas said or did not say, everything he did or did not do. 
It is not known if he wanted to keep power or not, nor if his actions were 
geared to staying in office, as he said, only until elections allowed him to 
pass the presidential sash to his successor. There was too much distrust, 
misunderstanding, and suspicion for unemotional rational thought. His 
opponents simply wanted him gone, his allies Góes Monteiro and Dutra 
now had their own reputations to save and goals to achieve. Vargas’s seem-
ingly straightforward gesture in replacing the federal district’s chief of 
police set off the explosion of coup d’état. What Stanley Hilton labeled 
“The Unnecessary Golpe” of October 29 set the tone for the post-war era 
and eventually contributed to the military regime of 1964–1985.52 Its 
perpetrators envisioned deposing Vargas as “restoring” democracy and 
redeeming the military for supporting the Estado Novo.

Dutra would win the elections and become a rather lackluster president 
who gained little popularity. Worse his years in office were “a return to the 
Estado Novo’s style of industrial relations.” The 1946 Constitution was 
not the guidebook for a democratic society but rather a continuation of 
the Estado Novo’s “corporatist control over labor.”53

The difficulty was that the role of the Communist Party in Brazilian 
unions was significant enough to allow the government to mask labor 
repression behind a façade of combatting communism. The repression was 
not limited to workers, but was also aimed at the military, the diplomatic 
corps, and government employees.54 Such repression was not seen from 
abroad as limiting citizens’ rights but as protecting Brazil from the Russian 
bear. As long as Dutra was cooperative about allowing American investors 
free rein, Washington did not concern itself with the realities of his 
government.55

Somewhere in Góes’s mind, he may have felt that his long-time ambi-
tion of achieving the presidency himself was slipping beyond reach. He 
had turned aside Getúlio’s suggestion that he should succeed him. He 
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truly wanted to reform and strengthen the army, which desire constantly 
conflicted with his recurrent presidential fantasies. His tendency of talking 
too much and drinking too much diminished his ability to accomplish his 
own ideas. Throughout the 1930s each time those fantasies took hold, 
they faded quickly and he contritely renewed his partnership with Getúlio. 
1945 proved different because the very idea of dictatorship was in decline, 
and, moreover, the power balance had tipped toward the now better 
armed, equipped, and organized army. The Lend-Lease tanks were used in 
the coup to control the streets and to directly threaten Vargas. Seemingly 
Góes and the other generals no longer needed Vargas.56 But considering 
that the deposition of Vargas took place in a matter of hours and was 
ostensibly caused by the president’s appointment of his brother Benjamin 
as the capital’s police chief, it should have raised deeper doubts in the 
minds of historians. It was Benjamin who had called his brother’s atten-
tion to Eurico Dutra’s command abilities during the suppression of the 
1932 Paulista uprising. Certainly the younger Vargas had a streak of 
unpredictable behavior, but would he have been able to keep his brother 
in power? Vargas did not create the dictatorship alone, it would not have 
happened without Dutra and Góes. Brazilian historiography has often 
portrayed Vargas as the scheming dictator who fell before the winds of 
democracy. That portrayal transforms General Dutra, who had been the 
mainstay of the Estado Novo, into the bearer of democratic, constitutional 
government. Yet the Dutra years were not an experiment in democracy, 
but more accurately a political closing or perhaps a veiled continuation of 
the Estado Novo in more acceptable dress.

It was not a surprise that the formal Estado Novo was at an end in 1945. 
In retrospect it is doubtful that Getúlio intended the regime to continue. 
He never held the plebiscite that would have ratified the constitution of 
1937, he refused to create a party or a youth movement to support the 
regime, and he knew, as the country did not, that the regime has its ori-
gins in the agreement that he, Dutra, and Góes Monteiro [these two 
speaking for the army’s generals] had made in 1937 to close down the 
existing political system so that they could arm and industrialize Brazil. 
The decision to close the system based on the 1934 constitution had 
been, in the first instance, a military one, made by the senior generals, 
who preferred to act with Vargas at their head than risk possible rivalries 
among themselves. But they were determined to act with or without 
Vargas. Given Getúlio’s political style as far back to his governorship in 
Rio Grande do Sul, it is unlikely that he would have tried to create the 
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Estado Novo on his own. In effect, however, by the war’s end, he was left 
as the sole parent of the dictatorship, while the generals minimized the 
importance of their roles.

Vargas had committed himself to arming and equipping the military 
and building a national steel complex in return for military support in 
prolonging his presidency with dictatorial powers that would eliminate 
politics and regionalism. The public implementation of this arrangement 
proceeded in the hesitant, indirect way in which Getúlio usually 
maneuvered.

The signals that he flashed were certainly mixed. It is most common for 
historians to see his contradictory moves as deliberate diversions intended 
to confuse. It is more likely, however, recalling his hesitant behavior in 
1930, that such moves really indicated his indecision and caution. Set 
against the creation of the Estado Novo in 1937, the events of October 
1945 suggest that Getúlio was left holding the bag of responsibility.

The Dutra government’s continuance of the wartime alignment with 
the United States did not bring any more benefits than the wartime alli-
ance had already secured. Because Brazil’s status during the war was dif-
ferent from that of its neighbors, Brazilian leaders then and since have 
expected the great powers to accept the country into their councils. They 
have often been disappointed when the powers, especially the United 
States, did not accord proper recognition of Brazil’s status. Policy makers 
in foreign capitals, in particular Washington, have frequently been puzzled 
by, what they considered to be, the Brazilians’ pretensions. Their perplex-
ity was perhaps feigned at times, because such recognition was not in har-
mony with their own policy objectives, but it is likely that many of them 
were, like the world at large, ignorant of the history of Brazil’s wartime 
roles. Those roles had been often secret or were lost.

Notes

1.	 I applied for access to the military records in 1963; it took a year for the 
army to give me a “top secret” clearance to do research, and it took another 
year for the army to return my “censored” notes.

2.	 Edward R.  Stettinius to Certain Diplomatic Representatives in the 
American Republics, Washington, August 1, 1944, 810.20 Defense/8–144, 
as in FRUS, 1944, Vol. VII, pp. 105–106.

3.	 Cordell Hull to William D.  Leahy, Washington, August 24, 1944, 
810.24/5–3044, as in FRUS, 1944, Vol. VII, p. 115.
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4.	 The three Brazilian armed forces ministers, the chiefs of staff, the foreign 
minister, Admiral Jonas Ingram of the 4th Fleet, the commander of the 6th 
Air Force in the Canal Zone, and other officers were present. Chargé 
Donnelly, Rio de Janeiro, October 10, 1944, 810.20 Defense/10–1044: 
Telegram as in FRUS, 1944, Vol. VII, pp. 123–125. The possibility of staff 
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CHAPTER 8

Cold Wind from the East

When peace turned into tension and then into harsh relations between the 
United States and the Soviet Union, the Brazilian military easily adhered 
to the Cold War; after all, they had confronted the Communist menace 
head on in 19351 and thus were willing to back the Americans against the 
Russians. That willingness would have negative long-term results in the 
extreme military intervention from 1964 to 1985. More immediately, at 
the world war’s end, the US Army’s plans for Latin America aimed at stan-
dardizing arms, equipment, and training. Military planners envisioned a 
multimillion-dollar aid program that would integrate the region’s armies 
and would stimulate broad development of its societies. Such thinking 
relied on the continuation of the wartime levels of funding. The US 
Congress wanted to reduce spending and had little interest in Latin 
American economic and military development. The perception of 
American civilian leaders was that Brazil, indeed, Latin America, was safe 
from the communist threat and that Washington should focus on the hot 
spots. It soon became clear to Brazilian leaders that Brazil would not 
receive the extensive economic development assistance that they had been 
led to expect for wartime support.

American policies and Brazilian expectations proceeded at odds. The 
Americans wanted to continue using their wartime bases. The commander 
of the US Army Air Forces in the South Atlantic, Major General Robert 
L. Walsh, thought that “the problem of post-war use … can no longer be 
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avoided” to insure that “a fair return is achieved by both Brazil and our 
own government.” After the war, he believed that the bases would become 
“without doubt vital links in the transoceanic airline operation[s]. They 
are a part of the only all-weather year-round important transoceanic route 
from the Western Hemisphere to Europe and Africa. It is also part of the 
East Coast route between North and South America.” He pointed out 
that “relations between the two nations have never been at a more friendly 
stage than right now.”2 Commenting on Walsh’s ideas, Robert A. Lovett, 
assistant secretary of war for air, warned: “Frankly we better take advan-
tage of every favorable situation to now arrange things for the post-war 
period. This is our last chance before the others start to work.” He advised 
that joint control “might be more acceptable if the US committed itself to 
train Brazilian personnel with a view to putting them in a position at as 
early a date as possible to maintain and operate their own fields and the 
technical services that are of such particular importance in connection 
with the transoceanic flights.”3 The War Department considered it a “very 
high priority” to obtain continued use of bases at Amapá, Belém, São 
Luiz, Fortaleza, Natal, and Recife. In January 1944 Roosevelt had asked 
the State Department “as a matter of high priority” to initiate negotiations 
regarding future usage. If it was not possible to obtain ownership or long-
term lease of such bases, the president suggested exploring whether Brazil 
would be willing to allow US military aircraft use of the bases and that the 
two air forces “for a stated period of time” jointly control, operate, and 
maintain them. “Such an arrangement,” he stated, “would be of great 
value to our post-war defenses.”4

Despite the millions of dollars that the United States spent in building 
the air bases, it never challenged Brazilian ownership of the facilities. 
Brazilian air force officers were not interested in the sort of joint control 
that the Americans proposed, “they wanted to gain control of [the] bases 
without it.”5 Those officers led by Brigadeiro Eduardo Gomes wanted to 
prevent Pan American Airways and its subsidiary Panair do Brasil from 
getting sway over the airfields that they had been so instrumental in estab-
lishing. Gomes especially long harbored a dislike of PAA and Panair. He 
would be the key man in destroying Panair in 1964 when he became 
aeronautics minister. For decades after the war, the Brazilian air force 
would control Brazil’s airfields and its civil aviation.

Although the two governments negotiated an agreement to allow a 
ten-year period of use by American forces, the growing opposition to the 
Vargas government also objected to the “continued occupation of Brazilian 
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soil by foreign troops.” In mid-April 1945, the senior US commander in 
Brazil, Major General Ralph H. Wooten, advised the War Department that 
it was “not deemed advisable to proceed with preparation of plans for put-
ting this joint agreement into effect ….” The end of American bases in 
Brazil was in sight.6

The prospects had been bright back in February 1944 when President 
Roosevelt suggested a joint Brazilian-American air base in either West 
Africa or in the Cape Verde Islands and Vargas had said that “he would 
gladly participate” in such a venture. It should be said that the United 
States did not have any rights to such bases, and so the offer to Vargas was 
being made on a “if and when” basis.7 It is likely that this joint base idea 
provoked him to say to Ambassador Caffery: “Well, you may tell President 
Roosevelt that I am willing to make an agreement with you permitting 
some sort of continuing military use of those fields [in the northeast].”8 In 
conversations with Caffery, Vargas repeatedly sought assurances of sup-
port in case Argentina attacked, and the Americans understood that they 
had to “at least go through motions sympathetic to Vargas’ desires” if they 
wanted to conclude an agreement on the use of the bases. Throughout the 
resulting secret negotiations, there was concern by those involved about 
opposition from Brazilian air force officers, who were suspicious of 
American intentions.9 All of the foregoing unraveled when Aranha, 
Roosevelt, and then Vargas were no longer managing the relationship. 
Before Aranha was forced to resign in August 1944, Secretary Hull had 
written asking if he could come to Washington in mid-August to discuss 
the future of relations and Brazil’s role in the security organization of the 
post-war world. Perhaps his inability to make the trip negatively affected 
Brazil’s role in that world?10

At the same time, Washington’s policy, as expressed in the 1945 
Chapultepec resolution, called for equal treatment for all Latin American 
countries.11 Washington seemed to want both a strong bilateral relation-
ship with Brazil and a multilateral relationship with all of Latin America. 
This contradiction resulted from a deep divide in the American govern-
ment between the State Department, which favored multilateralism, and 
the War Department that was more, if not completely, inclined toward a 
bilateral relationship with Brazil. As a result, the messages the Brazilians 
received from Americans were often confusing. The negative position in 
the army was succinctly expressed by Brigadier General John Weckerling 
of the general staff ’s intelligence section, rejecting a more favorable status 
for Brazil in arms supply to Latin America; he declared:
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One of the main purposes of [the arms supply policy] is to prevent European 
powers from providing arms and military missions to Latin American repub-
lics. Should Brazil alone receive large amounts of arms it is likely that the 
others would turn to Europe, especially Argentina, Chile and Peru.12

Although Brazil, particularly its military, wanted close friendship with 
the United States, the Brazilian attitude was not subservient, the Brazilians 
wanted a relationship of equals that enhanced rather than diminished their 
nationalism. In 1948 the new CIA correctly warned that in any choice 
between cooperation and national sovereignty, the Brazilian leadership 
would follow an independent course. Washington “should not assume 
Brazil would make concessions incompatible with its national goals.”13

After the war the United States did not provide the arms the Brazilians 
expected, and, more worrisome from the perspective of Rio de Janeiro, it 
sought a rapprochement with Argentina. This aspect of American multi-
lateralism deeply disturbed the Brazilians who still had a third of their mili-
tary forces permanently arrayed in defensive positions in the south against 
a long-expected Argentine invasion. Brazilian strategic planning was based 
on the premise of war with Argentina.14 In 1947 they were somewhat 
mollified by the arrival of enough “surplus” American equipment to outfit 
a division of infantry and an airborne combat team. But surplus items were 
not new and recalled the used French equipment they had obtained after 
World War I. The Brazilians felt inferior and had a sense that somehow 
they were being cheated. This was especially so because the Truman 
administration was working hard to prevent the Brazilian Congress from 
passing laws that would shut out foreign participation in Brazilian petro-
leum development. Most of the American pressure came from the State 
Department, but that did not prevent Brazilian officers from feeling 
distrustful.

The Pentagon regarded Brazil, Mexico, and Venezuela as the Latin 
American countries whose interests appeared “to be most closely allied to 
the U.S. national interest or which for other reasons should be granted the 
highest priority of training assistance.” The basic idea was that “training 
and education were tools for maintaining influence.”15 Not surprisingly, 
the Pentagon was enthusiastic about helping the Brazilians create their 
new Escola Superior de Guerra, loosely modeled on the American “National 
War College,” to prepare their military and civilian elites in finding solu-
tions for Brazil’s development problems.16
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While the American government, at the level of the presidency, always 
said soothing words of friendship, beyond the White House its actions 
gave the impression of hardness vis-à-vis Brazilian development, indeed 
American officials had little interest in or knowledge of Latin America, let 
alone Brazil. George F. Kennan, then in the State Department, who would 
be influential in shaping the policy of containment of the Soviet Union, 
saw the region’s racially mixed populations as “unhappy and hopeless,” 
and he judged Brazil by the “noisy, wildly competitive traffic” in Rio de 
Janeiro and was repulsed by the “unbelievable contrasts between luxury 
and poverty.”17 He viewed the region as insignificant: “we have really no 
vital interests in that part of the world” and should “not be greatly con-
cerned for their opinion of us.”18 Of course, he had spent all of a month 
in the region and was ignorant of its languages and histories.

Kennan’s 1950 report on the region was shelved and did not influence 
Washington’s policies toward Latin America.19 But his attitudes were not 
far removed from those of other officials who used more diplomatic 
language.

Petroleum Development and Korean War

Oil was a central issue that was viewed differently in the two countries. 
The United States’ position was that Brazil should allow American com-
panies to search for, develop, and basically to own the resulting oil. Free 
trade and free investment were the American mantras of the era. The 
Brazilian military was divided as to the best way to develop the crucial 
resource. Some absolutely opposed foreign corporate involvement, while 
others thought that foreign money and know-how were necessary. The 
resulting argument within the armed forces weakened and delayed the 
development of a concerted national policy.

Most senior Brazilian officers had come out of the 1930s with broad 
and ill-formed ideas about Brazilian politics. The lack of organized parties 
during the Estado Novo had left opinion-makers thrashing about for ideas 
on how the now strengthened Brazilian state should best function. After 
the Estado Novo collapsed, some hoped to undo the Vargas legacy, others 
wanted to build upon it, some wanted to follow a strictly nationalist devel-
opment line, others wanted an economy and society open to foreign 
investment, ideas, and participation, but openness was hotly debated. The 
uncertainty was not eliminated by the post-war parties, but heightened by 
their overly partisan approaches. Moderation and compromise were often 
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the victims in the political arguments and debates of those years. Often 
debates on, for example, investment in petroleum development were cover 
for desires for revenge over some aspect or injury of the Vargas years.20

The division of military opinion regarding oil development was 
embroiled further by the outbreak of war in Korea. Those officers who 
opposed American involvement in petroleum tended to blame the United 
States for the Korean crisis and, hence, opposed any suggestion that Brazil 
should send troops. The lack of American economic assistance since World 
War II and a sense of unfulfilled wartime promises were the backdrop for 
a heated debate over Korea. Anti-American sentiment was notable and 
growing. Ardent pro-American Foreign Minister João Neves da Fontoura 
believed that Brazil should not make the mistake it had in 1942 by going 
to war without guarantees that it would benefit. Naturally Brazil would 
cooperate with the United States, but the cooperation should be recipro-
cal; after all a modern, functional Brazil would be a bulwark for the defense 
of the United States. During the world war, American analysts, such as the 
Cooke Mission, had recommended massive investments in infrastructure 
to allow more exports and expansion of the Brazilian internal market. The 
mission reasoned that trade increased between rich nations, not between 
rich and poor ones, and so creation of a prosperous Brazil was in the 
national interest of the United States. The objective should be to build up 
the purchasing power of Brazilians.21 The Brazilian press heralded such 
views as prelude to the dawning of a new era for the country hand in hand 
with their American allies. It was a euphoric rising of expectations.22 
Encouraging belief that industrialization, education, housing, electrifica-
tion, and trade would be the results of allied victory appeared to have been 
a ploy to hold Brazil at the side of the United States. Post-war requests for 
assistance were sidelined; for example, in 1946 when Brazil requested 
$200 million in loans or grants to build and modernize its railways, 
Washington’s bureaucracies could not agree, and the cold response con-
fused and disillusioned Brazilian officials.23 Americans were more inter-
ested in rebuilding their defeated enemies than in helping their friends, 
which may have been economically logical but it cut deeply. Even worse, 
the Americans were too willing to treat Argentina as equal to Brazil in 
distributing war surplus arms and equipment. Juan Perón’s unrepentant 
German partisanship was seemingly unimportant.24

Since 1945 Washington had not cooperated with Brazil, during the 
Dutra government it had not given (loaned) a cent to Brazil nor to the 
rest of Latin America. However, on the surface relations appeared quite 
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friendly and positive, Truman went to Rio for the closing of the Inter-
American Conference that produced the Inter-American Reciprocal 
Assistance Treaty (commonly called the Rio Treaty) in 1947, and Dutra 
repaid the honor with a 12-day visit to the United States in September 
1949. Because Dutra was the first Brazilian head of state to visit the 
United States since Emperor Pedro II in 1876, this should have been a 
remarkably important event. It seemed that the Americans would support 
Brazilian economic development. The so-called Abbink Mission 
(1947–1948) updated the wartime Cooke Mission’s recommendations 
with yet another diagnosis of Brazilian necessities.25 Dutra told the 
Brazilian Congress that Truman had emphasized that the United States 
was interested in collaborating in Brazil’s economic development and 
social progress. And he noted that the two governments would soon be 
negotiating a treaty to stimulate American investment in Brazil.26 But it 
did not turn out that way.

The elections of October 3, 1950, returned former dictator Getúlio 
Vargas to the presidency. Vargas was not the same as he had been when 
overthrown in 1945. He was the wartime ally and understood the benefits 
of close ties with the United States. But he also understood that American 
promises, real and implied, were not always fulfilled. And he nursed a 
gnawing wound from Ambassador Berle’s misconstrued interventionist 
role in his unseating in 1945. Also, he had less mental and physical energy 
to deal with a hugely complicated political scene with many more turbulent 
actors and issues than had been the case earlier. The task of creating a sup-
portive legislative coalition was not in his skillset. He wanted to continue 
Brazil on the road to national development. He was particularly desirous of 
creating a program of planned industrialization by means of government 
intervention exercised in such fashion so as not to alarm private initiative 
but to attract it and foreign investment as partners in the economic devel-
opment of the country.27 Truman gave the impression of favoring support 
of such development efforts by sending as his representative to Getúlio’s 
inauguration, Nelson Rockefeller, head of the American government’s 
International Development Advisory Board, charged with implementing a 
program of technical assistance for Latin America. A year earlier, while 
Dutra was president, the two countries had agreed to form a bi-national 
commission to organize establishment of basic industries and to end 
Brazil’s status as a dependent nation simply exporting natural resources. 
Rockefeller and Vargas discussed how to make the commission a reality.28
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Now, with the crisis in the Far East, the United States wanted Latin 
America to send troops to fight in Korea. The signing of an alliance 
between China and the Soviet Union in February 1950 had caused 
Washington to fear the spread of communism in Asia and to embrace the 
idea that the world was again under threat. In June 1950, the North 
Korean invasion of the south had made the threat all too real. Before 
Washington spoke the Communist Party of Brazil (PCB) waged a hotly 
worded press campaign along with marches and demonstrations against 
any Brazilian military participation. The armed forces could see advan-
tages and disadvantages and struggled to maintain unity in the face of 
deeply felt emotional division.29 The unfulfilled American promises 
weighed heavily on the side of staying out of it. Washington made repeated 
overtures to Brazil to send an infantry division. In the first half of 1951, 
the Brazilians did not quite say no, but they never said yes. In April 
Truman made a direct appeal to Vargas for troops, saying that after nine 
months of combat, the American forces needed relief and could only get 
it if capable troops such as Brazil’s took their place.30 In June 1951, when 
the secretary-general of the United Nations, Trygve Lie, requested 
Brazilian troops, the Brazilian National Security Council discussed the 
matter and decided the country could not afford the costs of organizing 
and maintaining an expeditionary force in Asia, but it could furnish, in 
return for military and financial aid, strategic materials for war industry, 
including minerals related to producing atomic energy. The Americans 
had offered to train Brazilian forces in Brazil and to pay for arms, equip-
ment, and transportation. Truman had written Vargas pleading that it 
would be a “great help to the United Nations effort in Korea if Brazil 
could send an Infantry Division….”31 The Truman administration sought 
the Organization of American States (OAS) approval to invoke the recent 
Rio Treaty, which would oblige the Latin Americans to enter the conflict. 
But the Latin Americans pointed out that the treaty related to hemispheric 
security and Korea was far away. Washington was beset by fear that the 
fighting in Korea was preparation for a Soviet attack in Europe, but could 
not convince the Latin Americans to adopt its worldview.32

It is worth noting that it was the Korean crisis that led the United States 
to expand its facilities to train Latin American officers in hopes that their 
countries might “respond increasingly to United Nations requests for 
assistance in Korea.” Several Latin American countries had requested 
training in joint staff planning and operations for their senior officers, and 
because security restrictions, limited capacity, and language difficulties 
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made such training in existing installations impractical, the Joint Chiefs 
took steps to create an appropriate school in the Canal Zone.33 That insti-
tution eventually became the infamous School of the Americas.

For Brazil the question of sending troops to Korea was intimately linked 
to economic assistance. Even Oswaldo Aranha, who had been chiefly respon-
sible for the World War II alliance and who continued to be a major propo-
nent of “supporting the United States in the world in return for its support 
of our political, economic and military preeminence in South America,” was 
opposed to committing troops. To show solidarity with the Americans, he 
suggested sending a division to Germany to free United States troops for 
Korea.34 An important army general and commander of the FEB artillery in 
Italy, Osvaldo Cordeiro de Farias, thought that the United States was in the 
Korean War to “maintain its authority in the [Far East] region.”35

The Brazilians wanted assistance signed and delivered before they made a 
decision about sending troops. General Pedro de Góes Monteiro36 was sent 
to Washington with the goal of obtaining that type of agreement. But his 
instructions specified delaying matters until the fighting ended or until 
World War III broke out. The Brazilian government did not have domestic 
political support for a war role; indeed, Vargas’s own party, the PTB, opposed 
such a role, yet Vargas did not want to say no to the American request and 
so delayed a response. Góes found that Brazilian prestige in Washington had 
declined conspicuously and that there was uneasiness about the Vargas gov-
ernment. As a result he and the Americans talked past each other; even so the 
Americans drafted the text of an agreement aimed at refurbishing the war-
time alliance. That draft was what Góes brought back to Rio de Janeiro.37

1952 Political-Military Accord

In the United States, the McCarthy anti-communist campaign was on, 
and in Brazil’s suspicion of American “imperialism” infected politics and 
discussions of foreign affairs. Calm and reason were often absent. Brazil 
was still adjusting to electoral democracy after the many years of dictator-
ship and censorship. Remarkably, it was in this tense climate that the two 
governments successfully negotiated a military accord along the lines of 
their 1942 agreement. Its purpose was to keep the military alliance alive 
by promising the supply of arms and training, but it muddied that intent 
by committing Brazil to export monazite and radio-active sands to the 
United States for its atomic program. Brazil was rich in uranium deposits 
and very interested in developing atomic technology, which the Americans 
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blocked at every turn. It appeared that Washington wanted to obtain 
Brazil’s minerals while keeping it underdeveloped. The heated debates in 
the press agitated public opinion for and against the military accord and 
contributed to a rising wave of anti-American sentiment. And many feared 
that the war in Korea was a prelude to World War III.38 It took the Brazilian 
Congress a year of fierce debates to approve the accord. The fallout from 
obtaining approval was such that it forced the resignations of Foreign 
Minister João Neves da Fontoura, who had favored its passage, and the 
ousting of War Minister Newton Estillac Leal, who had opposed it. The 
accord appeared to contradict Vargas’s efforts to protectively nationalize 
key natural resources.39

Within the Brazilian army, this turmoil caused a wave of dismissals and 
punishments of officers regarded as ultranationalists, who questioned con-
tinued close ties with the United States. This purge had the effect of mak-
ing Brazilian military opinion more homogenous and less questioning of 
American motives. Petroleum continued as an irritant in relations because 
Brazil’s requests for funds to develop it were met by the Eisenhower 
administration’s insistence that the Brazilian government open its devel-
opment to private American investment. Potential American investors 
attacked the Petrobras law as Communist-inspired. President Vargas 
responded by denouncing investors’ intent to sabotage Brazilian develop-
ment. Political Scientist Ronald Schneider commented on those turbulent 
years saying that “Polemics largely replaced dialogue as radicalizers on 
both extremes played upon class interests and the tensions and insecurity 
engendered by the process of modernization.”40

Brazilian politics, with the military actively participating, descended 
into a struggle between nationalists and internationalists that was poorly 
understood in a Washington infected with McCarthyism. Opposition to 
American views was easily labeled as Communist. From the perspective of 
the Brazilian government, Eisenhower was the creature of Wall Street. 
Pro-American Oswaldo Aranha wrote Vargas that the Eisenhower admin-
istration would be a Republican and military government, with Wall Street 
serving as the general staff. He predicted that “capitalism in power will not 
respect limitations, especially those of international order.”41 With the 
Americans insisting on private investment, which the Brazilian govern-
ment did not want to accept, Brazil would have to develop itself. On 
October 3, 1953, the Brazilian Congress approved the Petrobras law 
placing petroleum development under state control. Secretary of State 
John Foster Dulles responded by reducing drastically the amount of an 
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already agreed upon loan from the Export-Import Bank. Considering that 
55% of Brazilian trade was then with the United States, Dulles’s action was 
as hurtful as it was ill-considered. Brazil responded with a decree limiting 
the repatriation of profits of American firms operating in Brazil.

It should have been clear that “military” relations cannot be isolated 
from the overall relations between countries. And in the Brazilian case, 
military relations with the United States contributed negatively to the 
political climate. In February 1954 Brazilian officers issued a manifesto 
protesting low salaries and lack of proper arms and equipment and asserted 
that there was a “crisis of authority” in the army. Vargas became even more 
defensive against American trade controls and lack of development assis-
tance. In April he sent Congress the bill that created Electrobrás national-
izing the electric power grid, at the expense of Canadian and American 
companies.42 Former Foreign Minister Neves da Fontoura turned up the 
political heat with a press interview charging that Vargas had been negoti-
ating with Juan Perón to create an Argentine-Brazilian-Chilean alliance 
against the United States. The reality of what Vargas had in mind was 
complicated, but seemed to hold the possibility of increasing bargaining 
power with Washington; even so it infuriated his enemies, who used it to 
argue that he wanted to stay in power.43 Anti-Vargas plotting commenced 
in the officer corps, especially in the air force. These political tensions 
mixed with economic ones as wages could not keep pace with inflation, 
credit demands outpaced availability, and currency exchange was unfavor-
able. At the time Brazil, heavily dependent on coffee exports, watched 
demand in the American market fall as the Brazilian government tried to 
keep the price above market levels.

Events in Brazil reached such a pass that a State Department official could 
speculate about a possible coup d’état. Worse, he thought that a coup “would 
not seriously affect our interests. The Army is conservative, anti-Communist 
by a large majority, and would respect existing agreements. …It would be 
unfortunate in principle… [though] our practical security objectives might 
even be enhanced.”44

In a misguided attempt to help the beleaguered president, his bodyguard 
organized a murder attempt of his most vociferous enemy, Carlos Lacerda, 
but the shots missed their target and killed an accompanying air force offi-
cer. The resulting indignant reaction led to the military demanding Vargas’s 
resignation, but ended in his dramatic suicide on August 24, 1954.45
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Post-Vargas Era Relations

Vargas’s tragic death ushered in a decade that began with a political-
military crisis over the outcome of the 1955 elections and then happily 
entered a period of relative peace and achievement during the presidency 
of Juscelino Kubitschek (1956–1960). Those years were marked by the 
building of Brasília, massive road construction, the establishment of the 
automotive industry, and the beginning of Brazil as an industrial power. 
Throughout, Kubitschek was a major voice calling for serious American 
investment in Latin American development that would eventually lead to 
the Alliance for Progress in 1961. But Washington did not support 
Brazilian industrialization, and American private enterprise gave it a cold 
shoulder. Ford and General Motors refused to set up factories, and so 
Volkswagen became the leading Brazilian automotive producer. The 
United States actively undermined Brazilian efforts to create capability in 
the peaceful uses of atomic energy.46 Brazilian leaders felt that they had 
little choice but to turn to Germany for assistance in developing an atomic 
capacity.

More positively, in 1956 the United States had negotiated placement of 
a missile tracking station on Brazil’s Fernando de Noronha Island and 
military radio stations in the northeast and expanded facilities for its 
Military Air Transport System (MATS).47 Unfortunately, American offi-
cers injured Brazilian pride by asserting that Brazilians would have limited 
and guarded access to such American stations. Equally irritating, as histo-
rian Sonny Davis observed, was the American failure “to acknowledge and 
treat Brazil as more important than its Spanish-speaking neighbors.”48 
United States Ambassador Ellis O. Briggs argued that Brazil should be 
treated as the “first friend and ally” in Latin America. He asserted that “we 
should recognize [the] reality of Brazil’s emergence as [the] dominant 
Latin American power” and should treat it as such.49 Briggs warned of 
military dissatisfaction with the small size and slowness of arms transfers 
and the tendency to give Brazil and its smaller South American neighbors 
identical treatment. Brazil did not want to be treated the same as Uruguay 
or Paraguay.

Kubitschek was dependent on the military for his government’s secu-
rity and so he was concerned that their needs be met. He was committed 
to continuing Brazil’s traditional pro-United States foreign policy, but in 
economic and military matters, he had to defer to the Congress and to the 
armed forces, both of which were “highly sensitive to any development 
which appears to infringe upon Brazilian sovereignty.”50
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The Soviet Union’s success in launching Sputnik (October 4, 1957) 
caused Brazilians to doubt the long-heralded technological preeminence 
of the United States, and the space launch gave a certain prestige to com-
munism. Military critics of the traditional relationship asked what value it 
had in a world where Soviet science was outpacing American science and 
technology.

The White House woke up a bit when Vice President Richard Nixon 
was received with hostility in Argentina, Peru, and Venezuela in May 
1958. The Eisenhower administration increased its military assistance to 
Latin America but basically was opposed to development aid. Kubitschek 
took advantage of Washington’s renewed focus on the region by asking 
that the United States pledge $40 billion over the next 20 years to support 
what he called “Operation Pan America,” which was to be a Marshall Plan 
for Latin America.51 The American government received the idea coldly. 
The Eisenhower years saw relations with Brazil in evident decline, along 
with American prestige in all of Latin America.

Despite the foregoing, Eisenhower personally wanted to improve rela-
tions with Brazil and the rest of Latin America. He was fascinated by the 
construction of Brasília as Brazil’s new capital. In February 1960 he flew 
to Brazil, Argentina, Chile, and then Uruguay receiving great public dis-
plays of welcome.52 Kubitschek was charmed and honored to be in the 
presence of the distinguished war hero, but Eisenhower, although appalled 
by the evident poverty in Brazil, was not moved to support JK’s position 
that economic growth was the best way to combat communism. 
Eisenhower could see that “the private and public capital which had flown 
bounteously [emphasis added] into Latin America had failed to benefit the 
masses….” Kubitschek argued that poverty and frustration had “far greater 
capacity for stirring discontent” than did communists.53

The visit was marred by the collision over Rio’s bay of a Brazilian airliner 
with an American plane carrying members of the US Navy band. The acci-
dent seemingly heightened empathy between the two presidents but noth-
ing more. A behind-the-scenes incident revealed American ignorance of 
Brazilian history and culture. When embassy staff unwrapped Eisenhower’s 
official gift for Kubitschek, they were aghast to see a Steuben Glass model 
of the Wright Brothers’ Kitty Hawk. The Brazilians regarded their country-
man, Alberto Santos-Dumont, as the first to fly a heavier-than-air machine, 
and so the Steuben Glass model would have been an affront.54 A replace-
ment gift was quickly sought.
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Castro Era

Fidel Castro’s victory over Fulgencio Batista in Cuba in January of 1959 
changed the relative importance of Latin America to Washington. The 
ineptness of the Eisenhower administration helped radicalize the Castro 
government and pushed it into the willing arms of Moscow. The Military 
Review at the US Army’s Command and General Staff School began pub-
lishing articles on “unconventional warfare.” And to deal with the per-
ceived threat so close to the United States, the Eisenhower team embarked 
on intense intervention. His 1960 trip to South America did not deter him 
from authorizing the CIA to overthrow Castro. Washington’s nervous 
attention to communists in Brazil soared to a whole new level. The gov-
ernment perceived Latin America as an undifferentiated mass. If it could 
happen in Cuba, it could happen in Brazil.

The successor government of John F. Kennedy had better instincts but 
succumbed to the anti-communist, anti-Castro wave. The new president 
was fascinated by “unconventional warfare” and gave approval for the cre-
ation of the army’s green beret-adorned Special Forces. The official vision 
of Latin America was distorted even more as the Kennedy administration 
became convinced in 1961 that the Northeast of Brazil was about to erupt 
into a vast Cuban-style revolution. In 1962 this “fear” was such in 
Washington that the government gave funds to the enemies of Brazilian 
President João Goulart to weaken his position.55

In 1962 understanding in Brazil of how American military assistance 
functioned was so confused that officers on the president’s military staff 
(Casa Militar) thought that Americans officials decided which Brazilian 
units received American arms and equipment. Obviously that would be an 
“interference of a foreign country in matters of our exclusive compe-
tence.” It is noteworthy that the chief of Brazil’s General Staff of the 
Armed Forces (EMFA) felt compelled to write a long memo denying any 
American involvement in the distribution of material.56 Clearly alliances 
require considerable explanation to all involved.

1964 Coup and After: Dominican Republic 
and Vietnam

The Brazilian political situation deteriorated steadily, and the military was 
drawn intimately into plotting against President João Goulart. Suffice to 
say that he and his government were tarnished with a communist and fel-
low traveler label. From the day he took over, after President Jânio 
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Quadros resigned in 1961, the American government paid close attention 
and tried to foretell his views and actions. He made an extensive visit to 
the United States in 1962, met twice with President Kennedy, and 
addressed the Congress. He admired Kennedy and they got on well. But 
he faced a difficult political situation in Brazil, where the opposition had 
imposed a parliamentary system to weaken his power. On July 30, 1962, 
Kennedy and his ambassador to Brazil, Professor Lincoln Gordon, wor-
ried that Goulart was being too tolerant of the left and feared the rise of 
communism.57 In 1963 a plebiscite returned Brazil to a presidential sys-
tem with Goulart holding full executive powers. The US Embassy, espe-
cially the new Military Attaché Colonel Vernon Walters, followed currents 
and plans within the officer corps. Walters had been liaison officer and 
interpreter for FEB commander Mascarenhas and had been assistant atta-
ché (1945–1948) in Rio. He had easy access throughout the Brazilian 
officer corps. The atmosphere of crisis recalled the memory of Vargas who 
had been Goulart’s neighbor in Rio Grande do Sul and his political men-
tor; it also called up the 1945 solution, namely, another coup. As events 
moved toward a breaking point, United States officials reportedly advised 
Brazilian captains and majors that if the coup failed, they should get out of 
Brazil and reassured them that the American government would support, 
train, arm, and reinsert them to carry out a guerrilla war against the win-
ners. More directly Washington assembled a naval task force called 
“Operation Brother Sam” with petroleum and arms in case the anti-
Goulart forces needed them. As it turned out, Goulart’s people folded 
immediately and Brother Sam steamed back north. Unhappily, President 
Lyndon Johnson had the bad taste to recognize the new government 
while Goulart was technically still president.58

A purely military coup d’état was not part of Brazilian political culture; 
previous coups had been civilian-military mixes. This one was no different, 
but the military had the guns. Army Chief of Staff Humberto de Alencar 
Castello Branco had been a major player in the plotting and organizing 
elite opinion. The various “revolutionary” factions could not agree on a 
civilian politician to take the presidency, but a majority backed Castello 
Branco.59 He had been the operations officer of the FEB in Italy and was 
well regarded by the American military. He agreed to serve as president 
only until the end of Goulart’s term of office, and he refused to institution-
alize the military’s hold on power. He wanted to reform the political-eco-
nomic system by restructuring the political parties and launching a land 
reform program that was similar to Goulart’s. The situation was radicalized 
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by military hardliners seeking a complete cleansing of leftist and populist 
influences and by civilian politicians delaying and obstructing Castello’s 
reforms. The former pressed him to recess and purge the Congress, to 
remove questionable state governors, and to decree the expansion of presi-
dential powers at the expense of the Congress and the courts. He restrained 
the populist left, but in doing so created the basis for authoritarian rule by 
his successors.60 Castello tried to maintain a degree of democracy but in 
the end was forced to accept continued army control by agreeing to the 
succession of Minister of Army Artur Costa e Silva. On the positive side, he 
maintained the tradition of presidential supremacy over the military and 
kept potential coup-makers in check. He also limited the time an officer 
could serve in general’s rank to 12 years. There would be no more multi-
decade generals, such as Góes Monteiro, whose time as a general stretched 
from the early 1930s to the mid-1950s.

It was now apparent that the armed forces officer corps was divided 
between those who believed that they should confine themselves to their 
professional duties and those who regarded politicians as scoundrels ready 
to betray Brazil to communism or some other menace. Many officers 
believed that they were upholding democracy, even as they were distorting 
and limiting it. The regime did not attempt to eliminate the trappings of 
liberal constitutionalism because it feared disapproval of international 
opinion and damage to the alliance with the United States. As the citadel 
of anticommunism, the United States provided the ideology that the 
Brazilian military used to justify their hold on power. But Washington also 
preached liberal democracy, which forced the authoritarians to assume the 
contradictory position of defending democracy by effectively destroying 
it. Their concern for appearances caused them to abstain from creating a 
personalist dictatorship as in Spanish-American countries by requiring 
each successive general-president to pass power to his replacement.61

The role of the United States in these events was complex and at times 
contradictory. Throughout 1963 in the United States, there had been an 
anti-Goulart press campaign, and in 1964 the Johnson administration 
gave moral support to the conspiracy. Ambassador Lincoln Gordon later 
admitted that the embassy had given money to anti-Goulart candidates in 
the 1962 elections and had encouraged the plotters; that there were many 
extra CIA and American military personnel operating in Brazil; and that 
four US Navy oil tankers and the carrier Forrestal, in “Operation Brother 
Sam,” had stood off the coast. Washington immediately had recognized 
the new government and joined the chorus chanting that the coup d’état 
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of the “democratic forces” had restrained the hand of international com-
munism. In retrospect it appears that the only foreign hand involved was 
the American one. But it would be going too far to say that Brazilian pup-
pets were dancing to Washington’s tune, the United States was not the 
principal actor in this play.62

With the military in power, one might think that military relations with 
the United States would greatly improve, but that would be a mistake. On 
the surface they certainly were friendly, but out of public view, it was 
another matter. The American intervention in the 1965 crisis in the 
Dominican Republic under the guise of preventing another Cuba obtained 
the blessing of the Organization of American States (OAS), but the 
American request for Latin American troops was approved with the pro-
viso that the commander be Latin American. The Latin Americans were 
upset that Washington sought OAS approval only after it sent troops.63

President-General Humberto de Alencar Castello Branco agreed to send 
a Brazilian contingent partly because he opposed such unilateral interven-
tion by any American Republic, especially the United States.64 Effectively, 
the Dominican intervention became a multilateral operation. The symbol-
ism of having a Brazilian general command American troops was profound 
for the Brazilian military. Lt. General Bruce Palmer was not pleased being 
told by General Hugo Panasco Alvim that the language of his headquarters 
would be Portuguese and that Palmer had better find himself an interpreter. 
Not surprisingly Palmer and Alvim did not get along, and eventually they 
were both relieved under guise of rotation of commanders. An important 
grouping of Brazilian intellectuals expressed their “vehement repulsion at 
the Brazilian government’s complicity in the hateful armed intervention of 
the United States.” Likewise, there were protests within the armed forces, 
particularly, from hardline officers. As a result Castello Branco lost so much 
prestige that he was unable to fulfill his promise of turning the presidency 
over to an elected civilian.65 Brazilian participation in the Dominican affair 
was a factor in prolonging military control of the government.

Hard on the Dominican crisis was the Vietnam situation. This time the 
United States was acting without the cover of the United Nations or any 
other international body. In repeated letters between 1965 and 1967, 
President Lyndon Johnson asked Castello Branco for Brazilian troops. 
The request was somewhat sweetened by Johnson’s approval of a $150 
million loan to Brazil. Castello Branco told Ambassador Lincoln Gordon 
that the military would have objections. Given the intense popular opposi-
tion to the war, and the likelihood of high casualty levels without clear 
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recompense, Castello Branco said no.66 Close on that decision, in an effort 
to control spending, the Johnson administration cut back on the military 
assistance that Brazil had been receiving. This had the consequence of 
Brazil turning to Europe for weaponry. French Mirage jets replaced 
American F-5s, and from 1968 to 1972, Brazil spent some $500 million 
on European arms.

At the end of the 1960s, President Richard Nixon called for a careful 
reassessment of relations with the considerably more authoritarian 
Brazilian regime. The reassessment recognized the need for “a mature, 
friendly, and mutually beneficial relationship … because of Brazil’s long-
run potential” and because it had half the land and half the population of 
South America. Trade and investment were judged to be of prime impor-
tance, while diplomatic and military interests were secondary.67 The 
Congress had declared that “military sales should not be made if they 
would arm military dictators who are denying the growth of fundamental 
rights or social progress to their own people unless the President deter-
mines it to be in the security interests of the U. S.”68 The administration 
decided to sidestep that “sense of Congress” because of Brazil’s “impor-
tance to the interests of the U.S.” and allow cash sales to go forward and 
to release $30 million in credits for helicopters and transport aircraft. To 
do otherwise would “be a very serious irritant causing damage to our rela-
tions out of proportion to the requests themselves.”69 Concurrent with 
these actions, President Richard Nixon told Henry Kissinger that “I want 
a stepped up effort for closer relations with Brazil’s government….”70 He 
said that he preferred democratically elected governments but believed 
they had to be pragmatic. He strove to assure the Brazilian government 
and the military that “we are [not] looking down our noses at them 
because of their form of government.” He thought it was possible to have 
close relations without “embracing their form of government or condon-
ing their internal actions.”71

In theory such relations might be possible, but from a Brazilian per-
spective, close relations were regarded as support and approval. Meanwhile 
1968 saw increasing protests and street demonstrations against the 
military-controlled government. In March 1968 some 60,000 gathered 
for the burial of a high school student shot by the police during a protest 
against the closing of a student restaurant in Rio, then after the Seventh-
Day Mass at the Candelária Church in the city center, crowds outside the 
church were dispersed with considerable violence. Protests and marches 
took place, throughout Brazil. More repression and arrests of students led 
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to a massive march of some 100,000 through Rio’s streets. In April 72 
university professors, some with international reputations, were summarily 
dismissed and forbidden to teach. Hundreds of people had been arrested, 
frustration and anger were widespread. One general warned that “exces-
sive repression brings a rising radicalization of demands.” Instead of eas-
ing the tension, police and military repression intensified in August, 
Brazil’s darkest and tragedy-laden month, with hundreds of students 
arrested in São Paulo and Rio and 14,000 soldiers on the streets of the 
latter. The Supreme Federal Tribunal denied habeas corpus for an arrested 
student leader, and the Chamber of Deputies rejected a bill of amnesty for 
the student demonstrators. The Universidade de Brasília was invaded by 
military police, and the Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais was closed 
after a similar invasion.72 Throughout the country university professors 
and labor leaders were arrested. Overstating the reality, radical military 
officers saw the student unrest as sign that a “revolutionary war” was 
under way.

At the end of 1968, the government of Costa e Silva issued the draco-
nian Institutional Act No. 5 taking Brazil into a dark dictatorship. 
Hundreds more were arrested; disappearances and “the widespread use of 
severe torture” became commonplace. The US military was very reluctant 
to accept the truth of the reports because, according to Ambassador John 
Crimmins, “they did not believe that the Brazilian Army was capable of 
doing this.” Crimmins noted that the torture “wasn’t just electrical shocks; 
this was the real medieval stuff.”73 The years 1968 and 1969 were the 
worst years of the military era.

In August 1969, when President Costa e Silva was incapacitated by a 
cardiovascular problem, the three armed forces ministers declared them-
selves a ruling junta until a new president could be chosen. And the mili-
tary did the choosing. The senior generals and admirals gleaned the 
favorite candidates by polling their subordinate flag officers, and a 
seven-member armed forces high command ratified the choice of General 
Emílio Garrastazú Médici, who had headed the National Intelligence 
Service (SNI). The National Congress, which had been forcibly recessed 
for ten months and thoroughly purged, was called into session to endorse 
the military’s decision.74

Who was Médici? When Goulart was deposed in 1964, Médici was 
commander of the Academia Militar das Agulhas Negras and supported 
the coup more from a commitment to hierarchy and discipline and army 
cohesion than from a political position. Costa e Silva sent him to 
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Washington as military attaché for just short of two years. Promoted to 
major general, Costa made him head of the National Intelligence Service 
(SNI) saying he wanted someone nearby who was capable of telling him 
when he was wrong. Within the regime Médici argued that exceptional 
measures were not necessary to guarantee stability and national security. 
Even so the climate became steadily more repressive. In March 1969, 
Médici was promoted to four-star general and sent to command the Third 
Army in Rio Grande do Sul. So when Costa e Silva became ill, Médici was 
one of the small cluster of generals considered eligible to succeed him.75

As Elio Gaspari observed: “To Castello Branco the dictatorship appeared 
an evil. For Costa e Silva it was a convenience. For Médici it was a neutral 
factor, an instrument of bureaucratic action, a source of power and 
strength.” As he said to one of his ministers: “I have the AI-5, everything 
is possible.”76

Médici professed dismay at the reports of mistreatment and torture of 
prisoners. According to his head of SNI, General Carlos Alberto Fontoura, 
in two or three meetings of the armed forces chiefs and cabinet ministers, 
Médici said that he did not “accept torture, or the mistreatment or killing 
of captives. There is no way that I accept this.”77

But the mistreatment, torture, and murder continued beyond the con-
trol of the military president of the republic.

In November 1969 a group of European clergymen and intellectuals 
delivered a dossier to the Pope documenting torture in Brazil, and in the 
next month Amnesty International issued a report on Brazilian torture 
that gave the topic worldwide attention. On March 8, 1970, the Sunday 
New York Times carried a letter from 102 professors, most of whom had 
done research in Brazil, protesting against “torture, imprisonment with-
out cause, and suppression of civil rights.” “We doubt,” they declared, 
“that ever in the history of Brazil has there occurred more systematic, 
more wide spread, and more inhuman treatment of political dissidents.” 
In April 1970 there was a flood of exposés: The Washington Post published 
Brady Tyson’s “Brazil Twists Thumbscrews …”; noted American academ-
ics launched a dossier entitled “Terror in Brazil”; the Catholic Commonweal 
magazine carried Ralph Della Cava’s article “Torture in Brazil.”78 After 
months of denials, in December the Minister of Education, Jarbas 
Passarinho, admitted that “isolated” cases of torture had occurred.79

The reality was that state-managed violence had become part of the 
daily political culture. Brazil was locked in a culture of fear that immobi-
lized the population. The deep involvement of the armed forces in repres-
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sion and the use of torture was something new. Mistreatment of prisoners 
could be traced back in Brazilian history, but earlier cases were poor, mar-
ginal people, this time the victims were middle class, even women and 
clerics were not immune. The personal actions of military officers in the 
repression implicated them in crimes that could have no legal justification 
and thereby assured their support for the whole terrible system. Fear of 
the reach of justice insured their loyalty to the regime and their fierce 
opposition to dismantling the system. Of course, it damaged the reputa-
tion of Brazil’s military.80 Besides it hurt its effective readiness, despite 
having increased the number of generals from 124  in 1964 to 155  in 
1974. Reportedly some 7000 trucks had been added to the various bar-
racks motor pools, but not a single mechanic. The army bought old 
American tanks for which ammunition was no longer made, and every 
other one did not run.81

The foregoing was the situation when President-General Médici visited 
the United States in December 1971. Nixon famously toasted him: “we 
know that as Brazil goes, so will go the rest of that Latin American 
Continent ….” Médici’s response included the line “United States always 
knows that it will find in Brazil a loyal and independent ally.”82 An attuned 
ear would have caught the importance of the word independent. Nixon’s 
toast would take on dark meaning in the next years as Uruguay, Bolivia, 
Chile, and Argentina fell under military dictatorships.83 In a meeting in 
the White House, Médici emphasized that continued American military 
assistance was “essential” and that contact between the two nation’s mili-
taries was “indispensable.” He opposed “any reduction of either.”84 But 
the nature of the military regime would ultimately produce that effect.

Médici enjoyed noticeable popular support; after all Brazil was in an 
impressive economic boom that seemed to be making life better, at least 
for the middle and upper classes. In addition, of course, Brazil’s team won 
the World Cup in 1970. Authoritarianism seemingly provided benefits. 
Médici repeatedly said that he wanted to be followed by a civilian presi-
dent. He was thinking of his chief of staff (Casa Civil) João Leitão de 
Abreu, who would have been appointed as he himself had been, not 
elected. But because there was still guerrilla activity in the Araguaia region 
of the Amazon, he believed that another general was necessary. Médici 
was linked with his predecessor Costa e Silva, yet he and his closest advis-
ers settled on General Ernesto Geisel to succeed him.85

Geisel was retired from the army and was president of Petrobrás, but 
more importantly, he had been the principal military aide to Castello 
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Branco. In the Brazilian army, there was a division between those officers 
who adhered to Costa e Silva’s attitudes and those who were more attuned 
to the ideas of Castello Branco. The major difference between the two 
related to the nature of government, the Costistas favored long-term 
authoritarian military control, while the Castellistas leaned toward reform 
and preservation of constitutional structures. The latter tended to be more 
sophisticated and better educated, the former were found in the ranks of 
the hardliners. Likely Médici was somewhat deluded about Geisel. But he 
thought that because Geisel had been away from the army for a time and 
was sort of a businessman in his Petrobrás role, choosing him would show 
that the situation had evolved positively.

It should be said that Geisel’s older brother Orlando was Médici’s army 
minister. There were whispers that Orlando was behind his brother’s rise 
to the presidency, but they were not accurate. There was some hope 
among the Costistas that Médici would stay in office, but he would not 
hear of any continuation. He voted for Ernesto Geisel and his was the vote 
that counted. A recently fashioned electoral college gave its assent, but it 
was Médici’s decision that mattered. Geisel took office in mid-March 
1974.86

General João Batista Figueiredo, while briefing Geisel on the poor 
readiness status of the army, concluded “God help us … they are throwing 
money away.” Geisel had reason to observe that “the army, from a moral 
point of view, had fallen considerably.” Besides, his choice for minister of 
the army, General Dale Coutinho lamented that in fighting subversion, 
they had no legal cover; there were laws for foreign war, but not for their 
specific type of war.87

Geisel told his cabinet that the goal was “gradual, but sure democratic 
refinement” with increased participation of “responsible elites” aiming at 
the complete institutionalization of “the principles of the Revolution of 
1964.” The exceptional powers would be kept, but used only as a last 
resort. Clearly there would be no quick return to democratic rule; instead, 
Brazil entered a period of slow “decompression” (distensão). Geisel 
intended to set the pace for political change. He and his immediate adviser 
General Golbery do Couto e Silva “envisioned a gradual and highly con-
trolled opening.” Brazil could not continue as it was, even if change took 
a long time.88 Médici had urged him to keep his brother Orlando as min-
ister of the army, but Geisel knew that he and his brother thought differ-
ently. Instead he appointed General Coutinho, with whom, despite his 
hardline reputation, he shared a sense of common purpose regarding the 
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army; they agreed that the hardline officers had to be controlled; unfortu-
nately after two months in office, he took ill and died suddenly. Geisel 
named the chief of staff General Sylvio Coelho da Frota to replace him.

Frota was also a hardliner and did not share Geisel’s vision. Geisel had 
to gain control of the armed forces, and to do that he had to have the army 
behind him. The key was to limit the autonomy of the Centro de Informações 
do Exército (CIEx), which had been operating throughout the country, 
often without the knowledge of local regional commanders. New orders 
specified that the CIEx would continue its intelligence work, but that it had 
to obtain the approval of regional commanders to operate in their areas. In 
effect this stopped clandestine operations in Rio and São Paulo, and the 
number of cases of reported torture declined sharply.89 He also moved its 
headquarters from Rio to Brasilia, thereby tightening control. The hardlin-
ers fought back, according to an admitted killer, by “resolving to act on 
their own account outside the chain of command.”90 Repeated appeals for 
military unity had much to do with Geisel’s struggle to suppress the rogue 
hardliners. But Geisel on April 1, 1974, approved continuation of the CIEx 
policy of executing certain captured subversives, with the proviso that 
future cases be submitted to SNI director General Figueiredo for approval.91

In the meantime he was reshaping Brazilian foreign relations. He 
described his foreign policy as pragmatic. There would be no more auto-
matic alignment with the United States, Brazilian foreign policy would be 
ecumenical. Brazil was “of the west, but not an ally of the United States.”92 
It would act primarily in its own best interests. Partly this attitude built on 
evident trends in the Quadros and Goulart foreign policies and partly was 
stimulated by Brazil’s dependence on imported oil. Geisel aimed at insur-
ing good relations with the oil-rich Arab countries and opened new 
embassies in the Gulf States and Iraq. Saudi Arabia provided money for a 
Middle Eastern study program at the Universidade de Brasília. Brazil had 
been a major supporter of the creation of Israel, and so it was symbolic of 
its shift toward the Arab states when it voted for the anti-Zionist resolu-
tion in the UN General Assembly in November 1975. The decision on the 
vote resulted from some sloppiness in the foreign ministry and American 
quickness to criticize. Asked for his approval of a vote in favor, Geisel con-
curred, but then the next day thought better of it and ordered the minis-
try to vote no, but in the meantime the State Department criticized their 
position wounding the Brazilians’ sense of dignity, making it impossible to 
back down.93 Brazil sought new markets in Eastern Europe and the Soviet 
Union, not because it had changed its view of communism, rather it 
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wanted to diversify its markets and trade partners. Recognizing that the 
Portuguese revolution of 1974 had cut loose the mother country’s African 
colonies, Brazil recognized the independence of Angola, Mozambique, 
and Guinea-Bissau. Echoing Oswaldo Aranha on seeking greater influ-
ence over Portugal and its colonial possessions, historian Jerry Dávila 
commented that “Africa was its natural sphere of influence … [and] Africa 
would help propel Brazil industrially and bring autonomy from the cold 
war powers.”94 Also in 1974 Brazil exchanged ambassadors with the 
People’s Republic of China and warmed up to Cuba. It was notable that 
Geisel made state visits to England, France, and Japan while avoiding the 
United States.

The low point in Brazilian-American military relations came in 1977. 
Having been blocked by the United States (1951) in obtaining centrifuges 
for an atomic program, Brazil had joined the American Atoms for Peace 
program (1955) that gave it an atomic plant powered by American-
supplied reactor fuel. In 1974 India’s explosion of a nuclear device so star-
tled the United States that it told the Brazilians that it would not fulfill its 
agreement to provide the contracted enriched fuel. Coming on the heels 
of the OPEC oil embargo, this put Brazil in a difficult spot. Worse, that 
same year, Argentina’s Atucha reactor came on line. With some evident 
desperation, the Brazilians negotiated a vast contract with West Germany 
for the construction of enriched uranium heavy-water reactors, for exten-
sive transfer of technology for full fabrication and processing from uranium 
ores to transmission of electricity via an extensive electrical grid.95

It was rather startling to see atomic enrichment mix with human rights 
violations to create a volatile situation that ended the military alliance. But 
first in 1976, there was a brief interlude when it looked as if Brazil and the 
United States would deepen their traditional cooperation. Foreign 
Minister Azeredo da Silveira, who had a friendly relationship with Secretary 
of State Henry Kissinger, arranged a joint memorandum that provided for 
regular consultation on issues of interest.96 The sound idea behind the 
consultative mechanism was that it would reduce the possibility of misun-
derstandings reaching the level of crisis. The Brazilians interpreted the 
memorandum as meaning that the United States recognized Brazil’s sta-
tus as the region’s paramount economic power. Kissinger asserted that the 
United States welcomed “Brazil’s new role in world affairs” and that their 
“institution of consultation” would give “meaning and strength and per-
manence to our cooperation.”97
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In June 1976, the foreign aid bill passed the American Congress with 
the requirement (Harkin Amendment) that the State Department make 
an annual report on human rights in all the countries receiving military 
assistance. The first report prepared before the presidential elections of 
that November criticized Brazil. Throughout the campaign the Democratic 
candidate Jimmy Carter had condemned the human rights situation in 
Brazil, as well as the Brazilian-German atomic agreement. In October, the 
Ford White House issued a strong statement on non-proliferation, which 
the Brazilians appeared to shrug off. The Geisel team was betting that 
Gerald Ford would win the election and that the “close friendship” 
between Kissinger and Foreign Minister Azeredo da Silveira would pro-
tect them. “The Brazilians were shocked that Carter won,” and they dug 
in their heels on the nuclear problem. The situation was “aggravated 
severely” by Vice President Walter Mondale’s going to Bonn to try to 
convince the Germans to withdraw from the agreement. The Americans 
decided to work on the West Germans, as Ambassador Crimmins put it, 
“based on the belief that we couldn’t do anything with Brazil.”98

The Brazilians felt depreciated by the American maneuver to pressure 
the Germans. Shortly after taking office, Carter sent Deputy Secretary of 
State Warren Christopher to Brasília for a broad examination of the situa-
tion. There were no threats, contrary to what the Brazilian press reported. 
The Americans explained why they hoped that “the Brazilians would 
adopt comprehensive safeguards for all their nuclear activities.” And they 
explained the “legislative prohibitions” in the foreign assistance laws, 
which could be regarded as a subtle warning. The Brazilians put out the 
story that they had resisted strong American pressures. They believed that 
their national prestige required that they have nuclear technology and 
were determined to obtain it. The Americans were concerned that Brazil 
would one day develop a bomb, which the Brazilians claimed not to want. 
Ambassador Crimmins observed that “the Brazilian nerves were very raw 
about the nuclear thing. They were worked up about it. A lot of phony 
stuff issued, planted by the government about this. Then the human rights 
question intervened.”99

President Jimmy Carter emphasized dual policies of respect for human 
rights and non-proliferation of nuclear technology.100 He first tried to con-
vince Germany to withdraw from the agreement and failing that pressured 
Brazil to halt its program. The stubborn, hostile reaction in Brazil was 
remarkable for it succeeded in unifying all sectors of society against the 
American intrusion into what was commonly thought to be an important 
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element of Brazilian development.101 Besides, as President Geisel later 
noted, the program with Germany had nothing to do with the military or 
military objectives. “The United States, England, France, Russia, and 
China could have nuclear technology, but not Brazil? Are we inferior to 
the others?”, Geisel asked.102 The obvious lack of American trust in 
Brazilian intentions caused an intense rallying around the flag.

Ambassador John Crimmins took pains to deliver a copy of the report 
on Brazil’s human rights before it became public in Washington. The very 
next morning, Crimmins was called to the foreign ministry to be told that 
they were renouncing the [1952] military accord. The human rights 
report was very positive about Geisel’s efforts to reign in the security 
apparatus, but by then Geisel had already decided to end American mili-
tary assistance as a sign of independence. Both sides believed that the 
accord no longer served the relationship, but the hardline officers espe-
cially felt that it kept the military subservient to the United States. Geisel’s 
act of bravado increased his prestige among those officers. Indeed, it may 
have helped his relations with the opposition as well. It contributed to his 
ability to remove hardline Minister of the Army Frota in October, 
strengthen his hold over the armed forces, and allowed him to continue 
the policy of decompression and, eventually to impose, his chosen succes-
sor General João Batista Figueiredo.103

While the anti-atomic energy policy of the Carter government angered 
Brazilians as a whole, the human rights campaign seemed two-faced to the 
Brazilian military.104 There was an intense debate going on within the 
armed forces regarding torture and mistreatment of political prisoners. 
President Ernesto Geisel had long opposed such behavior and was then 
engaged in an internal struggle to eliminate it from the military’s “sup-
pressive apparatus,” as it was called. By doing so Geisel would effectively 
weaken the influence of the hardline officers. Jimmy Carter’s moralizing 
confused officers involved in repression because they had learned harsh 
interrogation techniques from Americans. Between 1965 and 1970, 70 
Brazilian officers trained at the School of the Americas in Panama, of 
whom 38 (63%) were in intelligence. Comparing the names of those who 
went to the school with those who were later accused of torture or the 
death of prisoners, there was a ratio of one in every ten.105

The effect of Carter’s dual policy of human rights and anti-nuclear devel-
opment was more than the Geisel government could tolerate. Geisel said 
that “our foreign policy had to be realistic and, as much as possible, inde-
pendent. We had walked too much in tow (subordinate) of the United 
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States. We had to live and treat with the United States, as much as possible, 
as equal to equal, even though they are much stronger, much more power-
ful than us.” He believed that Brazilian development was tied to the 
Northern Hemisphere, and so he intensified relations with England, France, 
Germany, and Japan. “We could not do more with the United States because 
the demands that they were making seemed to me to be improper.”106

No Longer Allies But Still Friends?
The cancelling of the 1952 military accord and the elimination of the 
mixed military commission that had existed since 1942 altered the nature 
of Brazilian-American relations. The old intimate alliance was gone. Some 
might call it a more mature relationship. However, relations between the 
two armed forces remained cordial with officer and military school 
exchanges continuing, but the close cooperation could no longer be 
assumed. The fading controversy over atomic energy continued until 
1990, but suspicions lingered.107 Brazil turned toward space research 
partly to enhance its continuing bid to obtain a permanent seat on the 
United Nations Security Council and partly to give itself greater auton-
omy from United States’ influence which had been irritating it since the 
end of World War II and, of course, to exhibit that it has a higher level of 
development than its neighbors.108 The two countries signed an agree-
ment in 1997 relative to Brazilian participation in the International Space 
Station. It was to stimulate Brazil’s technology industry by having it man-
ufacture components for the station.109 A Brazilian was designated for 
astronaut training, and it looked as if a promising new area of cooperation 
had been opened, but it turned out that Brazilian industry could not meet 
the specifications and the effort withered.

In the meantime the Brazilians had been actively engaged in rocketry 
research with 381 low-altitude launches between 1965 and 1972 from its 
Barreira do Inferno facility in Rio Grande do Norte and had built a more 
advanced space launch site at Alcântara in Maranhão. The Brazilian objec-
tive was to develop capability to place their own satellites in orbit with 
their own rockets.110 The Alcântara facility was Brazil’s answer to the 
European space station in French Guyana. That station is a little above the 
equator and the Brazilian site is slightly below the equator. Launches from 
both sites are more economically efficient in reaching obit than from the 
American site in Florida. Because of international control agreements on 
space rocketry, the Brazilians could not obtain necessary components 
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from signatory countries. Because the space program was controlled by 
the Brazilian air force until 1994, it was viewed with suspicion by American 
authorities still wary of possible Brazilian nuclear ambitions. Washington 
sought to dissuade them from pursuing advanced rockets. For a time it 
seemed that some collaboration might result, but that was not to be.

In 2000–2002, the governments of Fernando Henrique Cardoso and 
Bill Clinton completed an agreement that would have given a section of 
the Alcântara facility over to the Americans.111 Supposedly Brazilians 
would not have had access to that portion of the base. The American 
negotiators could not have known much about the history of the two 
countries’ relations or of Brazilian attitudes. Would they have agreed to a 
similar arrangement with foreigners on American soil? The Brazilian mili-
tary was aghast to put it mildly.112 They saw it as the creation of an 
American military base in Brazil that might give the Americans a way to 
control the vast Amazon region. Vociferous Brazilians regarded it as ced-
ing sovereignty. Worse they feared it was linked not so much to space but 
to the bases that the Americans were acquiring in Colombia, Ecuador, and 
Bolivia. The Americans touched a sensitive nerve and made it considerably 
worse by proposing to limit Brazilian access. When more independent-
minded Luiz Inácio Lula da Silva became president, he vetoed the 
Congressional enabling bill in May 2003.113

That year was not a good one for space exploration or for cooperation. 
The American Space Shuttle Columbia had disintegrated upon re-entry, 
killing its crew of seven in February 2003, and later in August disaster 
struck the Brazilian space program when in a pre-launch test its VLS 
rocket exploded, destroying the launch pad and killing 21 scientists, tech-
nicians, and workers.114 Potentially the two countries could have united in 
grief, but instead imaginative Brazilian rumors blamed the tragedy at 
Alcântara on the Americans! Like the rumors that the Americans sank the 
ships in 1942, they are hard to combat.115 This is especially so when retired 
military officers cast doubt on the results of official investigations.116

In 2006 Brazil paid the Russian government $10.5 million to carry 
astronaut and air force Lt. Colonel Marcos Pontes on its Soyuz spacecraft 
for an 11-day mission on the International Space Station. The mission was 
criticized by Ennio Candotti, president of the Brazilian Society for the 
Progress of Science, as merely “space tourism.” The Brazilian Space 
Agency thought it would bring publicity to its work and help increase its 
budget. That negative view aside, it is certainly significant that Brazil’s first 
astronaut went into space from a Russian base in Kazakhstan than from 
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Florida or Maranhão.117 Worthy of note too is that Lt. Col. Pontes had his 
year of fighter pilot training at Parnamirim Air Base at Natal, which con-
tinues to be Brazil’s principal pilot training facility.

It does not help relations that ill-informed Brazilians believe that the 
United States has military installations at Alcântara and that it wants to 
control the space station to “undermine Brazilian sovereignty in the 
Amazon.”118

It should be clear that to maintain easy, friendly, cooperative relations 
constant, open communication is necessary. While it may puzzle Americans 
that some Brazilians actively see the United States as a threat, the two 
giants of the Western Hemisphere cannot change the reality of their geog-
raphy. They have grown ever more interdependent economically, even as 
Brazil continued to lag behind in education and research. The collapse of 
the Soviet Union had created new dynamics and possibilities, while the 
recast Russia proved a competitor in supplying Brazil with modern arma-
ments and seeking entry into its space program. Partly to prevent Russian 
sales, the United States revamped its military relations with Brazil, at a 
moment when the Brazilian military was concerned to enhance its research 
and development, logistics systems, education and training, and the acqui-
sition of weapons and services.119 And so in 2010, when, as Secretary of 
Defense Robert Gates observed, their “common interests” made “Brazil’s 
growing involvement and significance in global affairs a welcome develop-
ment for the United States,” and the two signed a new military agree-
ment.120 In 2012 a study done at the Army War College urged 
re-establishment of the “Unwritten Alliance” with Brazil. Lt. Colonel 
Lawrence T. Brown argued that “Failure to substantially improve U.S. 
relations with Brazil will cause its leaders to seek more advantageous rela-
tionships elsewhere—to the detriment of the United States.” He proposed 
energizing the relationship by building a strategic partnership based on 
common interests throughout the world. Treating relations as a partner-
ship would appeal to the self-image of Brazilians.121 In 2015 during 
President Dilma Rousseff’s visit to Washington, she and Barack Obama 
signed a number of cooperative agreements including some related to 
military relations. These allowed for greater cooperation in defense mat-
ters, especially in research and development of arms and equipment, logis-
tical support, and technology security. The agreement promoted joint 
exercises, exchange of information and equipment, particularly to improve 
international peacekeeping operations. The White House press release 
described “a Mature and Multifaceted Partnership.”122
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The political turmoil engendered by the enormous corruption scandal 
involving important corporations and vote buying in the Brazilian 
Congress in 2015–2017 has cast a deep pale over Brazil. With President 
Dilma Rousseff being impeached in August 2016 and ex-President Lula 
da Silva being charged with crimes of corruption, and numerous business 
and political figures being jailed, Brazil’s future is less certain than it was a 
decade ago.123

Relations between the two militaries have been sufficiently friendly for 
Brazil to invite the American military to participate in a training exercise 
in humanitarian and disaster relief in Amazonia with Brazilian, Colombian, 
and Peruvian troops in November 2017. This was called the largest such 
military exercise in Amazonia in history. A decade or so earlier, such 
American involvement would have been most unlikely. The defense min-
ister, Raul Jungmann, observed the exercise and then went to Washington 
for talks with American officials. The relationship continues to be based on 
negotiating its form, substance, and practice.124

The Last American125

Natal’s Alecrim cemetery held the graves of 146 US servicemen who died 
at Natal. Some died from illness or accidents, others with battle wounds 
died while being transported home. One soldier’s body, by his own wish 
or family decision, remained when a US Navy ship collected the remains 
in April 1947.

Twenty-two-year old Sergeant Thomas N.  Browning of Cincinnati, 
Ohio, of the 22 AAF Weather Squadron of the Air Transport Command, 
died suddenly from infectious spinal meningitis on July 18, 1943. 
Apparently enchanted by Brazil, he studied Portuguese, made friends with 
Brazilians, and loved the beaches. He had been stationed in Bahia for two 
months prior to assignment to Natal. His grave is an enduring reminder of 
the American wartime presence.
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